
Monday, May 13, 2019 AGENDA Page 1 

BERKELEY CITY COUNCIL HEALTH, LIFE ENRICHMENT, EQUITY & 
COMMUNITY COMMITTEE 

REGULAR MEETING 

BERKELEY CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL MEETING 

Monday, May 13, 2019 
10:00 AM 

2180 Milvia Street, 6th Floor - Redwood Room 

Committee Members:  
Councilmembers Rashi Kesarwani, Ben Bartlett, and Sophie Hahn 

AGENDA 

Roll Call 

Public Comment on Non-Agenda Matters 

Minutes for Approval 

Draft minutes for the Committee's consideration and approval. 

1. Minutes - March 25, 2019

Committee Action Items 

The public may comment on each item listed on the agenda for action as the item is taken up. The Chair 
will determine the number of persons interested in speaking on each item. Up to ten (10) speakers may 
speak for two minutes. If there are more than ten persons interested in speaking, the Chair may limit the 
public comment for all speakers to one minute per speaker. Speakers are permitted to yield their time to 
one other speaker, however no one speaker shall have more than four minutes. 

Following review and discussion of the items listed below, the Committee may continue an item to a future 
committee meeting, or refer the item to the City Council. 

2. Brown Act Overview

3. Discussion of staff reports from Health, Housing and Community Services

1



Committee Action Items 

Monday, May 13, 2019 AGENDA Page 2 

4. 
 

Ban Racial Discrimination on the Basis of Hairstyle 
From: Councilmembers Robinson, Davila, Bartlett, and Hahn 
Referred: March 11, 2019 
Due: September 15, 2019 
Recommendation: Ban racial discrimination on the basis of a person's natural 
hairstyle by either:  
- Adopt a new Section of the Berkeley Municipal Code: Chapter 13.23 RACIAL 
DISCRIMINATION ON THE BASIS OF HAIRSTYLE IN EMPLOYMENT, HOUSING, 
AND PUBLIC ACCOMMODATIONS, prohibit grooming or appearance policies which 
target natural hair or hairstyles;  
Or  
- Issue local legislative interpretation guidelines regarding both the illegality of 
disparate impact grooming or appearance policies under the Fair Employment and 
Housing Act, and the illegality of refusing public services on the basis of mutable 
characteristics under California Civil Code Section 51.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Rigel Robinson, Councilmember, District 7, 981-7170 

 

5. 
 

Referral Responses: Managing Recreational Vehicle (RV) Parking 
From: City Manager 
Referred: March 26, 2019 
Due: September 30, 2019 
Recommendation: On March 26, 2019, the City Council referred this item to the 
Health, Life Enrichment, Equity & Community Committee to establish basic criteria 
for a "permanent" standard two-week permitting process. The standard two-week 
permit should consider the following:  
 A limited number of permits to be issued by the City per month (or other 

increment).   
 Locations to be geographically dispersed among all Council districts.  
 A reasonable fee to cover City costs associated with the permit. 
Financial Implications: See Report 
Contact: Paul Buddenhagen, City Manager's Office, 981-7000 
 

6. 
 

Air Quality Monitoring Program 
From: Councilmembers Bartlett, Harrison, and Davila 
Referred: April 8, 2019 
Due: October 28, 2019 
Recommendation: Referral to the Public Health Department to establish an 
advanced air quality monitoring program in Berkeley to provide data about how air 
quality in the city varies over time and between neighborhoods. To better implement 
this program, the City should form partnerships with technology companies, 
environmental research groups, and healthcare providers.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Ben Bartlett, Councilmember, District 3, 981-7130 

 

2



Committee Action Items 

Monday, May 13, 2019 AGENDA Page 3 

7. 
 

Creation of Vehicle Dwellers Governance Body 
From: Councilmember Bartlett 
Referred: April 8, 2019 
Due: October 28, 2019 
Recommendation: Refer to City Manager for policy language to create a 
Governance Body for permitted vehicle dwellers in Berkeley.  This proposal is meant 
to engender purpose and responsibility among participants. Accordingly, the 
Governance Body should be self-governing, self-organizing, and self-funding. 
Governance body will uphold the following conditions: 1. All residents must be 
registered with Berkeley’s Coordinated Entry Program. 2. At all times, vehicles must 
be registered and fully operable. 3. No illegal substances, weapons, violence, or 
disruptive behavior will be tolerated either on site or in the immediate neighborhood. 
4. Vehicle repairs are not to be performed on-site. 5. No property will be stored 
outside the vehicle, excluding items exceeding 6 feet in length, and one propane 
BBQ grill. Personal and immediate areas must remain trash free. 6. A noise curfew 
will be instituted in agreement with the neighbors. 7. A council including area 
neighbors and RV dwellers will be established. Participation is mandatory. 8. All 
residents are expected to pay monthly rent of no more than $200 per month. 
The Governance Body will convene weekly at a set time, and act as the final 
decision making body and conflict resolution forum.  All residents, whether in 
attendance or not, agree to comply with the Body’s decisions.   
Matters related specifically to drugs, weapons, violence, and/or criminal activity will 
result in immediate termination of residents’ tenancy.   Such matters may be taken 
up at the discretion of the Governance Body which may uphold, modify, or set aside 
termination. 
In cases of conflict among residents, the following procedures will take place: 1. A 
complaint is filed by a resident to the Governance Body.  The complaint will be heard 
at the Governance Body meeting. 2. The Governance Body investigates the 
complaint and makes a determination.  If the determination is that the complaint is 
legitimate, a notice of cease and desist is issued.  The recipient of the cease and 
desist letter will have 72 hours to comply or leave. 3. If the recipient received a cease 
and desist letter, they may appeal the decision to the Governance Body.  The 
Governance Body will have the ability to meet outside its normal weekly meeting 
schedule in case of an appeal. 4. If the appeal is upheld, no further action will be 
taken and the recipient of the cease and desist letter can stay in the community.  If 
the appeal is rejected, the recipient of the cease and desist letter has 24 hours to 
comply or leave.  Governance Body decisions can only be appealed once.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Ben Bartlett, Councilmember, District 3, 981-7130 

 

Unscheduled Items 

 These items are not scheduled for discussion or action at this meeting.  The Committee may schedule 
these items to the Action Calendar of a future Committee meeting. 

 

3



 

Monday, May 13, 2019 AGENDA Page 4 

Future Agendas 

 Discussion of Listening Sessions including topics and invitees 

Adjournment

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 

This is a meeting of the Berkeley City Council Health, Life Enrichment, Equity & Community Committee. 
Since a quorum of the Berkeley City Council may actually be present to discuss matters with the Council 
Health, Life Enrichment, Equity & Community Committee, this meeting is being noticed as a special 
meeting of the Berkeley City Council as well as a Council Health, Life Enrichment, Equity & Community 
Committee meeting. 

Written communications addressed to the Health, Life Enrichment, Equity & Community Committee and 
submitted to the City Clerk Department will be distributed to the Committee prior to the meeting. 

This meeting will be conducted in accordance with the Brown Act, Government Code Section 54953.  Any 
member of the public may attend this meeting.  Questions regarding this matter may be addressed to 
Mark Numainville, City Clerk, 981-6900. 

 
COMMUNICATION ACCESS INFORMATION: 
This meeting is being held in a wheelchair accessible location.  To request a disability-related 
accommodation(s) to participate in the meeting, including auxiliary aids or services, please 
contact the Disability Services specialist at 981-6418 (V) or 981-6347 (TDD) at least three 

business days before the meeting date.  Attendees at public meetings are reminded that other attendees 
may be sensitive to various scents, whether natural or manufactured, in products and materials. Please 
help the City respect these needs. 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 

I hereby certify that the agenda for this special meeting of the Berkeley City Council was posted at the 
display case located near the walkway in front of the Maudelle Shirek Building, 2134 Martin Luther King 
Jr. Way, as well as on the City’s website, on May 9, 2019. 

 
Mark Numainville, City Clerk 
 
 
 
Communications 
Communications submitted to City Council Policy Committees are on file in the City Clerk Department at 
2180 Milvia Street, 1st Floor, Berkeley, CA. 

4



Monday, March 25, 2019 MINUTES Page 1

BERKELEY CITY COUNCIL HEALTH, LIFE ENRICHMENT, EQUITY & 
COMMUNITY COMMITTEE

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES

BERKELEY CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES
Monday, March 25, 2019

10:00 AM
2180 Milvia Street, 6th Floor - Redwood Room

Committee Members: 
Councilmembers Rashi Kesarwani, Ben Bartlett, and Sophie Hahn

Roll Call: 10:03 a.m. All present.

Public Comment on Non-Agenda Matters - 0 speakers.

Minutes for Approval
Draft minutes for the Committee's consideration and approval.

1.   Minutes for Approval – March 11, 2019

Action: M/S/C (Bartlett/Kesarwani) to approve the minutes from March 11, 2019.
Vote: All Ayes. 

Committee Action Items
The public may comment on each item listed on the agenda for action as the item is taken up. The Chair 
will determine the number of persons interested in speaking on each item. Up to ten (10) speakers may 
speak for two minutes. If there are more than ten persons interested in speaking, the Chair may limit the 
public comment for all speakers to one minute per speaker. Speakers are permitted to yield their time to 
one other speaker, however no one speaker shall have more than four minutes.

Following review and discussion of the items listed below, the Committee may continue an item to a future 
committee meeting, or refer the item to the City Council.

2.     Policy Committee Procedures

Action: 0 speakers. Discussion held. M/S/C (Bartlett/Kesarwani) to adopt the 
policy committee procedures as amended to change the Issue Focus list to 
match the committee purview and delete the last paragraph under Focus of 
Committee Process.
Vote: All Ayes.   

Page 1 of 3

5

arichardson
Typewritten Text
01



Committee Action Items

Monday, March 25, 2019 MINUTES Page 2

3.  Brown Act Overview

The City Attorney’s Office distributed a document from the League of California 
Cities regarding serial meetings. The members requested a presentation at a 
future meeting. 

4.     Discussion of staff reports from Health, Housing and Community Services

Action: The Committee continued this item to the next meeting at the request of 
staff. 

5. Ban Racial Discrimination on the Basis of Hairstyle
From: Councilmembers Robinson, Davila, Bartlett, and Hahn
Referred: March 11, 2019
Due: September 15, 2019
Recommendation: Ban racial discrimination on the basis of a person's natural 
hairstyle by either: 
- Adopt a new Section of the Berkeley Municipal Code: Chapter 13.23 RACIAL 
DISCRIMINATION ON THE BASIS OF HAIRSTYLE IN EMPLOYMENT, HOUSING, 
AND PUBLIC ACCOMMODATIONS, prohibit grooming or appearance policies which 
target natural hair or hairstyles; 
Or 
- Issue local legislative interpretation guidelines regarding both the illegality of 
disparate impact grooming or appearance policies under the Fair Employment and 
Housing Act, and the illegality of refusing public services on the basis of mutable 
characteristics under California Civil Code Section 51. 
Financial Implications: See report
Contact: Rigel Robinson, Councilmember, District 7, 981-7170

Councilmember Kesarwani absent at 11:07 a.m.

Action: 0 speakers. M/S/C (Bartlett/Hahn) to ask the author to revise the item 
with the Ordinance option and have the City Attorney’s Office review the revised 
Ordinance. 
Vote: Ayes – Bartlett, Hahn; Noes – None; Abstain – None; Absent – Kesarwani.

Unscheduled Items
These items are not scheduled for discussion or action at this meeting.  The Committee may schedule 
these items to the Action Calendar of a future Committee meeting.

Page 2 of 3

6



Monday, March 25, 2019 MINUTES Page 3

Future Agendas

  Discussion of Items for Future Meetings

The Committee added discussion of listening sessions including topics and invitees 
to the next agenda. 

Adjournment
Action: M/S/C (Hahn/Bartlett) to adjourn the meeting. 
Vote: Ayes – Bartlett, Hahn; Noes – None; Abstain – None; Absent – Kesarwani. 

Adjourned at 11:33 a.m.

I hereby certify that this is a true and correct record of the Health, Life Enrichment, Equity 
and Community Committee meeting held on March 25, 2019. 

_____________________________
April Richardson, Assistant City Clerk 

Page 3 of 3

7



8



 
No Material 
Available for 
this Meeting 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
There is no material for this meeting.  
 
 

 
 

City Clerk Department 
2180 Milvia Street 
Berkeley, CA 94704 
(510) 981-6900 
 
 

The City of Berkeley Health, Life Enrichment, Equity & Community Policy Committee 
Webpage: 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Home/Policy_Committee__Health,_Life_Enrichment,_Equity
___Community.aspx 

9

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Home/Policy_Committee__Health,_Life_Enrichment,_Equity___Community.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Home/Policy_Committee__Health,_Life_Enrichment,_Equity___Community.aspx
arichardson
Typewritten Text
02



10



Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

WORKSESSION
March 20, 2018

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Paul Buddenhagen, Director, Health, Housing & Community Services

Subject: Work Session:  Mental Health Division

SUMMARY
At the request of City Council, the Health, Housing and Community Services 
Department is providing an overview and update on the Mental Health Division. This 
report provides information on the structure and services provided by the Mental Health 
Division, and provides an overview of the relationship between the Mental Health 
Division and the Alameda County Behavioral Healthcare Plan. The report provides 
Council with this information with the intent of informing the discussion of mental health 
services in the City of Berkeley.

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
The Mental Health Division in the City of Berkeley is unique: it is the only stand-alone 
city provider of mental health services in California.  Through a partnership with 
Alameda County, the mental health division provides ongoing clinical case management 
services to approximately 350 individuals and families each year, and through its 
funding and direct services, involves more than 1,000 Berkeley and Albany residents 
each year.

Funding
The Mental Health Division’s funding comes from a variety of sources, including 1991 
Realignment, the Mental Health Services Act (MHSA), Medi-Cal, contracts with 
Alameda County for specific services, and City General Fund.  The following chart 
shows how this revenue is budgeted in FY18:

Page 1 of 12Page 1 of 224

11

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.infos
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager
arichardson
Typewritten Text
03



Mental Health Division WORKSESSION
March 20, 2018

Page 2

Berkeley Mental Health FY 2018 Budget

1991 Realignment MHSA MHSA Cap Fac Medi-Cal and MAA

General Fund TAY TIP Other

MHSA $7.4 MMHSA CAP 
FACILITIES 
$2.4 M

Medi-Cal 
and MAA 
$3.2M

1991 
Realignmen

t $4.1M
G.F. $1.5M

TAY TIP $0.6 Other $0.3 M

With the exception of City General Fund, all funding for the Mental Health Division is 
from Federal, State, and County sources.

Most of the funding for the Mental Health Division comes with specific regulations for its 
allowable uses, and requires providing specific services for specific populations.  These 
include:

MHSA:  MHSA is the largest single funding source for mental health services in 
Berkeley and Albany.  This State funding source has several categorical funding 
streams, including Community Services and Supports (CSS); Prevention and Early 

Page 2 of 12Page 2 of 224

12



Mental Health Division WORKSESSION
March 20, 2018

Page 3

Intervention (PEI), and Innovation.  MHSA funding requires that the City of Berkeley 
pass a yearly MHSA Plan detailing the funding and uses of these funds – the most 
recent MHSA Plan can be located at: 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Health_Human_Services/Mental_Health/MHSA_Plans_a
nd_Updates.aspx.   

CSS funds are to provide services for adults, youth and children who have a serious 
mental illness or serous emotional disturbance; PEI funds are intended to prevent the 
development of serious mental illness or serious emotional disturbance, or to quickly 
identify those at risk for these concerns and link them to services; and Innovation funds 
are meant for short term projects to test new ways of providing services.  MHSA funding 
is provided on a monthly basis from the State of California and is based on a specific 
tax revenue.

1991 Realignment:  Realignment is the second largest funding source for mental 
health services in Berkeley and Albany.  Realignment funding is restricted to providing 
services for those individuals in Berkeley or Albany who have medi-cal or no insurance, 
and have a qualifying mental health diagnosis and functional impairments in daily living.  
This funding source prioritizes services for people over 18 with a serious mental illness. 
Realignment is provided on a monthly basis from the State of California and is based on 
a portion of vehicle licensing fees. 

Medi-Cal:  Medi-Cal is an earned Federal revenue source that is claimed for eligible 
direct services (mental health rehabilitation and case management) and for certain 
Medi-Cal Administrative Activities (primarily outreach and connection to services for 
those who don’t have medi-cal).  Medi-Cal revenue is paid on approved claims or 
activities and requires a 50% match from a non-federal source (MHSA, 1991 
Realignment, or General Fund). 

General Fund:  The City of Berkeley provides General Fund to the Health, Housing and 
Community Services Department, a portion of which is used in the Mental Health 
Division.  General Funds are primarily utilized in the mental health division for providing 
non-mandated services that are not eligible for MHSA, Realignment, or Medi-Cal 
funding.  These include mobile crisis, homeless outreach, and screening and linkage to 
treatment for those not eligible for services through the mental health division.

Other Funding:  The Mental Health Division receives a variety of other funding, 
including fee for service reimbursement for Educationally Related Mental Health 
Services (EHRMS); Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnostic, and Treatment (EPSDT); 
and Transition Aged Youth Transition To Independence Process (TAY-TIP).  Each of 
these funding sources are for specific services provided to specific populations.

Relationship with Alameda County
Alameda County Behavioral Healthcare Services (ACBHCS) operates the Alameda 
County Behavioral Healthcare Plan (ACBHCP), which covers individuals in Alameda 

Page 3 of 12Page 3 of 224

13

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Health_Human_Services/Mental_Health/MHSA_Plans_and_Updates.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Health_Human_Services/Mental_Health/MHSA_Plans_and_Updates.aspx


Mental Health Division WORKSESSION
March 20, 2018

Page 4

County (including Berkeley and Albany) who have Medi-Cal, a qualifying mental illness, 
and significant functional impairment in daily living.  The City of Berkeley provides 
specific services within the ACBHCP, as mandated by the funding sources mentioned 
above.  This is a unique relationship within California, and requires significant 
collaboration and cooperation between these two entities.

In general, ACBHCS is responsible for providing and paying for the following:  Inpatient 
Care, Acute and Sub-Acute Residential treatment for children, youth and adults; 
outpatient services for adults who do not meet the level of care required for City of 
Berkeley services; and outpatient treatment for children and youth under 18.  As many 
individuals in Berkeley and Albany get services both from Berkeley Mental Health and 
ACBHCP, there is a need for frequent coordination of services and treatment options.  
The following graphic gives an idea of the relationship between the City of Berkeley, 
ACBHCS, and those who are eligible for ongoing clinical adult services from the mental 
health division:

120,000 Berkeley Residents -- 
Eligible for Mobile Crisis; 
Homeless Outreach;  and 

Screening and Referral to Care

14,000 Adult Berkeley 
Residents with Medi-Cal --

Eligible for ACBHCS services

700 Adult Berkeley 
Residents with SMI 

and Medi-Cal

Complicating this relationship even further, some of the funding for the Berkeley mental 
health division is claimed through ACBHCS (Medi-Cal and MAA), and some of the 
funding for the mental health division is directly provided by ACBHCS (EPSDT and 
EHRMS).  Analyzing, tracking, reporting and reconciling this funding requires significant 
effort and attention by both entities.

Fortunately, the management of ACBHCP and HHCS have developed strong working 
relationships.  Berkeley Mental Health management attends multiple regular working 
groups within ACBHCP.  ACBHCP provides data on outcomes and utilization to BMH, 

Page 4 of 12Page 4 of 224

14



Mental Health Division WORKSESSION
March 20, 2018

Page 5

and the two entities collaborate on ensuring the two systems of care provide as 
seamless an experience for Berkeley and Albany residents as possible.  

Structure and Services
The Mental Health Division has 76.8 FTE, divided into several operating units: Adult 
Services; Family, Youth and Children Services; Medical Services; Compliance and 
MHSA; and Office Support.  

CHWS (1.0)
Family Adv.

AMHC (1.0)
Welnees/Rocevery

CSSII (1.0)
Consum. Liais.

HSPS (1.0)
Cult. Comp./Trning

OSII (1.0)
Compliance

Asst. MA (1.0)
Compliance

MHPS (1.0)
Compliance/

MHSA

OSII (1.0)
FSP

OSII (1.0)
Crisis/ACCESS

OSII (1.0)
Adult

OSII (1.0)
Adult

OSII (1.0)
Adult

OSII (1.0)
Adult

OSII (1.0)
FYC

OSIII (1.0)
FYC

OSS (1.0)
Office Support

Asst. MA (1.0)
(Temporary)

HSPS (1.0)
MHSA

AMMH (1.0)
Operations

SSSp (1.0)
FSP

SSSp (1.0)
FSP

BHCII(1.0)
FSP

BHCII (1.0)
FSP

BHCII (1.0)
FSP

BHCI (1.0)
FSP

MHCS (1.0)
FSP

AMHC (1.0)
CCT

BHCII (1.0)
CCT

BHCI (1.0)
CCT

BHCI (1.0)
CCT

BHCII (1.0)
CCT

BHCII (1.0)
CCT

BHCII (1.0)
CCT

BHCII (1.0)
CCT

BHCII (.80)
CCT

SBHC (1.0)
CCT

MHCS (1.0)
CCT

BHCII (1.0)
FIT

CHWS (1.0)
FIT

MHCS (1.0)
FIT

SSSp (1.0)
Vocational

SSSp (1.0)
Housing

BHCII (1.0)
Adult

(Temporary)

MHPS (1.0)
Adult Clinic

MLP(0.5)
FYC

RN (Hrly)
Adult

RN (1.0)
Adult and FYC

RN (1.0)
Adult

RN (1.0)
Adult

Psych III (Hrly)
FYC

Psych. III (1.0)
CCT

Psych. III (0.5)
FSP

Psych. Sup (1.0)
Medical staff

BCHII (1.0)
MCT

BHCII (1.0)
MCT

BHCII (1.0)
MCT

SBHC (1.0)
MCT

BHC II(1.0)
HOTT

SSSp (1.0)
HOTT

SSSp (1.0)
HOTT

HSPS (1.0)
HOTT

SSSp (1.0)
Assessment

SBHC(1.0)
Assessment

Asst MHC (1.0)
TOT

BHCII (1.0)
TOT

MHPS (1.0)
Crisis/Assesment

BHCII (0.5)
FYC

BHCII (1.0)
BTA/FYC

BHCII (1.0)
BHS

BHCII )1.0)
FYC

BHCII (1.0)
FYC

BHCII (1.0)
FYC

SSSp (1.0)
CFSP

BHCII
CFSP

CHW (0.5)
TIP

SSSp (1.0)
TIP

BHCII (1.0)
TIP

SBHC (1.0)
BHS

MHCS (1.0)
FYC

MHPS (1.0)
FYC/BHS

MANAGER (1.0)

Adult Services
Adult Services provides ongoing clinical case management services to individuals over 
18 residing in Berkeley and Albany who have a serious mental illness, functional 
impairment in daily living, and have Medi-Cal or no insurance.  This unit has 24.8 FTE 
staff.

The Adult Services unit contains three programs -- a Full Service Partnership (FSP), a 
Comprehensive Care Team (CCT), and a Focus on Independence Team (FIT), along 
with a housing navigator and employment specialist who serve individuals on all three 
teams.

The FSP provides the highest level of wraparound outpatient services for 65 individuals 
who meet the above criteria for care and have additional risk factors (homelessness, 
history of repeated hospitalization or incarceration, major physical health impairment, 

Page 5 of 12Page 5 of 224

15



Mental Health Division WORKSESSION
March 20, 2018

Page 6

history of violence towards self or others).  The treatment model for the FSP is Assertive 
Community Treatment (ACT), an evidence based model of care where the full team 
works with each individual.  The FSP is staffed by a manager who also provides direct 
services, six clinicians, a nurse, and .5 FTE of psychiatry.  The ratio of clinician to 
consumers on this team is 1-10.

The CCT provides clinical case management to about 150 consumers who meet the 
criteria for treatment in an individual case management model, and has a clinician to 
consumer ratio of 1-20.  CCT utilizes Motivational Interviewing (MI), an evidenced 
based treatment model to provide intensive services that support individuals in moving 
forward in their lives towards recovery.  CCT is staffed by a manager, a clinical 
supervisor who carries half of a typical caseload, 7.8 clinicians, 1 assistant mental 
health clinician who provides supportive services, 1 nurse, and 1 FTE of psychiatry.

The FIT provides medication and clinical case management services to individuals who 
no longer need the level of services provided by the FSP or CCT.  FIT is staffed by a 
manager who provides direct clinical services, a clinician, a community health worker, a 
nurse, and .8 FTE of psychiatry.  FIT serves up to 100 individuals with the goal of 
supporting these individuals in moving towards recovery and no longer needing the 
specialty mental health services provided by the mental health division.  

Family, Youth and Children’s Services
Family, Youth and Children’s Services (FYC) provides services to individuals who are 
under 21, reside in Berkeley or Albany (with some exceptions), and have a mental 
health diagnosis and functional impairment.  This unit has 13 FTE. FYC differs 
significantly from the Adult unit in that its services are not mandated by Realignment 
funding – rather they are provided through a contractual arrangement with ACBHCS for 
specific types of services and through MHSA funding.

The Children’s Full Service Program is staffed by two clinicians and provides intensive 
services for children and youth who have a serious emotional disturbance and 
functional impairment.  These services are the highest level outpatient services 
provided by FYC.

School based services provide school and clinic based counseling for children and 
youth who either have a mental health diagnosis and functional impairment or have a 
mental health issue that is interfering with their learning as documented in their 
Individualize Educational Plan (IEP).   Many of these services are provided in 
partnership and on site at the Berkeley Unified School District, and FYC has 3.5 FTE 
staff providing these services.

High School Health Center Services are provided at the Berkeley High School Health 
Center and at Berkeley Technological Academy (BTA).  2.5 FTE provide crisis services, 
screening and linkage, and clinical counseling to students at Berkeley High and BTA.  In 

Page 6 of 12Page 6 of 224

16



Mental Health Division WORKSESSION
March 20, 2018

Page 7

addition, .5 FYC staff provide consultation, screening and referral services in 
partnership with Head Start, Black Infant Health, and Public Health.

TAY-TIP
The TAY-TIP program is funded through a contract with ACBHCS, and provides 
wraparound full service partnership treatment aimed to encourage independence for 20 
transitional aged youth residing in Alameda County, including Berkeley and Albany.  
This program is staffed by a supervising clinician, an unlicensed case manager, and a 
½ time peer provider.

Crisis and Access
The Crisis and Access unit serves a wide variety of Berkeley and Albany residents.  
With 13 FTE, this unit is focused on connecting people to appropriate care, as well as 
supporting individuals and families who are experiencing a crisis.  Crisis and Access 
services are funded through General Fund, MHSA, and Medi-Cal.

The Mobile Crisis Team (MCT) provides services to people experiencing a mental 
health crisis, through field based evaluation and referral to appropriate care, as well as 
through crisis consultation to the community. With 4 FTE providing services from 11:30 
am to 10 pm every day, MCT connects with people at some of the most vulnerable and 
difficult times of their lives.  The MCT is one of the oldest crisis teams in California, and 
has trained many crisis workers and teams.  

The Transitional Outreach Team (TOT) is a newer program, aiming to follow up with 
those who have had a MCT interaction and provide help and support for connecting to 
ongoing care.  Through phone calls and visits, the 2 FTE in TOT work to ensure that 
people who have experienced a mental health crisis get the ongoing care they need.   

The Homeless Outreach and Treatment Team (HOTT) is also a new program, one that 
aims to connect the most vulnerable homeless individuals in Berkeley and Albany to 
resources, housing and treatment.  The 4 FTE HOTT does outreach and assessment, 
and provides short term wraparound services for up to 50 individuals at a time in the 
aim of promoting self-sufficiency.

The Community Assessment Team (CAT) provides screening, referral and assessment 
services to individuals with mental health concerns in Berkeley and Albany. Through a 
redesign a few years ago, the 2 FTE in CAT now provide on demand services from 8:30 
to 1:30 pm Monday through Thursday at the adult clinic – those who want to be 
assessed for care simply walk in during those hours and should be seen that same day 
for a screening and, if appropriate and desired, an assessment.  CAT then quickly 
connects those individuals to the appropriate level of care, with ACBHCS, the larger 
community, or with the mental health division.  People who meet the criteria for care in 
the mental health division, are assigned to a treatment team the same week they were 
assessed, as research shows that the longer the delay between request for treatment 
and connection to treatment, the less likely it is that someone will engage in mental 

Page 7 of 12Page 7 of 224

17



Mental Health Division WORKSESSION
March 20, 2018

Page 8

health care.  CAT also provides referral services over the phone to a wide variety of 
community members.  The vast majority of individuals who CAT works with are linked to 
resources in the community and ACBHCS, only about 10% of those screened meet the 
criteria for ongoing services in the mental health division.

Medical Team
The Medical Team provides psychiatry and medication management services for those 
who receive services from Adult Services.  Through the use of psychiatrists and nurses, 
the Medical Team’s critical services are integrated into the FSP, CCT and FIT teams, as 
well as providing services for the TAY-TIP program at FYC.  

Here is a snapshot of the current treatment teams and their capacity, reflecting services 
provided in January of FY18:

Adult Services Intended Ratio 
of staff to 
clients

Clinical Staff 
Positions 
Filled

# of clients

Adult, Older Adult and 
TAY Full Service 
Partnership (FSP)
(Highest level outpatient 
clinical case management 
and treatment)

1-10 for clinical 
staff.

5 Clinicians
1 Team Lead

67

Adult, Older Adult and 
TAY FSP Medication 
Management

1-100 .5 FTE 57

Comprehensive 
Community Treatment 
(CCT)
(High level outpatient 
clinical case management 
and treatment)

1-20 7.8 Clinicians
1 Manager

155

CCT Psychiatry 1-200 .75 115
Focus on Independence 
Team (FIT)
(Lower level of care, only 
for individuals previously 
on FSP or CCT)

1-20 Team 
Lead, 
1-50 Post 
Masters Clinical
1-30 Non-
Degreed 
Clinical

I CHW Sp./ 
Non-Degreed 
Clinical

92

FIT Medication 
Management

1-200 .5 77

Page 8 of 12Page 8 of 224

18



Mental Health Division WORKSESSION
March 20, 2018

Page 9

Family, Youth and Children’s 
Services

Intended 
Ratio of staff 
to clients

Clinical Staff 
Positions 
Filled

# of clients

Transitional Aged Youth 
Transition To Independence 
Process (TAY TIP FSP)
(County Wide Contract, not 
Berkeley/Albany Specific – 
High level clinical case 
management and treatment)

2.5-20 1 Post 
Masters 
Clinician
1.5 Non 
Degreed 
Clinical

20

TAY TIP Medication 
Management

1-100 0.2 20

Children’s Full Service 
Partnership

1-8 2.0 Clinical 13

Early and Periodic Screening, 
Diagnostic and Treatment 
Prevention (EPSDT) 
/Educationally Related Mental 
Health Services (ERMHS)

1-20 2.2 Clinical 55

High School Health Center –
Berkeley High School

1-6 Clinician 
(majority of 
time spent on 
crisis 
counseling), 
1-5 Intern, 1-6 
Clinical Site 
Manager

1 Clinician, 2 
Interns

10

High School Health Center –
Berkeley Technological 
Academy

1-10 (portion 
of time spent 
on drop-in 
and school 
wide 
supports)

.5 FTE 1

Page 9 of 12Page 9 of 224

19



Mental Health Division WORKSESSION
March 20, 2018

Page 10

Crisis, ACCESS, and 
Homeless Services

Staff 
Ratio

Clinical Staff 
Positions Filled

Total # of 
Clients or 
Incidents 

Homeless Outreach and 
Treatment Team (HOTT)

1-10 
Case 
Manager 
1-3 Team 
Lead

1 Team Lead
2 Case Managers

20

HOTT Medication 
Management

1-100 0 3

Mobile Crisis N/A 3 Clinicians, 1 Team 
Lead (majority of 
time spent doing 
clinical work)

207

Strengths
The Mental Health Division provides a wide variety of services that are tailored to 
Berkeley and Albany’s needs.  Funding has been growing, and with this, staffing has 
expanded in recent years, allowing for new programs and larger treatment teams.  
Redesigns in CAT have led to a streamlined and transparent process for accessing 
services, and new programs like TOT and HOTT are able to link community members to 
care, whether in the community, with ACBHCS, or at Berkeley Mental Health.

The staff in the mental health division are extremely committed to serving some of the 
most in need residents in Berkeley and Albany.  With an explicit goal of having a staff 
that reflects the Medi-Cal population, the division has an excellent blend of experience 
and fresh perspectives on providing care.  Clinicians provide much of their care in the 
field, and are dedicated to meeting the needs of those they serve.  The office staff 
emphasize customer service and flexibility, and administrative staff are deeply 
committed to their areas of focus.  The division has specific staffing focused on training 
and cultural competence, MHSA, and consumer and family involvement in care.

The staff in the mental health division are well trained and very successful in supporting 
the stability and recovery of people getting ongoing services.  Staff provide services 
flexibly, and are extremely knowledgeable about resources such as housing and 
benefits.  The division has worked hard to develop a culture of prioritizing both safety 
and flexibility in care, and has an active safety committee that regularly updates policies 
and procedures as well as an established and utilized safety plan.  Each treatment team 
regularly discusses safety concerns and develops specific plans for ensuring that 
treatment can be provided in a safe and responsive manner.

The mental health division is deeply committed to equity.  With an equity committee that 
looks at health disparities, regular trainings on cultural humility, and staffing focused on 
this area, the division aims to provide culturally competent care in all areas.  Issues of 
cultural humility are regularly discussed on all treatment teams and division meetings.  

Page 10 of 12Page 10 of 224

20



Mental Health Division WORKSESSION
March 20, 2018

Page 11

Adult Services utilizes a multi-disciplinary level of care team to discuss and approve all 
assignments to care, discharges, and changes of treatment level.  This weekly meeting 
allows the unit to look at issues of equity in treatment across the system of care. 

Another area of strength is in collaboration.  Through funded community partners 
providing MHSA services, close working relationships with the Berkeley Unified School 
District, and strong collaborations with health care providers like LifeLong Medical Care, 
the mental health division is able work collaboratively to help those with mental health 
concerns in Berkeley and Albany get responsive services.

Challenges
The past 18 months have brought tremendous facility challenges to the mental health 
division.  The site of adult services, 2640 Martin Luther King Jr. Way, was shut down in 
summer of 2016 due to repeated issues with pests, vermin and air quality. Staff were 
dislocated for many months and spread throughout various locations across Berkeley.  
Services had to be transitioned almost entirely to the field, and treatment teams had to 
develop new ways of seeing consumers safely and responsively.  This has been 
incredibly difficult for both consumers and staff, and it is a testament to the dedication of 
staff and their strong relationships with those they serve that teams have been able to 
provide consistent treatment during this time of dislocation.

Reporting on outcomes has also been an area of challenge in the mental health 
division.  While HHCS has begun implementing Results Based Accountability (RBA) 
across the division, this has not yet led to all internal programs having clearly 
established goals and metrics to evaluate their success.  The division hopes to address 
this by adding funding in the next MHSA Plan for implementing RBA across all division 
programs.

The lack of affordable subsidized housing in Berkeley and Alameda County is a huge 
issue for many people served by the mental health division.  A sizable number of those 
who enter care in the division are homeless, and the lack of housing options provides a 
huge barrier to moving individuals forward in their recovery.  In addition, there has been 
a decrease in supported housing options in Berkeley and Alameda County – many 
Board and Cares have closed in recent years, and this reduces options for placing 
individuals who have high need.

Capacity remains an issue for the mental health division.  While there has been 
significant growth on all teams, there is not sufficient staffing to provide appropriate 
services for all that need them.  The large number of homeless individuals who have 
behavioral health issues is a huge concern, and there is not sufficient capacity within 
the division to provide care for those who are skeptical of services and require 
significant outreach and engagement.  

Page 11 of 12Page 11 of 224

21



Mental Health Division WORKSESSION
March 20, 2018

Page 12

BACKGROUND
The Mental Health Division is an independent mental health jurisdiction that provides 
services as part of the Alameda County Behavioral Health Care Plan.  As a division 
within the Health, Housing and Community Services Department, the mental health 
division periodically updates City Council on a variety of issues.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
There are no environmental sustainability impacts as part of this report.

CONTACT PERSON
Steven Grolnic-McClurg, Mental Health Manager, HHCS, (510) 981-5249

Page 12 of 12Page 12 of 224

22



Mental Health Division 
Update

Mental Health Division, Mental Health Commission for Berkeley and 
Albany, and Alameda County Behavioral Health Services

Page 13 of 224

23



MH Division Budget
Total Budget of approximately $17.6 Million

1991 Realignment

MHSA

MHSA Cap Fac

Medi-Cal and MAA

General Fund

TAY TIP

Other

MHSA 
$6.5 M

MHSA CAP 
FACILITIES 
$3.05 M

Medi-Cal and 
MAA 
$2.84 M

1991 
Realignment 
$2.96 M

G.F. 
$1.34 M

TAY TIP $0.6 M Other $0.3 M

Page 14 of 224

24



MH Organization Chart

OSII (1.0)
Compliance

Asst. MA (1.0)
Compliance

MHPS (1.0)
Compliance

OSII (1.0)
FSP

OSII (1.0)
Crisis/ACCESS

OSII (4.0)
Adult

OSII (1.0)
FYC

OSIII (1.0)
FYC

OSS (1.0)
Office Support

CHWS (1.0)
Family Adv.

AMHC (1.0)
Welnees/Rocevery

CSSII (1.0)
Consum. Liais.

Assist. MA (1.0)
MHSA

Temporary

HSPS(1.0)
MHSA

HSPS (1.0)
Cult. Comp./Trnin

AMMH (1.0)
Operations

SSSp (2.0)
FSP

BHCII (3.0)
FSP

BHCI (1.0)
FSP

MHCS (1.0)
FSP

AMHC (1.0)
CCT

BHCI (2.0)
CCT

BHCII (5.80)
CCT

SBHC (1.0)
CCT

MHCS (1.0)
CCT

BHCII (1.0)
FIT

CHWS (1.0)
FIT

MHCS (1.0)
FIT

SSSp (1.0)
Vocational

SSSp (1.0)
Housing

BHCII (1.0)
Adult

(Temporary)

MHPS (1.0)
Adult Clinic

MLP(0.5)
FYC

RN (Hrly)
Adult

RN (1.0)
Adult and FYC

RN (2.0)
Adult

Psych III (Hrly)
FYC

Psych. III (1.0)
CCT

Psych. III (0.5)
FSP

Psych. Sup (1.0)
Medical staff

BHCII (3.0)
MCT

SBHC (1.0)
MCT

SSSp (3.0)
HOTT

RN(1.0)
Vacant
HOTT

HSPS (1.0)
HOTT

SSSp (1.0)
Assessment

SBHC(1.0)
Assessment

Asst MHC (1.0)
TOT

BHCII (1.0)
TOT

MHPS (1.0)
Crisis/Assesment

BHCII (1.0)
BTA/FYC

BHCII (1.0)
BHS

BHCII (3.5)
FYC

SSSp (1.0)
CFSP

BHCII
CFSP

CHW (0.5)
TIP

SSSp (1.0)
TIP

BHCII (1.0)
TIP

SBHC (1.0)
BHS

MHCS (1.0)
FYC

MHPS (1.0)
FYC/BHS

MANAGER (1.0)

Page 15 of 224

25



New Client Access, Adult Clinic

Full Service 
Partnership: 
Highest Acuity

Comprehensive 
Community Treatment: 
High Acuity

Page 16 of 224

26



Mobile Crisis Team

Operates 365 days a year from 11:30AM to 10PM

Four full time staff, including clinical manager

Responds to 1,650 incidents; serving 1,000 people per year

Roughly 33% of incidents end with a 5150 (involuntary hold) 
evaluation; less than ½ of those 5150 evaluations result in an 
involuntary transport to a receiving station

Page 17 of 224

27



Levels of Care

66

153

97

20

23

11

35

22

Adult - Full Service Partnership

Adult - Comprehensive Community Treatment
Team

Adult - Focus on Independence Team

Homeless Outreach and Treatment Team

Transitional Aged Youth - Transition To
Independence Full Service Partnership Team

Children’s - Full Service Partnership

Children’s – Early and Periodic Screening, 
Diagnostic and Treatment/ Educationally Related …

Berkeley High School Health Center

Page 18 of 224

28



Mental Health Funded Housing

Type Of Housing Units Subsidized

Mental Health Services Act
Funded Units – Harmon Gardens 
and UA Homes

82 Total Units, 12 units specified 
for mental health consumers (7 
UA Homes, 5 Harmon Gardens)

Flex Fund Subsidies 10 – 15 subsidized units per year

Russell Street 21 units

Page 19 of 224

29



Adult Services, Landscape of Care

Berkeley Residents Berkeley Medi-Cal 
Participants

Eligible for BMH 
Ongoing Services

120,000 14,000 800

Berkeley Residents: Served by 
Mobile Crisis; Transitional 
Outreach Team; Crisis, Assessment 
and Triage Line; Transitional 
Outreach Team; Homeless 
Outreach and Treatment Team.

Berkeley Medi-Cal Participants: 
Eligible for Alameda County 
Behavioral Health Care Services 
(ACBHCS) and Alameda Alliance

Berkeley Residents Eligible for 
BMH Ongoing Services: Berkeley 
Adult Residents With Medi-Cal, 
Serious Mental Illness (SMI) and 
Functional Impairment

Page 20 of 224

30



Unmet Need

• Outreach to individuals who are reluctant to engage in care and meet Berkeley Mental Health 
criteria

• Outreach to individuals who are vulnerable but don’t meet Berkeley Mental Health criteria

• Housing

• Capacity to provide more ongoing services for those with Serious Mental Illness and Serious 
Emotional Disturbances

• Treatment for those who don’t meet Berkeley Mental Health criteria for care

• Services for homeless individuals who don’t meet criteria for ongoing treatment

• Outreach and treatment for underserved groups, particularly Asian and Pacific Islanders

Page 21 of 224

31



Priorities For Adding Services

Crisis
Ongoing Services For Those 

Who Meet BMH Criteria

Outreach
Ongoing Services For Those 

Who Do Not Meet BMH 
Criteria

Substance Use 
Disorder 
Services

Page 22 of 224

32



Strengths and Challenges

• Facilities
• Capacity at Adult Clinic
• Behavioral Health needs for those who don’t meet BMH criteria
• Transparent Outcomes for programs

CHALLENGES

• Growth
• Excellent Mission Focused Staff
• Cultural Humility Focus
• Access

STRENGTHS

Page 23 of 224

33



MENTAL HEALTH COMMISSION
for the CITIES OF BERKELEY and ALBANY

KEY POWERS and DUTIES include:

• Review and evaluate the community’s mental health needs, services, facilities and special 
problems

• Advise governing body and local mental health director as to any aspect of the local mental 
health program

• Review and approve procedures used to ensure citizen and professional involvement at all 
stages of the planning process

• Comment on City’s performance outcome data and communicate its findings to the State 
Mental Health Planning Council

• Submit annual report to the governing body on the needs and performance of the City’s 
mental health system

Sources:  California Welfare & Institutions Code § 5604.2; as modified by City of Berkeley Resolution No. 65,945—N.S.)

Page 24 of 224

34



MENTAL HEALTH COMMISSION
for the CITIES OF BERKELEY and ALBANY

Work plan is in development but is not approved by the entire commission

SOME SUGGESTED GOALS:

• Improve access to mental health, health, substance abuse and housing services for the 
unsheltered in the cities pf Berkeley and Albany

• Put in place effective working committees with specific tasks and timelines focused on 
improving the quality of service delivery in BMH and its contracted CBO’s

• Create methodology for assessing financial and program accountability of BMH programs

• Conduct regular site visits to BMH and CBO’s

• Implement strategy to receive consumer input

• Implement strategy for outreach to and feedback from the larger community

• Submit annual report to Council

Page 25 of 224

35



ENGAGING PEOPLE WITH COMPLEX NEEDS IN ALAMEDA 
COUNTY

Alameda County Behavioral Health Care Services
Jennifer Mullane, BHCS Adult and Older Adult System of Care Assistant Director

Joon Oh, Deputy County Counsel

14

Page 26 of 224

36



Array Of BHCS programs for Serious and Persistent Mental Illness 
(SPMI)

ACCESS (1-800-491-9099) screens for SPMI and program eligibility 

Acute (e.g., involuntary in-patient psychiatric hospitalization)

Crisis Stabilization (e.g., John George Psychiatric Emergency Service)

Sub-Acute (e.g., non-acute clients conserved by the courts)

Crisis Residential Treatment (CRT) (voluntary programs)

Outpatient Treatment 

Full Service Partnership (FSP)

Level I

Most “barrier free” service – Wellness Centers

Page 27 of 224

37



Current acute and sub-acute capacity

Acute
JGP – 68 beds

Herrick – 68 beds

Sub-Acute

Villa  - 60 classic beds, 10 flex beds = 70 beds

Gladman – 39 beds

Mortan Bakar – 78 beds

Page 28 of 224

38



Addressing High Utilizers (“revolving door”) 
Crisis System Planning

Crisis Stabilization Units (CSU)
Locked CSU @ John George-AHS
Willow Rock CSU
Amber House – late fall 2018 opening

Crisis Residential Treatment (CRT)
Woodroe Place
Jay Mahler Recovery Center
Amber House 

Mobile Crisis Teams (MCTs)
Proposed expansion to 4 teams
Expansion of Hours and Days
More coverage of the County

Mobile Evaluation Teams (MET)
Add more teams in Oakland and add a team in Fremont and other police jurisdictions

Page 29 of 224

39



Addressing High Utilizers (“revolving door”) 
Additional Resources 

Alameda County Care Connect system wide-effort

Assisted Outpatient Treatment – 30 slots

In - Home Outreach Teams – 75 adult slots

Community Conservatorship – currently 12 slots, 25 slots total starting 
July 2018 

AdHIP

SB – 82

Re-Entry resources (FREE, SAGE, Re-entry case management teams)

Page 30 of 224

40



WHAT IS ASSISTED OUTPATIENT TREATMENT (AOT)?

A court-ordered treatment program for individuals with severe mental 
illness in crisis who are resistant to seeking treatment and meet 
statutory criteria under AB 1421 (Laura’s Law)

Civil matter and heard in civil court (not a criminal matter)

Purpose: Prevent people from deteriorating to the point where they 
need to be involuntarily committed to a hospital and provide services 
to some of the most difficult people to engage.

No forced medication

No contempt order for non-compliance with treatment program

Not a panacea

Limited resource

Exhausted other options

19

Page 31 of 224

41



WHO QUALIFIES FOR AOT UNDER LAURA’S LAW?
Per W&I Code 5345-5349.5 an individual must meet all of the following statutory criteria:

1. The person is 18 years of age or older.

2. The person is suffering from a mental illness as defined in paragraphs (2) and (3) of subdivision

(b) of Section 5600.

3. There has been a clinical determination that the person is unlikely to survive safely in the

community without supervision.  

4. The person has a history of lack of compliance with treatment for his or her mental illness, in that

at least one of the following is true:

• The person's mental illness has, at least twice within the last 36 months, been a substantial
factor in necessitating hospitalization, or receipt of services in a forensic or other mental health
unit of a state correctional facility or local correctional facility, not including any period during
which the person was hospitalized or incarcerated immediately preceding the filing of the 
petition.

• The person's mental illness has resulted in one or more acts of serious and violent behavior
toward himself or herself or another, or threats, or attempts to cause serious physical harm to
himself or herself or another within the last 48 months, not including any period in which the
person was hospitalized or incarcerated immediately preceding the filing of the petition.

20

Page 32 of 224

42



AOT CRITERIA, cont’d

5. The person has been offered an opportunity to participate in a treatment plan by the
director of the local mental health department, or his or her designee, provided the
treatment plan includes all of the services described in Section 5348, and the person
continues to fail to engage in treatment. 

6. The person's condition is substantially deteriorating.  

7. Participation in the assisted outpatient treatment program would be the least restrictive
placement necessary to ensure the person's recovery and stability.

8. In view of the person's treatment history and current behavior, the person is in need of
assisted outpatient treatment in order to prevent a relapse or deterioration that would
be likely to result in grave disability or serious harm to himself or herself, or to others,
as defined in Section 5150. 

9. It is likely that the person will benefit from assisted outpatient treatment.

21

Page 33 of 224

43



Who can refer to aot?

Per W&I Code 5345-5349.5, the following may request a Petition for AOT:

1. Any person 18 years of age or older with whom the person who is the subject of the petition resides.

2. Any person who is the parent, spouse, or sibling or child 18 years of age or older of the person who is the

subject of the petition.

3. The director of any public or private agency, treatment facility, charitable organization, or licensed

residential care facility providing mental health services to the person who is the subject of the petition in

whose institution the subject of the petition resides.

4. The director of a hospital in which the person who is the subject of the petition is hospitalized.

5. A licensed mental health treatment provider who is either supervising the treatment of, or treating for a

mental illness, the person who is the subject of the petition.

6. A peace officer, parole officer, or probation officer assigned to supervise the person who is the subject of the

petition.

22

Page 34 of 224

44



WHAT ARE THE BENEFITS OF AOT?

• Court-supervised program

• Full Service Partnership/Assertive Community Treatment (ACT) Level of Care 

• Individualized Treatment Plan

• 24/7 Access to Team

• Experience from other counties: 

• Increase of people voluntarily engaging in non-AOT treatment programs

23

Page 35 of 224

45



Full AOT Implementation

Up to 30 clients

Began January 2018

Must be a qualified referral source, per Laura’s Law

Referrals initially screened by ACCESS
ACCESS also screens for referral to IHOT, etc. 

Requires formal petitions and hearings in civil court

Page 36 of 224

46



 
Office of the City Manager 

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099 
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager 

WORKSESSION 
July 17, 2018 

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager 

Submitted by: Paul Buddenhagen, Director, Health, Housing and Community Services 
Department 

Subject: Berkeley Health Status Report 2018 

SUMMARY  
The City of Berkeley is a prosperous, innovative and thriving community. Our city has 
considerable wealth, high levels of educational attainment, and a rich culture that all 
contribute to a healthy community. Despite overall good health, Berkeley is not a city 
where all people are living long and healthy lives and are achieving the highest possible 
level of health. In Berkeley, African Americans and other people of color die prematurely 
and are more likely than White people to experience a wide variety of adverse health 
conditions throughout their lives. 
 
Achieving optimal health for all requires that everyone has access to resources and 
environments that support health and wellness. Higher incidence of disease is linked to 
neighborhoods that have been historically under-resourced and overexposed to 
unhealthy conditions. These neighborhoods have more people living in poverty and 
more people of color than surrounding neighborhoods.  A truly healthy Berkeley 
depends on achieving and maintaining optimal health and wellness for all people 
regardless of an individual’s or group’s position in society. Socioeconomic status is one 
of the most powerful predictors of disease, injury and mortality.  Health inequities 
among racial and ethnic groups are striking and extend across a number of indicators.  
These health inequities in Berkeley occur in consistent patterns by geography, 
race/ethnicity, and income and education: African American and Latino residents in 
South and West Berkeley have higher rates of adverse pregnancy outcomes, childhood 
asthma hospitalizations, heart disease, high blood pressure, stroke, and diabetes. 
Berkeley’s health inequities are neither new nor unique to Berkeley—nevertheless, they 
are unjust and unacceptable. The Public Health Division and the Health, Housing and 
Community Services Department emphasize health inequities as a top priority. 
 
The Health Status Report is written by the Public Health Division of the Department of 
Health, Housing and Community Services and is released periodically to provide a 
picture of the health status of people who live in Berkeley. The 2018 Health Status 
Report fulfills one of the ten essential functions of public health: monitoring the health of 
the community. This report will help the Public Health Division define goals and 

Page 37 of 224

47

mailto:manager@CityofBerkeley.infos
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager


Berkeley Health Status Report 2018 WORKSESSION 
 July 17, 2018 

Page 2 

objectives for improving Berkeley’s health. It is also designed to spark community 
conversations, spur collaboration and inform decision making throughout Berkeley. 
 
CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS 
The 2018 Health Status Report is organized along the life course, from conception 
through death. Health throughout the stages of life is influenced by an individual’s social 
and physical environment, health and experience in the prior stage. The report begins 
with a description of Berkeley’s population. Subsequent chapters give information about 
health in Berkeley during the major life stages which include pregnancy and birth, 
childhood and adolescence, adulthood, and finally the end of life. Each chapter starts with 
a description of the significance of that life stage, a list of key findings, the importance of 
the health indicator and its current status in Berkeley. 
 
One way to evaluate the health of our City is to compare ourselves to others. Healthy 
People 2020 (HP2020) is a national ten-year framework measuring the health of all 
people in the United States. We assess how Berkeley is doing relative to the national 
HP2020 benchmarks. We also compare Berkeley with Alameda County and the State. 
We report how different groups of Berkeley residents compare with each other by age, 
gender, income, race/ethnicity, education, and place of residence. Finally, we show how 
health indicators in Berkeley have changed over time. Such comparisons allow us to 
assess how Berkeley is faring relative to national goals, our neighbors, and our past. 
 
Sociodemographic Characteristics and Social Determinants of Health   
The social and physical environments in which we live, work and play greatly influence 
our overall health. Experts agree that health is in part determined by access to social 
and economic opportunities; the cleanliness of our water, food and air; availability of 
preventative health care and wellness programs; the nature of our social interactions 
and relationships; and the resources and supports available in our schools, homes and 
neighborhoods. These conditions are broadly known as the social determinants of 
health, which this chapter explores in detail. 

Pregnancy and Birth 
Pregnancy and childbirth mark the beginning of an individual's journey along the life 
course. The health conditions of pregnancy, birth, and early infancy have a profound 
impact on health and well-being throughout life. It is important to pay particular attention 
to this critical life stage when assessing the overall health status of a community.  
 
Berkeley has excellent overall health indicators related to pregnancy, birth, and 
breastfeeding and meets most HP2020 goals in these areas. There have been 
substantial improvements in health outcomes related to pregnancy and birth, including 
low birth weight (LBW), prenatal care, and teen birth. Almost 94% of pregnant Berkeley 
mothers of all racial/ethnic groups receive prenatal care in the first trimester, which is 
higher than Alameda County and California. Berkeley meets the HP2020 goal and there 
is no racial disparity in this indicator. African American babies, for the first time ever 

Page 38 of 224

48



Berkeley Health Status Report 2018 WORKSESSION 
 July 17, 2018 

Page 3 

recorded, met the HP2020 objective for LBW in 2008-2010 and for prematurity in 2014–
2016. However, a disparity still persists as African American babies are 2.5 times more 
likely to be LBW as compared to white babies and twice as likely to be born prematurely 
as White, Latino, or Asian babies. 
 
Berkeley’s teen birth rate has been decreasing in all racial/ethnic groups over the past 
decade and is at its lowest ever recorded. Berkeley has the lowest teen birth rate of any 
health jurisdiction in the state. From 2004–2006 to 2014–2016, the overall teen birth 
rate decreased by 82%. For African Americans, the rate decreased by 76% during the 
same time period. In spite of this decrease, the birth rate among African American 
young women is higher than all other racial/ethnic groups. 
 
Child and Adolescent Health 
Childhood and adolescence are important developmental periods in the life course and 
health in early life is the basis for continued health over the life span. Educational 
foundations are established during this time, influencing future learning and employment 
opportunities. Personal habits of physical activity, diet, and social connections are also 
formed. This chapter summarizes the state of health of children and adolescents in 
Berkeley: practices and behaviors, use of alcohol, tobacco and other drugs, overweight 
and obesity, childhood immunizations, and specific health outcomes including mental 
health, asthma hospitalizations, injuries, and sexually transmitted diseases.  
  
Half of the children in Berkeley belong to non-White racial and ethnic groups; the largest 
proportion of these is Latino. In the last decade, the percentage of children living below 
the poverty level has decreased for the overall Berkeley population and every 
racial/ethnic group except Latinos. Children in poverty are concentrated in South and 
West Berkeley.  
  
The Berkeley Unified School District (BUSD) four-year high school dropout rate fell from 
15.5% in the 2010–2011 school year to 10.7% for the 2015–2016 school year. Despite 
a decrease from 18.8% to 13.5% since 2010–2011, African Americans still have the 
highest drop-out rate in Berkeley.  
 
Over a quarter of Berkeley’s 5th and 7th grade students are overweight or obese.  
Berkeley has a lower proportion of 5th and 7th grade children who are overweight and 
obese (29.4%) compared to children in Alameda County (35.3%) but has a higher 
proportion compared to California (26.8%). A higher proportion of African American 
children are overweight and obese in Berkeley compared to in Alameda County and 
California. 
 
Alcohol is the most commonly used substance among BUSD students, followed by 
marijuana. The use of alcohol and marijuana have remained relatively unchanged 
among 11th graders. Cigarette smoking, already at comparatively low levels, has 
continued to drop for 7th and 9th graders but fluctuated for 11th graders. There has 

Page 39 of 224

49



Berkeley Health Status Report 2018 WORKSESSION 
 July 17, 2018 

Page 4 

been a drop in e-cigarette use for students at all grade levels.  The percentage of BUSD 
students who have been drunk or high on school property has steadily decreased for all 
grade levels over the past six years. 
 
The asthma hospitalization rates for children under 5 in all racial/ ethnic groups have 
declined. Compared to the HP2020 goal, the rate for African American children is 12 
times higher, for Latino children is 3.3 times higher and for White children is 1.2 times 
higher. The number of hospitalizations among Asian children under 5 are too small to 
calculate a reliable rate and are therefore not presented. 
 
Adult Health 
This is the stage of life when chronic diseases, including cancer, are most likely to 
develop and affect adults’ well-being. Mental health conditions, injuries, and 
communicable diseases continue to have major roles as well. This is the period of life in 
which one is most likely to work, accumulate wealth, have partners, and hold 
responsibilities for other family members. 
 
Approximately 7.6% of Berkeley residents were smokers in 2014, which was a 
substantial decrease from 11.5% in 2012.  The proportion of Berkeley adults 
categorized as obese based on BMI increased from 13.1% in 2012 to 15.7% in 2014.  In 
Berkeley, African Americans and Latinos are more likely to be obese. 
 
Berkeley’s adult African American population experiences inequitably high rates of 
hospitalization due to both uncontrolled diabetes and long-term complications, such as 
kidney, eye, neurological and circulatory complications. However, the hospitalization 
rate among African Americans for lower-extremity amputation has substantially 
decreased between 2006 and 2014. For Latinos, hospitalizations for lower-extremity 
amputations dropped dramatically from 29.3 per 100,000 in 2000–2002 to 5.9 per 
100,000 in 2003– 2005. The Latino rate has continued downward with no reported 
amputations in 2012–2014.  
  
The rate of hospitalization due to hypertension among Berkeley’s African American 
population has sharply increased, and is now over five times that of the total population.  
However, hypertensive heart disease hospitalizations, a severe complication from 
hypertension, have decreased among all racial/ethnic groups over the past decade.   
The most dramatic decrease was among African Americans—from 170 per 100,000 in 
2000–2002 to 51 per 100,000 in 2012–2014.  
 
The annual number of cases and rates of chlamydia, gonorrhea, and syphilis in 
Berkeley adults has increased in the last decade. These changes in rates may reflect 
either changes in Sexually Transmitted Infections screening or reporting, as well as 
actual changes in higher disease incidence. The most dramatic rise has been in 
chlamydia as the number of cases more than doubled from 420 in 2010 to 898 in 2017.  
 

Page 40 of 224

50



Berkeley Health Status Report 2018 WORKSESSION 
 July 17, 2018 

Page 5 

Due to better treatment, people with HIV are living longer, and the overall number of 
people living with HIV is increasing. Berkeley has a higher rate of persons living with 
HIV than Alameda County and California. African Americans and Latinos experience 
disproportionately high rates of HIV/AIDS. The proportion of persons living with HIV who 
are in care and who are virally suppressed is higher in Berkeley than both Alameda 
County and California. Berkeley does not yet meet the 2021 California Integrated Plan 
Objectives of 90% in care and 80% virally suppressed. 
 
Life Expectancy and Mortality 
The number of years a person is expected to live, and the leading causes of death in 
Berkeley are important indicators of population health and guide Public Health Division 
program priorities. 
 
In the last decade, the mortality rate in Berkeley has decreased steadily and life 
expectancy has increased for both men and women. Life expectancy in Berkeley is 86.7 
years for women and 83 years for men in 2016. Mortality rates in Berkeley are lower 
than those of surrounding Alameda County and California— reflecting the city’s long life 
expectancy.  
 
The overall age-adjusted mortality rate in Berkeley has decreased steadily throughout 
the last decade. The mortality rate for African Americans has reached the lowest ever 
reported. In spite of this marked decrease, the age-adjusted mortality rate for African 
Americans is twice as high as the mortality rate of Whites and is higher than the 
population overall. This disparity has remained unchanged throughout these years. 
 
Mortality rates from cardiovascular disease and cancer have decreased for all groups 
over the last decade. Cancer is the leading cause of death in the population as a whole, 
followed by heart disease. However, among African Americans in Berkeley, heart 
disease is the leading cause of death, followed by cancer. Breast and lung cancer are 
the top leading causes of cancer death for women, while lung and pancreatic cancer are 
the top leading causes of cancer death for men. Women who are Latina, Asian, or 
Pacific Islander have the lowest mortality rates from breast cancer in Berkeley. Only 
African American women do not meet the HP2020 goal for breast cancer deaths. 
 
Even though the Berkeley population as a whole is living longer healthy lives, there are 
racial/ethnic variations and disparities in causes of death, mortality rates, and years of 
potential life lost, as there are differences in health status throughout the life course. 
Shortened lives and premature mortality are the cumulative results of health inequities 
that span the life course from conception to old age. 
 
BACKGROUND 
Berkeley’s community health is characterized by overall excellent health status and by 
striking health inequities. These patterns are neither new nor unique to Berkeley. The 
underlying causes and their solutions lie in the environments and neighborhoods in 

Page 41 of 224

51



Berkeley Health Status Report 2018 WORKSESSION 
 July 17, 2018 

Page 6 

which people live, work, learn, and raise their families; as well as with access to 
effective primary and preventive health care. 
 
The underlying causes of health inequities are both broader and deeper than can be 
addressed and resolved by a division or department, or indeed by City government. 
They require the concerted attention of the community as a whole. 
 
Public Health’s charge is to work with communities and partners to create the conditions 
in which everyone has access to environments which support a full and healthy life, 
including effective health care. The work of the Division targets health issues and health 
inequities in Berkeley, but cannot solve them without the involvement of the broader 
community. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY 
There are no identifiable environmental effects or opportunities associated with the 
subject of this report. 

POSSIBLE FUTURE ACTION 
The City of Berkeley Health Status Report 2018 is the groundwork from which the 
Public Health Division, the Department of Health, Housing and Community Services, the 
City, and the Berkeley community will identify priorities, develop a strategic plan, and 
implement tailored interventions to improve community health, with an emphasis on 
reducing disparities. 
 
Input from the community as a whole and partnerships among community members and 
organizations, are key to addressing the root causes of health inequities with a focused, 
consistent, comprehensive, and sustained effort. 
 
FISCAL IMPACTS OF POSSIBLE FUTURE ACTION 
The information contained in the City of Berkeley Health Status Report 2018 can be 
used by the City and by community partners to seek funding for public health programs 
and interventions, research, and to leverage partnerships with community stakeholders. 
 
The Health Status Report is also a required first step for public health accreditation, 
which would further strengthen the City’s position for funding. Identifying, monitoring, 
and improving health issues in the community bring additional fiscal benefits in the form 
of more healthy and productive community members with decreased health care costs. 
 
CONTACT PERSON 
Dr. Lisa B. Hernandez, Public Health Officer, HHCS, (510) 981-5308 
 
 
Attachment: 
1: 2018 Health Status Report 

Page 42 of 224

52



Health  
Status  
Report   
2018

City of Berkeley
Page 43 of 224

53



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

ii

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We wish to acknowledge the many persons who contributed their time, expertise, and wisdom to inform this report.  
The assistance has been invaluable. We thank the City Manager, Dee Williams-Ridley, the City Council, Health Housing 
and Community Services (HHCS) Director Paul Buddenhagen, and HHCS staff for their support and dedication to the 
City’s health. 

This report was produced by the City of Berkeley Public Health Division:

Lisa B. Hernandez, MD, MPH, Health Officer

José A. Ducos, MD, MPH, Manager Vital Statistics and Epidemiology

Alvan Quamina, JD, PhD, MPH, Health Services Supervisor

Rebecca L. Fisher, MPH, MA, Epidemiologist

Public Health Division Students and Interns:

Michael Huynh, MPH

Heather Jones, MPH

Victoria Le

Victoria Mercado, MPH

Katherine Nguyen, MPH

Jennifer Tan

Key Contributors:

Laura Schroeder, MPP

Essence Fisher-Hobson, MS

Reviewers and Contributors:

Alison Roberts, Ana Weidenfeld, Ann Song, Cheryl Ford, Dechen Tsering, Essence Fisher-Hobson, JoAnn Evangelista, 
Jocelyn De Sena, Josie Emunah, Katherine Brown, Kelly Wallace, Kim Cardoso, Laura Schroeder, Lisa Sterner, Marcia 
Brown-Machen, Marty Lynch, Patrice Paul, Rikki Moreno, Robert Benjamin, Sandra Hunter, Suzanne Ridel, Tanya 
Bustamante, Vicki Alexander, Victoria Lopez

To obtain additional copies of this report, or to make suggestions, please contact:

City of Berkeley Public Health Division 
1947 Center Street, 2nd Floor  
Berkeley, CA  94704

Phone: 510-981-5300; TTY: 981-6903

Website:  http://www.ci.berkeley.ca.us/publichealth/reports/reports.html 

Email: publichealth@ci.berkeley.ca.us

Cover photos: Berkeley Unified School District, Nancy Rubin-Berkeleyside, Annie Burke

Page 44 of 224

54



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

iii

CITY OF BERKELEY LEADERSHIP

City of Berkeley City Council

City Mayor, Jesse Arreguin, 

Councilmember Linda Maio, District 1

Councilmember Cheryl Davila, District 2

Councilmember Ben Bartlett, District 3

Councilmember Kate Harrison, District 4

Councilmember Sophie Hahn, District 5

Councilmember Susan Wengraf, District 6

Councilmember Kriss Worthington, District 7

Councilmember Lori Droste, District 8

Berkeley City Manager, Dee Williams-Ridley

Health, Housing & Community Services Leadership

Paul Buddenhagen, Department Director

Kelly Wallace, Deputy Director

Tanya Bustamante, Aging Services

Manuel Ramirez, Environmental Health 

Kristen Lee, Housing and Community Services

Steve Grolnic-McClurg, Mental Health 

Leah Talley, Public Health 

Lisa B. Hernandez, Public Health  

PUBLIC HEALTH  
VISION AND MISSION 

Vision:  Healthy people in healthy communities.

Mission:  To achieve and maintain optimal health 
and well-being for all people in Berkeley. We do 
this by working in partnership with our diverse 
communities to:  promote healthy behaviors and 
environments, prevent illness and injury, protect 
against disease and other emerging health threats, 
eliminate health inequities, and advocate for social 
and environmental justice.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH, 
HOUSING, & COMMUNITY SERVICES  
MISSION AND VISION 

Vision:  A vibrant and healthy Berkeley for all

Mission:  The Department of Health, Housing, 
& Community Services’ mission is to enhance 
community life and support health and wellness for 
all. We are committed to social and environmental 
justice and to promoting equity in health, housing, 
and economic opportunity. We collaborate with 
community partners to build a vibrant and healthy 
Berkeley. 

Be
rk

el
ey

 U
ni

fie
d 

Sc
ho

ol
 D

ist
ric

t

Page 45 of 224

55



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

iv

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  ����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  vi

HOW TO READ THIS REPORT ��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  xiii

CHAPTER 1: Sociodemographic Characteristics and Social Determainants of Health  ���������������������� 1

Race/Ethnicity Distribution ��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  2

Age and Gender Distribution  ����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  4

Household Type  ����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  6

Language Spoken at Home  ��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  7

Income, Poverty, and Wealth  ����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  8

Home Ownership  ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  10

Poverty ���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  11

Berkeley Homeless Population   ����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 13

Employment ����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  14

Transportation ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  16

Education and Educational Attainment ��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 17

Health Insurance and Access to Healthcare  ����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  19

Crime  ���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  20

CHAPTER 2: Pregnancy and Birth  �����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  23

Live Births��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 24

Fertility Rate ���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 24

Prenatal Care  �������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 24

Low Birth Weight  ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  25

Premature Births �������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 26

Teen Births  ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  27

CHAPTER 3: Child and Adolescent Health ���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  29

Demographics of Children and Youth  ����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 31

Childhood Poverty  ����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  33

School Enrollment and Education ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������ 34

Student Proficiency by Socioeconomic Status  ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������ 36

High School Dropout and Graduation Rates  ���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 38

College Eligibility �������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 39

Physical Activity and Fitness ���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 39

Ro
bi

n 
Ke

m
ps

te
r

Page 46 of 224

56



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

v

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Overweight and Obesity �����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  40

Asthma �������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 42

Alcohol, Tobacco and Marijuana Use in Berkeley’s Youth ���������������������������������������������������������������������������� 44

Violence, Safety and Mental Health in School �������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  46

Mental Health Hospitalizations in Children and Youth  �������������������������������������������������������������������������������  49

Injuries in Children and Youth  ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������ 50

Sexually Transmitted Infections in Youth ����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  52

Vaccine-Preventable Diseases ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������ 56

Childhood Immunization ����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  57

CHAPTER 4:  Adult Health �����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  61

Chronic Diseases and Risk Factors  ���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 63

Obesity and Physical Activity �������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 63

Tobacco Use   �������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 64

Diabetes ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������ 65

Hypertension (High Blood Pressure) �����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  68

Heart Disease �������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  69

Stroke ����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  72

Respiratory Diseases ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  73

Cancer Incidence  ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  77

Mental Health  �����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  80

Injuries  �������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 85

Communicable or Infectious Diseases ���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  98

CHAPTER 5:  Life Expectancy and Mortality  ����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  115

Life Expectancy ��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 116

Deaths in Berkeley  ���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  117

Premature Deaths and Years of Potential Life Lost (YPLL)  ����������������������������������������������������������������������  128

Opioid Overdose Related Deaths  ����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  130

CONCLUSION  ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  131

How Berkeley Provides the 10 Essential Services of Public Health �����������������������������������������������������������  131

Looking Ahead ����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  132

TECHNICAL NOTES �������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 132

CHAPTER 3:  Child and Adolescent Health  continued

Be
rk

el
ey

sid
e

Page 47 of 224

57



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

vi

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Berkeley is well positioned to realize greater health equity. 
Our community is known for its political and social activism. 
Our residents are passionate about creating healthier 
communities. Our leaders have a long standing commitment 
to achieving health equity and have been at the forefront of 
innovative health programs and policies. We are one of three 
cities in the state of California that has its own Public Health 
Jurisdiction. This distinction enables public health services to 
be focused on and dedicated to a discreet population. While 
the challenges we face should not be underestimated, through 
strategic collaboration, a unified vision, and broad community 
engagement we can achieve our mission of optimal health and 
wellness for all. 

The Health Status Report is written by the Public Health 
Division of the Department of Health, Housing and Community 
Services and is released periodically to provide a picture of the 
health status of people who live in Berkeley. The report has 
three key objectives:

•	 Monitor health concerns impacting the City with a focus 
on health disparities and social determinants of health;

•	 Show trends and changes in health over time;

•	 Guide our Public Health work and support community 
partners in shaping and responding to policy and other 
factors influencing Berkeley’s health and quality of life.  

This report will help the Public Health Division define goals and 
objectives for improving Berkeley’s health. It is also designed to 
spark community conversations, spur collaboration and inform 
decision making throughout Berkeley.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The City of Berkeley is a prosperous, innovative, and thriving 
community. Our city has considerable wealth, high levels of 
educational attainment, and a rich culture that all contribute to 
a healthy community. Despite overall good health, Berkeley is 
not a city where all people are living long and healthy lives and 
are achieving the highest possible level of health. In Berkeley, 
African Americans and other people of color die prematurely 
and are more likely than White people to experience a wide 
variety of adverse health conditions throughout their lives.

Achieving optimal health for all requires that everyone has 
access to resources and environments that support health and 
wellness. Higher incidence of disease is linked to neighborhoods 
that have been historically under-resourced and overexposed to 
unhealthy conditions. These neighborhoods have more people 
living in poverty and more people of color than surrounding 
neighborhoods.  A truly healthy Berkeley depends on achieving 
and maintaining optimal health and wellness for all people 
regardless of an individual’s or group’s position in society. 
Socioeconomic status is one of the most powerful predictors 
of disease, injury and mortality. Health inequities among racial 
and ethnic groups are striking and extend across a number of 
indicators. These health inequities are neither new nor unique 
to Berkeley—nevertheless, they are unjust and unacceptable. 
The conditions in which we are born, grow, live, work, and age, 
broadly known as the social determinants of health, greatly 
influence how well and how long we live. To aggressively address 
the health disparities we see in this report requires that we also 
address the underlying social, economic, and environmental 
inequities that perpetuate them. 

A
nn

ie
 B

ur
ke

Page 48 of 224

58



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

vii

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

HISTORY OF HEALTH STATUS IN BERKELEY

Our last health status report, released in 2013, identified four 
leading health inequities. Since 2013, some of these disparities 
have narrowed while others persist. The Public Health Division 
has focused on them through our work and programs in the 
community. These health inequities, described below, will 
continue to be a focus of Berkeley’s Public Health Division.

•	 Cardiovascular disease: high blood pressure,  
coronary heart disease, and stroke 

High blood pressure is one of the leading risk factors for heart 
disease and stroke.  Fortunately, people can lower their high 
blood pressure, and thus reduce or prevent heart disease and 
strokes through a healthy diet, exercise, proper medications, and 
close monitoring of blood pressure levels.  

In Berkeley, the rate of hospitalizations due to high blood 
pressure continues to rise. African Americans continue to be 
hospitalized at a greater rate than the overall population, and 
that rate is increasing. Hospitalizations due to hypertensive 
heart disease, a serious complication of untreated or poorly 
controlled high blood pressure, has decreased among all 
racial/ethnic groups in the most recent years. We have seen 
the greatest decline in hospitalization rates among African 
Americans. 

The Affordable Care Act (ACA) increased access for previously 
uninsured or underinsured individuals. This opportunity enabled 
individuals to seek care for ignored health concerns and also 
receive preventive care for undiagnosed health conditions. In 
addition, the Berkeley Public Health Division has focused efforts 
on neighborhoods that have the highest rates of hypertensive 
heart disease and stroke. Our Heart 2 Heart Program’s 
continued collaboration with Lifelong Health Center addresses 
cardiovascular disease in South Berkeley. Health education and 
blood pressure screenings occur at monthly mobile van events, 
barbershops, senior centers, through faith-based community 
partnerships, and events such as neighborhood block parties 
and other outreach/tabling events.

•	 Asthma hospitalizations among Berkeley children  
under 5 years of age

Asthma is one of the most prevalent chronic health conditions 
among children and adolescents in Berkeley. Poorly controlled 
asthma in children is frequently associated with school days 
missed. Controlling asthma improves quality of life, reduces 

medical costs, and increases productivity at school. The number 
of asthma hospitalizations among children under 5 in Berkeley 
decreased from 56 in 2000 to 15 in 2014. Asthma hospitalization 
rates decreased across all racial/ethnic groups.  However, the 
improvements in hospitalizations among African American and 
Latino children under five may be reversing as rates in these 
groups have begun increasing again. The largest disparity is seen 
between Whites and African Americans. 

The incidence of asthma is greatest in West Berkeley and 
along the I-80 corridor. Addressing asthma rates in Berkeley 
requires a combination of education efforts and improving 
the environments where children live and grow. Public Health 
efforts continue to focus on home visitation, assessments, and 
education. The Northern California Breathmobile Program is 
a free program that treats students with asthma and allergies 
in a mobile asthma clinic. It is staffed by asthma specialists 
and, through partnership with Berkeley Unified School District 
(BUSD) and Berkeley Public Health, it visits pre-schools, K-12 
schools, and community centers every 4-6 weeks. In Berkeley, 
it is part of the City’s efforts to make healthcare accessible and 
help close the school achievement gap in high risk populations. 

•	 Low birth weight and prematurity 

The percentage of infants born early or underweight is a 
measure on the status of the public health systems. When those 
indicators are poor the adequacy of healthcare and nutrition 
for women is inadequate. Preterm and low birth weight infants 
are at increased risk for a variety of developmental problems 
related to health, psychological adjustment, and intellectual 
functioning. The rates of low birth weight and premature infants 
for everyone have improved over time in Berkeley. For the first 

Be
rk

el
ey

 U
ni

fie
d 

Sc
ho

ol
 D

ist
ric

t

Page 49 of 224

59



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

viii

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

time ever recorded, African Americans in Berkeley meet the 
national goal of less than 7.8% low birthweight babies. The 
low birth weight gap between African American and white 
infants has also decreased overtime. However, the number of 
premature births to African American women continues to be 
larger than for other racial/ethnic groups in the City. 

A number of programs provided by the City of Berkeley work to 
continue to reduce this disparity, including Berkeley Black Infant 
Health (BBIH), Women, Infants, and Children (WIC) and our 
public health nurse case management services.   

•	 Sexually transmitted infections (STIs)

STIs are once again having a marked impact on the nation’s and 
City’s health. Rates of chlamydia, gonorrhea, and syphilis have all 
increased in Berkeley. However the steady climb in rates can be 
interrupted because unlike some infectious diseases, we know 
how to detect and treat STIs. 

Until recently, chlamydia rates in Berkeley had been lower 
than Alameda County and California. In 2015, Berkeley’s rate 
increased substantially, surpassing Alameda County and 
California. From 2011 to 2017, Berkeley’s chlamydia rate has more 
than doubled from 349.7 per 100,000 to 738.2 per 100,000. 
Gonorrhea rates in Berkeley are consistently higher than those 
of Alameda County and California. From 2011 to 2017, Berkeley’s 
gonorrhea rate more than tripled from 94.8 per 100,000 to 301.7 
per 100,000. 

COMMUNITY DIALOGUES AND THE  
CHANGING LANDSCAPE

Following the release of the Health Status Report in 2013, the 
City Council and Public Health Division intensified our work 
on reducing health inequities. The Division launched internal 
and external dialogues to understand the community’s needs 
more deeply. Conversations with the community identified 
additional priorities such as mental illness, diabetes, and obesity 
and amplified others such as asthma and marijuana use among 
youth. Homeless residents expressed the need for additional 
substance use treatment and rehabilitation programs.

We also heard solutions to addressing health disparities from 
the community. They suggested a focus on prevention and 
addressing inequities in the social determinants of health. 
The community voiced a need for access to caring, culturally 
relevant, high quality health care services.  Residents expressed 
a wish to collaborate with the Public Health Division and 
community organizations to work on the root causes of poor 
health. While work has started in these areas, there is more 
thoughtful strategic work to be done.

Addressing the social determinants of health continues to be 
a key objective of the Public Health Division. Research has 
shown that health is dependent largely on conditions that are 
not related to medical care. In fact, about 80% of our health 
is influenced by the environments around us which include 
social, economic factors, and every day behaviors. Conditions 

N
an

cy
 R

ub
in

, B
er

ke
le

ys
id

e

Page 50 of 224

60



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

ix

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

such as poverty, homelessness, shifting federal and local 
policies, changing City demographics, gentrification, and the 
subsequent rise in the cost of housing all have profound impacts 
on community health. In many of these areas, the Public Health 
Division works collaboratively with other departments, and 
with divisions in the City of Berkeley’s Department of Health, 
Housing and Community Services. For example, Public Health 
staff are working on a multi-departmental group formulating 
the regulatory environment for newly legal adult use marijuana, 
which has serious public health impacts.  

An important, continuing trend seen in the 2018 Health 
Status Report is the steady and significant shift in the City’s 
demographics.  Compared to the 2010 Census, the African 
American population has decreased from approximately 10% 
to 7% of the population, while other racial/ethnic groups have 
remained relatively stable. The phenomenon is not unique to 
Berkeley, but is a regional trend that is evidence of displacement 
caused by gentrification. Displacement disrupts access to 
education, employment, health care, and healthy neighborhood 
resources. Residents forced to move may face longer commutes 
to work or school, leading to increased stress, loss of income, 
job loss or greater school dropout rates. Displaced residents 
may have trouble obtaining medical records, prescriptions, and 
affordable health care services. Displacement can also mean 
relocation to neighborhoods with fewer health-promoting 
resources, such as high quality jobs, healthy food options, 
accessible public transit, and safe and walkable streets.

Socioeconomic status is one of the most powerful predictors 
of disease, injury, and mortality. In Berkeley, African Americans 
have lower income than any other ethnic/racial group. For every 
dollar a white family earns, an African American family earns 
28 cents. This income inequality paired with unemployment or 
under employment can increase stress levels, make it difficult 
to find safe and affordable housing, and lower educational 
prospects. Research demonstrates that poverty is the single 
greatest threat to children’s well-being. Children living in poverty 
are at significantly higher risk for poor health and development. 
In Berkeley, 10% of all children under the age of 18 live in poverty. 
Notably, 29% of African American children live in poverty, which 
is seven times the poverty rate for white children, and two to 
three times the rate of any other racial group. 

Additionally, homelessness impacts the health of the entire 
community. Berkeley has the second highest number of 
homeless people among all Alameda County cities, second 
only to Oakland. Berkeley’s homeless population accounts 
for 17% of the homeless people in Alameda County. Given 
that Berkeley makes up only 7% of the population of Alameda 
County, it is home to a disproportionate number of people 
experiencing homelessness. Poor health conditions among 
people who are homeless are frequently co-occurring with 
a mix of psychiatric, substance use, and social challenges. 
Exposure to high stress, unhealthy or dangerous environments, 
and food insecurity worsens overall health and often results 
in visits to emergency rooms and hospitalization. Nationally, 

Be
rk

el
ey

 U
ni

fie
d 

Sc
ho

ol
 D

ist
ric

t

Page 51 of 224

61



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

x

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

individuals experiencing homelessness are three to four times 
more likely to die prematurely than their housed counterparts, 
and experience an average life expectancy as low as 41 years. Far 
too often, those experiencing homelessness are people of color. 
African Americans make up less than 8% of Berkeley’s general 
population, but are 50% of the homeless population.

NOTABLE IMPROVEMENTS SINCE OUR LAST 
REPORT

While the indicators just discussed are sobering; we have seen 
improvements to the City’s health in five notable areas:

•	 The proportion of children in 5th and 7th grade who are 
overweight or obese has declined from 39% in 2010 to 29% 
in 2016. 

•	 85% of all kindergarteners have all required immunizations, 
which is the highest percentage ever recorded.

•	 Approximately 7.6% of Berkeley’s residents were smokers 
in 2014, which was a substantial decrease from 11.5% in 
2012.

•	 African Americans met the HP2020 goals for lung cancer 
mortality rates for the first time ever.

•	 From 2007 to 2016, Berkeley’s mortality rate declined 14%.  
This has resulted in an increase in life expectancy from 82 
to 85 years.

KEY THEMES IN 2018 HEALTH STATUS REPORT

Three key themes can be found in the Health Status Report and 
will continue to guide the work of the Public Health Division:

•	 Inequities in Health. Since 1999, the Berkeley Public 
Health Division has been at the forefront of breaking 
down data to uncover hidden inequities in health. It is 
only through examining data by characteristics such 
as race, ethnicity, gender, age, income, neighborhood, 
immigration status and other qualities that we can see a 
true and full picture of health. The Berkeley Public Health 
Division is committed to monitoring health indicators 
by relevant, available demographic characteristics and 
investigating the status of health equity in our community. 
We will be thoughtful, intentional, and strategic in the 
development of programing to address these inequalities.

•	 Importance of Prevention. Prevention is a continuum and 
extends from deterring diseases and behaviors that foster 
disease to slowing the onset and severity of illness when 
it does arise. A focus on prevention includes focusing 
on upstream factors those that are largely outside of 
an individual’s control and promoting conditions that 
support good health.  

•	 Emerging Health Threats. The health landscape in 
Berkeley is not static but evolves, and new threats can 
emerge on both a global and local scale. Infectious 
disease such as tuberculosis, sexually transmitted 
infections, and diseases once considered under control 
such as pertussis, continue to be a significant source 
of illness in Berkeley. These threats require constant 
monitoring and a responsive public health system. New 
health threats can emerge from a variety of directions: 
from the rise in antibiotic resistant bacteria, to new risks 
from climate change and global connectedness, to the 
health impacts caused by changing federal and local 
policies. Additionally, public health systems across the 
country are responding in various ways to the complex 
and inter-related social, economic and environmental 
inequities that are connected to poor health.  

Page 52 of 224

62



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

xi

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Chapter 1: 
Sociodemographic 
Characteristics & 
Social Determinants 
of Health

Chapter 2: 
Pregnancy & Birth

Chapter 3: 
Child & Adolescent 
Health

Chapter 4: 
Adult Health

Chapter 5:  
Life Expectancy  
& Mortality

Families headed by a 
White householder 
earn 3.4 times 
more than African 
American families, 
1.9 times more than 
Latino families, and 
1.4 times more than 
Asian families.  

The risk of an 
African American 
mother having a 
LBW baby is 2.5 
times higher than 
the risk for White 
mothers.

African American 
children (under 18) 
are 7 times more 
likely, Latino children 
are 5 times more 
likely, and Asian 
children are 2 times 
more likely than 
White children to 
live in poverty.  

African Americans 
are 3 times more 
likely than Whites to 
be hospitalized due 
to coronary heart 
disease.

African Americans 
are 2.3 times more 
likely to die in a 
given year from any 
condition compared 
to Whites.

Compared to 
White families, 
the proportion of 
families living in 
poverty is 8 times 
higher among 
African American 
families, 5 times 
higher among Latino 
families and 3 times 
higher among Asian 
families.

The risk of an 
African American 
mother having a 
premature baby is 
2 times higher than 
the risk for White 
mothers.

African American 
high school students 
are 1.4 times more 
likely than White 
students to drop out 
of high school.  

African Americans 
are 34 times more 
likely than Whites to 
be hospitalized due 
to hypertension. 

African Americans 
are 2.0 times more 
likely than Whites to 
die of cardiovascular 
disease.

African Americans 
are 2.8 times less 
likely, Latinos are 1.6 
times less likely and 
Asian children are 1.1 
times less likely than 
Whites to have a 
bachelor’s degree or 
higher.

The teen birth rate 
among African 
Americans is 9 times 
higher, and among 
Latinas is 3 times 
higher than the rate 
among White teens.

The asthma 
hospitalization 
rates for children 
under 5 for African 
American children is 
10 times higher, and 
for Latino children 
is2.8 times higher 
than the rate among 
White children.

African American 
women are 1.5 
times more likely 
than Whites to be 
diagnosed with 
breast cancer.

African Americans 
are 1.8 times more 
likely than Whites to 
die of cancer.

HEALTH INEQUITIES IN BERKELEY

Page 53 of 224

63



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

xii

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Ro
bi

n 
Ke

m
ps

te
r

Against this backdrop, four key areas are important to 
monitor and develop interventions for:

•	 Obesity in both children and adults. While the overall 
childhood obesity rate in Berkeley is lower than in 
Alameda and California, the proportion of African 
American children who are overweight and obese in 
Berkeley is higher than Alameda County and California. 
In 2014, 16% of Berkeley adults were categorized as obese 
based on Body Mass Index (BMI), which is an increase 
from 2012.  Additionally, among children and adults, 
African Americans and Latinos experience higher rates of 
obesity than Whites and Asians. 

•	 Hypertension is increasing in all people in Berkeley. 
Hospitalization rates due to high blood pressure for the 
overall population is 20/100,000, the highest in a decade. 
The hospitalization rate for African Americans has 
sharply increased and is 120/100,000, over five times that 
of the total population.

•	 Sexually transmitted disease rates are at epidemic levels. 
Historically, chlamydia rates in Berkeley were lower 
than the State, but in 2015, Berkeley’s rate increased 
substantially, surpassing both Alameda County and 
California.  From 2011 to 2017, Berkeley’s chlamydia 
rate has increased from 349.7 per 100,000 to 738.2 per 
100,000. Gonorrhea rates in Berkeley are also consistently 
higher than those of Alameda County and California. 
From 2011 to 2017, Berkeley’s gonorrhea rate has increased 
from 94.8 per 100,000 to 301.7 per 100,000.

•	 African Americans are more likely to die prematurely 
than any other racial/ethnic group in Berkeley. Years 
of Potential Life Lost (YPLL), a measure of premature 
death, demonstrates the significance. Although African 
Americans comprise 8% of the population; they account 
for almost 30% of the YPLL. 

An additional emerging key area of interest that we will 
be monitoring is in demographic shifts in breast cancer 
incidence.  For the first time, African American women 
have surpassed White women in the rate of breast cancer 
diagnosis. As we monitor this notable change, we will also 
seek to understand what is driving this trend.

LOOKING AHEAD

The City of Berkeley Health Status Report 2018 is the 
groundwork from which the Public Health Division, the 
Department of Health, Housing and Community Services, 
the City, and the Berkeley community will identify 
priorities, develop a strategic plan, and implement tailored 
interventions to improve community health. This path to 
better health is not one we can take alone. It is the charge 
of the entire community to create a healthy Berkeley. As a 
community member, you make choices that impact not only 
your own personal health, but the health of your families 
and neighbors. Community leaders in our City government, 
community based organizations, faith institutions, and local 
businesses, in addition to providers and residents all have a 
role to play in creating a healthier community. Collectively, we 
can achieve a better quality of life for all who live in Berkeley. 
We look forward to working with you.

A
nn

ie
 B

ur
ke

Page 54 of 224

64



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

xiii

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

HOW TO READ THIS REPORT

ORGANIZATION:  This report is organized along the life course, from conception 
through death. Health throughout the stages of life is influenced by an individual’s social 
and physical environment, health and experience in the prior stage. The report begins 
with a description of Berkeley’s population. Subsequent chapters give information 
about health in Berkeley during the major life stages which include pregnancy and 
birth, childhood and adolescence, adulthood, and finally the end of life. Each chapter 
starts with a description of the significance of that life stage, a list of key findings, the 
importance of the health indicator and its current status in Berkeley.  

COMPARISONS:  One way to evaluate the health of our City is to compare ourselves 
to others. Each time Berkeley meets one of the Healthy People 2020 (HP2020) goals, 
that goal is reported. By doing this, it allows us to compare the data on how Berkeley is 
doing relative to national health benchmarks. We also compare Berkeley with Alameda 
County and the State. We report how different groups of Berkeley residents compare 
with each other: by age, gender, income, race/ethnicity, education, and place of 
residence. Finally, we show how health indicators in Berkeley have changed over time. 
Such comparisons allow us to assess how Berkeley is faring relative to national goals, our 
past, and our neighbors.

PROGRAM HIGHLIGHTS:  The City’s Public Health Division works with partners 
to improve health in Berkeley. Each chapter contains program highlights, describing 
how the City is addressing issues raised by the data in that chapter. More information 
about these programs is available on the City’s website: https://www.cityofberkeley.info/
Health_Human_Services/Public_Health/A_to_Z_Public_Health_Services.aspx

DATA:  This report contains quantitative data about the health of the Berkeley 
community. The data is as objective as possible— there may be biases related 
to  reporting errors, incompleteness or limited by small samples. In our effort to 
understand what the data tell us about health in Berkeley, we look at correlations; what 
characteristics go along with better health or worse health? Public health programs and 
interventions are designed to address the likely “causal pathways” of adverse health 
outcomes, and are based on available evidence and best practices.

We use the latest year of data available at the time of analysis. For hospitalization and 
emergency department visit data, changes in the coding system were implemented in 
the last quarter of 2015 which made the previous years not comparable with current 
data.  The last full year of data under the prior coding system was 2014, thus data on 
hospitalization and emergency department visits are only presented through 2014.

TECHNICAL NOTES:  Data Sources and Definition of Key Terms: this information 
is provided at the end of the report. Those interested in additional technical details are 
invited to contact the Public Health Division Epidemiology and Vital Statistics Unit at 
publichealth@cityofberkeley.info.

Page 55 of 224

65



While the challenges  

we face should not be 

underestimated, through 

strategic collaboration,  

a unified vision, and broad 

community engagement we 

can achieve our mission  

of optimal health and  

wellness for all. 
A

nn
ie

 B
ur

ke

N
an

cy
 R

ub
in

, B
er

ke
le

ys
id

e

Page 56 of 224

66



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

1

 SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS AND SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH 1

Key Findings

•	 Population

oo Over the last 5 years, the African American 
population has decreased from approximately 10% 
to 7% of the population, while other racial/ethnic 
groups have remained relatively stable.

oo Age distribution is highly influenced by the university 
student population, with the largest proportion of 
the population between 15–24 years of age.

•	 Language

oo Nearly 28% of the Berkeley population 5 years and 
older primarily speak a language other than English 
at home. Among them, 74% speak English “very well” 
and do not have limited English proficiency. 

•	 Income and Wealth

oo Income is unevenly distributed, with White families 
earning around 3 times more than African American 
families. In other words, African American families 
earn 28 cents for every dollar earned by a White family.

oo More White householders (57%) own the home they 
live in than African American (41%), Asian (35%), or 
Latino (35%) householders. 

oo Approximately 7% of families live below the federal 
poverty level.

oo Berkeley has the second highest number of 
homeless among all Alameda County cities, second 
only to Oakland.

•	 Employment and Transportation

oo Unemployment in Berkeley has been decreasing 
steadily since 2010 and is lower than in Alameda 
County and California.

oo The majority of Berkeley’s population drives alone or 
takes public transportation to work. Nearly a quarter 
bike or walk to work.

continues

CHAPTER 1: SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC 
CHARACTERISTICS AND SOCIAL 
DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH

1

Be
rk

el
ey

 U
ni

fie
d 

Sc
ho

ol
 D

ist
ric

t

The social and physical environments in which we live, work 
and play greatly influence our overall health. Experts agree that 
health is in part determined by access to social and economic 
opportunities; the cleanliness of our water, food and air; 
availability of preventative health care and wellness programs; 
the nature of our social interactions and relationships; and the 
resources and supports available in our schools, homes and 
neighborhoods. These conditions are broadly known as the 
social determinants of health. 

The inequities in the social determinants of health negatively 
impact people of color and low-income people in Berkeley. The 
health disparities we discuss in later chapters can be directly 
tied to the economic, social, and environmental inequities 
that can be found in certain neighborhoods in Berkeley (in 
particular West, South and Central Berkeley). These residents of 
these communities are predominately people of color and low 
income. Those inequities in the social determinants of health 
are highlighted and discussed in this chapter.

Page 57 of 224

67



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

2

 SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS AND SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH1

Race/Ethnicity Distribution 

Berkeley is at the geographic center of 
the East Bay Corridor. The population 
is ethnically and racially diverse, 
even though it has experienced a 
significant loss of the African American 
population during the last few decades.

According to the 2011–2015 American 
Community Survey, the city’s residents 
are 56% White, 20% Asian, 10% Latino 
and 7% African American. Compared 
to the 2010 Census, the African 
American population has decreased 
from approximately 10% to 7%, while 
other racial/ethnic groups have 
remained relatively stable. 

Berkeley has a substantial foreign-
born immigrant population, with 
21% of the population identified as 
foreign-born. Of these, 57% were 
identified as non-citizens and 43% 
were naturalized as citizens. 

Key Findings continued

•	 Education

oo Approximately 96% of Berkeley residents 25 and over 
have at least a high school diploma.

oo Over 70% of residents have a bachelor’s, graduate, or 
professional degree, compared with 43% in Alameda 
County and 31% in California.

oo African Americans are the least likely to have a 
bachelor’s degree or higher. Latinos are the least likely 
to have graduated from high school.

•	 Access to Health Care

oo Only 7% of Berkeley residents are uninsured, 
compared to 10% in Alameda County. 

oo Individuals living in Berkeley who are not US citizens 
are more likely to be uninsured (14%) than those who 
are citizens (7%).

•	 Crime

oo Violent crime rates in Berkeley are similar to those in 
California, and they have remained fairly stable over 
the past decade.  

Figure 1.1  POPULATION DISTRIBUTION BY RACE/ETHNICITY  Berkeley, 2011–2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011-2015

White
65,608 
(55.9%)

Latino
13,434 (11.4%)

Pacific Islander
249 (0.2%)

Asian
22,951 (19.6%)

American 
Indian/Native 

Alaskan
388 (0.3%)

African 
American

8,667 (7.4%)

Other
387 (0.3%)

Two or 
More Races
5,700 (4.8%)

Total Population: 117,384

Population Distribution by Race/Ethnicity, Berkeley, 2011-2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011–2015

Page 58 of 224

68



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

3

 SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS AND SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH 1

SAN
 PABLO

 AV

4TH
 ST

GILMAN ST

DWIGHT WY

UNIVERSITY AV

ASHBY AV

S
P

R
U

C
E

 S
T

³
0 0.5 10.25 Miles

Race/Ethnicity

White

Hispanic/Latino

African American

Asian

WGS 1984 UTM Zone 10N

Map 1    POPULATION BY RACE/ETHNICITY AND CENSUS TRACT    City of Berkeley, 2011-2015

Source: U.S. Census, ACS 2011-2015

Map 1  POPULATION BY RACE/ETHNICITY AND CENSUS TRACT  City of Berkeley, 2011–2015Race/Ethnicity 
Distribution 
continued

The racial/ethnic distribution also 
varies by geographic areas in Berkeley. 
Whites are more widely distributed 
throughout the entire City than any 
other race/ethnicity. The predominant 
population in the East and North 
Berkeley Hills is White, census tracts 
with the highest household incomes. 
Latinos and African Americans are 
concentrated in South and West 
Berkeley and Asians in census tracts 
surrounding UC Berkeley Campus.

Figure 1.2  POPULATION DISTRIBUTION BY RACE/ETHNICITY  Berkeley, 2000–2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Office of Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, U.S. Census 
Bureau, 2000-2015

UPDATED FIGURE 
Population Distribution by Race/Ethnicity, Berkeley 2000-2015

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

2000 2005 2010 2015

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

White Latino API African American Other

Asian/PI

Afr. Amer.

White

Latino

Other

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Office of Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, U.S. Census Bureau, 
2000–2015

Page 59 of 224

69



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

4

 SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS AND SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH1

Age and Gender Distribution

The largest proportion of Berkeley’s 
population is between 15–24 years 
of age. The age distribution in 
Berkeley is highly influenced by 
the university student population, 
with 31% of the population enrolled 
in college or graduate school. 

UC Berkeley is the largest college/
university in Berkeley. Not all 
UC Berkeley students live in Berkeley, 
however, of the 30,574 undergraduate 
students at UC Berkeley, 66% report 
living on campus or within a mile 
from campus.

In Berkeley, as the population gets 
older, the number of females is greater 
than males, doubling at age 85+. 
This reflects the fact that women, 
on average, live longer than men. In 
Berkeley, life expectancy for men is 
81.7 years versus 86.7 years for women. 

Berkeley’s age distribution varies 
by race/ethnicity. The African 
American and Latino populations 
are older than the Asian and White 
populations. Over half of the Asian 
population is in the 15–24 year age 
group, a much higher proportion than 
for other racial/ ethnic groups. This 
is primarily due to the large Asian 
student population at UC Berkeley 
where Asian students make up 43% 
of the student body. More than 20% 
of African Americans in Berkeley are 
over the age of 65. The median age of 
African Americans has increased from 
34 years in 1990 to 43 years in 2010. 

Figure 1.3  POPULATION DISTRIBUTION BY AGE AND GENDER  Berkeley, 2011–2015

0 to 4 
5 to 9 

10 to 14 
15 to 19 
20 to 24 
25 to 29 
30 to 34 
35 to 39 
40 to 44 
45 to 49 
50 to 54 
55 to 59 
60 to 64 
65 to 69 
70 to 74 
75 to 79 
80 to 84 

85 and Over 

  

							15,000												10,000														5,000																				0															5,000										10,000													15,000																			

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011-2015 

Population Distribution by Age and Gender, Berkeley, 2011-2015 

Female: 60,139 

 

Male: 57,245

  

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011–2015

Figure 1.4  AGE DISTRIBUTION BY RACE/ETHNICITY  Berkeley, 2011–2015

0 

10 

20 

30 

40 

50 

60 

African Am. Asian Latino White 

Age (Years) 

		

0-14 15-24 25-44 45-64 65+ 

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011-2015 

Age Distribution by Race/Ethnicity, Berkeley, 2011-2015  

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011–2015

Page 60 of 224

70



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

5

 SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS AND SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH 1

This may reflect gentrification in the 
Berkeley community with younger 
African Americans moving away. 
However, children age 0 to 4 years 
comprise a larger percentage of the 
African American and Latino groups 
than of the Asian and White groups.

Age distribution also varies 
significantly by geography in Berkeley, 
with children under 18 concentrated in 
West and South Berkeley and younger 
adults 18 to 34 concentrated around 
the University Campus. The older 
population 55 and over is concentrated 
in North Berkeley/Berkeley Hills.

Age and Gender 
Distribution 
continued

SAN
 PABLO

 AV

4TH
 ST

GILMAN ST

DWIGHT WY

UNIVERSITY AV

ASHBY AV

S
P

R
U

C
E

 S
T

³
0 0.5 10.25 Miles

Age

0-17

18-34

35-54

55+

WGS 1984 UTM Zone 10N

Map 2    POPULATION BY AGE AND CENSUS TRACT    City of Berkeley, 2011-2015

Source: U.S. Census, ACS 2011-2015

Map 2  POPULATION BY AGE AND CENSUS TRACT  City of Berkeley, 2011–2015

White , 7,770, 
(28%)

Latino, 4,489, 
(16%)

Asian, 11,853, 
(43%)

Afr Amer, 998, 
(4%)

Other, 2653, 
(10%)

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; University of California Berkeley, 
Office of Planning and Analysis

Undergraduate: 30,574 students

Updated Figure 
UC Berkeley Population Distribution by Race/Ethnicity, 2011-2015Figure 1.5  UC BERKELEY POPULATION DISTRIBUTION BY  

RACE/ETHNICITY,  Berkeley, 2011–2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; University of California Berkeley, Office of 
Planning and Analysis

Page 61 of 224

71



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

6

 SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS AND SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH1

Household Type

A household contains one or more 
people. Everyone living in a housing 
unit makes up a household. One 
of the people who owns or rents 
the residence is designated as the 
householder. For the purposes of 
examining family and household 
composition, two types of households 
are defined: family and nonfamily. 

A family household has at least two 
members related by birth, marriage, 
or adoption, one of whom is the 
householder. A nonfamily household 
can be either a person living alone or a 
householder who shares the housing 
unit only with nonrelatives—for 
example, boarders or roommates. 

Own children are a subset of all 
children and include biological, step, or 
adopted children (not foster children). 
Own children are also limited to 
children who have never been married 
and are under the age of 18. 

Berkeley has approximately 46,000 
households. Around 17% of these 
households include children less than 
18 years of age compared with 34% in 
Alameda County.

Berkeley residents are less likely to live 
in family households than Alameda 
County residents: 44% of Berkeley 
households are families compared 
to 66% in Alameda County. This is 
greatly influenced by the large student 
population living in Berkeley.

Approximately 57% of Berkeley 
households are renter-occupied 
housing units and 43% are 
owner-occupied. 

Figure 1.6  HOUSEHOLD TYPE AND PRESENCE OF CHILDREN  Berkeley, 2011–2015

Non-Family 
households 
Living alone

36.2%

Married couples 
with own children 

under 18 years
12.7%

Other families with 
own children 

under 18 years
4.8%

Married couples with 
no own children 
under 18 years

21.2%

Other families 
with no children 
under 18 years

5.4%

Non-family 
households and not 

living alone 
19.7%

N = 45,917

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011-2015
Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011–2015

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

Total African
American

Asian Latino White

P
e
rc

e
n

t

2006-2010 2011-2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2006-2015

Percent of Single Parent Households with Children Under 18 

Years of Age by Race/Ethnicity of Parent, Berkeley, 2006-2015
Figure 1.7  PERCENT OF SINGLE PARENT HOUSEHOLDS WITH CHILDREN UNDER 18 

YEARS OF AGE BY RACE/ETHNICITY OF PARENT  Berkeley, 2006–2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2006–2015

Page 62 of 224

72



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

7

 SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS AND SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH 1

A single-parent household is defined as families where 
one parent lives with dependent children, either alone or 
in a larger household, without a spouse or partner. Among 
family households in Berkeley, 10% are single parents with 
related children under 18 years of age. The percentage 
of single parent households with children under 18 has 
decreased in Berkeley as a whole and slightly for every race/
ethnic group, except for Latinos. The highest proportion 
of single parents with children under 18 is among African 
Americans. Nearly 77% of single-parent households with 

children under 18 are headed by a female householder 
while 23% are headed by a male householder.

Two-parent households are those in which biological or adopted 
children live in a household with two married parents. The 
proportion of children living in a two-parent household is at the 
lowest point in more than half a century: 69% are in this type of 
family arrangement today, compared with 73% in 2000 and 87% 
in 1960. Even children living in two-parent households are more 
likely to experience a variety of family arrangements due to 
increases in divorce and cohabitation.

Household Type continued

Language Spoken at Home

Despite the predominance of the 
English language, many people in 
the United States speak languages 
other than English.  There is an 
interest in these groups and in how 
well they are able to participate 
in civic life and interact with the 
English speaking majority.

The primary purpose of collecting 
data on language use is to measure 
the portion of the population that has 
limited English proficiency. Translation 
services, education, and/or assistance 
in accessing government services are 
needed by residents who have limited 
English proficiency.

Almost 28% of the Berkeley population 
5 years and older primarily speak a 
language other than English at home. 
Among them, 74% speak English 
“very well” and do not have limited 
English proficiency. However, 7% of 
the population 5 years and older is 
linguistically isolated. Of these, 54% 
speak Asian/Pacific Islander languages 
and 24% Spanish.

From the Community

Identify additional channels for getting information out beyond directing 
people to the City website. The website is difficult to navigate, especially 
for Spanish speakers. Latino and African American residents recommended 
a community center in their neighborhoods where they could access 
information, services, recreation and informal supports.

Figure 1.8  LANGUAGE ABILITY AND LIMITED ENGLISH PROFICIENCY 
Berkeley, 2011–2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011-2015

English only
72.1%

Primary Not English, 
Not Limited English 

Proficiency
20.6%

Other
4.6%

Other 
Indo-European

16.5%

Asian and 
Pacific Islander

54.0%

Spanish
24.8%Limited English 

Proficiency
7.3%

Persons, 
N = 113,250

Limited English Proficiency Persons, 
N = 8,271

Language Ability and Limited English Proficiency, Berkeley, 2011-2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011–2015

Page 63 of 224

73



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

8

 SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS AND SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH1

Income, Poverty, and Wealth

Household income is defined as the 
income from all adults living in one 
household, regardless of the size of the 
household or the number of working 
adults. Family households include only 
those households with at least two 
members related by birth, marriage, 
or adoption. Larger families with the 
same income are poorer because their 
income must support more people. 
Households with multiple working 
adults or adults who work multiple 
part-time jobs experience different 
stresses than households in which all 
income is earned by a single adult with 
one job. 

In Berkeley the median family income 
is $118,190. The median household 
income is $66,237, which is influenced 
by the large population of low-income 
university students Berkeley.

Income in Berkeley is unevenly 
distributed. Families with a White 
head of household are more likely 
to be higher income while those 
headed by non-White households 
are more likely to be low income. 
White families earn around 3 times 
more than African American families. 
In other words, African American 
families earn 28 cents for every 
dollar earned by a White family. 
All families and households have 
experienced an increase in median 
income during the last decade, 
except for African Americans who 
experienced a slight decrease. 

From the Community

“Other City divisions and departments need to be engaged as core stakeholders 
in achieving the broader goal of building healthy communities, reducing 
inequities and promoting the health and well-being of impacted communities.”

A
nn

ie
 B

ur
ke

Figure 1.9  MEDIAN FAMILY AND HOUSEHOLD INCOME IN PAST 12 MONTHS (IN 2015 
INFLATION-ADJUSTED DOLLARS) BY RACE/ETHNICITY IN BERKELEY  2011–2015

 $-

 $20,000

 $40,000

 $60,000

 $80,000

 $100,000

 $120,000

 $140,000

 $160,000

Median Family Income Median Household Income

African American Asian Latino White Total

REPLACEMENT FIGURE Median Family and Household Income 
in Past 12 months (in 2015 inflation-adjusted dollars) by 
Race/Ethnicity in Berkeley, 2011-2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011-2015Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011–2015

Page 64 of 224

74



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

9

 SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS AND SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH 1

People living in the Berkeley Hills and the Claremont areas have the highest median family income. Except 
for census tracts next to the University of California, where students predominate, census tracts in South and 
West Berkeley have the lowest median family income.

SAN
 PABLO

 AV

4TH
 ST

GILMAN ST

DWIGHT WY

UNIVERSITY AV

ASHBY AV

MARIN AV

S
P

R
U

C
E

 S
T

C
O

LL
E

G
E

 A
V

S
A

C
R

A
M

E
N

TO
 S

T

ROSE ST

M
A

R
TI

N
 L

U
TH

E
R

 K
IN

G
 J

 W
Y

TE
LE

G
R

AP
H

 A
V

SOLANO AV

ALCATRAZ AV

SH
AT

TU
C

K 
AV

BANCROFT WY

TH
E

 A
LA

M
E

D
A  

AD
EL

IN
E 

ST

CLA
REMONT A

V³
0 0.5 10.25 Miles

Median Family Income

$47,963.00 - $60,096.00

$60,096.01 - $86,042.00

$86,042.01 - $127,159.00

$127,159.01 - $171,719.00

$171,719.01 - $250,000.00

Unreliable Estimate

Missing Data

WGS 1984 UTM Zone 10N

Map 3    MEDIAN FAMILY INCOME IN THE PAST 12 MONTHS (IN 2015 INFLATION-ADJUSTED DOLLARS) BY CENSUS TRACT    
City of Berkeley, 2011-2015

Source: U.S. Census, ACS 2011-2015

Map 3  MEDIAN FAMILY INCOME IN THE PAST 12 MONTHS (IN 2015 INFLATION-ADJUSTED DOLLARS)  
BY CENSUS TRACT  City of Berkeley, 2011–2015

Income, Poverty, and 
Wealth continued

Page 65 of 224

75



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

10

 SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS AND SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH1

Home Ownership

Housing quality and accessibility 
are important determinants of 
health status. Home ownership is an 
important indicator of wealth and can 
influence the sense of belonging and 
control over one’s place of residence. 
Homeowners tend to create more 
social ties and lasting relationships. 
These relationships contribute to 
positive mental health and happiness.

In Berkeley there are nearly 46,000 
occupied housing units. About 9% 
of them are occupied by an African 
American householder, 16% are 
occupied by an Asian householder, 8% 
are occupied by a Latino householder, 
and 63% are occupied by a White 
householder. A higher proportion of 
White householders own the housing 
unit they live in (57%) as compared to 
African American (41%), Asian (35%), 
and Latino (35%) householders. 

Berkeley is in the center of a region in 
which housing costs have increased 
faster than incomes for the past few 
decades. Higher income home seekers 
have bid up the price of housing in 
traditionally low-income South and 
West Berkeley, made significant 
physical improvements to the housing 
stock, and increased the tax base for 
local property taxes. This phenomenon 
of gentrification results in the decrease 
of housing affordability and impacts the 
neighborhood stability and cohesion.

From the Community

African American respondents noted that African American communities 
and families are being displaced because of a lack of jobs, housing and 
community investments. Others noted that health inequities are rooted in 
poverty, racism, inadequate access to culturally relevant and high quality 
health services, and a lack of community and economic development in their 
communities.

N
at

al
ie

 O
re

ns
te

in
, B

er
ke

le
ys

id
e

41
35 35

57

59
65 65

43

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

African American Asian Latino White

Percent Owner-Occupied Renter-Occupied

Percent of Occupied Housing Units by Tenure (Owner-Occupied 

versus Renter-Occupied) by Race/Ethnicity of Householder, 

Berkeley, 2011-2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011-2015

UPDATED 

FIGURE 1.10

Figure 1.10  PERCENT OF OCCUPIED HOUSING UNITS BY TENURE 
(OWNER-OCCUPIED VERSUS RENTER-OCCUPIED) BY RACE/ETHNICITY 

OF HOUSEHOLDER  Berkeley, 2011–2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011–2015

Page 66 of 224

76



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

11

 SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS AND SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH 1

Poverty

Approximately 7% of Berkeley families 
live below the federal poverty level. 
Poverty rates vary drastically by race/
ethnicity. Compared to White families, 
the proportion of families living in 
poverty is 8 times higher among 
African American families, 5 times 
higher among Latino families and 3 
times higher among Asian families.

At the individual level, about 20% of 
all Berkeley residents live below the 
federal poverty level, which is strongly 
influenced by the large university 
student population in Berkeley.  The 
Asian population has the highest 
rate of individual poverty, reflecting 
the large Asian student population. 
Although college students commonly 
have very low income during their 
limited student years, they are less 
likely to live in poverty throughout 
their adult lives than those who do not 
attend college. 

Poverty rates also vary by age. The 
proportion of individuals living in 
poverty is highest among those 18–24 
years old, and the rates are lowest 
among those 0–17 and those 65 and 
older. For African Americans over the 
age of 65, the poverty rates decrease 
substantially compared to those age 64 
and under. 

Figure 1.11  PERCENT OF FAMILIES AND INDIVIDUALS BELOW FEDERAL POVERTY 
LEVEL IN THE PAST 12 MONTHS BY RACE/ETHNICITY IN BERKELEY  2011–2015

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Families Individuals

Percent African American Asian Latino White Total

REPLACEMENT FIGURE Percent of Families and Individuals 
below Federal Poverty Level in the Past 12 months by 
Race/Ethnicity in Berkeley, 2011-2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011-2015
Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011–2015

Figure 1.12  PERCENT OF POPULATION BELOW THE FEDERAL POVERTY LEVEL BY 
AGE AND RACE/ETHNICITY  Berkeley, 2011–2015

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

0-17 18-24 25-64 65+

Percent

Age (Years)

African American Asian Latino White

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011-2015
Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011–2015

Page 67 of 224

77



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

12

 SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS AND SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH1

Poverty status is also unequally distributed by geographic areas in Berkeley. This distribution also corresponds 
with areas with high concentrations of African Americans and Latinos. Except for census tracts predominantly 
populated by students around the University Campus, census tracts in South and West Berkeley show the 
highest rates of poverty in Berkeley.

SAN
 PABLO

 AV

4TH
 ST

GILMAN ST

DWIGHT WY

UNIVERSITY AV

ASHBY AV

MARIN AV

S
P

R
U

C
E

 S
T

C
O

LL
E

G
E

 A
V

S
A

C
R

A
M

E
N

TO
 S

T

ROSE ST

M
A

R
TI

N
 L

U
TH

E
R

 K
IN

G
 J

 W
Y

TE
LE

G
R

AP
H

 A
V

SOLANO AV

ALCATRAZ AV

SH
AT

TU
C

K 
AV

BANCROFT WY

TH
E

 A
LA

M
E

D
A  

AD
EL

IN
E 

ST

CLA
REMONT A

V³
0 0.5 10.25 Miles

Total population below poverty level

0% - 7.5%

7.6% - 16.2%

16.3% - 23.7%

23.8% - 32.3%

32.4% - 57.2%

Unreliable Estimate

Missing Data

WGS 1984 UTM Zone 10N

Map 4    POVERTY STATUS IN THE PAST 12 MONTHS BY CENSUS TRACT, TOTAL POPULATION    

City of Berkeley, 2011-2015

Source: U.S. Census, ACS 2011-2015

Map 4  POVERTY STATUS IN THE PAST 12 MONTHS BY CENSUS TRACT,  
TOTAL POPULATION  City of Berkeley, 2011–2015

Poverty continued

Be
rk

el
ey

sid
e

Page 68 of 224

78



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

13

 SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS AND SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH 1

Berkeley Homeless Population

On January 30, 2017, hundreds of 
non-profit, City and County staff and 
volunteers, organized by EveryOne 
Home, carried out a point-in-time 
count of people who are homeless in 
Alameda County. 

Berkeley has the second highest 
number of homeless among all 
Alameda County cities, second only 
to Oakland. Berkeley’s homeless 
population accounts for 17% of the 
5,629 homeless people in Alameda 
County. Given Berkeley makes 
up only 7% of the population of 
Alameda County, it is home to a 
disproportionate number of homeless. 

Over a quarter (27%) of Berkeley’s 
homeless are chronically homeless. 
When the point-in-time count was 
done, of the 972 people estimated to 
be homeless in Berkeley, 308 people 
(32%) were sheltered and 664 (68%) 
were unsheltered.

Of the homeless population in 
Berkeley, 61% identify as male, 38% 
as female, and 1% as transgender. 
Nearly all homeless in Berkeley are 
single adults (95%), which is higher 
than Alameda County (87%). Nearly 
20% of Berkeley’s homeless are 
unaccompanied transitional age youth 
age 18-24 years.  An additional 68% are 
age 25-60 and 8% are over 60 years old.

African Americans are over-
represented in the homeless 
population. African Americans 
are 7.4% of Berkeley population, 
but are 50% of the homeless 
population. The proportion of the 
homeless population in each racial 
group is similar to the proportion 
throughout Alameda County.

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Piedmont

Pleasanton

Dublin

Emeryville

Union City

Albany

Newark

San Leandro

Alameda

Unincorporated

Livermore

Hayward

Fremont

Berkeley

Oakland

% of Homeless in Alameda County

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Alameda County 2017 Homeless Point-In-Time 
Count

Alameda County Homeless Population Percent by City, 2017

UPDATED FIGURE 1.13 

Figure 1.13  ALAMEDA COUNTY HOMELESS POPULATION PERCENT BY CITY, 2017

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Alameda County 2017 Homeless 
Point-In-Time Count

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Berkeley and 
Alameda County 2017 Homeless Point-In-Time Count; U.S. Census, ACS 2011-2015

UPDATED FIGURE Race of Homeless Population in Berkeley, 
2017 and the Overall Berkeley Population, 2011-2015

African 
American, 

50%

Asian, 3%
Multi-race, 

17%

White, 27%

Other, 3%

Berkeley Homeless Population

African 
American, 

7%

Asian, 20%

Multi-race, 
5%

White, 56%

Other, 12%

Berkeley Overall Population

Figure 1.14  RACE OF HOMELESS POPULATION IN BERKELEY, 2017  
AND THE OVERALL BERKELEY POPULATION, 2011–2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Berkeley and Alameda County 2017 
Homeless Point-In-Time Count

Page 69 of 224

79



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

14

 SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS AND SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH1

Many of the homeless in Berkeley 
report experiencing health conditions. 
Among those surveyed, 43% reported 
psychiatric or emotional problems, 
38% reported chronic health problems, 
28% reported post-traumatic stress 
disorder (PTSD), 25% report having 
a physical disability and 24% struggle 
with drug or alcohol abuse.

Employment

In 2016, the unemployment rate 
in Berkeley dropped to 3.6%, the 
lowest recorded since 2000. The 
unemployment rate in Berkeley 
has being decreasing steadily since 
2010 and it is lower than the rates in 
Alameda County and California. This 
is a strong indicator of the economic 
recovery after the recession. 

Berkeley Homeless Population continued Figure 1.15  HEALTH CONDITIONS OF HOMELESS IN BERKELEY  2017

0

10

20

30

40

50

Psychiatric
or

emotional
conditions

Chronic
health

problems

PTSD Physical
disability

Drug
or alcohol

abuse

Tramatic
brain
injury

AIDS/HIV
related

Pe
rc

en
t

REPLACEMENT FIGURE Health Conditions of Homeless in 
Berkeley, 2017

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Berkeley  2017 
Homeless Point-In-Time CountSource: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Berkeley 2017 Homeless Point-In-Time Count

Figure 1.16  UNEMPLOYMENT RATE  Berkeley and California, 2000–2016

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

2000 2002 2004 2006 2008 2010 2012 2014 2016

U
n

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n

t 
R

a
te

 (
P

e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
)

Berkeley

Alameda County

California

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; California 
Employment Development Department, Bureau of Labor Statistics

Note: Berkeley and 
Alameda County had the 
same avg. unemployment 
rate from 2000-2005

Unemployment Rate, Berkeley and California, 2000-2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; California Employment Development 
Department, Bureau of Labor Statistics

Page 70 of 224

80



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

15

 SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS AND SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH 1

Employment continued

Jobs in education & health, and in 
professional, scientific, & management, 
comprise the majority of employment 
among Berkeley residents, accounting 
for 56.5% of jobs. Residents employed 
in these fields have increase in Berkeley 
during the last decade. This may be a 
contributor to the decline in Berkeley’s 
unemployment rates.

0 4000 8000 12000 16000 20000 24000

Education and Health care

Professional, Scientific and Management

Finance, Insurance, Real Estate and
Information

Trade (Wholesale, Retail)

Entertainment, Recreation, and Food
Services

Other

Number of Workers

Industry of Employed Population, Aged 16 Years and Over,  

Berkeley, 2011-2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011-2015

Figure 1.17  INDUSTRY OF EMPLOYED POPULATION, AGED 16 YEARS  
AND OVER  Berkeley, 2011–2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011–2015

Industry of Employed Population, Aged 16 Years and Over,  

Berkeley, 2007-2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011-2015

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

P
e
o

p
le

 E
m

p
lo

y
e
d Education and Health

care

Professional, Scientific
and Management

Finance, Insurance,
Real Estate and
Information
Trade (Wholesale,
Retail)

Entertainment,
Recreation, and Food
Services
Other

Figure 1.18  INDUSTRY OF EMPLOYED POPULATION, AGED 16 YEARS  
AND OVER  Berkeley, 2007–2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011–2015

Page 71 of 224

81



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

16

 SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS AND SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH1

Transportation

The over a third of Berkeley residents 
drive alone (34%) to work. Driving 
alone to work contributes to poor 
health by increasing traffic, pollution, 
and individual stress. An additional 
22% use public transportation and 
7% carpool to work. These particular 
modes of transportation reduce traffic 
and pollution. About a quarter of 
residents engage in active methods 
of transportation, such as walking or 
cycling, to get to work which have 
health advantages over driving. 
African Americans have the highest 
percentage of driving to work and the 
lowest percentage of walking. 

Drove alone, 
33.7%

Carpooled, 
6.9%

Public Transportation, 
21.6%

Bicycle, 8.3%

Walked, 
16.73%

Other means, 
0.8%

Worked at 
home, 10.6%

N=57,154

Means of Transportation to Work, Residents 16 years and Older, 

Berkeley, 2011-2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011-2015

Figure 1.19  MEANS OF TRANSPORTATION TO WORK, RESIDENTS 16 YEARS  
AND OLDER  Berkeley, 2011–2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011–2015

0 

10 

20 

30 

40 

50 

Car Public 

Transport 

Walk Other Worked at 

Home 

P
e
rc

e
n

t 

  

African American Asian Latino White 

Means of Transportation by Race/Ethnicity for the Population 

Aged 18 and Greater, Berkeley, 2011-2015  

N=57,154 

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011-2015 

Figure 1.20  MEANS OF TRANSPORTATION BY RACE/ETHNICITY FOR THE 
POPULATION AGED 18 OR GREATER  Berkeley, 2011–2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011–2015

Page 72 of 224

82



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

17

 SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS AND SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH 1

Education and  
Educational Attainment

Educational attainment is one of the 
strongest predictors of income and 
good health. Each additional year in 
school is associated with increased 
life expectancy and better health.

Approximately 84% of Berkeley 
residents ages 25 and over attended 
at least some college. Over 70% 
of residents have a bachelor, 
graduate, or professional degree, 
compared with 43% in Alameda 
County and 31% in California. The 
educational attainment in Berkeley 
is significantly higher than in 
Alameda County for every single 
race or ethnic group. Approximately 
80% of Whites, 71% of Asians, 
50% of Latinos and 29% of African 
Americans, have a Bachelor’s degree 
or higher in Berkeley, compared 
to 54% of Whites, 54% of Asians, 
17% of Latinos and 25% of African 
Americans in Alameda County. 

Berkeley’s levels of educational 
attainment are not evenly 
distributed. Whites and Asians 
have the highest rates of higher 
education. Latinos are the least 
likely to graduate from high school, 
and African Americans have 
the lowest rate of college and 
professional degrees. 

No high 

school 

diploma 

4.3% 
High school 

graduate 

7.4% 

Some college 

13.0% 

Associate 

degree 

4.4% 

Bachelor's 

degree 

32.9% 

Graduate or 

professional 

degree 

38.1% 

N = 72,998 

Educational Attainment of Population Aged 25 and Older, 

Berkeley, 2011-2015 

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011-2015 

Figure 1.21  EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT OF POPULATION AGED 25  
AND OLDER  Berkeley, 2011–2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011–2015

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

African American Asian Latino White

Pe
rc

en
t

Less than high school diploma High school graduate, GED, or alternative
Some college or associate's degree Bachelor's degree or higher

UPDATED FIGURE Educational Attainment of Population Aged 
25 Years and Older by Race/Ethnicity, Berkeley, 2011-2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011-2015

Figure 1.22  EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT OF POPULATION AGED 25  
AND OLDER BY RACE/ETHNICITY  Berkeley, 2011–2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011–2015

Page 73 of 224

83



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

18

 SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS AND SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH1

Residents in census tracts in the Berkeley Hills, the Claremont Area and those surrounding the University 
Campus are more likely to have a Bachelor’s degree or higher as compared with residents in census tracts in 
South and West Berkeley.

SAN
 PABLO

 AV

4TH
 ST

GILMAN ST

DWIGHT WY

UNIVERSITY AV

ASHBY AV

S
P

R
U

C
E

 S
T

³
0 0.5 10.25 Miles

Educational Attainment

No High School Diploma

High School Graduate

Some College/Associate's Degree

Bachelor's Degree

Graduate/Professional Degree

WGS 1984 UTM Zone 10N

Map 5   EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT BY CENSUS TRACT, ADULTS 25 YEARS AND OVER    

City of Berkeley, 2011-2015

Source: U.S. Census, ACS 2011-2015

Map 5  EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT BY CENSUS TRACT, ADULTS 25 YEARS AND OVER 
City of Berkeley, 2011–2015

Education and 
Educational 
Attainment continued

Be
rk

el
ey

sid
e

Page 74 of 224

84



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

19

 SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS AND SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH 1

Health Insurance and  
Access to Healthcare

Health insurance coverage is an 
important determinant of access to 
health care. Uninsured children and 
nonelderly adults are substantially 
less likely to have a usual source of 
health care or a recent health care visit 
than their insured counterparts. The 
majority (52%) of persons under age 
65 who have health coverage, have 
coverage through private employer-
sponsored group health insurance. 

The percentage of uninsured 
in Berkeley (7%) is lower than 
in Alameda County (10%). In 
2009–2011, the rate was 9% and 13% 
in Berkeley and Alameda County 
respectively. The recent decrease 
in uninsured rate may reflect the 
impact of the Affordable Care Act 
expanding health care coverage.

The percentage of uninsured varies 
by race/ethnicity, as well as by age 
and education. People of color are 
at higher risk of being uninsured 
than non-Hispanic Whites. The 
percentage of uninsured is higher 
among African American, Latino, 
and Asians compared to Whites. 

From the Community

Black men need jobs; is unemployed; want to improve health of black men?, get us jobs; if you had a job, you take better 
care of yourself and have access to health care.

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Bachelor's Degree/Higher

Some College

High School Graduate

Less Than High School

EDUCATION (25 and Older)

Female

Male

SEX

65 and Over

18 to 64

Under 18

AGE (in Years)

Percent Uninsured

Berkeley

Alameda
County

Health Insurance Coverage Status: Uninsured by Age, 

Sex and Educational Attainment, City of Berkeley &

Alameda County, 2011-2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011-2015

UPDATED 

FIGURE 1.24Figure 1.24  HEALTH INSURANCE COVERAGE STATUS: UNINSURED BY AGE, SEX  
AND EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT  City of Berkeley & Alameda County, 2011–2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011–2015

0 

5 

10 

15 

20 

25 

African 

American 

Latino Asian White Total 

P
e

rc
e

n
t 

  

Berkeley Alameda County 

HP2020 Objective: 
0% Uninsured 

Percent Uninsured by Race/Ethnicity, City of Berkeley and 

Alameda County 2011-2015 

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 
2011-2015 

Figure 1.23  HEALTH INSURANCE COVERAGE STATUS: PERCENT UNINSURED BY 
RACE/ETHNICITY  City of Berkeley and Alameda County, 2011–2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011–2015

Page 75 of 224

85



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

20

 SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS AND SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH1

The uninsured percentage between 
Berkeley and Alameda County is 
similar for all racial/ethnic groups 
except for Latinos. A higher proportion 
of Latinos in Berkeley have health 
insurance compared to Alameda 
County. Low income and less educated 
residents are also at higher risk of being 
uninsured. Though the Affordable 
Care Act expanded the availability of 
health insurance, insurance gaps still 
remain. Undocumented immigrants, 
for example, are not eligible for 
coverage. Some who are eligible will 
remain uninsured, either by choice or 
because premiums are not affordable. 
In addition, it is not clear in the current 
political environment if the Affordable 
Care Act will remain or be repealed. 

Individuals living in Berkeley who are 
not US citizens are more likely to be 
uninsured than those who are citizens. 
Less than 7% of native born and foreign 
born naturalized citizens in Berkeley 
are uninsured. In contrast, 14% of those 
who are not US citizens are uninsured.

Crime

A safe neighborhood that is free of 
violence and crime is vital for a healthy 
community. The physical and mental 
ramifications of violence and crime 
contribute largely to the burden of 
disease and deaths. Violent crimes 
significantly and disproportionately 
affect communities of color and 

From the Community

For African American residents, the lack of access to culturally relevant, high 
quality health care services was cited as a priority when it comes to the health 
of their community. African American residents reported that they are unable 
to access caring and culturally relevant health care services in Berkeley.

From the Community

“We are not being treated 
fairly… We don’t get care like 
how we used to get.”

Health Insurance and Access to Healthcare  
continued

Violent Crimes Reported to Police Department, 

Berkeley, 2006-2016

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

C
ri

m
e

s

Total Homicide Rape Robbery Aggravated Assault

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
State of California Department of Justice, 2006-2016

Figure 1.26  VIOLENT CRIMES REPORTED TO POLICE DEPARTMENT   
Berkeley, 2006–2016

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Not a Citizen

Naturalized

Foreign Born

Native Born

Percent

Berkeley Alameda County

Of Foreign Born:

Percent Uninsured by Place of Birth and US Citizenship

City of Berkeley and Alameda County, 2011-2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011-2015

UPDATED 

FIGURE 1.25Figure 1.25  PERCENT UNINSURED BY PLACE OF BIRTH AND US CITIZENSHIP 
City of Berkeley and Alameda County, 2011–2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011–2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, State of California Department of 
Justice, 2006–2016

Page 76 of 224

86



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

21

 SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS AND SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH 1

From the Community

“I used to feel like I was in 
a safe haven in Berkeley. It 
does not feel safe anymore. I 
got robbed while at the ATM 
recently. I don’t feel like I can 
walk down the street the way I 
used to. We need to feel more 
safe and supported in this 
community.”

young adults. Post-traumatic stress 
in the victims of crime and assault 
contributes to the burden of mental 
health status and the chronic diseases 
like cardiovascular disease. The total 
reported number of crimes in Berkeley 
has fluctuated over time between 2006 
and 2016. Robbery and aggravated 
assault made up 93.8% of all reported 
crimes in the past decade.

Violent crime rates in Berkeley are 
similar to those in California, and they 
have remained fairly stable over the 
past decade.

Property crimes in Berkeley were 
on the decline until 2011. After that 
year, the property crime rate has 
remained largely steady. Larceny is 
the most common type of Berkeley 
property crime, at 70.4% over 
the past decade. Larceny is the 
wrongful taking of someone else’s 
personal property or goods without 
permission from the owner.

Crime continued
Violent Crimes per 1,000 Residents in Berkeley 

and California, 2008-2016

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

C
ri

m
e
s
 p

e
r 

1
,0

0
0
 R

e
s
id

e
n

ts

Berkeley California

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI), 2006-2016

Figure 1.27  VIOLENT CRIMES PER 1,000 RESIDENTS   
Berkeley and California, 2008–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI), 
2006–2016

Property Crimes Reported to Police Department, 

Berkeley, 2006-2016

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

C
ri

m
e
s

Total Burglary Motor Vehicle Theft Larceny

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
State of California Department of Justice, 2006-2016

Figure 1.28  PROPERTY CRIMES REPORTED TO POLICE DEPARTMENT   
Berkeley, 2006–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, State of California Department of 
Justice, 2006–2016

Page 77 of 224

87



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

22

 SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS AND SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH1

References
1.	 M. Whitehead, “The Concepts and Principles of Equity and 

Health,” WHO, EURO Report, 1991.

2.	 P. Braveman, “The Social Determinants of Health: Coming of 
Age,” Annual Review of Public Health, vol. 32, pp. 381–398, 2011. 

3.	 US Dept. of Health and Human Services, “About Healthy 
People,” 2012. [Online]. Available: https://www.healthypeople.
gov/2020/About-Healthy-People. [Accessed 2017].

4.	 CDC, “The Public Health System and the 10 Essential Public 
Health Services,” 2017. [Online]. Available: https://www.cdc.gov/
stltpublichealth/publichealthservices/essentialhealthservices.
html. [Accessed 2017]. 

5.	 UC Berkeley, “Berkeley Undergraduate Profile, UC Berkeley,” 
2011. [Online]. Available: http://opa.berkeley.edu/sites/default/
files/UndergraduateProfile.pdf. [Accessed 2017]. 

6.	 US Census Bureau, “State & county Quickfacts: Alameda 
County, CA.,” 2016. [Online]. Available: https://www.census.
gov/quickfacts/fact/table/alamedacountycalifornia/PST045216. 
[Accessed 2017].

7.	 CDC, “NCHS Data Brief Number 125,” 2013. [Online]. Available: 
http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/databriefs/db125.htm#ref1. 
[Accessed 2017].

8.	 R. Speigelman, “Everyone home, Ending Homelessness in 
Alameda County. 2009 Alameda Countywide Homeless Count 
and Survey,” 2009.

9.	 US Census Bureau, “2006–2010 American Community Survey 
[California],” 2011.

Page 78 of 224

88



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

23

 PREGNANCY AND BIRTH 2

Key Findings

•	 Healthy People 2020 (HP2020) Goals

oo Berkeley overall meets HP2020 goals for:
—— Prenatal care
—— Low Birth Weight
—— Prematurity

•	 Mothers

oo Nearly 94% of pregnant women receive prenatal 
care in the first trimester.

•	 Teens

oo 	From 2004–2006 to 2014–2016 the overall teen birth 
rate decreased by 82%. For African Americans the 
rate decreased by 76% during the same time period.

oo 	African American teens have a birth rate 9 times 
higher than that of White teens and 2 times that of 
Latina teens.

•	 Infants 

oo 	In 1993–1995, an African American woman in 
Berkeley was 5 times as likely as a White woman to 
have a low birth weight (LBW) infant. In 2014–2016, 
the risk of an African American mother having a 
LBW baby has fallen to 2.5 times higher than that of 
her White counterpart. 

oo 	All racial/ethnic groups in Berkeley meet the 
HP2020 goal for LBW. 

oo African American babies, for the first time ever 
recorded, met the HP2020 objective for prematurity 
in 2014–2016. However, a disparity still persists as 
African American babies are twice as likely to be 
born prematurely as White, Latino, or Asian babies.

Pregnancy and childbirth mark the beginning of an individual's 
journey along the life course. The health conditions of 
pregnancy, birth, and early infancy have a profound impact on 
health and well-being throughout life. It is important to pay 
particular attention to this critical life stage when assessing the 
overall health status of a community.

Berkeley has excellent overall health indicators related to 
pregnancy and birth, and meets most HP2020 goals in these 
areas. There have been substantial improvements in health 
outcomes related to pregnancy and birth, including low birth 
weight (LBW), prenatal care, and teen birth.

African American mothers and infants now meet HP2020 
goals for prenatal care, LBW and prematurity. Despite these 
improvements, inequities in pregnancy and birth-related 
outcomes persist. For example, the birth rate among African 
American youth is higher than the rates among all other racial/
ethnic groups. Improving the reach and effectiveness of 
programs, partnerships, and outreach to better meet the needs 
of at-risk youth are priorities for public health.

CHAPTER 2: PREGNANCY AND BIRTH
2

Ro
bi

n 
Ke

m
ps

te
r

Page 79 of 224

89



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

24

 PREGNANCY AND BIRTH2

Live Births

The annual number of live births in 
Berkeley has been gradually decreasing 
over the last two decades in all racial/
ethnic groups. White women have 
the largest number of live births, 
reflective of their larger proportion of 
the Berkeley population. Of the 845 
babies born in 2016, 10% were from 
African American, 14% from Asian/
Pacific Islander, 12% from Latina, 
and 53% from White mothers.

Fertility Rate 

The fertility rate is the number 
of live births per 1,000 women 
aged 15–44 years old in a given 
year. Fertility rates are important 
for estimating population growth 
and for understanding the current 
and future needs of a population. 
Fertility rates have decreased over 
the past ten years in every racial 
and ethnic group in Berkeley. Other 
jurisdictions have also experienced 
this decrease, which may be linked to 
economic constraints experienced 
nationwide over the last decade. 

Prenatal Care

Prenatal care is health care received 
during a woman’s pregnancy and 
includes education, monitoring, 
and health screening. Early prenatal 
care starting in the first trimester of 
pregnancy, is essential for having the 
best possible outcome for a mother 
and child. Early and consistent 
prenatal care correlates closely with 
improved birth weight and lower 
risk of preterm delivery, which are 
factors that can lead to morbidity 
and mortality in the newborn. From the Community

“I was born and raised in Berkeley. [The Community Health Worker 
Specialist at Black Infant Health] has been a big impact in a lot of our lives, 
helping us navigate our lives.”

Figure 2.1  LIVE BIRTHS TO BERKELEY RESIDENT MOTHERS  
BY RACE/ETHNICITY  Berkeley, 1990–2016

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

L
iv

e
 B

ir
th

s

African American API Latina

Total

White

UPDATED FIGURE

Live Births to Berkeley Resident Mothers by Race/Ethnicity

City of Berkeley, 1990-2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Birth Records, 1990-2016Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Birth Records 1990–2016

Figure 2.2  FERTILITY RATES PER 1000 FEMALES AGE 15–44   
in Berkeley, 2004–2006, 2009–2011, 2014–2016 (3-year intervals)

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

White African
American

API Latina Overall

F
e
rt

il
it

y
 R

a
te

r 
p

e
r 

1
,0

0
0
 F

e
m

a
le

s

2004-2006 2009-2011 2014-2016

UPDATED FIGURE

Fertility Rates per 1000 females age 15-44 in Berkeley, 2004-2006, 

2009-2011, 2014-2016 (3-year intervals)

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Birth Records, 1990-2016
Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Birth Records 1990–2016

Page 80 of 224

90



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

25

 PREGNANCY AND BIRTH 2

Nearly 94% of pregnant Berkeley 
mothers of all racial/ethnic groups 
receive prenatal care in the first 
trimester, which is higher than Alameda 
County and California. Berkeley meets 
the HP2020 goal and there is no racial 
disparity in this indicator.

Low Birth Weight

Low birth weight (LBW) is weight at 
birth of less than 5 lb. and 8 oz. or 2,500 
grams. LBW infants have higher rates 
of morbidity and mortality than normal 
weight infants. They are at increased risk 
for cerebral palsy, developmental delays, 
respiratory infections, and long-term 
disability. Women who are teenagers, 
smoke cigarettes, or receive inadequate 
prenatal care are more likely than others 
to have LBW infants. This has an impact 
on the long term health of the infants 
throughout their life course.

Since 2008, all racial/ethnic groups in 
Berkeley have met the HP2020 goal 
for low birth weight (LBW). Infants 
born to African American women 
now are less likely to be LBW than 
they were in the early nineties when 
LBW was at it's peak. In 1993–1995, 
an African American woman in 
Berkeley was almost 5 times as likely 
as a White woman to have a LBW 
infant. Despite a significant decrease, 
large racial and ethnic disparities 
persist in LBW. The risk of an African 
American mother having a LBW 
baby remains 2.5 times higher today 
than that of her White counterpart.

Berkeley Black Infant Health (BBIH) Program
Berkeley’s BIH program aims to improve birth outcomes and reduce health disparities affecting African American women 
and their babies. Through culturally affirming group education and complementary case management, the program works to 
empower African-American mothers and their families. BBIH helps to build social support, develop parenting and life skills, 
learn stress management tools, promote healthy behaviors and relationships, and support a healthy pregnancy. In addition, BBIH 
provides resource linkages to assist participants in connecting with the community, social, and health services to meet their needs. 

Prenatal Care continued Figure 2.3  PERCENT OF PREGNANT MOTHERS RECEIVING PRENATAL CARE  
IN 1ST TRIMESTER  Berkeley, 1990–2016

50

60

70

80

90

100

1
s
t 

T
ri

m
e
s
te

r 
P

re
n

a
ta

l 
C

a
re

 P
e
rc

e
n

t

Latino

API

White

HP2020: 77.9%

African American
HP2020: 77.9%

Berkeley (2014-2016): 93.8%
Alameda County (2013): 90.6%
California (2013): 83.6%

UPDATED FIGURE

Percent of Pregnant Mothers Receiving Prenatal Care in 1st

Trimester in Berkeley, 1990-2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Birth Records, 1990-2016
Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Birth Records 1990–2016

Figure 2.4  LOW BIRTH WEIGHT BY RACE/ETHNICITY (EXCLUDES MULTIPLE 
BIRTHS)  Berkeley, 1990–2016 (3-year-intervals)

0

5

10

15

20

1990-92 1993-95 1996-98 1999-01 2002-04 2005-07 2008-10 2011-13 2014-16

P
e

rc
e

n
t 

o
f 

L
o

w
 B

ir
th

 W
e

ig
h

t

White African American API Latina

UPDATED FIGURE

Low Birth Weight by Race/Ethnicity (excludes 

multiple births), Berkeley, 1990-2016 (3-year intervals)

HP2020: 7.8%

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Birth Records, 1990-2016
Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Birth Records 1990–2016

Page 81 of 224

91



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

26

 PREGNANCY AND BIRTH2

Premature Birth

Premature or preterm delivery is the 
birth of an infant before 37 weeks of 
gestation. Preterm delivery is one of 
the leading causes of low birth weight 
and infant mortality in the United 
States. Risk factors for prematurity 
include use of alcohol, tobacco, or 
other drugs during pregnancy, low 
weight gain during pregnancy, poor 
nutrition, and domestic violence. 
Like LBW infants, infants born 
prematurely are more likely to 
experience cerebral hemorrhaging, 
developmental delays, respiratory 
infections, and long term disability.

The rates of premature babies have 
decreased during the last decade for all 
racial/ethnic groups. All racial/ethnic 
groups meet the HP2020 objective 
for prematurity except for African 
Americans.   Even though prematurity 
has decreased significantly in all race/
ethnic groups in Berkeley, the disparity 
persists. In 1990–1992, African 
American mothers were 2.5 times 
more likely to have a premature 
baby. This rate has decreased to 
2 times more likely in 2014–2016.

BE A STAR (Behavioral, Emotional, Assessment, Treatment and Referral) is 
a Public Health program that promotes developmental screening of children 
birth to 5 years of age. Through partnerships with Help Me Grow-Alameda 
County, Berkeley pediatric healthcare providers, BUSD preschools, home 
visiting Public Health Nurses and our Berkeley WIC program, Be a Star is 
aiming to screen all Berkeley infants and children under the age of 5. The 
overarching goal of the program is to not only identify children who have 
developmental delays and provide referrals to services, but also to help 
parents feel the success of when their child is developing and meeting 
milestones. By both engaging parents in the conversation around their child’s 
development and by identifying children who may need extra resources, 
parents are better supported in the important early childhood development 
years which helps their children to be better prepared to enter kindergarten.

Figure 2.5  PREMATURE BIRTHS BY RACE/ETHNICITY AND YEAR OF BIRTH 
  Berkeley, 1990–2016 (All Births; 3-year intervals)

0

5

10

15

20

1990-
1992

1993-
1995

1996-
1998

1999-
2001

2002-
2004

2005-
2007

2008-
2010

2011-
2013

2014-
2016

P
re

m
a

tu
re

 B
ir

th
s

 (
<

3
7

 w
e

e
k

s
) 

P
e

rc
e

n
t

White African American API Latina

UPDATED FIGURE

Premature Births by Race/Ethnicity and Year of Birth, 

Berkeley, 1990-2016 (All Births; 3-year intervals)

HP2020: 11.4%

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Birth Records, 1990-2016Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Birth Records 1990–2016

Page 82 of 224

92



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

27

 PREGNANCY AND BIRTH 2

Teen Births

Teen births are births to women under 
20 years of age. In general, these 
young women have not yet completed 
their high school education, may be 
dependent on family support, and 
are still maturing into adulthood. 
The health and socioeconomic 
consequences of teenage pregnancy 
and childbearing are significant. Teen 
mothers are more likely to drop out of 
school, receive late and inadequate 
prenatal care, and experience 
complications during pregnancy. 
Babies born to teen mothers are at 
higher risk of low birth weight and 
preterm birth. 

The annual number of live births 
to teenagers age 15–19 years old in 
Berkeley has decreased over the last 
two decades in all racial/ethnic groups. 
The total annual number of births to 
teens age 15–19 has fallen from a high 
of 88 in 1990 to only 5 in 2016. For 
African American teen mothers this 
number decreased from 56 to 3 in 2016, 
a decrease of over 90%.

Berkeley’s teen birth rate has been 
decreasing in all racial/ethnic groups 
over the past decade and it is at its 
lowest ever recorded. From 2004–2006 
to 2014–2016, the overall teen birth 
rate decreased by 82%. For African 
Americans the rate decreased by 76% 
during the same time period. As a 
result, the disparity persists. The birth 
rate among African American young 
women is higher than among all other 
racial/ethnic groups. The rate in this 
population for 2014–2016 is 2 times 
the rate for Latina young women and 9 
times the rate for Whites.

From the Community

“All around, we need to care about the health and safety for the moms in the 
family and especially single moms. Single moms sometimes are down and 
out; they need more care. They are caring for a whole community. You take 
care of her, then you are reaching a lot of people. If she doesn’t feel safe, then 
a whole family will fall down.”

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

L
iv

e
 B

ir
th

s

Total Births White African American API Latina

UPDATED FIGURE

Live Births to Females 15 to 19 Years Old, 

Berkeley, 1990-2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Birth Records, 1990-2016

Figure 2.6  LIVE BIRTHS IN FEMALES 15 TO 19 YEARS OLD  Berkeley, 1990–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Birth Records 1990–2016

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

White African
American

API Latina Overall

B
ir

th
 R

a
te

 p
e
r 

1
,0

0
0
 f

e
m

a
le

s

2004-2006 2009-2011 2014-2016

UPDATED FIGURE

Birth Rates in Females 15 to 19 Years Old by Race/Ethnicity, 

Berkeley, 2004-2006, 2009-2011, 2014-2016 (3-year intervals)

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Birth Records, 1990-2016

2014-2016
Alameda County 9.6/1,000
California 17.6/1,000

Figure 2.7  BIRTH RATES IN FEMALES 15 TO 19 YEARS OLD BY RACE/
ETHNICITY  Berkeley, 2004–2006, 2009–2011, 2014–2016 (3-year intervals)

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Birth Records 1990–2016

Page 83 of 224

93



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

28

 PREGNANCY AND BIRTH2

Teen mothers age 19 and under are 
more likely than non-teen mothers 
to have had late or no prenatal care, 
and their babies are more likely to 
be low birth weight or preterm. In 
contrast to mothers 20 years of age 
and older, these young women and 
their infants do not meet the HP2020 
goals for prenatal care, birth weight or 
prematurity.

Teen Births continued

Public Health Nursing Field Services

Public Health Nurses (PHNs) provide quality, confidential, community-based case management services for families and  
individuals, primarily during home visits. The focus of the program is on Berkeley residents at highest risk for poor health  
outcomes, often those with special needs or limited access to care. These include pregnant women, new parents and their  
infants, school-aged mothers, children, elders, disabled, and people who are homeless. 

Case management services include nursing assessments of health status and need for medical care and other services;  
counseling on diverse health related topics and supporting healthy lifestyle choices; advocating for better use of health care  
systems while linking families to other health and social services; assisting with enrollment in low cost medical and dental  
plans; and helping families support children’s growth and development. 

References
1.	 C. Kirkham, “Evidence-Based Prenatal Care: Part I. General 

Prenatal Care and Counseling Issues,” American Family 
Physician, vol. 71, no. 7, pp. 1307–1316, 2005. 

2.	 S. Lorch, “Factors that mediate racial/ethnic disparities in US 
fetal death rates,” American Journal of Public Health, vol. 102, 
no. 10, pp. 1902–10, 2012. 

3.	 CDC, “Preconception Health and Health Care,” 2014. [Online]. 
Available: http://www.cdc.gov/preconception/overview.html. 
[Accessed 2017]. 

4.	 CDC, “Teen Pregnancy,” 2017. [Online]. Available: http://www.
cdc.gov/TeenPregnancy/index.htm. [Accessed 2017]. 

5.	 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health 
Resources and Services Administration, Maternal and Child 

Health Bureau, “Child Health USA 2008–2009,” U.S. Department 
of Health and Human Services, Rockville, Maryland, 2009. 

6.	 CDC, “Births: Provisional Data for 2016,” 2017. [Online]. 
Available: https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/vsrr/report002.pdf. 
[Accessed 2017]. 

7.	 ChildStats.gov Forum on Child and Family Statistics, “America’s 
Children: Key National Indicators of Well-Being, 2017: Preterm 
Birth and Low Birthweight,” 2013. [Online]. Available: http://www.
childstats.gov/americaschildren/health1.asp. [Accessed 2017]. 

8.	 M. Lu, “Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Birth Outcomes: A Life- 
Course Perspective,” Maternal and Child Health Journal, vol. 7, 
no. 1, pp. 13–30, 2003. 

Figure 2.8  PERINATAL OUTCOMES BY AGE OF MOTHER  Berkeley, 2011–2015

0 

5 

10 

15 

20 

25 

30 

Low Birth Weight Preterm Delivery Late/No Prenatal Care 

P
e
rc

e
n

t 

Age of Mother 

		

15 to 19 20 and Over HP2020 

Health Outcomes for Babies in Berkeley, 2011-2015 

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Birth Records 2011-2015 
Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Birth Records 2011–2015

Page 84 of 224

94



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

29

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH 3

Childhood and adolescence are important developmental 
periods in the life course. Health in early life is the basis for 
continued health over the life span. Educational foundations 
are established during this time, influencing future learning and 
employment opportunities. Personal habits of physical activity, 
diet, and social connections are also formed. 

This chapter summarizes the state of health of children and 
adolescents in Berkeley: practices and behaviors, use of alcohol, 
tobacco and other drugs, overweight and obesity, childhood 
immunizations, and specific health outcomes including 
mental health, asthma hospitalizations, injuries, and sexually 
transmitted diseases.

CHAPTER 3: CHILD AND 
ADOLESCENT HEALTH

3

Key Findings

•	 Healthy People 2020 (HP2020) Goals

oo Berkeley as a whole meets HP2020 goals for the 
following:

—— Students who graduate with a regular diploma 
4 years after starting 9th grade

oo Berkeley as a whole fails to meet HP2020 goals for 
the following:

—— Asthma hospitalization rates of children under 
5 years of age

•	 Demographics

oo Children under 18 years old make up 12.5% of 
Berkeley’s population.

oo Half of the children in Berkeley belong to non-White 
racial and ethnic groups; the largest proportion of 
these is Latino. 

oo 10% of children under the age of 18 in Berkeley live 
in poverty. 29% of African American children live 
in poverty, which is over 7 times the rate of poverty 
among White children and approximately 2–3 times 
the rate in any other group.

oo In the last decade, the percentage of children living 
below the poverty level has decreased for the overall 
Berkeley population and every racial/ethnic group 
except Latinos. 

oo Children in poverty are concentrated in South and 
West Berkeley.

•	 School Enrollment and Education

oo African American and Latino children make up a 
disproportionately high percentage of the students 
in the Berkeley Unified School District (BUSD) 
compared to their respective proportions of Berkeley 
school-aged children.

oo In the 2016 California Standard Tests (CSTs), Berkeley 
students performed better overall in both English 
language proficiency and mathematics than both 
students in Alameda County and statewide. 

oo African American and Latino children across Berkeley, 
Alameda County and California demonstrate lower 
overall proficiency in English Language Arts and 
Mathematics than other racial/ethnic groups.

oo The disparity between White and African American 
students in Berkeley exceeds the disparity in Alameda 
County and in California as a whole.

oo For grades 3 through 11, students considered 
socioeconomically disadvantaged have strikingly 
lower levels of English Language Arts/Mathematics 
proficiency than their non-disadvantaged counterparts. 

oo The BUSD four-year high school drop out rate fell to 
10.7% for the 2015–2016 school year. Despite a decrease 
from 18.8% to 13.5% since 2010–2011, African Americans 
still have the highest drop-out rate in Berkeley.

continues

Page 85 of 224

95



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

30

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH3

Key Findings continued

•	 School Enrollment and Education continued

oo African American BUSD high school graduates are 
less likely to be eligible for University of California 
(UC) or California State University (CSU) than 
graduates of other racial/ethnic groups. 

•	 Physical Activity and Obesity

oo A higher proportion of BUSD 5th graders meet 
all 6 of the FITNESSGRAM Healthy Fitness Zone 
standards compared to both Alameda County 
and California. However, a lower proportion of 
BUSD 7th graders meet all standards compared 
to Alameda County and California.

oo The proportion of children that are overweight and 
obese in Berkeley (30.4%) is lower than that of Alameda 
County (34.6%) and California (38.3%). African 
Americans and Latinos have the highest proportions of 
obese and overweight children in Berkeley.

•	 Asthma

oo The number of asthma hospitalizations among 
children under 5 in Berkeley decreased from 122 in 
2000 to 80 in 2014. Asthma hospitalization rates 
decreased for all racial/ethnic groups, including 
African Americans, but the disparity between Whites 
and African Americans increased.

oo For African American children under 5, the asthma 
hospitalization rate is 13 times the HP2020 goal.

•	 Alcohol, Tobacco, and Marijuana Use

oo Cigarette smoking, already at comparatively low levels, 
has continued to drop for 7th and 9th graders but 
fluctuated for 11th graders. There has been a drop in 
e-cigarette use for students at all grade levels. 

oo The percentage of BUSD students who have been 
drunk or high on school property has steadily 
decreased for all grade levels over the past six years.

oo Alcohol is the most commonly used substance 
among BUSD students, followed by marijuana. 
Among B-Tech students, marijuana use is the highest, 
followed by cigarette use.

•	 Mental Health, Safety, and Violence

oo BUSD high school students in 9th and 11th grades 
were substantially more likely to be offered illegal 
drugs than 7th grade students.

oo As grade levels increase, bullying and verbal 
harassment decreases among BUSD students. 

oo The percentage of 7th and 9th graders who 
experienced cyber bullying increased in 2016, but the 
percentage of 11th graders decreased.

oo Physical fighting decreases from 7th through 
11th grades.

oo Mental health hospitalizations for children under 
18 years decreased from 490 in 2008–2010 to 196 
in 2012–2014. Over 50% of the hospitalizations are 
related to episodes of depression.

•	 Injuries

oo The rate of injury hospitalization among African 
American children in Berkeley is much higher than 
that of any other race/ethnic group at more than 1,200 
injury hospitalizations per 100,000 people.

oo Self-inflicted injuries in youth are usually associated 
with suicide attempts, and they are much more 
common in young women than young men.

•	 Sexually Transmitted Diseases in Children Under 18

oo Chlamydia is the most common STD reported among 
Berkeley youth, but the total number of cases has 
been decreasing.

oo From 2012 to 2014, there was an increase in the 
proportion of 9th and 11th graders who had sex. During 
this time, there was also an increase in students 
who used both condoms and birth control, but also 
students who used neither methods.

•	 Immunizations

oo The proportion of Kindergarten children with all 
required immunizations has been consistently lower 
in Berkeley compared to Alameda County and 
California, but it peaked at 85% in 2016.

oo BUSD students have higher rates of “personal belief 
exemptions” than students in Alameda County and 
the State. This increases the likelihood of vaccine-
preventable disease outbreaks.

oo Except for sporadic outbreaks, Berkeley has small 
numbers of vaccine-preventable diseases reported 
every year. UC Berkeley experienced a mumps 
outbreak in 2011 and California experienced a pertussis 
epidemic in 2014.

Page 86 of 224

96



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

31

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH 3

Demographics of Children and Youth

In Berkeley, children under 18 years 
old comprise 12.5% of the city’s total 
population. In contrast, children 
make up 22% of the Alameda County 
population and 24% of the total 
population in California. Of Berkeley’s 
children, 28% are under 5 years of age, 
27% are age 5–9, 27% are age 10–14, and 
18% are 15 to 17 years old.

Half of the children in the Berkeley 
population belong to non-White 
racial and ethnic groups. Latinos 
comprise the largest proportion of 
non-White children, while African 
American children currently make 
up 9% of the child population. The 
proportion of children under 18 that 
are African American decreased 
substantially from 21% in 2000 to 
9% in 2011–2015. As is true for the 
total population, the census does 
not include information about the 
causes of population change. The 
decrease in African American children 
accompanies a continual decrease in 
Berkeley’s overall African American 
population. The proportion of children 
under 18 that are Latino increased 
from 16% in 2000 to 18% in 2011–2015. 
The proportion of children that are 
White also increased somewhat from 
46% in 2000 to 51% in 2011–2015.

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

8000

9000

Total (<17) <5 5-9 10-14 15-17

N
um

be
r o

f C
hi

ld
re

n

Age Group

Girls=6,934 N Boys=7,683 N

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011-2015

Total: 14,617

UPDATED FIGURE Distribution of Children 17 Years of Age 
and Younger by Sex, Berkeley, 2011-2015

Figure 3.1  DISTRIBUTION OF CHILDREN 17 YEARS OF AGE AND YOUNGER  
BY SEX  Berkeley, 2011–2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011–2015

African 
American

9.0% Latino
18.1%

White
51.1%

Asian
8.4%

Two or 
More Races

13.4%

N=14,614

UPDATED FIGURE Children 17 Years of Age and Younger by 
Race/Ethnicity Berkeley, 2011-2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011-2015

Figure 3.2  CHILDREN 17 YEARS OF AGE AND YOUNGER  
BY RACE/ETHNICITY  Berkeley, 2011–2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011–2015

Page 87 of 224

97



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

32

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH3

SAN
 PABLO

 AV

4TH
 ST

GILMAN ST

DWIGHT WY

UNIVERSITY AV

ASHBY AV

MARIN AV

S
P

R
U

C
E

 S
T

C
O

LL
E

G
E

 A
V

S
A

C
R

A
M

E
N

TO
 S

T
ROSE ST

M
A

R
TI

N
 L

U
TH

E
R

 K
IN

G
 J

 W
Y

TE
LE

G
R

AP
H

 A
V

SOLANO AV

ALCATRAZ AV

SH
AT

TU
C

K 
AV

BANCROFT WY

TH
E

 A
LA

M
E

D
A  

AD
EL

IN
E 

ST

CLA
REMONT A

V³
0 0.5 10.25 Miles

Percent Youth Under 18

0.3% - 1.3%

1.4% - 2.2%

2.3% - 3.3%

3.4% - 5%

5.1% - 5.8%

Unreliable Estimate

WGS 1984 UTM Zone 10N

Map 6    YOUTH 0 TO 17 BY CENSUS TRACT (AS A PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL YOUTH UNDER 18)    
City of Berkeley, 2011-2015

Source: U.S. Census, ACS 2011-2015

Map 6  YOUTH 0 TO 17 BY CENSUS TRACT (AS A PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL YOUTH UNDER 18) 
City of Berkeley, 2011–2015

Demographics of 
Children and Youth 
continued

The majority of Berkeley children are concentrated in South Berkeley census tracts, as well as the central region 
and the hills. Census tracts around UC Berkeley campus have the lowest concentration of children under 18 
years old.

From the Community

“It’s been an amazing experience to be born and raised here in Berkeley, grow up in Berkeley Unified School District, and to 
be able to work with the people that I’ve grown up with. We’ve had children together, been pregnant together.”

Page 88 of 224

98



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

33

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH 3

Childhood Poverty

If the income of a child’s household 
falls below a federally defined poverty 
line, that child is defined as being in 
poverty. The federal government sets 
state-by-state income thresholds 
based on the number of household 
members, which define the poverty 
line for that size of household. In 
2015, the FPL for a family of 4 was 
an annual income of $24,250. If a 
household’s total income is less than 
the poverty line, then that family 
and every individual in the home 
is considered in poverty. People 
living in poverty are more likely to 
be exposed to greater personal and 
environmental health risks, are less 
well nourished, and are less able to 
access health care; thus, they have a 
higher risk of illness and disability. 

The overall percentage of children 
living below the poverty level has 
decreased in Berkeley during the last 
decade. This is true for every racial/
ethnic group, except for Latinos. Just 
over 1,400 (10%) children under the 
age of 18 in Berkeley live in poverty. 
This decreased from 13% in the 
previous 5 years. Nearly one-third of 
African American children (29%) live in 
poverty, which is over 7 times the rate 
of poverty among White children and 
approximately 2–3 times the rate in 
any other group of children. Children in 
poverty predominately reside in South 
and West Berkeley.

Be
rk

el
ey

 U
ni

fie
d 

Sc
ho

ol
 D

ist
ric

t

0 

5 

10 

15 

20 

25 

30 

35 

40 

All Races/ 

Ethnicities 

African 

American 

Asian Latino White 

P
e
rc

e
n

t 

  

2006-2010 2011-2015 

Children Living Below the Poverty Level 

2006-2010: N=1,745 

2011-2015: N=1,425  

Percent of Children 17 Years and Younger Living Below the 

Poverty Level by Race/Ethnicity, Berkeley, 2006-2015 

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2006-2015 

Figure 3.3  PERCENT OF CHILDREN 17 YEARS AND YOUNGER LIVING BELOW THE 
POVERTY LEVEL BY RRACE/ETHNICITY  Berkeley, 2006–2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2006–2015

Page 89 of 224

99



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

34

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH3

School Enrollment and Education

Healthy students tend to learn better 
in school. They are more likely to 
attend school regularly and are better 
able to focus in class, which ultimately 
leads to higher scores and overall 
higher classroom achievement. In 
turn, students who are successful 
in school are more likely to be 
successful in their employment and 
income attainment, and therefore 
to have healthier lives throughout 
the adult years of their life course.

The Berkeley Unified School District 
(BUSD) is the public school system in 
Berkeley. African American and Latino 
children make up a disproportionately 
high percentage of the students in the 
BUSD compared to their respective 
proportions of Berkeley school-aged 
children. White children make up 37% 
of BUSD students and 51% of Berkeley 
school-aged children. A higher 
proportion of White Berkeley children 
are enrolled in private school or other 
educational settings.

Administered in California public 
schools, California Standard Tests 
(CSTs) measure students’ progress 
towards achieving academic standards 
in a range of subjects. In the 2016 
reading proficiency tests, Berkeley 
students overall performed better than 
students statewide and in Alameda 
County. Berkeley students’ English-
Language Arts (ELA) proficiency 
fluctuates from a low of 52% in 8th 
grade to a high of 68% in 11th grade.

From the Community

“I just think we should have more programs, even just once a month for people to build communities for young kids. In 
grade school, if you can’t afford to put them in afterschool, they are just out there, on their own sometimes. Parents are 
working.  They can be home alone. We need Boys and Girls Clubs that support black kids in the community and places 
where they live.”

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

Asian

Multi Race

Latino

African American

White

% Berkeley School-Aged
Children

% of BUSD Students

Source: Berkeley Public Health Division, California Department of Education, 2015-2016

Percent of Students Enrolled in Berkeley Unified School District 

and Percent of Berkeley School-Aged Children by Race/Ethnicity, 

2015-2016

Figure 3.4  PERCENT OF STUDENTS ENROLLED IN BERKELEY UNIFIED  
SCHOOL DISTRICT AND PERCENT OF BERKELEY SCHOOL-AGED CHILDREN  

BY RACE/ETHNICITY  2015–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, California Department of Education, ACS 2015–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; CAASPP English Language Arts/Literacy
2015-2016

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

3 4 5 6 7 8 11

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

Berkeley Alameda CA

UPDATED FIGURE Percentage Meeting or Exceeding English 
Language Arts/Literacy Standard, Berkeley Unified School District, 
Alameda County, and California, 2015-16

Grade

Figure 3.5  PERCENTAGE MEETING OR EXCEEDING ENGLISH LANGUAGE ARTS/
LITERACY STANDARD  Berkeley Unified School District, Alameda County, and 

California, 2015–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; CAASPP English Language Arts/Literacy 
2015–2016

Page 90 of 224

100



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

35

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH 3

In 2016 mathematics proficiency 
tests, Berkeley students performed 
better than students statewide 
and in Alameda County for all 
grade levels. Berkeley students’ 
mathematics proficiency fluctuates 
from a low of 49% in 8th grade 
to a high of 70% in 3rd grade.

African American and Latino children 
in Berkeley, Alameda County and 
California demonstrate lower overall 
English Language Arts/Literacy (ELA) 
proficiency than all other racial/ 
ethnic groups of children. Berkeley’s 
Asian BUSD students do not score 
as well as their peers in Alameda 
County and across California. In 
contrast, White and Latino BUSD 
students have higher ELA proficiency 
than their peers in Alameda County 
and the State. The disparity in ELA 
proficiency between White and 
African American students in Berkeley 
exceeds the disparity in Alameda 
County and in California as a whole. 

School Enrollment and Education continued

From the Community

“It’s really hard for kids of color (Latinas); you know, this is a predominantly white school—the white kids, they have all kinds 
of privilege; their parents have been paying for tutoring for years; they have been reading to them for years; they have so 
much more to start with. I don’t understand my homework, I can’t go to my parents for help; my mom didn’t graduate from 
high school; that is why it is really frustrating when it comes to going to college, getting ahead.”

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

3 4 5 6 7 8 11

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

Berkeley Alameda CA

UPDATED FIGURE Percentage Meeting or Exceeding 
Mathematics Standard Berkeley Unified School District, 
Alameda County, and California, 2015-16

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; CAASPP Mathematics 2015-2016

Grade

Figure 3.6  PERCENTAGE MEETING OR EXCEEDING MATHEMATICS 
STANDARD  Berkeley Unified School District, Alameda County,  

and California, 2015–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; CAASPP Mathematics 2015–2016

Percentage Meeting or Exceeding English Language Arts/Literacy 

Standard by Race/Ethnicity, Berkeley Unified School District, Alameda 

County, and California, 2015-16

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

Berkeley Alameda County California

P
e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e

African American Asian Latino White Overall

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
CAASPP English Language Arts/Literacy 2015-2016

Figure 3.7  PERCENTAGE MEETING OR EXCEEDING ENGLISH LANGUAGE ARTS/
LITERACY STANDARD BY RACE/ETHNICITY  Berkeley Unified School District, 

Alameda County, and California, 3rd–8th and 11th Graders, 2015–16

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; CAASPP English Language Arts/Literacy 
2015–2016

Page 91 of 224

101



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

36

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH3

African American and Latino children 
across Berkeley, Alameda County and 
California demonstrate lower overall 
proficiency in mathematics than White 
and Asian children. Nonetheless, 
Berkeley’s Asian BUSD students do 
less well than their peers in Alameda 
County and across California. In 
contrast, White and Latino BUSD 
students have higher mathematics 
proficiency than their peers in 
Alameda County and the State. The 
disparity in mathematics proficiency 
between White and African American 
students in Berkeley exceeds the 
disparity in Alameda County or in 
California as a whole.

Student Proficiency by  
Socioeconomic Status

Socioeconomically disadvantaged 
students are defined by the 
California Department of Education 
as students who are eligible for 
the free or reduced-price lunch 
program, or for whom neither 
parent is a high school graduate. 

School Enrollment and Education continued

Percentage Meeting or Exceeding Mathematics Standard by Race/Ethnicity

Berkeley Unified School District, Alameda County, and California, 2015-16

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

Berkeley Alameda County California

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

African American Asian Latino White Overall

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; CAASPP Mathematics 2015-2016

Figure 3.8  PERCENTAGE MEETING OR EXCEEDING MATHEMATICS STANDARD  
BY RACE/ETHNICITY  Berkeley Unified School District, Alameda County,  

and California, 3rd–8th and 11th Graders, 2015–16

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; CAASPP Mathematics 2015–2016

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

3 4 5 6 7 8 11

P
e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e

Grade

Non-socioeconomically disadvantaged

Socioeconomically disadvantaged

Percent Proficient or Above in English Language Arts/Literacy by 

Poverty Level, Berkeley Unified School District, 2015-16

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
CAASPP English Language Arts/Literacy 2015-2016

Figure 3.9  PERCENT PROFICIENT OR ABOVE IN ENGLISH LANGUAGE ARTS/
LITERACY BY POVERTY LEVEL  Berkeley Unified School District, 2015–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; CAASPP English Language Arts/Literacy 
2015–2016

Page 92 of 224

102



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

37

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH 3

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

3 4 5 6 7 8 11

P
e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e

Non-socioeconomically disadvantaged

Socioeconomically disadvantaged

Percent Proficient or Above in Mathematics by Poverty Level

Berkeley Unified School District, 2015-16

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
CAASPP Mathematics 2015-2016

Grade

Figure 3.10  PERCENT PROFICIENT OR ABOVE IN MATHEMATICS  
BY POVERTY LEVEL  Berkeley Unified School District, 2015–2016

2020 Vision

Berkeley’s 2020 Vision is a city-wide collective impact effort to achieve equity in education for all Berkeley children from 
“cradle to career”. The Berkeley community collaborates on six areas of systemic focus to end racial disparities in education, 
especially for Berkeley’s African American and Latino children. Berkeley’s 2020 Vision strives to “move the needle” on the 
following key indicators of educational equity: Kindergarten Readiness, Third Grade Reading Proficiency, Ninth Grade Math 
Proficiency, Attendance, College and Career Readiness, and Community Engagement. Berkeley’s 2020 Vision also includes 
the Berkeley Promise, a college scholarship initiative

Student Proficiency by Socioeconomic Status  
continued

For all grades 3 through 11, students 
considered socioeconomically 
disadvantaged have strikingly lower 
levels of ELA and mathematics 
proficiency than their non-
disadvantaged counterparts. As 
shown previously, the majority 
of these children come from a 
minority racial/ethnic group.

Be
rk

el
ey

 U
ni

fie
d 

Sc
ho

ol
 D

ist
ric

t

Be
rk

el
ey

 U
ni

fie
d 

Sc
ho

ol
 D

ist
ric

t

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; CAASPP Mathematics 2015–2016

Page 93 of 224

103



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

38

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH3

High School Dropout and 
Graduation Rates

BUSD high school data include 
students at Berkeley High School, 
Berkeley Technology Academy, and 
Berkeley Independent Study. In the 
2015–2016 school year, the BUSD 
high school four-year dropout rate 
dropped to 10.7%, a decrease of 31% 
from the 15.5% dropout rate in the 
2010–2011 school year. Berkeley’s 
2016 rate is similar to Alameda 
County and statewide dropout rates. 
Approximately 1 in 10 Latino students 
did not graduate from high school in 
2015–2016 school year, a proportion 
that has decreased substantially (by 
50%) from 2010–2011 school year, 
when 1 in 5 Latinos did not graduate. 

Despite a 26% drop since 2010–2011, 
the African American student 
population still has the highest dropout 
rate in the 2015–2016 school year.

The proportion of students who 
graduate with a regular diploma 
4 years after starting 9th grade is 
87% which meets the HP2020 goal 
of 87%. Hispanic, American Indian 
and African American students do 
not meet the HP2020 goal (rates are 
86%, 50%, and 84% respectively).

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
California Department of Education	

0 

5 

10 

15 

20 

25 

African 

Am. 

Asian Latino White Overall Alameda CA 

D
ro

p
 O

u
t 

R
a
te

 (
P

e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
) 

  2010-2011 2015-2016 

Drop Out Rates, Overall and by Race/Ethnicity, Berkeley Unified 

School District, Alameda County, and California, 2010-2016 

BUSD 

Figure 3.11  DROPOUT RATES, OVERALL AND BY RACE/ETHNICITY   
Berkeley Unified School District, Alameda County, and California, 2010–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; California Department of Education

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
California Department of Education

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

African
Am.

Asian Latino White Overall Alameda CA       HP
      2020

D
ro

p
 O

u
t 

R
a

te
 (

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

)

2010-2011 2015-2016

NEW FIGURE

4-Year Graduation Rates, Overall and by Race/Ethnicity, 

Berkeley Unified School District, Alameda County, and 

California, 2010-2016

BUSD

Figure 3.12  4-YEAR GRADUATION RATES, OVERALL AND BY 
RACE/ETHNICITY  Berkeley Unified School District, Alameda County,  

and California, 2010–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; California Department of Education

Page 94 of 224

104



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

39

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH 3

College Eligibility

African American BUSD high school 
graduates are less likely to be eligible 
for University of California (UC) or 
California State University (CSU) 
than graduates of other racial/ethnic 
groups. Although African Americans 
make up 21% of high school graduates, 
they make up only 11% of the graduates 
prepared to enter UC or CSU.

In contrast, White students make 
up 35% of graduates, but 44% of 
those eligible for UC or CSU. This 
racial disparity in graduate eligibility 
limits the opportunities for African 
Americans in Berkeley to higher 
education, and perpetuates the vicious 
cycle of inequities. 

Physical Activity and Fitness

Regular physical activity during 
childhood and adolescence is 
important for preventing various 
health conditions. It improves 
overall health and reduces the risk 
for chronic diseases such as obesity, 
type 2 diabetes, heart disease, stroke, 
depression, and some cancers.

Among BUSD students, various 
measures of physical fitness and health 
are measured through California 
FITNESSGRAM testing. The six areas 
of fitness measured in the student 
fitness test are: aerobic capacity, 
abdominal strength and endurance, 
upper body strength and endurance, 
body composition, trunk extensor 
strength and flexibility, and flexibility. 
In each area, there are standards 
established to identify if students are 
in the Healthy Fitness Zone, which 
indicates they have sufficient fitness 

African
American

20.6%

Asian 8.5%

Latino
26.0%

White
34.7%

Other
10.1%

High School Graduates

UC/CSU Eligibility of Graduates by Race/Ethnicity, Berkeley 

Unified School District, Alameda County, and California, 2015-2016

African
American

10.9%

Asian 8.4%

Latino
25.0%

White
44.5%

Other
11.3%

UC/CSU Eligible

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
California Department of Education, Graduate Report 2015-2016

N = 560 N = 838

Figure 3.13  UC/CSU ELIGIBILITY OF GRADUATES BY RACE/ETHNICITY   
Berkeley Unified School District, Alameda County, and California, 2015–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; California Department of Education, 
Graduate Report 2015–2016

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

Grade 5 Grade 7

FIGURE AND TITLE UPDATED Percentage of Students that Passed the 
Fitness Test (6 out of 6 Fitness Standards Met), 5th and 7th Graders, 
Berkeley Unified School District, 2008-2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
California FITNESSGRAM 2008-2016

Figure 3.14  PERCENTAGE OF STUDENTS THAT PASSED THE FITNESS TEST  
(6 OUT OF 6 FITNESS STANDARDS MET), 5TH AND 7TH GRADERS   

Berkeley Unified School District, 2008–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; California FITNESSGRAM 2008–2016

Page 95 of 224

105



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

40

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH3

for good health. The main goal of the 
fitness test is to encourage students 
to develop lifelong habits of regular 
physical activity. 

An indicator of overall fitness levels 
for students is the percentage of 
students who meet the Healthy 
Fitness Zone standards for all 6 of the 
fitness tests. Among BUSD students, 
34.7% of 5th graders meet all 6 of the 
fitness standards, which is higher than 
both Alameda County (29.6%) and 
California (25.9%). However, among 
BUSD 7th graders, the percentage that 
meet all 6 fitness standards (30.2%) 
is lower than both Alameda County 
(33.0%) and California (32.1%).  

Physical Activity and Fitness continued

Overweight and Obesity

Childhood obesity is a serious problem 
in the United States putting kids at 
risk for poor health. Obesity-related 
conditions include heart disease, 
stroke, type 2 diabetes and certain 
types of cancers—some of the leading 
causes of preventable death.

The FITNESSGRAM test also 
measures body composition using 
standards that have been established 
for both percent body fat and BMI 
(Body Mass Index).

Berkeley has a lower proportion 
of 5th and 7th grade children who 
are overweight and obese (29.4%) 
compared to children in Alameda 
County (35.3%) but has a higher 
proportion compared to California 
(26.8%). A higher proportion of African 
American children are overweight 
and obese in Berkeley compared to 
in Alameda County and California. 
Within Berkeley, African American and 
Latino populations have significantly 

From the Community

“One day your kid gets bigger and you worry. Is my child healthy or is 
she obese?”

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

7th

5th

% of BUSD Students % Alameda County Students % California Students

Source: Berkeley Public Health Division, California Department of Education, 2015-2016

FIGURE AND TITLE UPDATED Percentage of Students that 
Passed the Fitness Test (6 out of 6 Fitness Standards Met), 5th

and 7th Graders, Berkeley, Alameda County and California

Figure 3.15  PERCENTAGE OF STUDENTS THAT PASSED THE FITNESS TEST  
(6 OUT OF 6 FITNESS STANDARDS MET), 5TH AND 7TH GRADERS   

Berkeley, Alameda County and California

Source: Berkeley Public Health Division, California Department of Education, 2015–2016

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

55

African Am. Asian Latino White Overall

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

Berkeley Alameda Co. California

UPDATED FIGURE Percentage of Overweight and Obese Children in 
5th and 7th grades by Race/Ethnicity, BUSD,  Alameda County and 
California School Districts, 2015-2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; California Department of 
Education, FITNESSGRAM 2015-2016

Figure 3.16  PERCENTAGE OF OVERWEIGHT AND OBESE CHILDREN IN  
5TH AND 7TH GRADES BY RACE/ETHNICITY  BUSD, Alameda County, and  

California School Districts, 2015–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; California Department of Education, 
FITNESSGRAM 2015–2016

Page 96 of 224

106



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

41

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH 3

Overweight and Obesity continued

higher proportions of overweight and 
obese children when compared to 
Asian and White children.

Both male and female children 
in Berkeley have lower rates of 
overweight and obesity compared 
to Alameda County and California. 
Male children in Berkeley, Alameda 
County, and California are slightly 
more likely to be overweight or 
obese than female children. 

As children get older in Berkeley, the 
likelihood that they will be overweight 
or obese increases. For example, in the 
2015–2016 school year 26.6% of BUSD 
5th graders were overweight or obese 
compared to 32.2% of 7th graders. 
Nevertheless, overall, the percentage 
of overweight children has decreased 
in Berkeley in the past five years 
(compared to an increase in Alameda 
County). Additionally, Berkeley’s 
current overall percentage among 5th 
and 7th graders (29.4%) is lower than 
that of Alameda County (35.3%).

Nutrition & Physical Activity Promotion 

Public Health’s Nutrition and Physical Activity program works collaboratively to empower and engage low-income 
Berkeley residents in choosing healthy foods and beverages and increasing physical activity. Activities include nutrition 
education, social marketing, and environmental supports in partnership with schools, Head Start programs, City of Berkeley 
departments and divisions (such as Parks, Waterfront and Recreation and Aging Services), community members, and local 
businesses. The program also supports and collaborates with community organizations to provide nutrition education and 
increase fresh produce availability for low-income residents through produce stands.

Healthy Berkeley Program 

Initiated in 2015, this program stemmed from Berkeley’s historic passing of 
an excise tax (1 cent/oz.) on the distribution of sugar-sweetened beverages 
(SSB). The program goal is to reduce the consumption of SSB as a pathway 
for decreasing the rates of Type 2 diabetes, obesity, and tooth decay in 
Berkeley. The Healthy Berkeley program offers multi-year community 
agency grants for programs designed to reduce SSB consumption and 
promote healthy beverages such as tap water in low-income communities, 
particularly children and youth targeted by the beverage industry; the Sugar-
Sweetened Beverage Product Panel of Experts (SSBPPE) Commission makes 
agency funding recommendations to the City Council. The Healthy Berkeley 
program collaborates with the Bay Area Nutrition and Physical Activity 
Collaborative (BANPAC), Healthy Food America, University of California in 
Berkeley, and the Public Health Institute.

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

40.0

45.0

50.0

Male Female Overall 5th Grade 7th Grade

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

Berkeley Alameda County California

UPDATED FIGURE Percentage of Overweight and Obese Children in 5th

and 7th grade by Gender and Grade, BUSD, Alameda County and 
California School Districts, 2015-2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
California FITNESSGRAM 2015-2016

Figure 3.17  PERCENTAGE OF OVERWEIGHT AND OBESE CHILDREN IN  
5TH AND 7TH GRADE BY GENDER AND GRADE  BUSD, Alameda County, and 

California School Districts, 2015–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; California FITNESSGRAM 2015–2016

Page 97 of 224

107



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

42

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH3

Asthma

Asthma is a common chronic disorder 
of the airways characterized by periods 
of airflow obstruction known as 
asthma episodes or attacks. Common 
symptoms during an asthma attack 
include wheezing, coughing, shortness 
of breath, and chest tightness or pain. 
Triggers for asthma attacks include 
exercise, airway infections, airborne 
allergens (e.g., pollen, mold, animal 
dander, dust mites), occupational 
exposures, and air pollution (e.g., 
environmental tobacco smoke, 
particulate matter, and volatile 
organic compounds). Asthma is one 
of the leading causes of childhood 
hospitalization and school absenteeism.

In 2000, there were a total of 
122 asthma hospitalizations among 
Berkeley residents. Of these, 46% 
were among children under 5 years 
of age. In 2014 there was a total of 80 
asthma hospitalizations and 19% were 
among children under 5 years of age. 
This drop in the number of asthma 
hospitalizations among children 
under 5 has significantly decreased 
the overall asthma hospitalization rate 
in Berkeley from 1,121 per 100,000 in 
2000–2002 to 465 per 100,000 in 2012–
2014. Despite this decline, Berkeley 
does not meet the HP2020 goal of 182 
hospitalizations per 100,000. 

The asthma hospitalization rates 
for children under 5 in all racial/
ethnic groups have declined as well. 
Compared to the HP2020 goal, the 
rate for African American children is 
12 times higher, for Latino children is 
3.3 times higher and for White children 
is 1.2 times higher. The number of 
hospitalizations among Asian children 
under 5 are too small to calculate a 
reliable rate and are therefore not 
presented in the figures.  

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

2000-2002 2003-2005 2006-2008 2009-2011 2012-2014

A
g

e
-S

p
e

c
if

ic
 R

a
te

 p
e

r 
1

0
0

,0
0

0

White African American Latino Total HP2020

UPDATED FIGURE Age-Specific Asthma Hospitalization 

Rate of Children Under 5 Years of Age by Race/Ethnicity, 

Berkeley, 2000-2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Office of Statewide Health 
Planning and Development, 2000-2014

Figure 3.18  AGE-SPECIFIC ASTHMA HOSPITALIZATION RATE OF CHILDREN  
UNDER 5 YEARS OF AGE BY RACE/ETHNICITY  Berkeley, 2000–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Office of Statewide Health Planning and 
Development, 2000–2014

0
200
400
600
800

1000
1200
1400
1600
1800
2000
2200

0-4 5-14 15-24 25-44 45-64 65+

Ag
e-

Sp
ec

ifi
c 

R
at

e 
pe

r 1
00

,0
00

Age Group

White African American Latino Total HP2020

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development, 2012-2014

HP2020 Objective
Under 5: 182 per 100,000
5-64: 87 per 100,000
65+: 201 per 100,000

UPDATED FIGURE Age-Specific Asthma Hospitalization Rate 
by Age Group and Race/Ethnicity, Berkeley, 2012-2014Figure 3.19  AGE-SPECIFIC ASTHMA HOSPITALIZATION RATE BY AGE GROUP  

AND RACE/ETHNICITY  Berkeley, 2012–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Office of Statewide Health Planning and 
Development, 2012–2014

Page 98 of 224

108



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

43

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH 3

Although the rate of asthma hospitalization among African Americans decreased substantially from 
2000 to 2014, the disparity between African Americans and Whites increased. In 2000–2002, the rate of 
African Americans was 5.5 times higher than the rate of Whites, while in 2012– 2014, the rate was almost 
10 times higher.

The risk of asthma hospitalization is highly correlated with age. Approximately 55% of all asthma 
hospitalizations are among children 0 to 14 years of age. African American children under 5 years of age are 
hospitalized at a rate almost ten times higher than their White counterparts, while Latino children under 
5 years are hospitalized at a rate almost 3 times higher than Whites. Risk of asthma hospitalization decreases as 
the population gets older. However, racial/ethnic disparities persist throughout the life course. 

Asthma hospitalizations of children under 5 years of age are most common in West Berkeley along Interstate 
80, as shown in previous analysis and reports.

94702

94703

94704

94705

94706

94707

94708

94709

94710

94720

³
0 0.5 10.25 Miles

WGS 1984 UTM Zone 10N
Source: Office of Statewide Health 
Planning and Development, 2012-2014

Map 8    ASTHMA HOSPITALIZATION RATES BY ZIPCODE, CHILDREN UNDER 5    
City of Berkeley, 2012-2014

Rate per 100,000

Not Available

0-168

169-408

409-620

621-689

City Boundary

ZIP Code

Map 7  ASTHMA HOSPITALIZATION RATES BY ZIPCODE, CHILDREN UNDER 5 
City of Berkeley, 2012–2014

Asthma continued

Page 99 of 224

109



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

44

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH3

Alcohol, Tobacco and Marijuana Use 
in Berkeley’s Youth

Among children, use of alcohol, 
tobacco, and other drugs such as 
marijuana typically begins in middle 
and high school. Information in 
this section comes from statewide 
anonymous surveys of students about 
their experiences with substance use.

The initiation of substance use early 
in life contributes to higher levels 
of use and abuse later in life. Early 
onset is also associated with a host of 
negative health, social, and behavioral 
outcomes. These include physical and 
mental health problems, violent and 
aggressive behavior, and adjustment 
problems in the workplace and family.

Breathmobile

The Breathmobile, a project of the Prescott-Joseph Center for Community Excellence (PJCCE), is partnering with Berkeley 
Unified School District and the City of Berkeley Public Health Division to bring asthma care to BUSD students. This 
free mobile asthma clinic provides diagnosis, education, and treatment for children with asthma. For the first year of this 
partnership, two BUSD elementary schools (Malcolm X and Rosa Parks) and one preschool (King Child Development 
Center) were selected based on the high asthma prevalence at these sites. In its fourth year (2016–2017) of partnership, the 
Breathmobile has expanded services to include all three BUSD preschools. PJCCE and school staff work closely with the 
City of Berkeley Public Health Division to identify students with asthma who could benefit from this community resource. 
The partnership is an example of community agencies working together to address health inequities and the achievement 
gap. Improving childhood asthma management improves health and improves educational success.

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

2010 2012 2014 2016 2010 2012 2014 2016 2010 2012 2014 2016 2014 2016

P
e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e

Grade 7

Grade 9

Grade 11

Smoke Marijuana Smoke Cigarette Use E-cigaretteDrink Alcohol (Full Glass)

Cigarette, Alcohol, and Marijuana Use in Past 30 Days: 7th, 9th, and 11th 

Graders, Berkeley Unified School District (BUSD) 2010-2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
California Healthy Kids Survey (CHKS) 2010-2016

Figure 3.20  ALCOHOL, TOBACCO, AND MARIJUANA USE IN PAST 30 DAYS: 7TH,  
9TH, AND 11TH GRADERS  Berkeley Unified School District (BUSD), 2010–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; California Healthy Kids Survey (CHKS) 
2010–2016

Page 100 of 224

110



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

45

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH 3

Tobacco Prevention Program

The Tobacco Prevention Program provides community-based tobacco 
education programs and services to the community. Berkeley community 
members receive education about federal, state, and local tobacco 
control laws including ordinances relating to City of Berkeley’s tobacco 
control related ordinances such as Smoke-Free Multi-Unit Housing, 
600 ft. flavored tobacco buffer zone near schools K–12, tobacco free 
pharmacies and commercial zones ordinances. The Smoke-Free 
Multi-Unit Housing ordinance prohibits smoking in 100% of multi-unit 
housing with two or more units (i.e. apartments, co-ops, condominiums, 
common interest developments, etc.) and common areas. Free cessation 
classes are available to anyone interested in planning and sustaining 
a smoke-free lifestyle. Tobacco program staff also collaborate with 
Berkeley Tobacco Prevention Coalition members in the community, 
retailers, and policy makers in the City to develop policy aimed at 
reducing community members’ exposure to tobacco smoke and 
tobacco products – including electronic nicotine delivery systems.

The percent of BUSD students who 
report that they drink alcohol, use 
marijuana, and smoke cigarettes or 
e-cigarettes increase with age (i.e., 
from 7th to 11th grade). Alcohol and 
marijuana are the most commonly 
used substances among BUSD 
students, though numbers have 
generally decreased for 7th and 11th 
graders in the past six years. The use of 
alcohol and marijuana have fluctuated 
among 9th graders. Cigarette smoking, 
already at comparatively low levels, 
has continued to drop for 7th and 9th 
graders but fluctuated for 11th graders. 
There has been a drop in e-cigarette 
use for students at all grade levels. 

BUSD students are more likely to 
report having been under the influence 
of alcohol or drugs on school property 
as they progress from middle school 
to 11th grade. In the past six years, 
the percentage of BUSD students 
who have ever been drunk or high on 
school property has steadily decreased 
for all grade levels. On average, the 
percentage was cut almost in half, from 
27% in 2010 to 15% in 2016.

Alcohol, Tobacco and Marijuana Use in 
Berkeley’s Youth continued

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

2010 2012 2014 2016

P
e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e

Grade 7

Grade 9

Grade 11

Ever Drunk or High on School Property: 

7th, 9th, and 11th Graders, Berkeley Unified School District (BUSD) 2010-2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
California Healthy Kids Survey (CHKS) 2010-2016

Figure 3.21  EVER DRUNK OR HIGH ON SCHOOL PROPERTY: 7TH, 9TH, AND 11TH 
GRADERS  Berkeley Unified School District (BUSD), 2010–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; California Healthy Kids Survey (CHKS) 
2010–2016

Page 101 of 224

111



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

46

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH3

Violence, Safety and Mental Health 
in School

Violence is the intentional use of 
physical force or power, against 
another person, group, or community. 
School violence is a subset of youth 
violence, a broader public health 
problem that typically includes 
persons between the ages of 10 
and 24. Pathways to youth violence 
can begin in early childhood. Some 
violent acts—such as bullying, 
pushing, and shoving—can 
cause more emotional harm than 
physical harm. Mental health is an 
important part of the overall health 
of children and adolescents.

At all grade levels, all measures of 
physical violence and victimization 
on school property showed 
improvement from 2010 to 2016. 
As students get older and move 
from middle school to high school, 
fewer students report experiencing 
physical violence or intimidation. 

Fewer students were afraid of being 
beaten up when comparing 2016 
to 2010. The greatest decrease 
was found for 7th grade students, 
which dropped from 28% in 2010 
to 21% in 2016. However, 7th grade 
students continued to report higher 
percentages than older students. In 
2016, 21% of 7th graders were afraid 
of being beaten up compared to 
just 9% of 11th grade students. 

The percentage of students who have 
been in a physical fight in the past year 
decreased from 2010 to 2016. In 2016, 
7th grade students were 2.5 times more 
likely to have been in a physical fight as 
11th graders. 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

2010 2012 2014 2016 2010 2012 2014 2016 2010 2012 2014 2016

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

Grade 7
Grade 9
Grade 11

Afraid of Beaten Up Been in a Physical Fight Seen Weapon on Campus

Physical Violence and Victimization on School Property in the Past 12 
Months: 7th, 9th, and 11th Graders, Berkeley Unified School District 
(BUSD) 2010-2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
California Healthy Kids Survey (CHKS) 2010-2014

Figure 3.22  PHYSICAL VIOLENCE AND VICTIMIZATION ON SCHOOL PROPERTY 
 IN THE PAST 12 MONTHS: 7TH, 9TH, AND 11TH GRADERS   

Berkeley Unified School District (BUSD), 2010–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; California Healthy Kids Survey (CHKS) 
2010–2016

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

2010 2012 2014 2016 2010 2012 2014 2016 2010 2012 2014 2016

P
e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e

Grade 7

Grade 9

Grade 11

School Not Perceived 

as Safe

Experienced Harassment 

or Bullying
Offered Illegal Drug

Safety on School Property in the Past 12 Months: 7th, 9th, and 11th 

Graders, Berkeley Unified School District (BUSD) 2010-2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
California Healthy Kids Survey (CHKS) 2010-2016

Figure 3.23  SAFETY ON SCHOOL PROPERTY IN THE PAST 12 MONTHS: 7TH, 9TH, 
AND 11TH GRADERS  Berkeley Unified School District (BUSD), 2010–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; California Healthy Kids Survey (CHKS) 
2010–2016

Page 102 of 224

112



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

47

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH 3

From 2010 to 2016, at all grade 
levels, fewer students saw a weapon 
on campus. Ninth grade students 
continued to report slightly higher rates 
than both middle school and older high 
school students. 

BUSD high school students in 9th 
and 11th grades were substantially 
more likely to be offered illegal 
drugs than 7th grade students. 
The percentage has decreased 
in the past six years, mirroring 
decreases in alcohol and cigarette 
use, as seen in previous graphs.

Students at the three grades 
surveyed reported similar levels of 
feeling unsafe at school. Over the 
last four years, for all grade levels 
there have been fluctuations but no 
overall decrease in the percentages 
of students who reported feeling 
that school was not safe.

As students get older, fewer report 
having experienced harrassment 
or bullying. In 2016, 30% of 11th 
graders experienced harassment or 
bullying, while 38% of 7th graders did. 
Despite slight fluctuations, reported 
harassment or bullying at each grade 
level has remained largely the same 
over the past six years.

From school year 2010 to 2016, there 
were fewer BUSD students at all grade 
levels who had rumors spread about 
them. Similarly, over this period of time 
the number of 7th grade students who 
reported being made fun of because 
of their looks or speech decreased 
from 46% to 38%. Verbal harassment 
also decreases as grade level increases. 
For example, 7th graders report 
significantly higher percentages than 
9th graders, and 9th graders report 
higher percentages than 11th graders.

Violence, Safety and Mental Health in School 
continued

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

2010 2012 2014 2016 2010 2012 2014 2016

P
e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e

Grade 7

Grade 9

Grade 11

Made Fun of Because of Looks or SpeechHad Rumors Spread about Him/Her

Verbal Harassment on School Property in the Past 12 Months: 7th, 9th, 

and 11th Graders, Berkeley Unified School District (BUSD) 2010-2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
California Healthy Kids Survey (CHKS) 2010-2014

Figure 3.24  VERBAL HARASSMENT ON SCHOOL PROPERTY IN THE PAST  
12 MONTHS: 7TH, 9TH, AND 11TH GRADERS   

Berkeley Unified School District (BUSD), 2010–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; California Healthy Kids Survey (CHKS) 
2010–2016

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

UPDATED FIGURE Percentage of Students Who Ever 
Experienced Cyber Bullying in Past 12 Months, Berkeley Unified 
School District, 2010-2016

0

5

10

15

20

25

7th Grade 9th Grade 11th Grade

2010 2012 2014 2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
California Healthy Kids Survey (CHKS) 2010-2016

Figure 3.25  PERCENTAGE OF STUDENTS WHO EVER EXPERIENCED CYBER BULLYING 
IN PAST 12 MONTHS  Berkeley Unified School District, 2010–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; California Healthy Kids Survey (CHKS) 
2010–2016

Page 103 of 224

113



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

48

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH3

The proportion of 7th and 9th grade 
students reporting cyber-bullying 
increased in 2016. For students in 
11th grade, however, the percentage 
of students who experienced cyber-
bullying decreased in the past six years 
(2010–2016). 

The percentage of BUSD students 
who experienced chronic sad 
or hopeless feelings remained 
steady from 2010 to 2016 overall, 
with the highest proportions in 
9th and 11th grade students.

The proportion of BUSD students who 
seriously considered suicide between 
2010 and 2016 remained steady at 
12% for 9th grade students but slightly 
decreased from 16% to 14% for 11th 
grade students. This question was not 
asked of 7th graders.

School-Linked Health Services Program

School Linked Health Services (SLHS) works to enhance the capacity of the Public Health Division and the Berkeley 
Unified School District (BUSD) to provide health services to elementary-aged youth and to facilitate collaboration among 
programs. This includes: partnering to reduce barriers to learning and addressing health as a means to educational equity; 
continued capacity building for BUSD to address unmet student health and safety needs; seeking opportunities for parent 
education and engagement; health consultations; policy recommendations and strengthening coordination of Public 
Health Division programs working in schools. While SLHS primarily serves elementary-aged youth, SLHS scope of services 
include BUSD K–8 youth and their families.

Violence, Safety and Mental Health in School 
continued

Students who Seriously Considered Attempting Suicide or had 

Chronic Sad or Hopeless Feelings in the Past 12 Months: 7th, 9th and 

11th Graders, Berkeley Unified School District (BUSD) 2010-2016

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

2010 2012 2014 2016 2010 2012 2014 2016

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

Grade 7

Grade 9

Grade 11

Chronic Sad or Hopeless Feelings Seriously Considered Suicide

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
California Healthy Kids Survey (CHKS) 2010-2016

Figure 3.26  STUDENTS WHO SERIOUSLY CONSIDERED ATTEMPTING SUICIDE OR 
HAD CHRONIC SAD OR HOPELESS FEELINGS IN THE PAST 12 MONTHS: 7TH, 9TH, 

AND 11TH GRADERS  Berkeley Unified School District (BUSD), 2010–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; California Healthy Kids Survey (CHKS) 
2010–2016

Page 104 of 224

114



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

49

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH 3

Mental Health Services for Children and Youth The City provides Mental Health services to Berkeley’s children and 
youth through the Mental Health Division’s Family, Youth, and Children’s services; the Public Health Division’s Berkeley 
High School Health Center; and through Berkeley Youth Alternatives.

Family, Youth & Children’s Services (FYC): FYC offers mental health services to Berkeley and Albany’s school-aged 
children who have Medi-Cal or are uninsured. Services include clinical assessment, individual/family therapy, case 
management, and medications and are offered at the FYC clinic, in schools, and in community settings. 

FYC offers intensive therapeutic services to young adults between the age of 16 and 25 who suffer from severe mental 
illness. Many of these transitional age youth have histories of homelessness or involvement with the juvenile justice or 
foster care systems.

Berkeley High School Health Center (BHSHC) Mental Health Services: The Health Center provides crisis intervention 
for all students; short-term therapy for students who qualify for care; and assessment and referral services for those 
students desiring counseling who do not qualify for ongoing therapy at the Health Center. A variety of student related 
issues are addressed by counseling staff, including family issues, substance use, grief and loss, depression and anxiety. 
Health Center mental health staff members work closely with BHS administration in the case of a school-wide or 
community crisis, helping students and staff address issues that arise in relation to crisis events.

Berkeley Youth Alternatives (BYA) Mental Health Services BYA serves over 100 youth and their families each year. The 
center targets runaways, chronic truants, children referred from police and probation departments, and others who are 
beyond the control of their parents. The center also runs drug awareness and anger management groups and a teen forum 
to provide alternative sources of support for youth.

Mental Health Hospitalizations in 
Children and Youth

Mental health disorders among children 
are defined as serious changes in the 
way children typically learn, behave, or 
handle their emotions, causing distress. 
Mental health disorders are often 
chronic health conditions that can 
continue through the lifespan.

Youth mental health hospitalizations 
are uncommon in Berkeley, and occur 
for a broad range of mental health 
conditions. There were a total of 
196 child and youth mental health 
hospitalizations from 2012 to 2014. This 
is a significant decrease from the 490 
hospitalizations that occurred in 2008 
to 2010. Approximately 50% of these 
hospitalizations are related to episodes 
of depression.

​ All Other
12.2%
​ Episodic 

Mood 
Disorders

11.7%

​ Anorexia 
Nervosa 10.7%

​ Bipolar 
Disorders 

4.6%

​ Major 
Depressive 
Disorders

33.7%

​ Other/Minor 
Depressive 
Disorders

16.8%

​Schizophrenic 
Disorders

3.6%

​ Attention Deficit 
Disorders

2.6%

​ Anxiety 
Disorders

4.1%
N = 196

All Mental Disorders Hospitalizations by Diagnosis 

(Youth Under 18 Years of Age), Berkeley, 2012-2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development, 2012-2014

Figure 3.27  ALL MENTAL DISORDERS HOSPITALIZATIONS BY DIAGNOSIS (YOUTH 
UNDER 18 YEARS OF AGE)  Berkeley, 2012–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Office of Statewide Health Planning and 
Development, 2012–2014

Page 105 of 224

115



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

50

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH3

Injuries in Children and Youth

Injuries are a significant cause of 
morbidity and mortality for children 
and youth. Injury hospitalizations 
include suicide attempts, poisonings 
and overdoses, motor vehicle 
accidents, assaults, and others. Injuries 
in adolescents are associated with 
risk-taking behaviors, alcohol and drug 
use, and the stresses of maturation into 
adulthood. In young children, injuries 
may be associated with failure to 
consistently use preventive measures 
such as car seats and bicycle helmets.

Among youth, injury hospitalization 
rates are slightly higher among 0 to 9 
years olds compared to 10–17 year olds. 
Males have an injury hospitalization 
rate 1.3 times higher than the 
female rate. The African American 
injury hospitalization rate is much 
higher than that of any other racial/
ethnic group at almost 1,000 injury 
hospitalizations per 100,000 people.

Injuries resulting in hospitalizations 
are different for female and male 
youth. Males have higher rates of 
accidental falls, medical procedure 
related hospitalizations (e.g. accidental 
cuts or incorrect dosage during 
surgery), and assault/homicide. 
On the other hand, females have 
higher rates of self-inflicted injuries/
suicide, drug-related hospitalizations, 
and motor vehicle accidents.

0 200 400 600 800 1000

Latino

Asian

African Am.

White

Race/Ethnicity

Male

Female

Sex

10 to 17

0 to 9

Age (Years)

Rate per 100,000

UPDATED FIGURE Injury Hospitalization Rates in Youth Under 18 

Years by Age, Sex, and Race/Ethnicity, Berkeley, 2012-2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Office 
of Statewide Health Planning and Development 2012-2014

Figure 3.28  INJURY HOSPITALIZATION RATES IN YOUTH UNDER 18 YEARS BY AGE, 
SEX, AND RACE/ETHNICITY  Berkeley, 2012–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Office of Statewide Health Planning and 
Development, 2012–2014

Accidental
Falls
22%

Assault/
Homicide 1%

Motor
Vehicle 

9%

Medical
Procedures

12%

Self-
Inflicted
Injury/

Suicide
18%

Drug-
Related

17%

Other
Injuries

21%

Females (N=90)

Leading Causes of Injury Hospitalization in Youth Under 18 Years 

of Age by Sex, Berkeley, 2012-2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Office 
of Statewide Health Planning and Development 2012-2014

Accidental
Falls
30%

Assault/
Homicide

2%
Motor

Vehicle 
3%

Medical
Procedures

23%Self-
Inflicted
Injury/

Suicide
4%

Drug-
Related

7%

Other
Injuries

31%

Males (N=128)

Figure 3.29  LEADING CAUSES OF INJURY HOSPITALIZATION IN YOUTH UNDER 18 
YEARS OF AGE BY GENDER  Berkeley, 2012–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Office of Statewide Health Planning and 
Development, 2012–2014

Page 106 of 224

116



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

51

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH 3

Child Health and Disability Prevention Program (CHDP) 

CHDP improves health care access for Medi-Cal and low-income children in Berkeley by providing outreach, education, 
and linkages to regular, no cost, health check-ups. CHDP pediatricians provide well-child check-ups until the age of 21. 
that include immunizations, developmental and dental assessments, physical exams, vision and hearing screening, 
health education and appropriate lab tests for infants, children and teens with Medi-Cal or who meet other eligibility 
requirements, including undocumented children, low-income children with no other health insurance, children in foster 
care or in Head Start and state preschool programs.

Self-inflicted injuries in youth are 
usually associated with suicide 
attempts. Suicide attempts are much 
more common in young women than 
young men. The female self-inflicted 
injury hospitalization rate is 3.5 times 
higher than the male rate. African 
American youth also have higher rates 
of self-inflicted injury hospitalizations 
than either White or Latino youth. 

In the 2012–2014 period, there were 
only three assault/homicide incidents 
that resulted in hospitalization 
in in youth under 18. Homicide 
hospitalization rates in youth under 
18 by sex and race/ethnicity were too 
unreliable to calculate.

Injuries in Children and Youth continued

Be
rk

el
ey

 U
ni

fie
d 

Sc
ho

ol
 D

ist
ric

t

0 20 40 60 80 100

Latino

African American

White

Male

Female

Total

Rate per 100,000

UPDATED FIGURE Self-Inflicted Injury/Suicide Hospitalization 

Rates in Youth Under 18 Years by Sex and Race/Ethnicity, Berkeley, 

2012-2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Office 
of Statewide Health Planning and Development 2012-2014

Figure 3.30  SELF-INFLICTED INJURY/SUICIDE HOSPITALIZATION RATES IN YOUTH  
UNDER 18 YEARS BY SEX AND RACE/ETHNICITY  Berkeley, 2012–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Office of Statewide Health Planning and 
Development, 2012–2014

Page 107 of 224

117



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

52

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH3

Injury hospitalization rates among children and adolescents are significantly higher in zip code 94710 in West 
Berkeley, just below the San Pablo corridor.

Number of Chlamydia Cases Reported Among Youth 15-19 by 

Year of Episode and Gender, City of Berkeley, 2012-2016 

0 

20 

40 

60 

80 

100 

120 

140 

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

C
a
s
e
s
 

  

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; CDPH 
STD Control Branch, Detailed LHJ Tables, 2012-2016 

Total 

Female 

Male 

Figure 3.34  NUMBER OF CHLAMYDIA CASES REPORTED AMONG YOUTH 15–19 BY 
YEAR OF EPISODE AND GENDER  City of Berkeley, 2012–2016

94702

94703

94704

94705

94706

94707

94708

94709

94710

94720

³
0 0.5 10.25 Miles

WGS 1984 UTM Zone 10N
Source: Office of Statewide Health
Planning and Development, 2012-2014

Map 9    AGE-ADJUSTED INJURY HOSPITALIZATION RATES BY ZIPCODE, YOUTH UNDER 18    
City of Berkeley, 2012-2014

Rate per 100,000

Not Available

1 - 290

291 - 440

441 - 556

557 - 1424

City Boundary

ZIP Code

Map 8  AGE ADJUSTED INJURY HOSPTALIZATION RATES BY ZIPCODE, YOUTH UNDER 18 
City of Berkeley, 2012–2014

Injuries in Children 
and Youth continued

Sexually Transmitted Infections  
in Youth

Sexually transmitted infections (STIs) 
for which data is available in Berkeley 
include chlamydia, gonorrhea, and 
syphilis, as well as HIV/AIDS. These are 
reportable diseases, tracked regularly 
by local health departments and at the 
state and national level.

Number of Chlamydia Cases Reported Among Youth 15-19 by 
Year of Episode and Gender, City of Berkeley, 2012-2016

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

N
um

be
r o

f C
as

es

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; CDPH 
STD Control Branch, Detailed LHJ Tables, 2012-2016

Total

Female

Male

Figure 3.31  NUMBER OF CHLAMYDIA CASES REPORTED AMONG YOUTH 15–19 BY 
YEAR OF EPISODE AND GENDER  City of Berkeley, 2012–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; CDPH STD Control Branch, Detailed LHJ 
Tables, 2012–2016

Page 108 of 224

118



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

53

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH 3

Chlamydia is the most common STI 
reported among Berkeley youth. The 
number of chlamydia cases reported 
in youth age 15–19 years has increased 
from 94 in 2014 to 115 in 2016. In all 
years, about 70–80% of reported 
chlamydia infections occur among 
females. In 2016, the overall rate of 
chlamydia infection among youth age 
15–19 years was 909 per 100,000, which 
is lower than both Alameda County 
(1414) and California (1311). 

Sexually Transmitted Infections in Youth  
continued

The rate of chlamydia among youth 
age 15-17 has consistently declined 
since 2011, however the rate among 
older youth ages 18 and 19 has 
increased over time.

Age-Specific Chlamydia Case Rates Among Youth 15-19
Berkeley, 2011-2016

 0.0

 500

 1,000

 1,500

 2,000

 2,500

 3,000

15-17 18-19

R
a
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
California Department of Public Health, STD Control Branch, 2011-2016

UPDATED FIGURE 3.33

Figure 3.33  AGE-SPECIFIC CHLAMYDIA CASE RATES AMONG YOUTH 15–19   
Berkeley, 2011–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, California Department of Public Health, 
STD Control Branch, 2011–2016

UPDATED FIGURE
Age-Specific Chlamydia Rates Reported Among Youth 15-19 by 
Year of Episode, City of Berkeley, Alameda County, and 
California 2012-2016

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

In
ci

de
nc

e 
R

at
e 

Pe
r 1

00
,0

00

Berkeley Alameda County California

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; CDPH 
STD Control Branch, Detailed LHJ Tables, 2012-2016

Alameda
California

Berkeley

Figure 3.32  AGE-SPECIFIC CHLAMYDIA RATES REPORTED AMONG YOUTH 15–19 BY 
YEAR OF EPISODE  City of Berkeley, Alameda County, and California, 2012–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; CDPH STD Control Branch, Detailed LHJ 
Tables, 2012–2016

Page 109 of 224

119



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

54

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH3

Gonorrhea is the 2nd most common 
STI among Berkeley youth age 15–19 
years. While the number of cases 
has fluctuated over the years, the 
number has increased in each year 
since 2014 (from 18 in 2014 to 27 in 
2016). The number of gonorrhea 
cases is more evenly distributed by 
gender than chlamydia, with anywhere 
from 40 to 67% of cases occurring 
among females. In 2016, the rate of 
gonorrhea infection among youth 
age 15–19 years was 214 per 100,000, 
which is lower than both Alameda 
County (271) and California (229).

Sexually Transmitted Infections in Youth  
continued

Number of Gonorrhea Cases Reported Among Youth Under 

15-19 by Year of Episode and Gender, City of Berkeley, 

2012-2016 

0 

5 

10 

15 

20 

25 

30 

35 

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

C
a
s
e
s
 

  

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; CDPH 
STD Control Branch, Detailed LHJ Tables, 2012-2016 

Total 

Female 

Male 

Figure 3.34  NUMBER OF GONORRHEA CASES REPORTED AMONG YOUTH 15–19  
BY YEAR OF EPISODE AND GENDER  City of Berkeley, 2012–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; CDPH STD Control Branch, Detailed LHJ 
Tables, 2012–2016

UPDATED FIGURE
Age-Specific Gonorrhea Rates Reported Among Youth 15-19 by 
Year of Episode, City of Berkeley, Alameda County, and 
California 2012-2016

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

In
ci

de
nc

e 
R

at
e 

Pe
r 1

00
,0

00

Berkeley Alameda County California

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; CDPH 
STD Control Branch, Detailed LHJ Tables, 2012-2016

Alameda
California
Berkeley

Figure 3.35  AGE-SPECIFIC GONORRHEA RATES REPORTED AMONG YOUTH 15–19 BY 
YEAR OF EPISODE  City of Berkeley, Alameda County, and California, 2012–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; CDPH STD Control Branch, Detailed LHJ 
Tables, 2012–2016

Page 110 of 224

120



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

55

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH 3

High School Health Centers: The Berkeley High School and B-Tech Health Centers provide free, adolescent-friendly, 
confidential, and convenient places  for students to receive medical and mental health care and referrals. Sexual health services 
include health education and counseling on preventing STIs and HIV, as well as STI and HIV testing, diagnosis and treatment.

The rate of gonorrhea among youth 
age 15-17 declined sharply between 
2013 and 2014 but has been increasing 
annually since then.  The rate  
among older youth age 18 and 19 has 
increased consistently over time.

From 2011 to 2016, there were 
no reported cases of syphilis 
among youth ages 15–19 years 
old in the city of Berkeley.

From 2012 to 2014, the overall 
proportion of students who had sex 
increased from 16% to 22% in 9th 
graders and from 41% to 44% in 11th 
graders. Among 9th and 11th graders 
who had sex, the proportions of 
students who used both condoms and 
other contraceptive methods increased 
from 2012 to 2014. However, there 
was also an increase in the proportion 
of students who had sex and used 
neither method of protection. The 
percentage of 9th graders who only 
used a condom, however, decreased 
from 2012 to 2014. Condom use alone 
continues to be the most commonly 
used protection method among 
students in both grades.

Sexually Transmitted Infections in Youth  
continued

Age-Specific Gonorrhea Case Rates Among Youth 15-19
Berkeley, 2011-2016

 0.0

 100

 200

 300

 400

 500

 600

 700

 800

15-17 18-19

R
a
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
California Department of Public Health, STD Control Branch, 2011-2016

UPDATED FIGURE 3.36

Figure 3.36  AGE-SPECIFIC GONORRHEA CASE RATES AMONG YOUTH 15–19   
Berkeley, 2011–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, California Department of Public Health, 
STD Control Branch, 2011–2016

Student Use of Contraceptives During Most Recent Sexual Activity; 9th 

and 11th Graders, Berkeley Unified School District (BUSD) 2012-2014

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

2012 2014 2012 2014

P
e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e

Neither Condom only Other contraceptives only Both

9th Graders 11th Graders

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
California Healthy Kids Survey (CHKS) 2012-2014

Figure 3.37  STUDENT USE OF CONTRACEPTIVES DURING MOST RECENT  
SEXUAL ACTIVITY, 9TH AND 11TH GRADERS   

Berkeley Unified School District (BUSD), 2012–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; California Healthy Kids Survey (CHKS) 
2012–2014

Page 111 of 224

121



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

56

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH3

Vaccine-Preventable Diseases

Vaccines prevent many diseases which 
were previously common in earlier 
generations. Routine vaccinations 
are recommended for both adults 
and children. Vaccine-preventable 
diseases are those for which we have 
effective vaccines. These include 
measles, mumps, tetanus, pertussis 
(whooping cough), hepatitis A and B, 
and influenza, among others. Booster 
vaccinations for adolescents and 
adults are needed for many of these 
diseases, because immunity decreases 
over time.

The occurrence of vaccine-preventable diseases within a 
community is an indication that the community may not be 
fully immunized. Adolescents, young adults, or older adults 
may not be receiving recommended boosters. If a large enough 
subset of the community is not vaccinated, disease can spread 
throughout the community. In order to control and prevent 
vaccine-preventable diseases, public health officials monitor 
disease reports and immunization rates in the community.

Outbreaks of vaccine-preventable diseases necessitate costly 
investigations and control measures, such as isolation or 
exclusion from school, to prevent further spread. In recent 

years, pertussis (whooping cough) has been the most common 
vaccine-preventable disease. In 2014, California experienced 
an epidemic of pertussis, which was consistent with the trend 
of peaks in incidence every 3–5 years. The number of cases in 
2014 was much higher than the cases of previous outbreaks, 
resulting in three infant deaths due to pertussis in California. 
The actual rates of pertussis were likely even higher, as milder 
cases frequently go undiagnosed.

Measles and mumps remain diseases of concern and have caused 
notable recent outbreaks with exposures in congregate settings 
such as universities, amusement parks, and public transportation.

Immunization Program

The Public Health Immunization Program works to increase immunization rates for all Berkeley residents across the life 
span. Special efforts are targeted at African American and Latino children less than two years of age by collaborating with 
WIC; public and private preschools; licensed family childcare homes; medical providers; and through community outreach, 
education and encouraging participation in the immunization registry among medical providers. Immunization services are 
provided to the community in several venues including at the Public Health Clinic. The program also focuses on pertussis 
vaccination for teens and adults and seasonal influenza vaccine for all ages. In addition, the Public Health Clinic expands its 
service by providing varicella vaccines to adults who are uninsured or underinsured.

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

C
a

s
e

s

Pertussis Measles Mumps Rubella

UPDATED 

FIGURE 3.38Selected Vaccine-Preventable Diseases by Year of 

Report, Berkeley, 2000-2017

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
CD Program, 2000-2017

Figure 3.38  SELECTED VACCINE-PREVENTABLE DISEASES BY  
YEAR OF REPORT  Berkeley, 2000–2017

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, CD Program, 2000–2017

Page 112 of 224

122



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

57

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH 3

Childhood Immunization

Immunizations are one of the most 
significant public health achievements 
of the 20th century. They are among 
the most successful and cost-effective 
preventive health care interventions, 
helping children avoid contracting 
numerous serious and potentially 
fatal infectious diseases. Diseases 
that were once common causes of 
illness, death, and disability—like 
polio, tetanus, measles, meningitis, 
and others—are now unusual 
because of widespread immunization. 
Immunization prevents disease and 
death and saves health care costs. The 
control of these diseases, however, is 
dependent on maintaining high levels 
of vaccination in the community. 
At the community or population 
level, under-immunized children 
are at risk of acquiring illness and of 
spreading it to others, potentially 
leading to disease outbreaks.

For the past decade, the proportion 
of Kindergarten children immunized 
against the nine diseases for which 
childhood immunizations are 
required has been consistently 
lower in Berkeley compared to both 
Alameda County and California. 
Berkeley’s immunization rate has also 
experienced some fluctuations with a 
recent peak of an 85% immunization 
rate in 2016, the highest percentage 
ever recorded. Required immunizations 
include polio, measles, mumps, 
rubella, diphtheria, tetanus, pertussis, 
hepatitis B, and varicella vaccines. 

Percent of Kindergarten Children with All Required Immunizations

Berkeley, Alameda County, and California, 2007 to 2016

50

55

60

65

70

75

80

85

90

95

100

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

P
e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e

California

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
California Department of Public Health, Immunization Branch

Berkeley

Alameda Co.

Figure 3.39  PERCENT OF KINDERGARTEN CHILDREN WITH ALL REQUIRED 
IMMUNIZATIONS  Berkeley, Alameda County, and California, 2007–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; California Department of Public Health, 
Immunization Branch

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

P
e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e

Berkeley Alameda CA

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
California Department of Public Health, Immunization Branch

Percent of Kindergarten Children with Personal Belief Exemptions (PBE)

Berkeley, Alameda County, and California, 2006 to 2016Figure 3.40  PERCENT OF KINDERGARTEN CHILDREN WITH PERSONAL BELIEF 
EXEMPTIONS (PBE)  Berkeley, Alameda County, and California, 2006–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; California Department of Public Health, 
Immunization Branch

Page 113 of 224

123



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

58

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH3

Personal belief exemptions (PBEs) 
allow students to enter school without 
required immunizations. Despite 
dramatic decreases from 2015 to 2016 
due to Senate Bill 277 (SB277), Berkeley 
schools continue to have higher rates 
of PBEs at kindergarten entry than do 
Alameda County or California schools 
overall. This increases the likelihood 
that vaccine-preventable diseases 
can occur and spread among Berkeley 
school children.

Senate Bill 277 (SB277) 

California Senate Bill 277 (SB277) was signed into law by Governor Jerry 
Brown on June 30, 2015. The law, which became effective July 1, 2016, 
removed personal belief exemptions (PBEs) to vaccination requirements for 
entry to private or public elementary and secondary schools and child day 
care centers. The bill was prompted by the 2014 Disneyland measles outbreak 
and the historically low levels of vaccination in some California schools, with 
some areas showing personal belief exemptions exceeding 20%.

Under SB 277, PBEs have remained valid for children who entered multiyear 
kindergarten programs (e.g., transitional kindergarten) before 2016 and 
continue in kindergarten during 2016–2017. However, given that PBEs are no 
longer allowed for newly enrolled children, within a few years, there will not 
be children in schools that are not vaccinated due to PBEs.

Childhood Immunization continued

Be
rk

el
ey

 U
ni

fie
d 

Sc
ho

ol
 D

ist
ric

t

A
nn

ie
 B

ur
ke

Page 114 of 224

124



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

59

 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH 3

References
1.	 ASPE, “Computations for the 2016 Poverty Guidelines,” 2016. 

[Online]. Available: https://aspe.hhs.gov/computations-2016-
poverty-guidelines. [Accessed 2017]

2.	 W. O’Hare, “The Changing Child Population of the United States: 
Analysis of Data from the 2010 Census,” The Annie E. Casey 
Foundation, Population Bureau, Baltimore, 2011.

3.	 US Census Bureau, “US Census Bureau QuickFacts selected: 
UNITED STATES.,” 2013. [Online]. Available: https://www.census.
gov/quickfacts/fact/table/CA,US/PST045216. [Accessed 2017].

4.	 L. Anderson, “Community Interventions to Promote Healthy 
Social Environments: Early Childhood Development and Family 
Housing,” MMWR: Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, vol. 
51, no. RR01, pp. 1–8, 2002.

5.	 CDC, “Adolescent and School Health: Childhood Obesity Facts,” 
2017. [Online]. Available: http://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/
obesity/facts.htm. [Accessed 2017].

6.	 L. Akinbami, “The State of Childhood Asthma, United States, 
1980–2005. Advance Data from Vital and Health Statistics: No. 
381, Revised December 29, 2006. Hyattsville, MD: National Center 
for Health Statistics, 2006,” 2006. [Online]. Available: https://
www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/ad/ad381.pdf. [Accessed 2017].

7.	 CDC, “Healthy Schools: Asthma in Schools,” 2017. [Online]. 
Available: https://www.cdc.gov/healthyschools/asthma/index.htm. 
[Accessed 2017].

8.	 CDC, “Smoking & Tobacco Use: 2012 Surgeon General’s Report—
Preventing Tobacco Use Among Youth and Young Adults,” 2012. 
[Online]. Available: http://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/data_statistics/
sgr/2012/index.htm. [Accessed 2017].

9.	 CDC, “Alcohol and Public Health: Facts Sheet – Underage 
Drinking,” 2016. [Online]. Available: https://www.cdc.gov/alcohol/
fact-sheets/underage-drinking.htm. [Accessed 2017].

10.	 Berkeley Unified School District, “Berkeley Unified School 
District: Berkeley Technology Academy,” 2017. [Online]. Available: 
http://www.berkeleyschools.net/schools/high-schools/berkeley-
technology-academy/. [Accessed 2017].

11.	 R. Perou, “Mental Health Surveillance Among Children — United 
States, 2005–2011,” MMWR: Morbidity and Mortality Weekly 
Report, vol. 62, no. 02, pp. 1–35, 2013.

12.	 CDC, “Injury Prevention & Control: Youth Violence,” 2017. 
[Online]. Available: http://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/
youthviolence/index.html. [Accessed 2017].

13.	 CDC, “Youth Violence: Facts at a Glance 2016,” 2016. [Online]. 
Available: https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/pdf/yv-
datasheet.pdf. [Accessed 2017].

14.	 CDC, “Understanding Bullying: Fact Sheet 2016,” 2016. [Online]. 
Available: https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/pdf/bullying_
factsheet.pdf. [Accessed 2017].

15.	 Department of Justice Office of Justice Programs, “National 
Institute of Justice: Hate Crime,” 2017. [Online]. Available: https://
www.nij.gov/topics/crime/hate-crime/Pages/welcome.aspx. 
[Accessed 2017].

16.	 CDC National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Office 
of Statistics and Programming, “Injury Prevention & Control: Data 
& Statistics, Web-based Injury Statistics Query and Reporting 
System (WISQARS),” 2017. [Online]. Available: http://www.cdc.
gov/injury/wisqars/index.html. [Accessed 2017].

17.	 Prevention Institute, “A Public Health Approach to Preventing 
Violence: FAQ,” 2009. [Online]. Available: https://www.
preventioninstitute.org/sites/default/files/publications/FAQ%20
preventing%20violence_A_112109-1.pdf. [Accessed 2017].

18.	 CDC, “Sexually Transmitted Diseases (STDs): STDs & Infertility,” 
2017. [Online]. Available: http://www.cdc.gov/std/infertility/
default.htm. [Accessed 2017].

19.	 CDC, “Vaccine & Preventable Diseases,” 2016. [Online]. Available: 
https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/vpd/vaccines-diseases.html. 
[Accessed 2017].

20.	 CDC, “Lead,” 2017. [Online]. Available: http://www.cdc.gov/nceh/
lead/. [Accessed 2017].

21.	 US Environmental Protection Agency, “Renovation, Repair, and 
Painting Program,” 2017. [Online]. Available: http://www2.epa.gov/
lead/renovation-repair-and-painting-program. [Accessed 2017].

22.	 US Census Bureau, “American Fact Finder: Physical Housing 
Characteristics 2011 Berkeley CA,” 2011. [Online]. Available: http://
factfinder2.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.
xhtml?pid=ACS_11_1YR_S2504&prodType=table. [Accessed 2017].

Page 115 of 224

125



Healthy students tend to 

learn better in school. They 

are more likely to attend 

school regularly and are better 

able to focus in class, which 

ultimately leads to higher 

scores and overall higher 

classroom achievement. 
Be

rk
el

ey
 U

ni
fie

d 
Sc

ho
ol

 D
ist

ric
t

Be
rk

el
ey

 U
ni

fie
d 

Sc
ho

ol
 D

ist
ric

t

Page 116 of 224

126



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

61

 ADULT HEALTH 4

Key Findings

•	 Healthy People (HP2020) Goals

oo Berkeley as a whole meets HP2020 goals for the 
following:

—— Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) 
hospitalizations

oo Berkeley as a whole does not meet HP2020 goals for 
the following:

—— New cases of tuberculosis
—— New cases of syphilis in men and women

•	 Chronic Diseases

oo In 2014, 15.7% of Berkeley adults were categorized 
as obese based on BMI, and those who are African 
American or Latino are more likely to be obese. 

oo Approximately 7.6% of Berkeley residents were 
smokers in 2014, which was a substantial decrease 
from 11.5% in 2012. 

oo Berkeley’s African American population experiences 
inequitably high rates of hospitalization due to 
uncontrolled diabetes and long-term complications, 
such as kidney, eye, neurological and circulatory 
complications.  However, the hospitalization rate 
among African Americans for lower-extremity 
amputation has substantially decreased between 
2006 and 2014. 

oo For Latinos, hospitalizations for lower-extremity 
amputations dropped dramatically from 29.3 per 
100,000 in 2000–2002 to 5.9 per 100,000 in 2003–
2005. The Latino rate has continued downward with 
no reported amputations in 2012–2014.

oo The rate of hospitalization due to hypertension 
among Berkeley’s African American population has 
sharply increased, and is now over five times that of 
the total population. 

oo Hypertensive heart disease hospitalizations have 
decreased among all racial/ethnic groups over 
the past decade with the most dramatic decrease 
among African Americans—from 170 per 100,000 in 
2000–2002 to 51 per 100,000 in 2012–2014.

continues

This chapter examines the health status of Berkeley’s adults, 
from early adulthood through old age. This is the stage of life 
when chronic diseases, including cancer, are most likely to 
develop and affect adults’ well-being. Mental health issues, 
injuries, and communicable diseases continue to have major 
roles as well. This is the period of life in which one is most 
likely to work, accumulate wealth, have partners, and hold 
responsibilities for other family members. Health is essential 
to the quality of adult life—not only for the individual but also 
for those around him or her. These adverse health conditions 
interfere with productivity during this stage of life.

CHAPTER 4: ADULT HEALTH
4

Page 117 of 224

127



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

62

 ADULT HEALTH4

Key Findings continued

•	 Chronic Diseases continued

oo Asthma hospitalizations in Berkeley show strong 
disparities between racial/ethnic groups, as African 
Americans have substantially higher rates of asthma 
compared to other groups. 

oo Overall, South, West and Central Berkeley 
neighborhoods experience higher rates of stroke, 
diabetes, heart disease and asthma.

oo White women had the highest incidence rate of breast 
cancer in Berkeley compared to other racial/ethnic 
groups from 2006–2011. African American women 
began to have a higher rate in 2012–2014.

oo Prostate and lung cancer rates are highest among 
African Americans. 

oo Berkeley has higher rates of uterine cancer, colorectal 
cancer, melanoma skin cancer, and Non-Hodgkin 
Lymphoma, compared to Alameda County and the 
state of California.

•	 Mental Health

oo Mental health hospitalization rates have been stable in 
Berkeley over the past decade.

oo Among the 14 cities in Alameda County, Berkeley 
ranks 1st in mental illness hospitalizations.

oo Asians and Latinos have the lowest rates of mental 
health hospitalizations in Berkeley.

oo Mental health hospitalization rates are the highest 
among older adults ages 45–64. 

•	 Injuries

oo Injuries in adults over age 65 are a significant cause of 
hospitalization. They are most common in West and 
Greater Downtown Berkeley.

oo Hospitalization rates for injuries have risen in the last 
decade among all groups except Latinos, for whom 
the rate has remained stable. The rate for African 
Americans is over double that for Whites, and the gap 
is widening.

oo The number of motor vehicle injuries has remained 
stable in the most recent years. The most common 
type of traffic injury collision involves another motor 
vehicle. Traffic injuries are most common among 
those 45–64 years of age.

oo On average, Berkeley police receives 170 domestic 
violence calls annually.

•	 Communicable Diseases

oo Berkeley receives an average of 1,400 communicable 
disease reports each year, of which 1,150 are 
confirmed cases.

oo Over half of communicable diseases are transmitted 
through unsafe sex.

oo While the number of TB cases is declining overall, 
highly drug-resistant forms of TB have emerged, 
which are very difficult to treat.

oo Chlamydia and Gonorrhea rates are much higher 
among African Americans than among other racial/
ethnic groups.

oo Almost all cases of Syphilis in Berkeley were male.

oo African Americans and Latinos experience 
disproportionately high rates of HIV/AIDS.

Page 118 of 224

128



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

63

 ADULT HEALTH 4

Chronic Diseases and Risk Factors

Chronic diseases are illnesses of long duration and generally 
slow progression. These diseases—such as heart disease, 
diabetes, and cancer—are among the most common, costly, 
and preventable of all health problems in the U.S. Heart disease, 
cancer, and stroke account for more than 50% of all deaths each 
year. These conditions impact the well-being and quality of life 
of those who have them.

Chronic diseases share many underlying causes: obesity 
and unhealthy diets, low levels of physical activity, and use 
of tobacco and alcohol. Changing the environments and 
behaviors that perpetuate these risk factors can prevent chronic 
diseases. Prevention of chronic diseases improves the quality 
of life, decreases health care costs, and prolongs life. Primary 
prevention is more cost-effective, and provides greater benefits 
to individual health and well-being than treating chronic disease 
after it is well established.

Obesity and Physical Activity

In the U.S., rates of obesity have 
consistently increased each year. 
Currently, more than one-third of 
adults in the country are obese. These 
trends were found by measuring Body 
Mass Index (BMI), or the relationship 
between a person’s weight and height. 
Adults who are overweight have a 
BMI of 25.0–29.9, while people who 
are obese have a BMI that is 30.0 or 
greater. An overweight or obese status 
is a strong risk factor for many chronic 
conditions, including type-2 diabetes, 
heart disease, stroke, and cancer.

In 2014, 15.7% of Berkeley adults were 
categorized as obese, and those 
who are African American or Latino 
are more likely to be obese. This 
trend suggests the need to improve 
greater access to physical activity and 
healthy foods. No data on overweight 
adults was available in the California 
Health Interview Survey (CHIS) 
Neighborhood Edition.

Between 2012 and 2014, the proportion 
of adults with obesity has slightly 
increased for Berkeley and the state of 
California. However, Berkeley’s obesity 
rate, remains below that of Alameda 
County and California.

% 10% 20% 30% 40%

California
Alameda County

Berkeley

White
Latino

African American

Female
Male

UPDATED FIGURE Obesity in Adults Based on Body Mass Index (BMI) of 30 and 
Greater, Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
California Health Interview Survey (CHIS), 2014

0

Figure 4.1  OBESITY IN ADULTS BASED ON BODY MASS INDEX (BMI)  
OF 30 AND GREATER  Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, California Health Interview Survey 
(CHIS), 2014

% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35%

California

Alameda County

Berkeley
2012 2014

0

UPDATED FIGURE Obesity in Adults Based on Body Mass Index (BMI) of 30 and 
Greater, Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2012, 2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
California Health Interview Survey (CHIS), 2012, 2014

Figure 4.2  OBESITY IN ADULTS BASED ON BODY MASS INDEX (BMI)  
OF 30 AND GREATER  Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2012, 2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, California Health Interview Survey 
(CHIS), 2012, 2014

Page 119 of 224

129



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

64

 ADULT HEALTH4

From 2012 to 2014, the proportion of 
Berkeley adults who walked at least 
150 minutes in the past week increased 
from 41.7% to 49.2%. The proportion 
of Berkeley adults who engaged in 
this level of activity is higher than that 
the proportion of adults in Alameda 
County and California overall.

Tobacco Use

Although smoking is one of the most 
preventable risk factors that causes 
negative health outcomes, it remains 
a prominent issue in the U.S. More 
than 16 million Americans are currently 
living with a disease caused by 
smoking. About 1 in 5 deaths each year 
is attributable to cigarette smoking. 
While people are aware of the harmful 
effects of smoking and its relationship 
to cancer, respiratory diseases, and 
heart disease, people continue to 
smoke. At least in part, this is due to 
social pressures and advertising from 
the tobacco industry. Furthermore, 
secondhand smoke is a national 
priority due to its impact on asthma 
and other respiratory illnesses.

Approximately 7.6% of Berkeley 
residents were smokers in 2014, which 
was a substantial decrease from 11.5% 
in 2012. Neither Alameda County 
nor California showed as comparable 
decreases in smoking. Also, this 
recent decrease placed Berkeley’s 
smoking rate substantially below 
that of Alameda County (12.2%) and 
California (13.8%). 

Obesity and Physical Activity continued

From the Community

“We are living on limited income and we are going to buy what is cheap and what is there.” “We know about healthy eating, 
but it is hard when you can’t get it in your neighborhood.”

% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

California

Alameda County

Berkeley

2012 2014

0

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
California Health Interview Survey (CHIS), 2012, 2014

UPDATED FIGURE Adults Who Walked at Least 150 Minutes in the Past Week, 
Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2012, 2014

Figure 4.3  ADULTS WHO WALKED AT LEAST 150 MINUTES IN THE PAST WEEK 
Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2012, 2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, California Health Interview Survey 
(CHIS), 2012, 2014

% 3% 6% 9% 12% 15% 18%

California

Alameda County

Berkeley
2012 2014

0

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
California Health Interview Survey (CHIS), 2012, 2014

UPDATED FIGURE Adults Who Are Current Smokers, 
Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2012, 2014

Figure 4.4  ADULTS WHO ARE CURRENT SMOKERS   
Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2012, 2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, California Health Interview Survey 
(CHIS), 2012, 2014

Page 120 of 224

130



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

65

 ADULT HEALTH 4

Diabetes

Diabetes is a chronic condition 
where there is an elevation in the 
level of glucose/sugar in the blood. 
Over time, this disease can lead to 
a number of health complications; 
including heart disease, blindness, 
kidney damage, and amputations. In 
type-1 diabetes, the body’s immune 
system mistakenly attacks cells that 
produce insulin which regulates blood 
sugar. Type-1 diabetes, or insulin-
dependent diabetes, accounts for 
approximately 5–10% of all diagnosed 
diabetes cases. Type-2 diabetes, or 
non-insulin dependent diabetes, 
develops from insulin resistance due 
to various environmental or behavioral 
factors, and accounts for 90–95% of all 
diagnosed diabetes cases.

Untreated or poorly controlled 
diabetes can hinder a person’s ability 
to live or work optimally. Across the 
nation, 30.3 million people (9.4% of 
the population) have diabetes. The 
occurrence of diabetes has increased 
over time, for African Americans and 
Latinos, people of lower income, and 
the elderly. Risk factors for diabetes 
include family history, obesity, high 
blood pressure, unhealthy diet, and low 
physical activity.

On average, Berkeley has lower rates of 
diabetes compared to Alameda County 
and the state of California. In 2014, the 
prevalence of diabetes in Berkeley was 
3.2%, compared to 5.7% in Alameda 
County and 8.8% in California.

% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10%

California

Alameda County

Berkeley

2012 2014

0

Adults (18 Years and Older) Ever Diagnosed with Diabetes, 
Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2012, 2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
California Health Interview Survey (CHIS), 2012, 2014

Figure 4.5  ADULTS EVER DIAGNOSED WITH DIABETES   
Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2012, 2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, California Health Interview Survey 
(CHIS), 2012, 2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development, 2000-2014

UPDATED FIGURE Age-Adjusted Hospitalization Rates due to 
Uncontrolled Diabetes by Race/Ethnicity and Year of Hospitalization, 
Berkeley, 2000-2014

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

2000-2002 2003-2005 2006-2008 2009-2011 2012-2014

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

White African American API Latino Total

Figure 4.6  HOSPITALIZATION RATES DUE TO UNCONTROLLED DIABETES BY  
RACE/ETHNICITY AND YEAR OF HOSPITALIZATION  Berkeley, 2000–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Office of Statewide Health Planning and 
Development, 2000–2014

Page 121 of 224

131



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

66

 ADULT HEALTH4

Uncontrolled Diabetes

Careful control of diabetes requires 
proper diet, exercise, blood sugar 
monitoring, and medication. When 
diabetes is left uncontrolled, there is 
a higher risk of health complications, 
which can lead to hospitalizations.

Over the course of the past decade, 
African Americans have had the 
highest rates of hospitalization due 
to uncontrolled diabetes in Berkeley. 
There has been a slight decrease in 
the gap between African Americans 
and other racial groups, but the 
disparity continues to exist.

Long-Term Diabetes Complications

Long-term complications for diabetes 
include damage to the kidney, eye, 
nerves, or circulatory vessels. This 
in turn can cause outcomes such as 
blindness and amputations.

Overall in the past decade,  the 
Berkeley population has a decreasing 
rate of hospitalizations due to long-
term diabetes complications, but the 
rate among African Americans remains 
higher than that of other groups.

Lower-Extremity Amputations among 
Patients with Diabetes

When diabetes is poorly controlled, 
one potential consequence is nerve 
and tissue damage to the legs and feet 
due to reduced blood flow. This can 
lead to severe infection, which may 
necessitate amputation to prevent 
further damage.

Diabetes continued

From the Community

“I am concerned about sugary drinks; have seen that we have diabetes in our 
community; you try to control it; but, I see that in my community, at a certain 
point, a certain age we get diabetes It puts our children in danger.”

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

2000-2002 2003-2005 2006-2008 2009-2011 2012-2014

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00
White African American API Latino Total

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development, 2000-2014

UPDATED FIGURE Hospitalization Rates due to Long-Term 
Diabetes Complications by Race/Ethnicity and Year of 
Hospitalization, Berkeley, 2000-2014

Figure 4.7  HOSPITALIZATION RATES DUE TO LONG-TERM DIABETES 
COMPLICATIONS BY RACE/ETHNICITY AND YEAR OF HOSPITALIZATION   

Berkeley, 2000–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Office of Statewide Health Planning and 
Development, 2000–2014

UPDATED FIGURE Hospitalization Rates due to Lower-Extremity 
Amputations from Diabetes by Race/Ethnicity and Year of Hospitalization, 
Berkeley, 2000-2014

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

2000-2002 2003-2005 2006-2008 2009-2011 2012-2014

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

White African American API Latino Total

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development, 2000-2014

Figure 4.8  HOSPITALIZATION RATES DUE TO LOWER-EXTREMITY AMPUTATIONS 
FROM DIABETES BY RACE/ETHNICITY AND YEAR OF HOSPITALIZATION   

Berkeley, 2000–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Office of Statewide Health Planning and 
Development, 2000–2014

Page 122 of 224

132



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

67

 ADULT HEALTH 4

Diabetes hospitalization rates are not evenly distributed geographically in Berkeley. The highest rates of 
hospitalizations are among residents of South and Central Berkeley, particularly in the zip code 94703.

Diabetes continued

94702

94703

94704

94705

94706

94707

94708

94709

94710

94720

³
0 0.5 10.25 Miles

WGS 1984 UTM Zone 10N
Source: Office of Statewide Health
Planning and Development, 2012-2014

Map 11    AGE-ADJUSTED DIABETES MELLITUS HOSPITALIZATION RATES BY ZIPCODE, ADULTS 18 YEARS AND OVER   

City of Berkeley, 2012-2014

Rate per 100,000

Not Available

1 - 38

39 - 100

101 - 124

125 - 177

City Boundary

ZIP Code

Map 9  AGE-ADJUSTED DIABETES HOSPITALIZATION RATES BY ZIPCODE,  
ADULTS 18 YEARS AND OVER  City of Berkeley, 2012–2014

African Americans have higher rates of hospitalization from lower-extremity amputations than other racial 
groups in Berkeley. However, the hospitalization rates among African Americans have substantially decreased 
between 2006 and 2014. For Latinos, hospitalizations for lower-extremity amputations dropped dramatically 
from 29.3 per 100,000 in 2000–2002 to 5.9 per 100,000 in 2003–2005. The Latino rate has continued 
downward with no reported amputations in 2012–2014. The overall hospitalization rate for lower-extremity 
amputations has remained relatively stable over time. 

From the Community

“It’s really overwhelming when you go to a store, and even when you think it’s healthy, you don’t know 
how much sugar there is in it. Juice has sugar and you don’t realize it. “

Page 123 of 224

133



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

68

 ADULT HEALTH4

Hypertension (High Blood Pressure)

High blood pressure is one of the 
leading risk factors for heart disease, 
stroke, and other causes of death. 
There are many ways to control high 
blood pressure; these include taking 
proper medications, a healthy diet, 
exercise, and close monitoring of blood 
pressure levels. High blood pressure is 
typically referred to as a “silent killer” 
since there are no obvious symptoms, 
so people may be unaware that they 
have this condition. In the United 
States, about 1 in 3 adults have high 
blood pressure, and almost half of 
these individuals do not have their high 
blood pressure under control.

Berkeley’s overall hypertension 
hospitalization rate has slowly 
increased over time, which may 
reflect increased screening, diagnosis, 
and awareness in the population. 
In the past decade, the rate for 
African Americans has sharply 
increased, and it is now over five 
times that of the total population.

Heart-2-Heart & Berkeley Hypertension Prevention

Heart 2 Heart (H2H) uses a holistic, community-based approach to 
addressing health inequities in Berkeley. The program focuses on preventing 
high blood pressure and heart disease in South Berkeley; additionally, healthy 
eating and physical activity are also encouraged. The program provides 
increased access to hypertension screening and treatment, and trains 
Community Health Advocates in a program focused on outreach, education, 
and intensive counseling and support. H2H serves to bridge community, 
programs, resources, and services that are necessary to address the needs of 
community members.

A highlight of the program is the weekly drop-in Hypertension Clinic that 
provides free blood pressure screenings and education for anyone, and 
provides treatment for uninsured residents with hypertension. Attendance at 
the drop-in Hypertension Clinic is correlated with lowered blood pressure in 
residents who attend the clinic consistently.

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

2000-2002 2003-2005 2006-2008 2009-2011 2012-2014

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

White African American API Latino Total

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development, 2000-2014

UPDATED FIGURE Hospitalization Rates due to Hypertension by 
Race/Ethnicity and Year of Hospitalization, Berkeley, 2000-2014

Figure 4.9  HOSPITALIZATION RATES DUE TO HYPERTENSION BY RACE/ETHNICITY 
AND YEAR OF HOSPITALIZATION  Berkeley, 2000–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Office of Statewide Health Planning and 
Development, 2000–2014

Page 124 of 224

134



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

69

 ADULT HEALTH 4

Heart Disease

Heart disease is the leading cause 
of death in the United States. Over 
600,000 people die of heart disease 
every year. This term refers to a 
number of heart conditions, including 
hypertensive heart disease, coronary 
heart disease, and congestive heart 
failure. Early detection of heart 
disease can reduce further disease 
development and risk of complications 
such as heart attack. Ways to reduce 
heart disease include maintaining a 
healthy weight and diet, exercising, 
avoiding tobacco use and exposure to 
tobacco smoke, and reducing stress.

The proportion of adults in Berkeley 
who reported ever being diagnosed by 
a doctor with heart disease has slightly 
increased from 2012 to 2014. This 
rate is now similar to that of Alameda 
County and the State of California.

Hypertensive Heart Disease

Hypertensive heart disease arises 
from long-standing uncontrolled or 
poorly controlled high blood pressure. 
It includes heart failure, enlarged heart 
and heart attack. Rates of hypertensive 
heart disease increase with age and 
are similar in men and women. 

Hypertensive heart disease 
hospitalizations have decreased 
among all racial/ethnic groups over 
the past decade. The decrease 
among African Americans has 
been the most dramatic—from 170 
per 100,000 in 2000–2002 to 50 
per 100,000 in 2012–2014. African 
Americans remain more likely than 
other groups to be hospitalized 
because of hypertensive heart disease, 
although the gap between African 
American rates and rates among 
others has narrowed over time.

% 2% 4% 6% 8%

California

Alameda County

Berkeley 2012 2014

0

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
California Health Interview Survey (CHIS), 2012, 2014

Adults (18 Years and Older) Ever Diagnosed With Heart Disease, 

Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2012, 2014
Figure 4.10  ADULTS EVER DIAGNOSED WITH HEART DISEASE   

Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2012, 2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, California Health Interview Survey 
(CHIS), 2012, 2014

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

2000-2002 2003-2005 2006-2008 2009-2011 2012-2014

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

White African American API Latino Total

UPDATED FIGURE Hypertensive Heart Disease Hospitalization 
Rates in Adults by Race/Ethnicity and Year of Hospitalization, 
Berkeley, 2000-2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development, 2000-2014

Figure 4.11  HYPERTENSIVE HEART DISEASE HOSPITALIZATION RATES IN ADULTS 
BY RACE/ETHNICITY AND YEAR OF HOSPITALIZATION  Berkeley, 2000–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Office of Statewide Health Planning and 
Development, 2000–2014

Page 125 of 224

135



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

70

 ADULT HEALTH4

Hospitalization rates for hypertensive heart disease are highest in West Berkeley, particularly in zip code 94710.

94702

94703

94704

94705

94706

94707

94708

94709

94710

94720

³
0 0.5 10.25 Miles

WGS 1984 UTM Zone 10N
Source: Office of Statewide Health
Planning and Development, 2012-2014

Map 12    AGE-ADJUSTED HYPERTENSIVE DISEASE HOSPITALIZATION RATES BY ZIPCODE, ADULTS 18 YEARS AND OVER    

City of Berkeley, 2012-2014

Rate per 100,000

Not Available

1 - 2

3 - 6

7 - 12

13 - 21

City Boundary

ZIP Code

Map 10  AGE-ADJUSTED HYPERTENSIVE HEART DISEASE HOSPITALIZATION RATES BY ZIPCODE,  
ADULTS 18 YEARS AND OVER  City of Berkeley, 2012–2014

Heart Disease 
continued

Coronary Heart Disease

Also referred to as ischemic heart 
disease or coronary artery disease, 
coronary heart disease is caused by 
plaque buildup in the arteries. This 
reduces blood supply to the heart and 
rest of the body. In the United States, 
coronary heart disease is the most 
common type of heart disease. Risk 
factors include high cholesterol and 
high blood pressure. Eating low fat and 
low sodium foods, in addition to other 
healthy lifestyle changes, can reduce 
risk for coronary heart disease.

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

2000-2002 2003-2005 2006-2008 2009-2011 2012-2014

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

White African American API Latino Total

UPDATED FIGURE Coronary Heart Disease Hospitalization Rates in 
Adults by Race/Ethnicity and Year of Hospitalization, Berkeley, 2000-
2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development, 2000-2014

Figure 4.12  CORONARY HEART DISEASE HOSPITALIZATION RATES IN ADULTS BY 
RACE/ETHNICITY AND YEAR OF HOSPITALIZATION  Berkeley, 2000–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Office of Statewide Health Planning and 
Development, 2000–2014

Page 126 of 224

136



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

71

 ADULT HEALTH 4

The geographic distribution of coronary heart disease is similar to that of other chronic conditions, with the 
highest rates seen in West Berkeley and Greater Downtown Berkeley. The zip codes with the highest coronary 
heart disease hospitalization rates are 94710 and 94704.

94702

94703

94704

94705

94706

94707

94708

94709

94710

94720

 Map 13    AGE-ADJUSTED CORONARY HEART DISEASE HOSPITALIZATION RATES BY ZIPCODE, ADULTS 18 YEARS AND OVER

City of Berkeley, 2012-2014

³
0 0.5 10.25 Miles

WGS 1984 UTM Zone 10N
Source: Office of Statewide Health
Planning and Development, 2012-2014

Rate per 100,000

Not Available

1 - 163

164 - 208

209 - 303

304 - 402

City Boundary

ZIP Code

Map 11  AGE-ADJUSTED CORONARY HEART DISEASE HOSPITALIZATION RATES BY ZIPCODE,  
ADULTS 18 YEARS AND OVER  City of Berkeley, 2012–2014

Heart Disease 
continued

From the Community

“We need programs that are specific for Black people. Health is not the same for white people; we 
have different needs than white people…”

Coronary heart disease hospitalization rates decreased in the total population from 2000–2014, even though 
Latinos have experienced an increase between 2006 and 2014. However, due to the low number of overall 
cases in Latinos, caution should be exercised in interpreting this trend. African Americans have the highest 
rates compared to other racial/ethnic groups.

Page 127 of 224

137



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

72

 ADULT HEALTH4

Congestive Heart Failure

Congestive heart failure is a 
condition in which the heart can 
no longer pump enough blood 
to the rest of the body. Heart 
failure is a commonly progressive, 
chronic, longterm condition.

Congestive heart failure hospitalization 
rates among African Americans 
have declined in the past decade. 
However, these rates still remain 
substantially higher than those 
of other racial/ethnic groups. 

Stroke

Stroke is a leading cause of longterm 
disability and death. A stroke occurs 
when the blood supply to the brain 
is blocked or a blood vessel in the 
brain bursts. The underlying causes 
of stroke are similar to the underlying 
causes of heart disease. Common 
causes include high blood pressure and 
high cholesterol, cigarette smoking, 
diabetes, poor diet, physical inactivity, 
and obesity. Prevention programs 
directed at these underlying causes 
can decrease rates of strokes, as well as 
many other chronic conditions.

The rates of stroke hospitalization have 
remained relatively stable over the past 
decade, with a slight increase among 
African Americans in the last years of 
data. As a result, the disparity between 
African Americans and other racial/
ethnic groups persists.

Heart Disease continued

From the Community

“Our community prevents us from being healthy. I’m over in South Berkeley area near Ashby and San Pablo. There are no 
healthy choices there as far as being able to get a snack or lunch. They have an expensive [grocery stores]. If you are on a 
fixed income and you don’t have enough money and several mouths to feed, that’s not going to cut it.”

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

2000-2002 2003-2005 2006-2008 2009-2011 2012-2014

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

White African American API Latino Total

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development, 2000-2014

UPDATED FIGURE Hospitalization Rates due to Congestive Heart 
Failure by Race/Ethnicity and Year of Hospitalization, Berkeley, 2000-
2014

Figure 4.13  HOSPITALIZATION RATES DUE TO CONGESTIVE HEART FAILURE BY 
RACE/ETHNICITY AND YEAR OF HOSPITALIZATION  Berkeley, 2000–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Office of Statewide Health Planning and 
Development, 2000–2014

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

2000-2002 2003-2005 2006-2008 2009-2011 2012-2014

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

White African American API Latino Total

UPDATED FIGURE Acute Stroke Hospitalization Rates in Adults by 
Race/Ethnicity and Year of Hospitalization, Berkeley, 2000-2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development, 2000-2014

Figure 4.14  ACUTE STROKE HOSPITALIZATION RATES IN ADULTS BY RACE/
ETHNICITY AND YEAR OF HOSPITALIZATION  Berkeley, 2000–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Office of Statewide Health Planning and 
Development, 2000–2014

Page 128 of 224

138



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

73

 ADULT HEALTH 4

Stroke rates are highest in the same West, South, and Central Berkeley neighborhoods that experience higher 
rates of diabetes and heart disease.

94702

94703

94704

94705

94706

94707

94708

94709

94710

94720

³
0 0.5 10.25 Miles

WGS 1984 UTM Zone 10N
Source: Office of Statewide Health
Planning and Development, 2012-2014

Map 14    AGE-ADJUSTED STROKE HOSPITILIZATION RATES BY ZIPCODE, ADULTS 18 YEARS AND OVER    

City of Berkeley, 2012-2014

Rate per 100,000

Not Available

1 - 109

110 - 161

162 - 220

221 - 340

City Boundary

ZIP Code

Map 12  AGE-ADJUSTED STROKE HOSPITALIZATION RATES BY ZIPCODE, ADULTS 18 YEARS AND OVER   
City of Berkeley, 2012–2014

Respiratory Diseases

Respiratory diseases are diseases related to the lungs. They 
impair breathing and thus limit an individual’s ability to exercise 
or comfortably carry out daily living activities. Asthma is the 
most common respiratory condition. Emphysema and chronic 
bronchitis are others. These diseases are collectively referred to 
as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). Respiratory 
diseases are often triggered or worsened by cigarette smoke, air 
pollution, allergens, and other environmental factors, as well as 
by stress. Minimizing episodes or exacerbations of the disease 

by controlling exposure to triggers, adequately and appropriately 
managing the condition with medication, monitoring lung 
functionality, and helping patients to become active participants 
in their own care, can help reduce the burden of the disease.

The burden of respiratory diseases affects individuals, their 
families, schools, workplaces, and communities. The burden 
of respiratory diseases also falls on community with higher 
health insurance rates, greater tax-funded health costs, and 
lost productivity.

Stroke continued

Page 129 of 224

139



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

74

 ADULT HEALTH4

Asthma

Asthma is a chronic disease of the 
lungs. It causes repeated episodes 
of wheezing, breathlessness, chest 
tightness, and nighttime or early 
morning coughing. The breathing 
problems of asthma are reversible, 
and the disease can be managed with 
careful attention to the environment 
and use of appropriate medication. 
Asthma attacks can range from mild 
to life-threatening severity. Regular 
and effective treatment can prevent 
symptoms and asthma attacks, avoid 
unnecessary hospitalizations, and 
enable individuals who have asthma to 
lead active lives.

The proportion of adults in Berkeley 
who reported ever being diagnosed 
by a doctor with asthma is slightly 
higher than the proportion in Alameda 
County and California. 

Asthma hospitalizations in Berkeley 
adults 18 and over show a strong 
disparity between African Americans 
and all other racial/ethnic groups, as 
African Americans have substantially 
higher rates of asthma compared to 
other groups. Asthma hospitalizations 
in African Americans have declined 
from 474.9 per 100,000 in 2006–2008 
to 327 per 100,000 in 2012–2014. Still, 
the rate in 2012–2014 is higher than 
the rates in 2000–2005. Disparities 
have virtually disappeared in all other 
racial/ethnic groups by 2012–2014. The 
overall asthma hospitalization rate 
among adults has remained relatively 
stable over time. 

Respiratory Diseases continued

UPDATED FIGURE Asthma Hospitalization Rates in Adults by 
Race/Ethnicity and Year of Hospitalization, Berkeley, 2000-2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development, 2000-2014

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

2000-2002 2003-2005 2006-2008 2009-2011 2012-2014

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

White African American API Latino Total

Figure 4.16  ASTHMA HOSPITALIZATION RATES IN ADULTS BY RACE/ETHNICITY 
AND YEAR OF HOSPITALIZATION  Berkeley, 2000–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Office of Statewide Health Planning and 
Development, 2000–2014

% 5% 10% 15% 20%

California

Alameda County

Berkeley

2012 2014

0

Adults (18 Years and Older) Who Were Ever Diagnosed with 

Asthma, Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2012, 2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
California Health Interview Survey (CHIS), 2012, 2014

Figure 4.15  ADULTS WHO WERE EVER DIAGNOSED WITH ASTHMA   
Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2012, 2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, California Health Interview Survey 
(CHIS), 2012, 2014

Page 130 of 224

140



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

75

 ADULT HEALTH 4

Emergency room visit rates for asthma 
show African Americans have a 
drastically higher rate compared to 
other racial/ethnic groups. These 
data on emergency room visits are 
particularly useful since emergency 
departments provide a safety net for 
those who have difficulty accessing 
alternative sources of care.

Asthma hospitalization rates are 
highest in the West, South, Central, 
and Greater Downtown Berkeley 
neighborhoods.

Respiratory Diseases 
continued

94702

94703

94704

94705

94706

94707

94708

94709

94710

94720

³
0 0.5 10.25 Miles

WGS 1984 UTM Zone 10N
Source: Office of Statewide Health
Planning and Development, 2012-2014

Map 15    AGE-ADJUSTED ASTHMA HOSPITALIZATION RATES BY ZIPCODE, ADULTS 18 YEARS AND OVER

City of Berkeley, 2012-2014

Rate per 100,000

Not Available

1 - 17

18 - 23

24 - 41

42 - 89

City Boundary

ZIP Code

Map 13  AGE-ADJUSTED ASTHMA HOSPITALIZATION RATES BY ZIPCODE, ADULTS 18 YEARS AND OVER   
City of Berkeley, 2012–2014

UPDATED FIGURE Adult Asthma Emergency Room Visit Rates by 
Race/Ethnicity and Year of Hospitalization, Berkeley, 2000-2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development, 2006-2014

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

2006-2008 2009-2011 2012-2014

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

White African American API Latino Total

Figure 4.17  ADULT ASTHMA EMERGENCY ROOM VISIT RATES BY RACE/ETHNICITY 
AND YEAR OF HOSPITALIZATION  Berkeley, 2006–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Office of Statewide Health Planning and 
Development, 2006–2014

Page 131 of 224

141



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

76

 ADULT HEALTH4

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease 
(COPD) is a group of diseases that can 
cause airflow blockage and problems 
with breathing. These diseases include 
emphysema, chronic bronchitis, and 
asthma. COPD was the 3rd leading 
cause of death in the United States 
in 2015, and the 6th leading cause of 
death in Berkeley.

Overall, the hospitalization rates of 
COPD have decreased over the past 
decade in the Berkeley population. 
Every racial/ethnic group in Berkeley 
meets the HP2020 goal of 501 or fewer 
hospitalizations for COPD per 100,000 
adults age 45 and older. Despite 
significant declines, African Americans 
continue to have the highest rates. In 
2012–2014, African Americans had 4.0 
times the rate of COPD compared to 
the total population.

Respiratory Diseases continued

From the Community

“We have to be our own advocates at the doctor’s office. We need the 
resources to be able to advocate for ourselves.”

N
an

cy
 R

ub
in

, B
er

ke
le

ys
id

e

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

2000-2002 2003-2005 2006-2008 2009-2011 2012-2014

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

White African American API Latino Total HP2020

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development, 2000-2014

UPDATED FIGURE Hospitalization Rates due to Chronic Obstructive 
Pulmonary Disease by Race/Ethnicity and Year of Hospitalization, 
Adults 45 and Older, Berkeley, 2000-2014

HP2020: 500

Figure 4.18  HOSPITALIZATION RATES DUES TO CHRONIC OBSTRUCTIVE 
PULMONARY DISEASE BY RACE/ETHNICITY AND YEAR OF HOSPITALIZATION, 

ADULTS 45 AND OLDER  Berkeley, 2000–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Office of Statewide Health Planning and 
Development, 2000–2014

Page 132 of 224

142



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

77

 ADULT HEALTH 4

Cancer Incidence

Cancer shares many of the same risk factors as other chronic 
diseases, including tobacco use, physical inactivity, poor 
nutrition, and obesity. Environmental exposures, genetics, age, 
and gender also are important in determining risk. Cancer is 
a leading cause of death nationally, second to heart disease. 
There have been substantial efforts to treat and cure cancer, 
as well as to prevent it. Primary prevention includes measures 

such as limiting sun exposure to prevent skin cancer, hepatitis 
vaccination to prevent liver cancer, and HPV (human papilloma 
virus) vaccination to prevent cervical cancer. Screening and early 
detection play a key role in improving survival and quality of life. 
Cancer screenings include mammography for breast cancer, 
Pap smears for cervical cancer, and fecal immunochemical tests 
(FIT) or colonoscopies for colorectal cancer.

Berkeley has consistently had an 
overall breast cancer incidence rate 
higher than those of Alameda County 
and California as a whole. In fact, in 
2012–2014, the rate in Berkeley was 1.7 
times the rates in Alameda County and 
the State.

Historically, in Berkeley, white women 
have had the highest rates of breast 
cancer. However, in 2012–2014 African 
American women had the highest 
incidence of breast cancer.

UPDATED FIGURE Female Breast Cancer 
Incidence Rates, Berkeley, Alameda 
County, CA, 2006-2014

0

50

100

150

200

250

2006-2008 2009-2011 2012-2014

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

Berkeley Alameda CA

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
Cancer Prevention Institute of California, 2006-2014

Figure 4.19  FEMALE BREAST CANCER INCIDENCE RATES   
Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2006–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Cancer Prevention Institute of 
California, 2006–2014

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

2006-2008 2009-2011 2012-2014

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

White African American API Latino Total

UPDATED FIGURE Female Breast Cancer Incidence Rates 
by Race/Ethnicity, Berkeley, 2006-2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
Cancer Prevention Institute of California, 2006-2014

Figure 4.20  FEMALE BREAST CANCER INCIDENCE RATES BY RACE/ETHNICITY   
Berkeley, 2006–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Cancer Prevention Institute of 
California, 2006–2014

Page 133 of 224

143



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

78

 ADULT HEALTH4

The incidence rate of prostate cancer 
has decreased over time for Berkeley, 
Alameda County, and the State of 
California, but Berkeley continues to 
have a higher rate.

Cancer Incidence continued

African American men continue to 
have higher prostate cancer rates 
than other racial/ethnic groups. The 
disparity between these groups has 
decreased over the past years. In 2012–
2014, the prostate cancer incidence 
rate in Berkeley was 1.7 times the rates 
in Alameda County and the State.

UPDATED FIGURE Male Prostate Cancer 
Incidence Rates, Berkeley, Alameda 
County, CA, 2006-2014

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

2006-2008 2009-2011 2012-2014
A

ge
 A

dj
us

te
d 

R
at

e 
pe

r 1
00

,0
00

Berkeley Alameda CA

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
Cancer Prevention Institute of California, 2006-2014

Figure 4.21  MALE PROSTATE CANCER INCIDENCE RATES   
Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2006–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Cancer Prevention Institute of 
California, 2006–2014

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

2006-2008 2009-2011 2012-2014

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

White African American API Total

UPDATED FIGURE Male Prostate Cancer Incidence Rates 
by Race/Ethnicity, Berkeley, 2006-2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
Cancer Prevention Institute of California, 2006-2014

Figure 4.22  MALE PROSTATE CANCER INCIDENCE RATES BY RACE/ETHNICITY   
Berkeley, 2006–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Cancer Prevention Institute of 
California, 2006–2014

Page 134 of 224

144



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

79

 ADULT HEALTH 4

Lung cancer rates in Berkeley are 
higher than rates in Alameda County 
and California. However, Berkeley has 
experienced a greater decrease than 
Alameda County or the State.

Cancer Incidence continued

African Americans living in Berkeley 
have the highest rate of lung cancer, 
followed by Asians and Pacific 
Islanders.

UPDATED FIGURE Lung Cancer 
Incidence Rates, 
Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2006-2014

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

2006-2008 2009-2011 2012-2014

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

Berkeley Alameda CA

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
Cancer Prevention Institute of California, 2006-2014

Figure 4.23  LUNG CANCER INCIDENCE RATES   
Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2006–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Cancer Prevention Institute of 
California, 2006–2014

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

2006-2008 2009-2011 2012-2014

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

White African American API Total

UPDATED FIGURE Lung Cancer Incidence Rates 
by Race/Ethnicity, Berkeley, 2006-2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
Cancer Prevention Institute of California, 2006-2014

Figure 4.24  LUNG CANCER INCIDENCE RATES BY RACE/ETHNICITY   
Berkeley, 2006–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Cancer Prevention Institute of 
California, 2006–2014

Page 135 of 224

145



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

80

 ADULT HEALTH4

Other types of cancers that are 
found in Berkeley are cancer of the 
bladder, colorectal cancer, uterine 
cancer, leukemia, melanoma, and 
non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Of those, 
colorectal, uterine, melanoma, and 
non-Hodgkin lymphoma cancers 
have higher rates in Berkeley 
compared to Alameda County 
and the State of California.

Cancer Incidence continued

Ann Chandler Public Health Clinic

Berkeley’s Public Health Clinic offers services to prevent and screen for some types of cancer. The clinic provides HPV 
(Human Papilloma Virus) vaccine which prevents HPV infection. HPV infection is a known cause of cervical cancer 
in women and penile cancer in men. The clinic also offers hepatitis B vaccine to prevent hepatitis B infection. Chronic 
hepatitis B infection is a leading cause of liver cancer. These immunizations are among the most effective tools available 
for decreasing cancer morbidity and mortality. Women who receive Reproductive and Sexual Health services at the clinic 
are offered Pap smears for screening and early detection of cervical cancer. They also receive screening breast exams and 
referrals for mammography for early detection of breast cancer.

Mental Health

In the United States, mental health disorders have become 
increasingly common. The National Institute of Mental Health 
has estimated that in 2015, 17.9% of Americans over the age of 18 
were living with mental illness. Major depression accounted for 
over a third of those diagnoses.

A serious mental illness is one that causes significant 
impairment in social, occupational, or other important areas of 
functioning. For example, it may prevent people from working, 
going to school, or having healthy relationships. Common 
serious mental illnesses include schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, 
major depression, and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). 
Individuals suffering from serious mental illness are often 
diagnosed with more than one mental health disorder.

More than 90 percent of people who commit suicide have a 
diagnosable mental health disorder; typically depression or a 
substance use disorder. Mental health disorders are a leading 
cause of disability in the United States. Lack of access to mental 
health care further reduces quality of life for millions of people. 
Disparities in access to care are often the result of racial, ethnic, 
and economic factors, leading to disparate impacts on certain 
communities—in Berkeley, primarily the African American 
community. Exposure to traumatic and environmental stressors 
increases the risk of developing a mental health disorder.

Among the 14 cities in Alameda County, Berkeley ranks 1st 
in mental illness hospitalizations. Among Berkeley residents, 
African Americans are disproportionately represented in mental 
health emergency department visits.

UPDATED FIGURE Other Types of Cancer 
Incidence Rates, Berkeley, Alameda 
County, CA, 2012-2014

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Bladder
(Urinary)

Colon & Rectum Corpus and
Uterus

Leukemia Melanoma Non-Hodgkin
Lymphoma

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

Berkeley Alameda CA

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
Cancer Prevention Institute of California, 2012-2014

Figure 4.25  OTHER TYPES OF CANCER INCIDENCE RATES   
Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2012–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Cancer Prevention Institute of 
California, 2012–2014

Page 136 of 224

146



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

81

 ADULT HEALTH 4

Previously, Berkeley had a higher 
proportion of adults with serious 
psychological distress, such as 
symptoms of depression and anxiety, 
compared to Alameda County and 
the State of California. In 2014, 
however, Berkeley’s proportion 
had decreased from 9.9% to 5.0%, 
which is lower than that of Alameda 
County and California as a whole.

Mental Health continued

Despite fluctuations, mental health 
hospitalization rates have remained 
relatively stable over time from 
2000–2014. Currently, both males and 
females have similar rates.

Berkeley Mental Health

Berkeley’s Mental Health Division provides a range of community-based mental health services to Berkeley and Albany 
residents, through its two clinical programs, Family, Youth, and Children’s Services (FYC) and Adult Services Program. 
City mental health workers in multidisciplinary teams assist people in clinics, at schools, in their homes, on the street or in 
shelters, and in a variety of other community settings. 

% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10%

California

Alameda County

Berkeley

2012 2014

0

Adults (18 Years and Older) with Serious Psychological Distress,
Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2012, 2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
California Health Interview Survey (CHIS), 2012, 2014

Figure 4.26  ADULTS WITH SERIOUS PSYCHOLOGICAL DISTRESS   
Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2012, 2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, California Health Interview Survey 
(CHIS), 2012, 2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development, 2000-2014

UPDATED FIGURE Mental Health Disorders 
Hospitalization Rates in Adults by Sex, Berkeley, 
2000-2014

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

2000-2002 2003-2005 2006-2008 2009-2011 2012-2014

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

Female Male Total

Figure 4.27  MENTAL HEALTH DISORDERS HOSPITALIZATION RATES  
IN ADULTS BY SEX  Berkeley, 2000–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Office of Statewide Health Planning and 
Development, 2000–2014

Page 137 of 224

147



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

82

 ADULT HEALTH4

Mental health hospitalization rates 
for African Americans show that 
like other chronic diseases, this is 
an area of major health inequity in 
Berkeley. African Americans continue 
to be hospitalized for mental health 
disorders at much higher rates than 
other racial/ethnic groups.

Mental Health continued

Hospitalization rates for mental health 
disorders increase with age until age 65 
and older. Young adults, ages 18 to 24, 
have the lowest rate of mental health 
hospitalizations.

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development, 2000-2014

UPDATED FIGURE Mental Health Disorders 
Hospitalization Rates in Adults by Race, Berkeley, 
2000-2014

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

2000-2002 2003-2005 2006-2008 2009-2011 2012-2014

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

White African American API Latino Total

Figure 4.28  MENTAL HEALTH DISORDERS HOSPITALIZATION RATES  
IN ADULTS BY RACE  Berkeley, 2000–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Office of Statewide Health Planning and 
Development, 2000–2014

UPDATED FIGURE Mental Health Disorders 
Hospitalization Rates in Adults by Age, Berkeley, 
2000-2014

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

2000-2002 2003-2005 2006-2008 2009-2011 2012-2014

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

45 to 64

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development, 2012-2014

35 to 44

25 to 34

65+
18 to 24

Figure 4.29  MENTAL HEALTH DISORDERS HOSPITALIZATION RATES  
IN ADULTS BY AGE  Berkeley, 2000–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Office of Statewide Health Planning and 
Development, 2000–2014

Page 138 of 224

148



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

83

 ADULT HEALTH 4

In 2012–2014, there were 2,292 mental 
health disorder hospitalizations in 
Berkeley. Those hospitalizations have 
been primarily comprised of depressive 
(28.7%) or schizophrenic (25.4%) 
disorders.

Mental Health continued

Hospitalizations for psychosis 
(including schizophrenia, bipolar 
disorders, and major depressive 
disorders) have occurred at a much 
greater rate among African Americans 
than among other racial/ethnic groups. 

​ Alcohol/Drug Induced 
Psychoses

11.3%

​ All Other
20.0%

​ Senile 
Dementia

0.5%

​ Bipolar 
Disorders 

14.0%

​ Major 
Depressive 
Disorders

23.1%

​ Depressive 
Disorders, 

Not 
Elsewhere 
Classified

5.6%

​
Schizophrenic 

Disorders
25.4%

N = 2,292

All Mental Health Disorders Hospitalizations by 

Diagnosis (18 Years and Over), Berkeley, 2012-2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development, 2012-2014

Figure 4.30  ALL MENTAL HEALTH DISORDERS HOSPITALIZATIONS AMONG  
ADULTS BY DIAGNOSIS  Berkeley, 2012–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Office of Statewide Health Planning and 
Development, 2012–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development, 2000-2014 

UPDATED FIGURE Psychosis Hospitalization Rates in Adults by 
Race/Ethnicity and Year of Hospitalization, Berkeley, 2000-2014

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

2000-2002 2003-2005 2006-2008 2009-2011 2012-2014

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

White African American API Latino Total

Figure 4.31  PSYCHOSIS HOSPITALIZATION RATES IN ADULTS BY RACE/ETHNICITY 
AND YEAR OF HOSPITALIZATION  Berkeley, 2000–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Office of Statewide Health Planning and 
Development, 2000–2014

Page 139 of 224

149



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

84

 ADULT HEALTH4

Hospitalizations for mental health disorders occur throughout Berkeley but are more common in residents of 
the areas in the Greater Downtown area and less common in the Berkeley Hills.

Mental Health 
continued

94702

94703

94704

94705

94706

94707

94708

94709

94710

94720

³
0 0.5 10.25 Miles

WGS 1984 UTM Zone 10N
Source: Office of Statewide Health
Planning and Development, 2012-2014

Map 16    AGE-ADJUSTED MENTAL DISEASES AND DISORDERS HOSPITALIZATION RATES BY ZIPCODE, ADULTS 18 YEARS AND OVER    
City of Berkeley, 2012-2014

Rate per 100,000

Not Available

1 - 733

734 - 819

820 - 1106

1107 - 1414

City Boundary

ZIP Code

Map 14  AGE-ADJUSTED MENTAL DISEASES AND DISORDERS HOSPITALIZATION RATES BY ZIPCODE,  
ADULTS 18 YEARS AND OVER  City of Berkeley, 2012–2014

Mobile Crisis

Berkeley Mental Health’s Mobile Crisis Team (MCT) provides crisis intervention services at locations throughout the city, 
disaster- and trauma-related mental health services, and consultation regarding mental health issues to the police and fire 
departments, hospital emergency personnel, community agencies, and citizens.

Page 140 of 224

150



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

85

 ADULT HEALTH 4

Injuries

Injuries include unintentional 
injuries (e.g., falls and motor vehicle 
accidents) and intentional injuries 
(e.g., those resulting from abuse, 
assault, or homicide). Intentional 
injuries may be inflicted on others 
or may be self-inflicted (e.g., suicide 
and suicide attempts). Injuries are 
a preventable cause of illness and 
disability. Public health interventions, 
such as seat belts and helmets for 
bicycles and motorcycles, have 
successfully decreased the rates of 
injuries and disabilities. Understanding 
the causes and distribution of 
injuries can guide future efforts 
to further decrease injury rates.

Unintentional injuries are more common 
among Berkeley’s older population and 
residents closest to the UC Berkeley 
campus and downtown. Intentional 
injuries are more common for residents 
of West Berkeley. There are over 500 
traffic injuries annually in Berkeley, and 
this number has remained stable in 
recent years. Traffic injuries peak at ages 
45–64 years.

In 2012–2014, Berkeley had 
approximately 1,400 injury-
related hospitalizations each year, 
approximately 4 per day. This was 
higher than in 2008–2010. Over half 
of these hospitalizations (53.6%) were 
due to adverse reactions to prescription 
medications or adverse reactions to 
surgical or medical procedures.

As expected, injury hospitalization 
rates increase with age due to changes 
associated with aging. The injury 
hospitalization rate of males is slightly 
higher than females. The rate among 
African Americans is substantially 
higher than in other racial/ethnic 
groups. The risk of African Americans 
being hospitalized for injury is more 
than twice as high as any other group.

​ Adverse Effects of 
Drug/Medication 
Therapy 27.0%

​ Accidental Falls
20.2%

​ Adverse 
Reactions to 

Surgical/Medical 
Procedures

26.6%

​ Motor Vehicle 
Accidents 4.3%

​ Late Effects of 
Accidental Injury

4.1%

​ Self-Inflicted 
Harm or Suicide

2.7%

​ Accidental Drug 
Ingestion or 

Overdose 2.4%

​ Homicide or 
Attempted 

Homicide 2.0%

​ All Other 10.8%

N = 4,260

Leading Causes of Injury Hospitalizations (18 Years and Over), 

Berkeley, 2012-2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development, 2012-2014

Figure 4.32  LEADING CAUSES OF INJURY HOSPITALIZATIONS AMONG ADULTS   
Berkeley, 2012–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Office of Statewide Health Planning and 
Development, 2012–2014

0 1000 2000 3000 4000

Total

Latino
API

African American
White

Male
Female

65+
45-64
35-44
25-34
18-24

Age (Years)

Age-Adjusted Rate per 100,000

UPDATED FIGURE Injury Hospitalization Rates in Adults 
by Age, Sex, and Race/Ethnicity, Berkeley, 2012-2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development, 2012-2014

Figure 4.33  INJURY HOSPITALIZATION RATES IN ADULTS BY AGE, SEX, AND  
RACE/ETHNICITY  Berkeley, 2012–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Office of Statewide Health Planning and 
Development, 2012–2014

Page 141 of 224

151



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

86

 ADULT HEALTH4

Injury hospitalizations are substantially 
higher in adults aged 45 and over, 
particularly for prescription drug 
reactions, falls, and surgical/medical 
procedures. However, injuries involving 
motor vehicle accidents, accidental 
drug/medication poisoning, and 
intentional injury remain relatively the 
same across all age groups, with slight 
increases for advancing age.

From 2000–2014, injury hospitalization 
rates have increased among African 
Americans and Asians, while rates 
have remained steady among Whites 
and Latinos. The gap between rates of 
racial/ethnic groups appears consistent 
over time.

Injuries continued UPDATED FIGURE Injury Hospitalization Rate 
by Age and Cause, Berkeley, 2012-2014

0

50

100

150

200

250

18-24 25-34 35-44 45-64 65+

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

Prescription Drug Reaction
Falls
Motor Vehicle Accidents
Surgical/Medical Procedures
Intentional Injury
Accidental Drug/Medication Poisoning

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development, 2012-2014

Figure 4.34  INJURY HOSPITALIZATION RATES BY AGE AND CAUSE   
Berkeley, 2012–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Office of Statewide Health Planning and 
Development, 2012–2014

UPDATED FIGURE Injury Hospitalization Rate in Adults by 
Race/Ethnicity and Year of Hospitalization, Berkeley, 2000-2014

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

2000-2002 2003-2005 2006-2008 2009-2011 2012-2014

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

White African American API Latino Total

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development, 2000--2014

Figure 4.35  INJURY HOSPITALIZATION RATE IN ADULTS BY RACE/ETHNICITY  
AND YEAR OF HOSPITALIZATION  Berkeley, 2000–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Office of Statewide Health Planning and 
Development, 2000–2014

Page 142 of 224

152



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

87

 ADULT HEALTH 4

Injury-related hospitalization rates are highest around the UC Berkeley campus and West Berkeley 
neighborhoods.

Injuries continued

94702

94703

94704

94705

94706

94707

94708

94709

94710

94720

³
0 0.5 10.25 Miles

WGS 1984 UTM Zone 10N
Source: Office of Statewide Health
Planning and Development, 2012-2014

Map 18    AGE-ADJUSTED INJURY HOSPITALIZATION RATES BY ZIPCODE, ADULTS 18 YEARS AND OVER   

City of Berkeley, 2012-2014

Rate per 100,000

Not Available

1 - 1272

1273 - 1491

1492 - 1830

1831 - 2138

City Boundary

ZIP Code

Map 15  AGE-ADJUSTED INJURY HOSPITALIZATION RATES BY ZIPCODE,  
ADULTS 18 YEARS AND OVER  City of Berkeley, 2012–2014

Page 143 of 224

153



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

88

 ADULT HEALTH4

Prescription Drug Reaction 
Hospitalizations

Prescription drug reaction 
hospitalizations may result from 
allergic or hypersensitivity reactions 
after taking the properly administered 
dosage. Prescription drugs that most 
commonly cause these hospitalizations 
include antineoplastic (chemotherapy 
drugs) or immunosuppressive drugs, 
corticosteroids, anticoagulants (blood 
thinners), and opiates or related 
narcotics.

In Berkeley, African Americans are 
at highest risk for hospitalizations 
from prescription drug reactions. The 
African American rate is three times as 
high as the rate for Whites and Latinos.

Opioid Overdose Hospitalizations

The opioid overdose epidemic 
continues to worsen in the United 
States. In 2016, a total of 63,632 drug 
overdose deaths occurred, a 21.4% 
increase from 2015.

The rate of opioid overdose 
hospitalization in Berkeley is 56.5 per 
100,000. This rate is higher than that of 
Alameda County as a whole. Berkeley 
ranks second after Oakland among all 
cities in the County of Alameda.

Injuries continued

0

50

100

150

200

250

A
g

e
 A

d
ju

s
te

d
 R

a
te

 p
e

r 
1

0
0

,0
0

0

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2016-2017; 
California Opioid Overdose Surveillance Dashboard 2017; Alameda County Public Health Department

Opioid-Related Emergency Department Visit Rate, 2013-

September 2015, Cities in Alameda County, CA

UPDATED 

FIGURE 4.37 Figure 4.37  OPIOID-RELATED EMERGENCY DEPARTMENT VISIT RATE   
2013–September 2015, Cities in Alameda County, CA

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2016–2017; California 
Opioid Overdose Surveillance Dashboard 2017; Alameda County Public Health Department

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

White African
American

API Latino

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

UPDATED FIGURE Prescription Drug Reaction 
Hospitalization Rate in Adults by Race/Ethnicity, Berkeley, 
2012-2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development, 2012-2014

Figure 4.36  PRESCRIPTION DRUG REACTION HOSPITALIZATION RATE  
IN ADULTS BY RACE/ETHNICITY  Berkeley, 2012–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Office of Statewide Health Planning and 
Development, 2012–2014

Page 144 of 224

154



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

89

 ADULT HEALTH 4

Injuries continued

The opioid-related emergency 
department visit rate for Berkeley is 
94.5 per 100,000. This rate is lower 
than that of Alameda County and 
Berkeley ranks number 6 among all 
cities in the County of Alameda. 

Falls

Hospitalization rates due to falls are 
highest among Latino male Berkeley 
residents and lowest among Latina 
female residents. The rate of Latino 
males is almost three times the rate of 
White males. 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

A
g

e
 A

d
ju

s
te

d
 R

a
te

 p
e

r 
1

0
0

,0
0

0

Opioid-Related Hospitalization Rate, 2013-September 2015, 

Cities in Alameda County, CA
UPDATED 

FIGURE 4.38

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2016-2017; 
California Opioid Overdose Surveillance Dashboard 2017; Alameda County Public Health Department

Figure 4.38  OPIOID-RELATED HOSPITALIZATION RATE   
2013–September 2015, Cities in Alameda County, CA

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2016–2017; California 
Opioid Overdose Surveillance Dashboard 2017; Alameda County Public Health Department

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

White African Am. API Latina White African Am. API Latino

A
ge

-A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

Female Male

UPDATED FIGURE Fall Injury Hospitalization Rate in Adults by Sex and 
Race/Ethnicity, Berkeley, 2012-2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development, 2012-2014

Figure 4.39  FALL INJURY HOSPITALIZATION RATE IN ADULTS BY SEX AND  
RACE/ETHNICITY  Berkeley, 2012–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Office of Statewide Health Planning and 
Development, 2012–2014

Page 145 of 224

155



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

90

 ADULT HEALTH4

The highest rates of hospitalizations caused by falls occur among residents in the Greater Downtown area and 
areas surrounding UC Berkeley.

Injuries continued

94702

94703

94704

94705

94706

94707

94708

94709

94710

94720

³
0 0.5 10.25 Miles

WGS 1984 UTM Zone 10N
Source: Office of Statewide Health
Planning and Development, 2012-2014

Map 19    AGE-ADJUSTED UNINTENTIONAL FALLS HOSPITALIZATION RATES BY ZIPCODE, ADULTS 18 YEARS AND OVER    

City of Berkeley, 2012-2014

Rate per 100,000

Not Available

1 - 289

290 - 301

302 - 328

329 - 487

City Boundary

ZIP Code

Map 16  AGE-ADJUSTED UNINTENTIONAL FALLS HOSPITALIZATION RATES BY ZIPCODE,  
ADULTS 18 YEARS AND OVER  City of Berkeley, 2012–2014

Page 146 of 224

156



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

91

 ADULT HEALTH 4

Motor Vehicle Traffic Injuries

Between 2011 and 2015, an average of 
530 traffic collision injuries occurred 
each year in Berkeley. Nearly half of 
these injuries resulted from collisions 
between two moving vehicles. 
Bicyclists are the next largest group, 
accounting for nearly one quarter of 
motor vehicle injuries, followed by 
pedestrians.

Injuries continued

The rate of traffic injury is highest 
among Berkeley residents ages 45–64 
for both females and males. 

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
Statewide Integrated Traffic Records System (SWITRS), 2011-2015

Traffic Injuries Involving a Collision Between a Moving Vehicle and Other 

Vehicles, Bicyclists, and Pedestrians, Berkeley, 2011-2015

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

in
ju

ry
 C

o
ll
is

io
n

s

Pedestrian Other Motor Vehicle

Parked Vehicle Bicycle

Fixed Object All Others

Figure 4.40  TRAFFIC INJURIES INVOLVING A COLLISION BETWEEN A  
MOVING VEHICLE AND OTHER VEHICLES, BICYCLISTS, AND 

PEDESTRIANS  Berkeley, 2011–2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Statewide Integrated Traffic Records 
System (SWITRS), 2011–2015

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

18-24 25-34 35-44 45-64 65+

A
g

e
 A

d
ju

s
te

d
 R

a
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0

Age Group

Female

Male

Traffic Injury Rates by Age and Sex, Berkeley, 2011-2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
Statewide Integrated Traffic Records System (SWITRS), 2011-2015

Figure 4.41  TRAFFIC INJURY RATES BY AGE AND SEX  Berkeley, 2011–2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Statewide Integrated Traffic Records 
System (SWITRS), 2011–2015

Page 147 of 224

157



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

92

 ADULT HEALTH4

The highest density of traffic collisions in Berkeley is located in the Greater Downtown area, which is in close 
proximity to the Downtown Berkeley BART station and the Berkeley City College campus.

Injuries continued

SA
N

 PA
B

LO
 AV

4TH
 ST

GILMAN ST

DWIGHT WY

UNIVERSITY AV

ASHBY AV

MARIN AV

SP
R

U
C

E
 S

T

C
O

LL
E

G
E

 A
V

ROSE ST

TE
LE

G
R

AP
H

 A
V

SOLANO AV

SH
AT

TU
C

K 
AV

BANCROFT WY

³
0 0.5 10.25 Miles

Collision Density

Lowest density

Highest density

Major Streets

WGS 1984 UTM Zone 10N

Map 20    TRAFFIC COLLISION HEATMAP    City of Berkeley, 2014-2016

Source: Statewide Integrated Traffic 
Records System (SWITRS), 2014-2016

Map 17  TRAFFIC COLLISION HEATMAP  City of Berkeley, 2014–2016

Page 148 of 224

158



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

93

 ADULT HEALTH 4

Predictably, most fatal and severe injuries from traffic collisions in Berkeley have occurred on its busiest streets, 
especially University Avenue.

Injuries continued

! !! !!!!!!!!!!!!!!
!

!
!

!!!!!!!!!!!! !! !!!
!

!!!!!!!!
!!

!
! !

!

!

!!
!!!!!!!

!

!
! ! !

!

!!!!
!

!!
!!!!!

!!

!!
!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!

!!!

!

!

!!

!

!! !!
!

!

!
!!

! !

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!!

!
!

!!

!!!!

!!

!!!!!!!!

!!

!!

!!!!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!

!!!!
!

!!!

!!
!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!
!!

!
!

!

!!!!!

!

!

!!! !!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!!

!

!

!!

!!
!

!!!!!!!!!

!

!!
!

!!

!!!

!

!!

!
!!

!!

!
!!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!!

!

!!!!

!!

!!

!
!!

!!!

!

!!

!

!!!
!!!

!

!
!!!!!

!

!!

!!!!!!!!

!
!!

!

!

!!

!!

!!!!

!

!!!!

!!

!

!!!!!!!

!!

!

!
!

!

!!

!!!!

!!!!!!!!!!

!!!

!!
!

!

!

!!!
!

!
!!!!!!!!!!!!

!!

!!

!!

!!!!!

!

!!

!!

!!!!!!!! !

!!

!
!!

!
!!!!

!!

!!!!
!!!!!

!

!

!!!!

!

!

!!
!

!!!!!

!

!
!

!!!!!

!!
!!!!!

!
!!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!!
!!!!

!
!

!!

!!
!!!

!

!

! !!!

!

!
!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!!!!

!!
!

!!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!
!!

!

!!!!!

!!

!

!!!!

!!
!

!

!!!!!!!!

!

!

!!

!

!!!!!!!
!

!!

!!!

!

!
!

!!

!!

!!!!
!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!

!!
!!!!!!!

!!! !

!!!
!

!

!

!!!!!

!

!!!!!!!

!!!

!!!!

!!

!!

!

!!!
!!!!

!

!

!!
!

!!!!!

!!

!!!

!!!!
!!!!!!!!!!!!

!!

!

!!!!!!!
!!!

!!!!!!!!!

!

!!!

!!!!!
!

!!!
!!

!!

!!!!!

!

!!!!!
!!!

!

!!!!

!!

!

!

!
!!

!!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!!!!

!!!!
!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!

!

!!!
!

!!
!!

!
!!!!!

!!!!!!!

!!

!!!!

!!

!!!!!

!! !

!!!!

! !

!
!

!
!

!

!!!

!!

!

!

!!!!

!

!!!

!

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
!!!!!

!!

!!!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!!!
!!

!!!

!!!!!!!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!!!!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!!!
!!!!!

!!!

!!
!!!!!

!!

!!!

!!

!!!
!!!!!!

!!

!!!!

!
!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!!

!!
!!!!!!

!!!!!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!!!!
!!!!!!!

!!
!!!

!!
!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!!
!!

!

!!!!!!!!!
!!

!!

!!
!!!!!!!!!!

!!!!!!!!

!
!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!

!!

!

!!!!!!
!!

!

!!
!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!!!

!

!!!!!

!
!!!

!!
!!!

!
!!!!!!!!!!!

!!!!!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!

!!!

!

!

!!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!! !!

!
!!

!!!!

!

!

!!!!
!

!
!!

!

!

!!

!!

!!
!

!!!!!!
!

!!!!!

!

! !!!!!!

!

!
!

!!!!

!!!!
!

!

!

!!

!!!!!

!!

!
!!!

!!!!!

!!!!

! !!

!

!!!

!

!!

!

!

!!!

!

!
!!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!!!

!

!!!
!

!

!!!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!!!!
!!!!!!!!!!!!

!

!!

!!!!!

!

!

!!!!!!!

!!!

!
!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!!

!!!!!
!!

!!!

!

!!!
!

!!!

!!!!!

!

!
!

!

!
!!!!!!!

!

!

!!

!
!

!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!!!!

!!

!!!!!

!!!!!!!!!!

!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!
!

!

!!!

!

!!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

! !!

!!

!!!

!!!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!! !!
!

!

!

!!!!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

! ! !

!!

!

!

! !!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!!
!!

!
!!!

!!
! !!!

! !!
!!

! !!!!!!!!!
!!!!

!!!
!

!! !!!!

!
!!

!!

!!

!!!! !!!

!

!!

!
!! ! !!

!!!
!

!

!!!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

! !

!!
!

!!

!!

!
!

!!!

!!

!

!!

!!!

!!!!
!

!
!!

! !! !!
!

!!

!
!!

!
!!

!!!
!!

!!
!
!

!! !

!!!!!!!!!

! !!
!

!!!!!!!! !!!!! !!!!!
!

!!

!

!
!!!

!
!

!!!

!!!!

!!

!

!!!!
!!

! !
!

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!
!!

!

!!!!!!!!

!

!!

!!

!

!!!!!! !!!!!!!!!!!

!!!

!!
!!!!!!!! !

!

!!!!!!
!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!!!

!
!

!!

!

!!!!!
!

!!
!!

!!!

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!

!

!!

!!!

!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!

!!!

!

!!! !!!!!!

!!

!!!!

!!!!!

!

!

!!

!!!!!!!!

!
! !!!!

!!

!!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!! !!!

! !

!
!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!!
!

!!!
!

!!!!
!

!

!

!!

!!!

!
!!

!

!

!
!

!!!!

!

!!

!!!
!

!
! !

!
!

!!!!

!

!
!!!!

!!!

!

!!!
!

!

!

!!

!!

!!
!

!

!

!!!!!

!!

!!!!!
!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!!!!!!

!

!!

!!!!!

!!

!

!!! !!
!

!
!!!

!

!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!
!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!

!

!!

!

!!
!!!!

!
!!

!!!!

!

!!!!

!!!!!!
!

!

!

!!

!!
!!

!
!!!!!!!!!!

!

!!!!!!!!!

!
!!!

!!

!!
!

!!!

!

!!!!
!!!!

!

!!!

!

!!!

!!!!

!
!

!!
!

!!

!!
!!!!!!!

!

!

!!!!!!!!!

!
!!!

!!!!!
!!!

!!

!

!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!

!

!

!

!!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!

!!!!!!

!!

!!!!

!!!!!!!!!!!!

!!!!!

!!
!!!!

!!!

!!

!

!!!!
!!!!

!!!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!!

!!!!!!!

!

!

!

!!!!!!!!!!!

!!!!

!!!!!
!!!!!

!

!

!!!!!! !
!!

! !!!!

!!

!!
!

!!!
!!!

!!!!!!!!

!!!

!!

!!
!!!!!!!

!

!

!

!

!!!!!! !

!
!!

!!!

!!!!
!

!!
!

!

!

!!

!!
!

!!!!
!!!!

!!!!!!

! !!!!!!

!

!!!
!!

!

!

!
!!!

!

!

!!

!

! !!!!
!!!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

! !

!!!

!
!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!!!!!!!!!

!

!!!

!

!

!!!!!!

!

!

!!!!!

!!!

!!

!!!!

! !!

!

!!

!

!!

!

! !
!!!!

!!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!!!
!!!!

!!!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!!

!!

!

!

!

! ! ! !
!

!!! !!
!!!

!
!

!!! !!!
!

!

!! !!
!

!
!!!!

! !

!

!

!

!
!

!! !

!!

!!

!! !
!!

!
!

!!

!!

!!
!! !!

!

!!!!
!

!!!!
!

!

!

!!!!!
!

!

!! !!!!!!

!!

!!
!!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!!!!!!!
!

!!!

!!
!!

!!
!!

!!
!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!!!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!
!

! !
!

!

!
!

!!

!!

! !

!!

!

!

!

!!
!

! !
!

!

!
!!

!!!

!
!

!

!!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!! !

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!!!

!!
!! !

!
!

!!!!!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!!!

!!

!!

!

!!!

!!!

!

!!

!!
!

!

!

!

!!!!!

!

!

!
!!

!

!!
!!! !

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!!!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!!

!!!

!

!

!!!!

!!

!!!
!!

!!

!!

!!!!

!
!

!!!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!!!
!

!!!

!!!
!!!!

!
!!

!!!! !!!
!

!!!!!

!

!

!

!!!!!!

!

!!!

!

!
!

!!

!
!

!

!!
!!!!

!!
! !

!!

!!!
!

!

!!!!

!! !!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!! !

!!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!!!!!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!!!

!!

!

!!!!!

!!!!!!

!

!!

!
!

! !!
! !

!! !!!! !

!

!

! ! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

! !!!

!

!

!

!

!!
!!!

!

!

!!

!!
!!

! !!
!

!

!!
!!

!

!

!
!!!

!

! !

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!! !

!

! !

! !

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

! !

!

!
!!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

! ! !

!

SA
N

 PA
B

LO
 AV

4TH
 ST

GILMAN ST

DWIGHT WY

UNIVERSITY AV

ASHBY AV

MARIN AV

SP
R

U
C

E
 S

T

C
O

LL
E

G
E

 A
V

ROSE ST

TE
LE

G
R

AP
H

 A
V

SOLANO AV

SH
AT

TU
C

K 
AV

BANCROFT WY

³
0 0.5 10.25 Miles

Traffic Collision Severity (Count)

! Fatal (5)

! Injury - Severe (58)

! Injury - Other Visible (516)

! Injury - Complaint of Pain (1,003)

! Property Damage Only (2,130)

Major Streets

WGS 1984 UTM Zone 10N

Map 20    TRAFFIC COLLISIONS    City of Berkeley, 2014-2016

Source: Statewide Integrated Traffic 
Records System (SWITRS), 2014-2016

Map 18  TRAFFIC COLLISIONS  City of Berkeley, 2014–2016

In the last decade, the number 
of traffic injuries in Berkeley have 
decreased for motor vehicle accidents 
by more than 50%. Despite high bicycle 
usage in Berkeley, bicyclist traffic 
injuries have remained fairly stable 
over this period. In each year from 
2000 to 2015, the number of total fatal 
traffic injuries has ranged from 0 to 4.

Motor Vehicle 

Bicyclist 

Pedestrian 

0 

100 

200 

300 

400 

500 

600 

700 

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

In
ju

ri
e

s
 

 

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital 
Statistics, Statewide Integrated Traffic Records System (SWITRS), 2000-2015 

Traffic Injury Incidences by Mode of Transportation 
and Year, Berkeley, 2000-2015 

Figure 4.42  TRAFFIC INJURY INCIDENCES BY MODE OF TRANSPORTATION  
AND YEAR  Berkeley, 2000–2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, Statewide Integrated Traffic Records 
System (SWITRS), 2000–2015

Page 149 of 224

159



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

94

 ADULT HEALTH4

Homicide and Suicide

As in previous reports, rates of hospitalization for homicide and intentional injury inflicted by other persons are 
higher in West Berkeley than in other parts of Berkeley.

94702

94703

94704

94705

94706

94707

94708

94709

94710

94720

³
0 0.5 10.25 Miles

WGS 1984 UTM Zone 10N
Source: Office of Statewide Heatlh
Planning and Development, 2012-2014

Map 21   AGE-ADJUSTED HOMICIDE & INJURY PURPOSELY INFLICTED BY OTHER PERSONS HOSPITALIZATION RATES BY ZIPCODE, ADULTS 18 YEARS AND OVER    
City of Berkeley, 2012-2014

Rate per 100,000

Not Available

1 - 15

16 - 41

42 - 61

62 - 86

City Boundary

ZIP Code

Map 19  AGE-ADJUSTED HOMICIDE & INJURY PURPOSELY INFLICTED BY OTHER PERSONS 
HOSPITALIZATION RATES BY ZIPCODE, ADULTS 18 YEARS AND OVER  City of Berkeley, 2012–2014

Senior Injury Prevention Program: The Aging Services Division and the Berkeley Fire Department are partners in 
Berkeley’s Senior Injury Prevention Program. The program identifies older adults at risk and targets assistance to help them 
maintain independence and quality of life. Berkeley Fire Department refers vulnerable older adults to Aging Services staff, 
who follow up with an in-home assessment. The assessment includes a review of risks in the home, such as clutter, issues 
with rugs or electrical cords, lack of railings, or need for assistive devices. Aging Services provides referrals to agencies that 
can install needed home improvement devices such as safety bars or rails, ramps, bath chairs, or raised toilet seats. Staff 
work with family members, medical providers, Adult Protective Services or other social service programs to ensure the 
senior receives ongoing support if needed. 

Injuries continued

Page 150 of 224

160



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

95

 ADULT HEALTH 4

Suicide and other self-inflicted injuries requiring hospitalization occur throughout Berkeley but are at the 
highest rates in West Berkeley neighborhoods.

Injuries continued

94702

94703

94704

94705

94706

94707

94708

94709

94710

94720

³
0 0.5 10.25 Miles

WGS 1984 UTM Zone 10N
Source: Office of Statewide Health
Planning and Development, 2012-2014

Map 22    AGE-ADJUSTED SUICIDE AND SELF-INFLICTED INJURY HOSPITALIZATION RATES BY ZIPCODE, ADULTS 18 YEARS AND OVER    
City of Berkeley, 2012-2014

Rate per 100,000

Not Available

1 - 23

24 - 30

31 - 58

59 - 78

City Boundary

ZIP Code

Map 20  AGE-ADJUSTED SUICIDE AND SELF-INFLICTED INJURY HOSPITALIZATION RATES BY ZIPCODE, 
ADULTS 18 YEARS AND OVER  City of Berkeley, 2012–2014

Page 151 of 224

161



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

96

 ADULT HEALTH4

Domestic Violence/Intimate  
Partner Violence

The United States Department of 
Justice defines domestic violence 
(DV) as a pattern of abusive behavior 
in any relationship that is used by one 
partner to gain or maintain power 
and control over another intimate 
partner. Domestic violence can be 
physical, sexual, emotional, economic, 
or psychological actions or threats of 
actions that influence another person. 
The term intimate partner violence 
(IPV) is the most current term being 
used by health professionals to describe 
domestic violence. IPV is a serious, 
preventable public health problem 
affecting millions of Americans. Most 
incidents of IPV are not reported to the 
police. 1 in 4 women and 1 in 9 men aged 
18 and older in the United States have 
have experienced IPV in their lifetime. 
Nationally, women, specifically young 
women, are disproportionately affected 
by IPV. Approximately 37% of women 
seeking injury-related treatment in 
hospital emergency rooms were there 
because of injuries inflicted by a current 
or former spouse/partner. The impact of 
IPV is both physical and mental. More 
than half of those experiencing IPV 
want help with their mental health, but 
few seek treatment. 

From 2006 to 2016, domestic violence-
related calls to the City of Berkeley 
Police Department have fluctuated, 
with the highest peak in 2012. 
Approximately 170 domestic violence 
calls are received by Berkeley police 
each year. Out of the total number 
of calls in 2006–2016, a weapon was 
involved in 25.2% of the cases.

Personal weapons (hands/feet) 
were. the most commonly reported 
weapons used in intimate partner 
violence-related incidents. Other 
weapons included knives/cutting 
instruments and firearms.

Domestic Violence-Related Calls for Assistance by Weapon Involvement and Year, 

Berkeley, 2006-2016

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

D
o

m
e
s
ti

c
 V

io
le

n
c
e
 C

a
ll
s

Total No Weapon Involved Weapon Involved

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
State of California Department of Justice, 2006-2016

Figure 4.43  DOMESTIC VIOLENCE-RELATED CALLS FOR ASSISTANCE BY WEAPON 
INVOLVEMENT AND YEAR  Berkeley, 2006–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, State of California Department of 
Justice, 2006–2016

Firearm
1%

Knife/Cutting 
Instrument

6%

Personal 
Weapon 

(hands/feet)
77%

Other 
Dangerous 

Weapon
16%

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
State of California Department of Justice, 2012-2016

Type of Weapon Used in Domestic Violence-Related Incidents,

City of Berkeley and UC Berkeley, 2012-2016

Figure 4.44  TYPE OF WEAPON USED IN DOMESTIC VIOLENCE-RELATED 
INCIDENTS  City of Berkeley and UC Berkeley, 2012–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, State of California Department of 
Justice, 2012–2016

Page 152 of 224

162



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

97

 ADULT HEALTH 4

The highest proportions of intimate partner violence incidents in Berkeley are located in the West, South, and 
Greater Downtown areas.

Injuries continued

SA
N

 PA
B

LO
 AV

4TH
 ST

GILMAN ST

DWIGHT WY

UNIVERSITY AV

ASHBY AV

MARIN AV

SP
R

U
C

E
 S

T

C
O

LL
E

G
E

 A
V

ROSE ST

TE
LE

G
R

AP
H

 A
V

SOLANO AV

SH
AT

TU
C

K 
AV

BANCROFT WY

³
0 0.5 10.25 Miles

Domestic Violence Incidence Density

Lowest density

Highest density

Major Streets

WGS 1984 UTM Zone 10N

Map 23    HEATMAP OF INCIDENTS OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE REPORTED TO THE BERKELEY POLICE DEPARTMENT    

City of Berkeley, December 2016 - June 2017

Source: City of Berkeley Police Department

Map 21  HEATMAP OF INCIDENTS OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE REPORTED TO THE BERKELEY POLICE 
DEPARTMENT  City of Berkeley, December 2016–June 2017

Page 153 of 224

163



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

98

 ADULT HEALTH4

Communicable or Infectious Diseases

Communicable diseases (also known as infectious diseases) 
are caused by bacteria, viruses, and other infectious agents. 
Infectious diseases can spread from person to person. They 
include diseases such as tuberculosis (TB), measles, and 
sexually transmitted infections (STIs), and HIV/AIDS. Some 
infectious diseases can be treated and cured with antibiotics 
or other medications. Others are not easily treated and can 
become long-lasting chronic infections. Certain communicable 
diseases of public health significance are “reportable”—that 
is, federal and state laws require health care providers and 
laboratories to report these diseases and outbreaks to their local 
public health authority.

The field of public health has traditionally focused on 
controlling infectious diseases—initially through establishing 
clean water and effective sanitation, and subsequently with 
vaccinations and antibiotics. Although chronic diseases have 
surpassed infectious diseases as leading causes of death and 
disability, these diseases remain a significant cause of illness and 
death. New infectious agents and diseases continue to appear, 
and diseases once considered under control–such as pertussis, 
also known as whooping cough–have re-emerged in recent 
years. Furthermore, antibiotic resistance increasingly renders 
treatments against bacteria ineffective. Infectious disease 
control and prevention are core public health functions, and are 
essential to the health of the community.

Response to Foodborne Illness: When there is a foodborne illness associated with a restaurant or other commercial 
kitchen, Environmental Health and Public Health Divisions take prompt action to stop the spread of disease. This involves 
on-site inspections, environmental or food sampling, interviews with staff and patrons, and identifying corrective actions. Ill 
food handlers are restricted from work until they are medically cleared. Specific foods or food preparation techniques may 
be prohibited. In some cases, a facility may need to be closed until remedial actions have been taken.

In recent years, an annual average of 
1,400 communicable disease infections 
were reported in Berkeley, of which an 
average of 1,150 were confirmed cases. 
Chlamydia and gonorrhea account 
for 66% of all communicable disease 
cases in Berkeley. The extent of the 
public health response to an infectious 
disease report is based on the severity, 
method of transmission, and ease of 
spread of the disease. 

0 500 1000 1500 2000 2500 3000 

Syphilis (Primary OR Secondary)  

Pertussis  

Salmonellosis 

Giardiasis  

HIV  

Campylobacteriosis  

Hepatitis B, Chronic  

Hepatitis C, Chronic  

Gonorrhea 

Chlamydia 

Number of Cases   

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; CD 
Program, 2012-2016 

New Figure 

Leading Communicable Diseases by Confirmed Cases, Berkeley, 

2012-2016 

Total	=	5,806	cases	

Figure 4.45  LEADING COMMUNICABLE DISEASES BY CONFIRMED CASES   
Berkeley, 2012–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; CD Program, 2012–2016

Page 154 of 224

164



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

99

 ADULT HEALTH 4

In Berkeley, in recent years, the number 
of communicable diseases reported has 
been on the rise. Almost two-thirds of 
these communicable diseases resulted 
from unsafe sex. Other common 
modes of transmission include injection 
drug use, foodborne/waterborne 
disease, and person-to-person contact.

Diseases such as measles or 
tuberculosis (TB) are transmitted 
through air-borne droplets and can 
spread via person-to-person contact. 
Control of these diseases involves 
identification, notification, medical 
evaluation, and management of those 
at risk of having been infected—at 
times, large numbers of people from 
multiple sites. Ill individuals may 
need to be isolated until they are no 
longer infectious. Sometimes exposed 
people are quarantined in order to 
avoid spreading disease to others. 
Prophylactic medications or vaccines 
can help control the spread of disease. 
STIs on the other hand are transmitted 
by intimate contact, and are controlled 
by treating the infected individuals and 
their respective partners.

Communicable or Infectious Diseases continued

Communicable Disease Control Program

The Communicable Disease Program controls and prevents the occurrence and spread of communicable diseases through 
surveillance, disease and outbreak control. The Program responds to reports of over eighty five (85) serious infectious 
diseases. This response includes performing case investigation and contact tracing as well as providing education on 
behaviors and practices contributing to disease transmission. Staff work in partnership with medical providers, the 
Environmental Health Division, neighboring public health jurisdictions, the California Department of Public Health, and 
community partners. Key partners include Berkeley Unified School District, UC Berkeley’s University Health Services, Alta 
Bates Summit Medical Center and other health care providers.

Outbreak monitoring and control is a core function of the Communicable Disease Program. In recent years, outbreak and 
contact investigations have included cases of measles, mumps, tuberculosis, pertussis (whooping cough), chicken pox, 
campylobacter, and norovirus. Settings for these investigations included preschools, schools, college/university campuses, 
businesses, restaurants, health care facilities, recreational facilities, and skilled nursing facilities. The Communicable Disease 
Program in partnership with the Public Health Preparedness Program is integral to the response and control of emerging 
infections such as Ebola and Zika viruses.

Food/Water
borne

(Salmonella
Shigella, Giardia, 

etc.)
7% (490)

Unsafe Sex
(HIV/AIDS,
Chlamydia, 

Gonorrhea, etc.)
57% (4,071)

Arthropod/
Vectors

(Malaria, Lyme, 
Dengue, etc.)

<1% (24)

Person-to-Person
(TB, Measles
Mumps, etc.)

5% (376)

Injection Drug 
Use (HIV/AIDS,  

Hepatitis C)
12% (838)

Other
<1% (7)

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
CD Program, 2012-2016

Total = 5,806 cases

Confirmed Cases of Communicable Diseases by Probable Mode of 

Transmission, Berkeley, 2012-2016

Figure 4.46  CASES OF COMMUNICABLE DISEASE BY PROBABLE MODE  
OF TRANSMISSION  Berkeley, 2012–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics, CD Program, 2012–2016

Page 155 of 224

165



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

100

 ADULT HEALTH4

Tuberculosis (TB)

Tuberculosis is an infectious bacterial 
disease that is spread from person 
to person through the air. TB usually 
affects the lungs, but it can affect 
any part of the body, including the 
kidney, spine, or brain. TB is easily 
treated when it is identified early, and 
early treatment limits the spread of 
illness to others. When the disease 
goes untreated or is not treated 
properly, it becomes serious and even 
life-threatening. While the number 
of new TB cases overall is declining, 
highly drug-resistant forms of TB have 
emerged, which are very difficult to 
treat. Populations at high risk for having 
TB include new immigrants from 
countries in which TB rates are high. 
Populations at high risk for acquiring 
TB include young infants, people with 
HIV/ AIDS, and others with weakened 
immune systems. Individuals who are 
homeless or injection drug users are 
also particularly vulnerable to TB.

There are only a small number 
of confirmed cases of TB in 
Berkeley each year, so year-to-year 
variations are expected. Berkeley 
has a large immigrant population, 
a significant homeless population, 
and a proportionately high number 
of residents living with HIV/AIDS. 
Therefore, control and prevention 
of TB are significant public health 
concerns for Berkeley.

Rates of new cases of TB in Berkeley 
are lower than Alameda County as 
a whole. On average, rates of TB in 
Berkeley are also lower than those in 
California, despite an increase of the 
TB rate in Berkeley in 2015. However, 
Berkeley does not meet the HP2020 
goal of 1 new case of tuberculosis per 
100,000 population.

Tuberculosis (TB) Control

New cases of TB in Berkeley residents are reported to the TB Control 
Team. This team is responsible for determining whether TB has spread 
to anyone else and preventing further spread. Contact investigation is a 
fundamental strategy for the control and prevention of tuberculosis. Each 
case generates anywhere from 3 to 100 or more contacts to follow up for 
examination, evaluation and possibly treatment. Each newly diagnosed case 
of tuberculosis is assigned a public health nurse to assist and observe the 
patient taking medication each day so that the entire course of medication is 
competed correctly. Treatment generally takes 6–9 months, but sometimes 
up to 24 months. Lapses in the regimen can lead to spread to other 
individuals, reactivation of disease, and drug resistance.

Communicable or Infectious Diseases continued

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

C
a
s
e
s

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
CD Program, 2000-2015

Confirmed Tuberculosis Cases by Year of Report, 

Berkeley, 2000-2015Figure 4.47  CONFIRMED TUBERCULOSIS CASES BY YEAR OF REPORT   
Berkeley, 2000–2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics, CD Program, 2000–2015

UPDATED FIGURE
Tuberculosis Incidence Rates,
Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2013-2015

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10

Berkeley Alameda Co. California HP2020

In
ci

de
nc

e 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

2013 2014 2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
CD Program, 2013-2015

Figure 4.48  TUBERCULOSIS INCIDENCE RATES   
Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2013–2015

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics, CD Program, 2013–2015

Page 156 of 224

166



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

101

 ADULT HEALTH 4

Sexually Transmitted Infections

Sexually transmitted infections 
(STIs), also known as STDs (sexually 
transmitted diseases), may be bacterial 
or viral. They are transmitted from 
person-to-person by unprotected 
sexual contact. STIs pose significant 
health threats to the community, 
and have harmful, costly, and often 
irreversible health impacts. Chlamydia 
can cause infertility in both men and 
women, often without any symptoms 
Gonorrhea increases the risk of pelvic 
inflammatory disease, infertility, 
ectopic (“tubal”) pregnancy, and 
HIV. Gonorrhea is now resistant to 
many drugs previously used to treat 
the infection. Syphilis is increasingly 
common among men who have sex 
with men and among those with HIV. 
Human papilloma virus (HPV) is 
associated with genital cancer in both 
women and men. STIs can largely be 
prevented by consistent use of “safe 
sex” practices (e.g. proper condom 
use), and by screening and treatment. 

The rate of STIs is higher in males than 
in females in all age groups. The peak 
age for STIs is 18–24 for both males and 
females and the early peak in women 
has a significant potential impact on 
their future fertility.

Communicable or Infectious Diseases continued

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

18-24 25-34 35-44 45-64 65+

R
a

te
 p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

Age Group

Female Male

Chlamydia, Gonorrhea, and Primary and Secondary Syphilis Infections 

by Age and Sex, Berkeley, 2012-2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 2012-2014

Figure 4.49  CHLAMYDIA, GONORRHEA, AND PRIMARY AND SECONDARY SYPHILIS 
INFECTIONS BY AGE AND SEX  Berkeley, 2012–2014

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 2012–2014

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

N
um

be
r o

f C
as

es

   Chlamydia    Gonorrhea

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
California Department of Public Health, STD Control Branch, 2000-2017

UPDATED FIGURE Chlamydia and Gonorrhea Infections by Year of Report, 
Berkeley, 2000-2017

Figure 4.50  CHLAMYDIA AND GONORRHEA INFECTIONS BY YEAR 
OF REPORT  Berkeley, 2000–2017

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, California Department of Public Health, 
STD Control Branch, 2000–2017

Page 157 of 224

167



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

102

 ADULT HEALTH4

Berkeley’s sexually transmitted 
infection (STI) rates are highest 
in West Berkeley and in the areas 
surrounding the UC Berkeley campus.

The annual number of cases of 
chlamydia, gonorrhea, and syphilis has 
increased in the last decade. These 
changes in rates may reflect either 
changes in STI screening or reporting, as 
well as actual changes in higher disease 
incidence. The most dramatic rise has 
been in chlamydia in recent years.

Communicable or 
Infectious Diseases 
continued

SAN
 PABLO

 AV

4TH
 ST

GILMAN ST

DWIGHT WY

UNIVERSITY AV

ASHBY AV

MARIN AV

S
P

R
U

C
E

 S
T

C
O

LL
E

G
E

 A
V

S
A

C
R

A
M

E
N

TO
 S

T

ROSE ST

M
A

R
TI

N
 L

U
TH

E
R

 K
IN

G
 J

 W
Y

TE
LE

G
R

AP
H

 A
V

SOLANO AV

ALCATRAZ AV

SH
AT

TU
C

K 
AV

BANCROFT WY

TH
E

 A
LA

M
E

D
A  

AD
EL

IN
E 

ST

CLA
REMONT A

V³
0 0.5 10.25 Miles

Rate per 100,000

Not Available

1 - 24

25 - 658

659 - 886

887 - 1208

1209 - 2370

Census Tracts

WGS 1984 UTM Zone 10N

Map 24    AGE-ADJUSTED CHLAMYDIA AND GONORRHEA RATES BY CENSUS TRACT, ADULTS 18 YEARS AND OVER    
City of Berkeley, 2014-2016

Source: California Department of
Public Health: Sexually Transmitted
Diseases Control Branch, 2014-2016

Map 22  AGE-ADJUSTED CHLAMYDIA AND GONORRHEA RATES BY CENSUS TRACT,  
ADULTS 18 YEARS AND OVER  City of Berkeley, 2014–2016

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

N
um

be
r o

f C
as

es

Primary & Secondary Syphilis

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
California Department of Public Health, STD Control Branch, 2000-2017

NEW FIGURE Primary and Secondary Syphilis Infections by Year of Report, 
Berkeley, 2000-2017

Figure 4.51  PRIMARY AND SECONDARY SYPHILIS INFECTIONS BY YEAR 
OF REPORT  Berkeley, 2000–2017

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, California Department of Public Health, 
STD Control Branch, 2000–2017

Page 158 of 224

168



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

103

 ADULT HEALTH 4

Chlamydia

Up until recently, chlamydia rates in 
Berkeley and Alameda County had 
been lower than that of the State of 
California. In 2015, however, Berkeley’s 
rate increased substantially, surpassing 
Alameda County’s and California’s.

Communicable or Infectious Diseases continued

There has been a shift in chlamydia 
rates by sex in the City of Berkeley. 
From 2011–2014, females had higher 
rates than males, but in 2015, the rate 
of chlamydia for males had a greater 
increase, resulting in a higher rate 
among males. This trend continued 
through 2016.

UPDATED FIGURE 
Chlamydia Case Rates, Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2011-2017

200

275

350

425

500

575

650

725

800

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

In
ci

de
nc

e 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00
Berkeley
Alameda County
California

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
California Department of Public Health, STD Control Branch, 2011-2017

Figure 4.52  CHLAMYDIA CASE RATES  Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2011–2017

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, California Department of Public Health, 
STD Control Branch, 2011–2017

Chlamydia Case Rates by Sex, 

Berkeley, 2011-2016

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

R
a
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0

Female Male Total

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
California Department of Public Health, STD Control Branch, 2011-2016

Figure 4.53  CHLAMYDIA CASE RATES BY SEX  Berkeley,  2011–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, California Department of Public Health, 
STD Control Branch, 2011–2016

Page 159 of 224

169



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

104

 ADULT HEALTH4

Communicable or Infectious Diseases continued

Chlamydia infections among African 
Americans occur at a higher rate 
compared to the total population and 
other racial/ethnic groups. Over time, 
the disparity between racial/ethnic 
groups has decreased. In fact, the most 
dramatic decrease in the chlamydia 
rate has been among the most 
impacted group—African Americans. 
The ethnicity of a large percentage of 
cases (43%–55%) is unknown, which 
is why the overall rate of chlamydia is 
increasing while the rates of all known 
ethnicities are decreasing.

Chlamydia rates have been increasing 
for all adult age groups in Berkeley. 
Chlamydia infections peak at ages 
20–24 among the Berkeley population.

Chlamydia Case Rates by Race/Ethnicity,

Berkeley, 2011-2016

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

R
a
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0

White African American API Latino Total

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
California Department of Public Health, STD Control Branch, 2011-2016

*Race/Ethnicity “Unknown” ranged from 43.14% to 55.0% of cases in any given year.

Figure 4.54  CHLAMYDIA CASE RATES BY RACE/ETHNICITY  Berkeley,  2011–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, California Department of Public Health, 
STD Control Branch, 2011–2016

UPDATED FIGURE 
Chlamydia Case Rates by Age 
(Years 18 and older),
Berkeley, 2011-2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
California Department of Public Health, STD Control Branch, 2011-2016

 0.0

 200

 400

 600

 800

 1,000

 1,200

 1,400

 1,600

18-19 20-24 25-29 30-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65+

R
a
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Figure 4.55  CHLAMYDIA CASE RATES BY AGE (YEARS 18 AND OLDER)   
Berkeley,  2011–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, California Department of Public Health, 
STD Control Branch, 2011–2016

Page 160 of 224

170



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

105

 ADULT HEALTH 4

Gonorrhea

Gonorrhea rates in Berkeley are 
consistently higher than those of 
Alameda County and California. From 
2011 to 2017, Berkeley’s gonorrhea rate 
increased from 94.8 per 100,000 to 302 
per 100,000.

UPDATED FIGURE Gonorrhea Case Rates,
Berkeley, Alameda County, California, 2011-2017

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

In
ci

de
nc

e 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00
Berkeley
Alameda County
California

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
California Department of Public Health, STD Control Branch, 2011-2017

Figure 4.56  GONORRHEA CASE RATES  Berkeley,  Alameda County,  
California, 2011–2017

Communicable or Infectious Diseases continued

Males have consistently had higher 
rates of gonorrhea than females in 
the City of Berkeley. Rates among 
males have increased dramatically 
over this five year period. As a 
result, whereas males were 2.5 times 
as likely as females to contract 
gonorrhea in 2011, in 2016 they were 
4.3 times as likely. The gonorrhea 
rate in the total population has 
also increased over this period.

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, California Department of Public Health, 
STD Control Branch, 2011–2017

Gonorrhea Case Rates by Sex,

Berkeley, 2011-2016

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

R
a

te
 p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

Female Male Total

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
California Department of Public Health, STD Control Branch, 2011-2016

Figure 4.57  GONORRHEA CASE RATES BY SEX  Berkeley, 2011–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, California Department of Public Health, 
STD Control Branch, 2011–2016

Page 161 of 224

171



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

106

 ADULT HEALTH4

African Americans have higher rates 
of gonorrhea infection than other 
racial/ethnic groups, but the rate has 
declined since 2014. All other racial/
ethnic groups had slight increases in 
rates from 2011 to 2016.

Communicable or Infectious Diseases continued

The peak age of gonorrhea infection is 
25–29 among the Berkeley population. 
Between 2014 and 2016, gonorrhea 
rates increased for all age groups.

*Race/Ethnicity “Unknown” ranged from 35.24% to 46.73% of cases in any given year.

Gonorrhea Case Rates by Race/Ethnicity,

Berkeley, 2011-2016

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

R
a
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0

White African American API Latino Total

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
California Department of Public Health, STD Control Branch, 2011-2016

Figure 4.58  GONORRHEA CASE RATES BY RACE/ETHNICITY  Berkeley, 2011–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, California Department of Public Health, 
STD Control Branch, 2011–2016

UPDATED FIGURE Gonorrhea Case Rates by Age (Years 
18 and Over)
Berkeley, 2011-2016

 0.0

 100

 200

 300

 400

 500

 600

 700

 800

18-19 20-24 25-29 30-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65+

R
at

e 
pe

r 1
00

,0
00

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
California Department of Public Health, STD Control Branch, 2011-2016

Figure 4.59  GONORRHEA CASE RATES BY AGE (YEARS 18 AND OVER)   
Berkeley, 2011–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, California Department of Public Health, 
STD Control Branch, 2011–2016

Page 162 of 224

172



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

107

 ADULT HEALTH 4

Syphilis

Primary and secondary (infectious) 
syphilis rates in Berkeley were 
substantially higher than Alameda 
County and California in 2011, but 
the Berkeley rates decreased in 2012 
to meet the county and state rates. 
However, syphilis rates in Berkeley 
dramatically increased again in 2016. Of 
note, between 2015 and 2017, Berkeley 
had no congenital syphilis while there 
were 16 cases in Alameda County.

Communicable or Infectious Diseases continued

Almost all cases of syphilis in Berkeley 
were male in 2011–2016. The incidence 
rate of syphilis among males in 
Berkeley has been increasing since 
2012, with a significant jump in 2016. 
Berkeley does not meet the HP2020 
goal of fewer than 6.7 new male cases 
per 100,000. Incidentally, Berkeley’s 
syphilis rate among females in 2016 
was 1.6 per 100,000, which also does 
not meet the HP2020 goal of 1.3 new 
female cases per 100,000.

UPDATED FIGURE 
Primary and Secondary Syphilis Case Rates,
Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2011-2017

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

In
ci

de
nc

e 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00
Berkeley
Alameda County
California

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
California Department of Public Health, STD Control Branch, 2011-2017

Figure 4.60  PRIMARY AND SECONDARY SYPHILIS CASE RATES   
Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2011–2017

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, California Department of Public Health, 
STD Control Branch, 2011–2017

Primary and Secondary Syphilis Case Rates for Males, 

Berkeley, 2011-2016 

0 

5 

10 

15 

20 

25 

30 

35 

40 

45 

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 HP2020 

In
c
id

e
n

c
e
 R

a
te

  
p

e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0
 

  
Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 

California Department of Public Health, STD Control Branch, 2011-2016 

Figure 4.61  PRIMARY AND SECONDARY SYPHILIS CASE RATES FOR MALES   
Berkeley, 2011–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, California Department of Public Health, 
STD Control Branch, 2011–2016

Page 163 of 224

173



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

108

 ADULT HEALTH4

Human Immunodeficiency Virus 
(HIV) & Acquired Immunodeficiency 
Syndrome (AIDS)

HIV infection damages or kills cells of 
the body’s immune system, and there 
by destroys the body’s ability to fight 
infections. HIV infection can progress 
to the disease AIDS if untreated or if 
treatment fails. Screening tests can 
detect early HIV infection and enable 
infected individuals to receive early 
treatment. Medications can slow or 
stop the progression of HIV to AIDS, 
but there is currently no cure for HIV. 
HIV is most commonly transmitted 
from person to person by unprotected 
sexual contact, sharing needles, or 
from infected mother to infant.

In 2015, more than 1.1 million people in 
the U.S. over the age of 13 were living 
with HIV/AIDS. Access to adequate 
health care and effective anti-retroviral 
therapy are essential for preventing 
the progression from HIV to AIDS. 
Trends vary across the U.S., but African 
Americans are the racial/ethnic group 
most affected by HIV in the country.

The incidence rate of AIDS in Berkeley 
has decreased over the last decade and 
the rate is now 5.3 per 100,000.

The rate of new HIV infections in 
Berkeley has fluctuated and was 18.3 
per 100,000 from 2014–2016. 

Communicable or Infectious Diseases continued

0

5

10

15

20

25

1999-
2001

2002-
2004

2005-
2007

2008-
2010

2011-
2013

2014-
2016

In
ci

de
nc

e 
R

at
e 

 p
er

 1
00

,0
00

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
HIV/AIDS Registry, 1999-2016

Figure 4.62  REPORTED INCIDENCE OF AIDS (YEARS 13 AND OVER)   
City of Berkeley, 1999–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, HIV/AIDS Registry, 1999–2016

0

5

10

15

20

25

1999-
2001

2002-
2004

2005-
2007

2008-
2010

2011-
2013

2014-
2016

In
ci

de
nc

e 
R

at
e 

 p
er

 1
00

,0
00

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
HIV/AIDS Registry, 1999-2016

Figure 4.63  REPORTED INCIDENCE OF HIV (YEARS 13 AND OVER)   
City of Berkeley, 1999–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, HIV/AIDS Registry, 1999–2016

Page 164 of 224

174



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

109

 ADULT HEALTH 4

The rate of new HIV infections in 
Berkeley was lower than Alameda 
County and California until 2014 when 
there was a significant increase.

Communicable or Infectious Diseases continued

Public Health Clinic’s Reproductive and Sexual Health Services: Berkeley’s Public Health Clinic offers confidential 
testing, diagnosis, treatment, and prevention education to residents who think they may have a sexually transmitted 
infection, including HIV. Clinic staff follows up with clients who have sexually transmitted infection to ensure that they 
and their partners receive appropriate treatment. The program also provides free condoms and lubricant to both clients 
and non-clients on a drop-in basis. The Clinic offers comprehensive family planning services including nearly all types 
of birth control, reproductive life counseling, Pap smears (cervical cancer prevention), Hepatitis A, B and HPV vaccines, 
and referrals to local and low-cost breast screening/mammography services. Assistance is offered to survivors of intimate 
partner violence. The Clinic offers reproductive and sexual health services to people of all genders. The Public Health Clinic 
accepts Medi-Cal and FPACT (state funded payment programs). Others may qualify for reduced rates based on income. 
Some clients may even qualify for free services. No one is turned away because of inability to pay. Clinic clients are linked 
to a wide range of community and health services. Community outreach and presentations are provided on family planning 
methods, clinic services, sexually transmitted illnesses , HIV and sexually transmitted illnesses/HIV prevention. In 2012 over 
2,300 individuals were seen at the clinic, many for more than one visit. 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

In
ci

de
nc

e 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

Berkeley

Alameda Co.

CA

UPDATED FIGURE HIV Incidence Rates, Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2010-2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
California Department of Public Health, CDPH Office of AIDS, 2010-2016

Figure 4.64  HIV INCIDENCE RATES  Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2010–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, California Department of Public Health, 
CDPH Office of AIDS, 2010–2016

Page 165 of 224

175



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

110

 ADULT HEALTH4

Due to better treatment, people with 
HIV are living longer, and the overall 
number of people living with HIV is 
increasing. Berkeley has a higher rate of 
persons living with HIV than Alameda 
County and California.

Communicable or Infectious Diseases continued

The proportion of persons living with 
HIV who are in care and who are virally 
suppressed is higher in Berkeley than 
both Alameda County and California. 
In 2016, 80.7% of persons living with 
HIV in Berkeley were in HIV care and 
73% were virally suppressed. Berkeley 
does not yet meet the 2021 California 
Integrated Plan Objectives of 90% in 
care and 80% virally suppressed.

UPDATED FIGURE 
Persons Living with HIV by Current Local Health Jurisdiction,
Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2010-2016

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

R
at

e 
pe

r 1
00

,0
00

Berkeley
Alameda Co.
CA

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
California Department of Public Health, CDPH Office of AIDS, 2010-2016

Figure 4.65  PERSONS LIVING WITH HIV BY CURRENT LOCAL HEALTH 
JURISDICTION  Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2010–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, California Department of Public Health, 
CDPH Office of AIDS, 2010–2016

NEW FIGURE Continuum of HIV Care for Persons Living with Diagnosed HIV 
Infection, Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2016

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100

In HIV Care Virally Supressed

Percent
Berkeley Alameda CA 2021 California Integrated Plan 

Objective 
In HIV Care: 90%
Virally Suppressed: 80%

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics,
Cancer Prevention Institute of California, 2016

Figure 4.66  CONTINUUM OF HIV CARE FOR PERSONS LIVING WITH DIAGNOSED 
HIV INFECTION  Berkeley, Alameda County, CA, 2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, CDPH, Office of AIDS, 2016

Page 166 of 224

176



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

111

 ADULT HEALTH 4

Among all new cases of HIV/AIDS 
in males in Berkeley, male-to-male 
sexual contact is the primary mode 
of transmission. Injection drug use 
may contribute up to 3% of new cases. 
Ten percent of males report other or 
unidentified risks. Among females, 
70% of the cases of HIV/AIDS have 
unidentified modes of exposure. 
Heterosexual contact makes up 20% of 
cases, and injection drug use makes up 
10%. Men make up a majority (91%) of 
the new HIV/AIDS cases in Berkeley.

Communicable or Infectious Diseases continued

African Americans and Latinos 
experience disproportionately 
high rates of new HIV/AIDS cases 
compared to their representation in 
Berkeley’s population.

Proportion of HIV/AIDS Cases for Males and Females by Mode of Exposure,

City of Berkeley, 2012-2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
HIV/AIDS Registry, 2012-2016

Male-Male Sexual 
Contact Only

87% (91)

Injection 
Drug Use 

Only
1% (1)

Male-Male Sexual 
Contact & Injection 

Drug Use
2% (2)

Other/No 
Risk 

Identified
10% (10)

N=104

Males
Heterosexual 

Contact
20% (2)

Other/No 
Risk 

Identified
70% (7)

Injection 
Drug Use 

Only
10% (1)

N=10

Females

Figure 4.67  PROPORTION OF HIV/AIDS CASES FOR MALES AND FEMALES BY MODE 
OF EXPOSURE  City of Berkeley, 2012–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, HIV/AIDS Registry, 2012–2016

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

All Other

Latino

API

African American

White

Population

HIV/AIDS

Proportion of New HIV/AIDS Cases by Race/Ethnicity Compared to Their 

Representation in the Population, Berkeley, 2012-2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, 
HIV/AIDS Registry, 1999-2016

Figure 4.68  PROPORTION OF NEW HIV/AIDS CASES BY RACE/ETHNICITY 
COMPARED TO THEIR REPRESENTATION IN THE POPULATION  Berkeley, 2012–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology and Vital Statistics, HIV/AIDS Registry, 1999–2016

Page 167 of 224

177



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

112

 ADULT HEALTH4

Hepatitis A, B, and C

Hepatitis is a disease which causes 
inflammation of the liver. Hepatitis A 
is a vaccine-preventable disease that 
is usually transferred from person-to-
person through the fecal-oral route or 
consumption of contaminated food 
or water. Hepatitis B is transmitted 
through blood, semen, or other bodily 
fluids. It can be an acute, short-term 
illness, or a long-term chronic infection 
depending on age at transmission. 
Hepatitis C is the most common 
chronic blood borne viral infection in 
the United States. The most common 
source of hepatitis C infection is 
sharing needles among injection drug 
users. Hepatitis C usually begins as an 
acute viral infection and progresses to 
a chronic infection if not treated. This 
lifelong infection can lead to serious 
liver problems including liver cirrhosis 
and liver cancer. These complications 
can be prevented by timely diagnosis 
and treatment.

The number of hepatitis B and 
hepatitis C cases in Berkeley increased 
from 2011 to 2015, but fell from 2015 
to 2017. Because hepatitis C is a 
chronic infection which may not be 
diagnosed or reported consistently, 
these numbers may under estimate the 
prevalence. New cases of hepatitis A in 
Berkeley fluctuate from 0 to 1 annually.

A
nn

ie
 B

ur
ke

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

C
a
s
e
s

Hepatitis A Hepatitis B (Chronic) Hepatitis C (Chronic)

Hepatitis A, Hepatitis B (Chronic), and Hepatitis C (Chronic) by Year of Report,

Berkeley, 2011-2017

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics, 
CalREDIE Surveillance Data, 2010 to 2017

Figure 4.69  HEPATITIS A, HEPATITIS B (CHRONIC), AND HEPATITIS C (CHRONIC) 
BY YEAR OF REPORT  Berkeley, 2011–2017

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics, CalREDIE Surveillance Data, 2010 to 2017

Page 168 of 224

178



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

113

 ADULT HEALTH 4

References
1.	 CDC, “Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion,” 2017. 

[Online]. Available: http://www.cdc.gov/chronicdisease/index.
htm. [Accessed 2017].

2.	 CCLHO-CHEAC Chronic Disease Prevention Leadership 
Project, “Chronic Disease Prevention Framework,” 2013. 
[Online]. Available: https://issuu.com/eloine/docs/chronic_
disease_report_screen_final. [Accessed 2017].

3.	 CDC, “Overweight and Obesity: Adult Obesity Facts,” 2017. 
[Online]. Available: https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/data/adult.
html. [Accessed 2017].

4.	 CDC, “Overweight and Obesity: Defining Overweight and 
Obesity,” 2016. [Online]. Available: http://www.cdc.gov/obesity/
adult/defining.html. [Accessed 2017].

5.	 CDC, “Smoking & Tobacco Use: Fast Facts,” 2017. [Online]. 
Available: https://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/data_statistics/fact_
sheets/fast_facts/. [Accessed 2017].

6.	 CDC, “Smoking & Tobacco Use: Health Effects of Cigarette 
Smoking,” 2017. [Online]. Available: http://www.cdc.gov/
tobacco/data_statistics/Factsheets/health_effects.htm. 
[Accessed 2017].

7.	 CDC, “Smoking & Tobacco Use: Health Effects of Secondhand 
Smoke,” 2017. [Online]. Available: http://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/
data_statistics/fact_sheets/secondhand_smoke/health_
effects/index.htm. [Accessed 2017].

8.	 CDC, “Diabetes Home: Diabetes Basics,” 2017. [Online]. 
Available: https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/basics/index.html. 
[Accessed 2017].

9.	 CDC, “National Diabetes Statistics Report, 2017,” 2017. [Online]. 
Available: https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/pdfs/data/statistics/
national-diabetes-statistics-report.pdf. [Accessed 2017].

10.	 CDC, ““Diabetes Home: Diabetes Quick Facts,” 2017. [Online]. 
https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/basics/quick-facts.html. 
[Accessed 2017].

11.	 Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ), “AHRQ 
Quality Indicators—Guide to Prevention Quality Indicators: 
Hospital Admission for Ambulatory Care Sensitive Conditions. 
Revision 4. AHRQ Pub. No. 02-R0203.,” Rockville, 2004.

12.	 National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS), “NCHS Data 
Brief No. 107: Hypertension Among Adults in the United States 
2009–2010,” 2015. [Online]. Available: http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/
data/databriefs/db107.htm. [Accessed 2017].

13.	 CDC, “High Blood Pressure Facts,” 2017. [Online]. Available: 
http://www.cdc.gov/bloodpressure/facts.htm. [Accessed 2017].

14.	 CDC, “Heart Disease: Heart Disease Facts,” 2017. [Online]. 
Available: http://www.cdc.gov/heartdisease/facts.htm. 
[Accessed 2017].

15.	 CDC, “Coronary Artery Disease: Causes, Diagnosis & 
Prevention,” 2017. [Online]. Available: https://www.cdc.gov/
heartdisease/coronary_ad.htm. [Accessed 2017].

16.	 S. Stern, “Aging and Diseases of the Heart,” Circulation, vol. 108, 
pp. e99–101, 2008.

17.	 CDC, “About Stroke,” 2017. [Online]. Available: https://www.cdc.
gov/stroke/about.htm. [Accessed 2017].

18.	 US Department of Health and Human Services, “HealthyPeople.
gov: Respiratory Diseases Overview,” 2017. [Online]. Available: 
http://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topicsobjectives2020/
overview.aspx?topicid=36. [Accessed 2017].

19.	 CDC, “Asthma,” 2017. [Online]. Available: https://www.cdc.gov/
asthma/default.htm. [Accessed 2017].

20.	 CDC National Asthma Control Program, “Asthma’s Impact 
on the Nation: Data from the CDC National Asthma Control 
Program,” [Online]. Available: https://www.cdc.gov/asthma/
impacts_nation/asthmafactsheet.pdf. [Accessed 2017].

21.	 CDC, “Health United States Report,” 2016. [Online]. Available: 
https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/hus/hus16.pdf. [Accessed 2017].

22.	 CDC, “Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD),” 2017. 
[Online]. Available: https://www.cdc.gov/copd/index.html. 
[Accessed 2017].

23.	 US Department of Health and Human Services, “HealthyPeople.
gov: Cancer Overview,” 2017. [Online]. Available: http://www.
healthypeople.gov/2020/topicsobjectives2020/overview.
aspx?topicid=5. [Accessed 2017].

24.	 CDC, “Cancer Prevention and Control: How to Prevent Cancer 
or Find It Early,” 2017. [Online]. Available: http://www.cdc.gov/
cancer/dcpc/prevention/. [Accessed 2017].

25.	 Public Health Institute; California Breast Cancer Research 
Program, “California Breast Cancer Mapping Project: Identifying 
Areas of Concern in California,” http://www.cehtp.org/faq/
resources/california_breast_cancer_mapping_project, 
California, 2012.

26.	 National Institutes of Health, “National Institute of Mental 
Health: Any Mental Illness (AMI) Among U.S. Adults,” 2015. 
[Online]. Available: https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/
prevalence/any-mental-illness-ami-among-us-adults.shtml. 
[Accessed 2017].

27.	 Alameda County Public Health Department, “Alameda County 
Health Data Profile,” 2014. [Online]. Available: http://www.
acphd.org/media/353060/acphd_cha.pdf. [Accessed 2017].

28.	 Office of the Surgeon General (US); Center for Mental Health 
Services (US); National Institute of Mental Health (US), “Mental 
Health: Culture, Race, and Ethnicity: A Supplement to Mental 
Health: A Report of the Surgeon General,” 2001. [Online]. 
Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK44243/. 
[Accessed 2017].

29.	 CDC, “Injury Prevention & Control: About CDC’s Injury Center,” 
2017. [Online]. Available: http://www.cdc.gov/injury/overview/
index.html. [Accessed 2017].

continues

Page 169 of 224

179



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

114

 ADULT HEALTH4

References continued

30.	 C. Cutugno, “The ‘Graying’ of Trauma Care: Addressing 
Traumatic Injury in Older Adults,” American Journal of Nursing, 
vol. 111, no. 11, pp. 40–48, 2011.

31.	 CDC, “Violence Prevention: Intimate Partner Violence,” 2017. 
[Online]. Available: http://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/
intimatepartnerviolence/index.html. [Accessed 2017].

32.	 CDC, “Injury Prevention & Control: Intimate Partner Violence: 
Consequences,” 2017. [Online]. Available: http://www.cdc.gov/
violenceprevention/intimatepartnerviolence/consequences.
html. [Accessed 2017].

33.	 CDC: National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey 
(NISVS), “NISVS: An Overview of 2010 Summary Report 
Findings,” 2017. [Online]. Available: https://www.cdc.gov/
violenceprevention/pdf/NISVS_Report2010-a.pdf. [Accessed 
2017].

34.	 End Abuse Family Violence Prevention Fund, “Intimate Partner 
Violence and Health People 2010 Fact Sheet,” [Online]. 
Available: http://www.futureswithoutviolence.org/userfiles/file/
Children_and_Families/ipv.pdf. [Accessed 2017].

35.	 CDC, “Injury Prevention and Control: National Intimate Partner 
and Sexual Violence Survey (NISVS),” 2017. [Online]. Available: 
http://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/nisvs/index.html. 
Accessed 2017].

36.	 CDC, “Pertussis (Whooping Cough): Pertussis Outbreak 
Trends,” 2017. [Online]. Available: http://www.cdc.gov/pertussis/
outbreaks/trends.html. [Accessed 2017].

37.	 CDC, “Antibiotic/Antimicrobial Resistance: About Antimicrobial 
Resistance: A Brief Overview,” 2017. [Online]. Available: http://
www.cdc.gov/drugresistance/about.html. [Accessed 2017].

38.	 CDC, “Tuberculosis (TB),” 2017. [Online]. Available: http://www.
cdc.gov/tb/. [Accessed 2017].

39.	 CDC, “Tuberculosis (TB): TB in Specific Populations,” 2013. 
Online. Available: http://www.cdc.gov/tb/topic/populations/
default.htm. [Accessed 2017].

40.	 CDC, “Tuberculosis (TB): TB and HIV Coinfection,”2016. 
[Online]. Available: https://www.cdc.gov/tb/topic/basics/
tbhivcoinfection.htm. [Accessed 2017].

41.	 CDC, “CDC Features: Adults Need Immunizations, Too,” 
2017. [Online]. Available: http://www.cdc.gov/Features/
AdultImmunizations/index.html. [Accessed 2017].

42.	 CDC, “Vaccines & Preventable Diseases,” 2016. [Online]. 
Available: http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/vpd-vac/. [Accessed 
2017].

43.	 California Department of Public Health (CDPH), “Pertussis 
(Whooping Cough),” 2017. [Online]. Available: https://www.
cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/Immunization/
pertussis.aspx. [Accessed 2017].

44.	 CDC, “Condom Effectiveness: Condom Fact Sheet in 
Brief,” 2013. [Online]. Available: http://www.cdc.gov/
condomeffectiveness/brief.html. [Accessed 2017].

45.	 CDC, “Sexually Transmitted Diseases (STDs),” 2017. [Online]. 
Available: http://www.cdc.gov/std/. [Accessed 2017].

46.	 CDC, “CDC Fact Sheet: 10 Ways STDs Impact Women 
Differently from Men,” 2011. [Online]. Available: https://
www.cdc.gov/std/health-disparities/stds-women-042011.pdf. 
[Accessed 2017].

47.	 CDC, “HIV/AIDS: HIV Basics,” 2017. [Online]. Available: http://
www.cdc.gov/hiv/basics/index.html. [Accessed 2017].

48.	 CDC, “HIV/AIDS: Basic Statistics,” 2017. [Online]. Available: 
http://www.cdc.gov/hiv/basics/statistics.html. [Accessed 2017].

49.	 CDC, “HIV/AIDS: HIV Among African Americans,” 2017. 
[Online]. Available: https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/group/racialethnic/
africanamericans/index.html. [Accessed 2017].

50.	 CDC, “HIV/AIDS: Living with HIV,” 2017. [Online]. Available: 
http://www.cdc.gov/hiv/living/index.html. [Accessed 2017].

51.	 CDC, “Division of Viral Hepatitis,” 2017. [Online]. Available: 
https://www.cdc.gov/hepatitis/index.htm. [Accessed 2017].

52.	 CDC, “Hepatitis C Information for Health Professionals: Testing 
Recommendations for Chronic Hepatitis C Virus Infection,” 
2015. [Online]. Available: http://www.cdc.gov/hepatitis/HCV/
GuidelinesC.htm. [Accessed 2017].

Page 170 of 224

180



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

115

 LIFE EXPECTANCY AND MORTALITY 5

Key Findings

•	 Healthy People 2020 (HP2020) Goals

oo Berkeley as a whole meets HP2020 goals for 
the following:

—— Coronary heart disease mortality rate
—— Cancer mortality rate
—— Lung cancer mortality rate—for the first time in 

2014–2016, African Americans in Berkeley met 
the HP2020 goal 

—— Breast cancer mortality rate
—— Prostate cancer mortality rate

oo African Americans in Berkeley do not meet HP2020 
goals for the following:

—— Cancer mortality rate
—— Breast cancer mortality rate

•	 Life Expectancy

oo Life expectancy is 86.7 years for Berkeley women 
and 83 years for men.

oo Mortality rates in Berkeley are lower than those 
of surrounding Alameda County and California—
reflecting the city’s long life expectancy.

oo The mortality rate for African Americans is twice 
as high as the mortality rate of Whites and is higher 
than the population overall. This disparity has 
remained consistent over time. 

•	 Causes of Death

oo Cancer and heart disease are leading causes of death 
(as recorded on death certificates) in Berkeley. They 
account for almost half of all deaths.

oo Cancer is the leading cause of death for all racial/
ethnic groups except African Americans. Among 
African Americans, heart disease is the leading 
cause of death.

oo Breast and lung cancer are the top leading causes of 
cancer death for women, while lung and pancreatic 
cancer are the top leading causes of cancer death 
for men.

continues

The number of years a person is expected to live, and 
the leading causes of death in Berkeley are important 
indicators of population health and guide Public Health 
Division program priorities. This chapter contains 
information about trends in life expectancy, deaths, 
leading causes of death, the years of potential life lost, 
and deaths due to various chronic diseases in Berkeley.

In the last decade, the mortality rate in Berkeley has decreased 
steadily and life expectancy has increased for both men and 
women. Mortality rates from cardiovascular disease and cancer 
have also decreased over this time period. Cancer is the leading 
cause of death in the population as a whole, followed by heart 
disease. However, among African Americans in Berkeley, heart 
disease is the leading cause of death, followed by cancer. 

There are racial/ethnic variations in causes of death, mortality 
rates, and years of potential life lost, as there are differences 
in health status throughout the life course. Shortened lives 
and premature mortality are the cumulative results of health 
inequities that span the life course from conception to old age.

CHAPTER 5: LIFE EXPECTANCY 
AND MORTALITY

5

A
nn

ie
 B

ur
ke

Page 171 of 224

181



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

116

 LIFE EXPECTANCY AND MORTALITY5

Key Findings continued

•	 Causes of Death continued

oo Mortality rates for cardiovascular disease are almost 
twice as high among African Americans compared 
to the population as a whole. Cardiovascular disease 
deaths have decreased over the last decade, and the 
gap between the mortality rates of African Americans 
and other groups has also decreased.

oo Women who are Latina, Asian, or Pacific Islander 
have the lowest mortality rates from breast cancer in 
Berkeley. Only African American women do not meet 
the HP2020 goal for breast cancer deaths.

•	 Years of Potential Life Lost (YPLL)

oo African Americans account for a disproportionate 
number of YPLL in Berkeley. Although they make 
up 7% of Berkeley’s population, they account for 
almost 30% of YPLL in the total population. African 
Americans in Berkeley die younger than other racial/
ethnic groups.

oo Cancer accounts for the most YPLL in Berkeley  
as a whole.

Life Expectancy

Life expectancy is one of the most important demographic 
indicators used to compare the health status of different 
population groups. Life expectancy at birth represents the 
average number of years that a group of infants would live if 
the group were to experience, throughout life, the mortality 
rates present in the year of birth. When life expectancy is 
high, it generally reflects a high level of health and low level of 
premature deaths in the population. 

In Berkeley, life expectancy at birth has gradually increased in 
recent years and is currently at 85.0 years for the population as 
a whole, compared to 78.8 years in the U.S. and 80.8 years in 
California. For women in Berkeley, life expectancy is 86.7 years, 
compared to 81.2 years in the U.S. For men in Berkeley, it is 83.0 
years, compared to 76.4 in the U.S. The current life expectancy 
gap between females and males is 4 years in Berkeley and 2.4 
years in the U.S. 

72

75

78

81

84

87

90

1994 1996 1998 2000 2002 2004 2006 2008 2010 2012 2014 2016

A
g

e
 i

n
 Y

e
a
rs

Total Female Male

Life Expectancy at Birth by Gender

Berkeley, 1994-2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
Death Certificates 1994-2016, US Census Bureau

Figure 5.1  LIFE EXPECTANCY AT BIRTH BY GENDER  Berkeley, 1994–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 1994–2016, US Census 
Bureau

Page 172 of 224

182



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

117

 LIFE EXPECTANCY AND MORTALITY 5

Deaths in Berkeley

The mortality rate is a measure of 
the risk of dying from any cause in a 
given year or period of time. A high 
mortality rate is an indication of a lower 
level of health promotion and disease 
prevention in the community. 

The mortality rate from all causes of 
death in Berkeley was 534 deaths per 
100,000 population from 2014–2016. 
The risk of dying is equivalent to nearly 
1 death per every 187 people per year. 

The overall age-adjusted mortality 
rate in Berkeley has decreased steadily 
throughout the last decade. The 
mortality rate for African Americans 
has reached the lowest ever reported. 
In spite of this marked decrease, 
the age-adjusted mortality rate 
for African Americans is twice as 
high as the mortality rate of Whites 
and is higher than the population 
overall. This disparity has remained 
unchanged throughout these years.

Leading Causes of Death

Cancer has overtaken heart disease 
as the single leading cause of death 
in Berkeley, accounting for 23% of 
all deaths. Chronic diseases such as 
cancer, heart disease, and stroke are 
responsible for 50% of all deaths in a 
given year in Berkeley. However, there 
are important variations by age, gender, 
and race/ethnicity.

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

2005-2007 2008-2010 2011-2013 2014-2016

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

White African Am. API Latino Total

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
Death Certificates 2005-2016

Figure 5.2  MORTALITY RATES BY RACE/ETHNICITY AND YEAR OF DEATH   
Berkeley, 2005–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2005–2016

0 100 200 300 400

Parkinson's

Intentional Injuries
(Suicide, Assault / Homicide)

Diabetes Mellitus

Unintentional Injuries
(Motor vehicle related, Falls, Poisoning)

Chronic Lower Respiratory Diseases

Organic Dementia

Alzheimer's

Stroke

Heart Disease

Cancer

Number of Deaths

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
Death Certificates 2014-2016

Total number of deaths

=1,842

UPDATED FIGURE Leading Underlying Causes of Death

Berkeley, 2014-2016Figure 5.3  LEADING UNDERLYING CAUSES OF DEATH  Berkeley, 2014–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2014–2016

Page 173 of 224

183



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

118

 LIFE EXPECTANCY AND MORTALITY5

Cancer is the most common cause of 
death for both men and women. Heart 
disease and cancer together account 
for over 40% of all deaths in both men 
and women. After cancer and heart 
disease, the leading causes of death 
differ between men and women. 
Men are more likely to die from 
unintentional and intentional injuries, 
and women are more likely to die from 
Alzheimer’s, dementia, and Parkinson’s. 
Diabetes is among the top ten causes 
of death for both genders.

Deaths in Berkeley continued

0 50 100 150 200 250

Parkinson's

Unintentional Injuries
(Motor vehicle related, falls,…

Pneumonia & Influenza

Diabetes Mellitus

Chronic Lower Respiratory Disease

Organic Dementia

Alzheimer's

Stroke

Heart Disease

Cancer

Number of Deaths

Total Number of Deaths  = 925

UPDATED FIGURE Leading Causes of Death among Females

Berkeley, 2014-2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
Death Certificates 2014-2016

Figure 5.4  LEADING CAUSES OF DEATH AMONG FEMALES  Berkeley, 2014–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2014–2016

0 50 100 150 200 250

Chronic Liver Disease & Cirrhosis

Diabetes

Intentional Injuries
(Suicide, Assault / Homicide)

Organic Dementia

Chronic Lower Respiratory Diseases

Alzheimer's

Stroke

Unintentional Injuries
(Motor vehicle related, Falls, Poisoning)

Heart Disease

Cancer

Number of Deaths

Total Number of Deaths = 916

UPDATED FIGURE Leading Causes of Death among Males

Berkeley, 2014-2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
Death Certificates 2014-2016

Figure 5.5  LEADING CAUSES OF DEATH AMONG MALES  Berkeley, 2014–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2014–2016

Page 174 of 224

184



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

119

 LIFE EXPECTANCY AND MORTALITY 5

The leading causes of death vary 
across the lifespan. From 2014 to 2016, 
there were 88 deaths among residents 
under 45 years of age. These deaths 
represent only 5% of the total mortality 
burden in Berkeley. In the 0–14 year old 
age group, the leading cause of death 
was perinatal conditions that occur 
in infants who were 0–1 years of age. 
Among teenagers and young adults, 
intentional injuries, such as suicide and 
homicide, and unintentional injuries, 
such as motor vehicle accidents and 
accidental falls, are the leading causes 
of death. In the 25–44 year old age 
group, cancer, injury, heart disease and 
HIV/AIDS are leading causes of death. 

As people move into middle and older 
adulthood, chronic diseases such as 
cancer and heart disease become the 
leading causes of death.

0 70 140 210 280 350

Organic Dementia

Stroke

Alzheimer's

Heart Disease

Cancer

Chronic Liver Disease & Cirrhosis

Intentional Injury (Suicide,
Assault/Homicide...)

Unintentional Injury (Motor vehicle…)

Heart Disease

Cancer

Number of Deaths

45-64 Years

65+ Years

N = 1,754

Leading Causes of Death, Ages 45 and Older

Berkeley, 2014-2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
Death Certificates 2014-2016

Figure 5.6  LEADING CAUSES OF DEATH, AGES 45 AND OLDER   
Berkeley, 2014–2016

Deaths in Berkeley continued

0 3 6 9 12 15 

Chronic Liver Disease & Cirrhosis 

HIV / HIV Related 

Heart Disease 

Intentional Injury 
(Suicide, Assault/Homicide) 

Unintentional Injury 
(Motor vehicle related, Falls, Poisoning) 

Cancer 

Unintentional Injury 
(Motor vehicle related, Poisoning) 

Intentional Injury 
(Suicide, Assault/Homicide) 

Perinatal Conditions 

Number of Deaths   

	0-14	Years	

25-44	Years	

15-24	Years	

N = 88 

Leading Causes of Death, Ages 44 and Younger 

Berkeley, 2014-2016 

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
Death Certificates 2014-2016 

Figure 5.5  LEADING CAUSES OF DEATH, AGES 44 AND YOUNGER   
Berkeley, 2014–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2014–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2014–2016

Page 175 of 224

185



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

120

 LIFE EXPECTANCY AND MORTALITY5

The leading causes of death vary 
by race/ethnicity. Overall, cancer, 
heart disease, stroke, Alzheimer’s 
disease, and dementia are among 
the top 10 causes of death for 
all racial/ethnic groups.

0 50 100 150 200 250 300

Metabolic Disorders

Parkinson's

Intentional Injury
(Suicide, Assault/Homicide)

Organic Dementia

Unintentional Injury
(Motor vehicle related, Falls)

Chronic Lower Respiratory Disease

Alzheimer's

Stroke

Heart Disease

Cancer

Number of Deaths

N=1,088

Leading Causes of Death Among Whites

Berkeley, 2014-2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
Death Certificates 2014-2016

Figure 5.8  LEADING CAUSES OF DEATH AMONG WHITES  Berkeley, 2014–2016

So
ur

ce
: C

ity
 o

f B
er

ke
le

y P
ub

lic
 H

ea
lth

 D
iv

isi
on

, E
pi

de
m

io
lo

gy
 &

 V
ita

l 
St

at
ist

ic
s; 

D
ea

th
 C

er
tifi

ca
te

s 2
01

4–
20

16

0 25 50 75 100

Pneumonia & Influenza

Unintentional Injury
(Motor vehicle related, Falls, Poisoning)

Nephritis, Nephrotic Syndrome, &
Nephrosis

Diabetes

Chronic Lower Respiratory Disease

Organic Dementia

Stroke

Alzheimer's

Cancer

Heart Disease

Number of Deaths

N=470

UPDATED FIGURE Leading Causes of Death Among African 

Americans, Berkeley, 2014-2016

S
ou

rc
e:

 C
ity

 o
f B

er
ke

le
y 

P
ub

lic
 H

ea
lth

 D
iv

is
io

n,
 E

pi
de

m
io

lo
gy

 &
 V

ita
l S

ta
tis

tic
s;

 
D

ea
th

 C
er

tif
ic

at
es

 2
01

4-
20

16

Figure 5.9  LEADING CAUSES OF DEATH AMONG AFRICAN-AMERICANS   
Berkeley, 2014–2016

Heart disease is the leading cause 
of death for African Americans. 
Although intentional injury was one 
of the leading causes of death among 
African Americans in 2008–2010, 
African Americans were the only group 
for which intentional injury was not a 
leading cause of death in 2014–2016.

Deaths in Berkeley continued

Rank White Black Latino Asian/Pacific Islander

1 Cancer Heart Disease Cancer Cancer

2 Heart Disease Cancer Heart Disease Heart Disease

3 Stroke Alzheimer’s Stroke Stroke

4 Alzheimer’s Stroke Unintentional Injury Alzheimer’s

5
Chronic Lower Respiratory 

Disease
Organic Dementia Alzheimer’s Organic Dementia

6 Unintentional Injury
Chronic Lower Respiratory 

Disease
Organic Dementia Diabetes

7 Organic Dementia Diabetes Diabetes Pneumonia & Influenza

8 Intentional Injury Nephritis & Nephrotic Syndrome Pneumonia & Influenza Parkinson’s

9 Parkinson’s Unintentional Injury Intentional Injury Intentional Injury

10 Metabolic Disorders Pneumonia & Influenza
Chronic Liver Disease & 

Cirrhosis

Chronic Liver Disease & 

Cirrhosis

NOTE: Color boxes denote causes of death that are leading in all racial/ethnic groups

UPDATED FIGURE Top 10 Causes of Death By Race/Ethnicity,

Berkeley, 2014-2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
Death Certificates 2014-2016

Figure 5.7  TOP 10 CAUSES OF DEATH BY RACE/ETHNICITY  Berkeley, 2014–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2014–2016

So
ur

ce
: C

ity
 o

f B
er

ke
le

y P
ub

lic
 H

ea
lth

 D
iv

isi
on

, E
pi

de
m

io
lo

gy
 &

 V
ita

l 
St

at
ist

ic
s; 

D
ea

th
 C

er
tifi

ca
te

s 2
01

4–
20

16

Page 176 of 224

186



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

121

 LIFE EXPECTANCY AND MORTALITY 5

The Asian/Pacific Islander population 
is the only racial/ethnic group for 
whom unintentional injury is not a 
leading cause of death. 

Among Latinos, injuries (unintentional 
and intentional combined) account for 
more deaths than stroke.

Deaths in Berkeley continued

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

Chronic Liver Disease & Cirrhosis

Intentional Injury
(Suicide, homicide)

Parkinson's

Pneumonia and Influenza

Diabetes

Organic Dementia

Alzheimer's

Stroke

Heart Disease

Cancer

Number of Deaths

N=179

UPDATED FIGURE Leading Causes of Death Among Asian/Pacific 

Islanders, Berkeley, 2014-2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
Death Certificates 2014-2016

Figure 5.10  LEADING CAUSES OF DEATH AMONG ASIAN/PACIFIC ISLANDERS   
Berkeley, 2014–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2014–2016

0 3 6 9 12 15 18

Chronic Liver Disease & Cirrhosis

Intentional Injury
(Suicide, Assault/Homicide)

Pneumonia & Influenza

Diabetes

Dementia

Alzheimer's

Unintentional Injury
(Motor vehicle related, Falls)

Stroke

Heart Disease

Cancer

Number of Deaths

N=86

UPDATED FIGURE Leading Causes of Death Among Latinos, 

Berkeley, 2014-2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
Death Certificates 2014-2016

Figure 5.11  LEADING CAUSES OF DEATH AMONG LATINOS  Berkeley, 2014–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2014–2016

Page 177 of 224

187



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

122

 LIFE EXPECTANCY AND MORTALITY5

Cardiovascular Diseases

Cardiovascular diseases include those 
of the heart and blood vessels, such 
as stroke and coronary heart disease. 
Strokes occur when blood flow to the 
brain is blocked or cut off. Mortality 
rates due to all types of cardiovascular 
disease are decreasing in Berkeley. 

Cardiovascular disease mortality 
rates have decreased for all racial/
ethnic groups. The cardiovascular 
disease mortality rate among African 
Americans is almost double that of 
the population as a whole. However, 
the disparity between African 
Americans and Whites decreased. The 
cardiovascular disease mortality rate 
among Asian/Pacific Islanders is half 
that of the total population.

Deaths in Berkeley continued

0

30

60

90

120

150

180

2005-2007 2008-2010 2011-2013 2014-2016

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

Stroke

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
Death Certificates 2014-2016

Total Cardiovascular 
Disease

Coronary 
Heart Disease

Figure 5.12  CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE, CORONARY HEART DISEASE, & STROKE 
MORTALITY RATES BY YEAR OF DEATH  Berkeley, 2005–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2005–2016

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

2005-2007 2008-2010 2011-2013 2014-2016

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

White African American API Latino Total

UPDATED FIGURE All Cardiovascular Disease Mortality Rates by 
Race/Ethnicity, Berkeley, 2005-2014 

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
Death Certificates 2005-2016

Figure 5.13  ALL CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE MORTALITY RATES  
BY RACE/ETHNICITY  Berkeley, 2005–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2005–2016

Page 178 of 224

188



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

123

 LIFE EXPECTANCY AND MORTALITY 5

Coronary heart disease is the most 
common type of heart disease in the 
United States. It affects the arteries 
that feed the heart and can cause 
heart attacks and angina. Berkeley has 
a lower overall mortality rate due to 
coronary heart disease than Alameda 
County and California. At a rate of 49 
deaths per 100,000 in the population, 
Berkeley’s coronary heart disease 
mortality rate is below the HP2020 goal 
of fewer than 103 deaths per 100,000. 

Cancer Deaths

While cancer is the leading cause of 
death in Berkeley, cancer mortality 
rates are lower in Berkeley than in 
Alameda County and California. It 
meets the HP2020 goal of fewer than 
161.4 deaths per 100,000. 

Deaths in Berkeley continued

0

30

60

90

120

Berkeley Alameda
County

California HP2020

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

UPDATED FIGURE Coronary Heart Disease Mortality Rates
Berkeley (2014-2016), Alameda County (2012-2014),
California (2012-2014), & HP2020

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 
2014-2016 & California Department of Public Health: County Health Profiles 2016

Figure 5.14  CORONARY HEART DISEASE MORTALITY RATES  Berkeley (2014–2016), 
Alameda County (2012–2014), California (2012–2014), & HP2020

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2014–2016 & California 
Department of Public Health: County Health Profiles 2016

0

30

60

90

120

150

180

Berkeley Alameda County California HP2020

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

UPDATED FIGURE Cancer Mortality Rates
Berkeley (2014-2016), Alameda County (2012-2014), 
California (2012-2014), & HP2020

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 
2014-2016 & California Department of Public Health: County Health Profiles 2016

Figure 5.15  CANCER MORTALITY RATES  Berkeley (2014–2016),  
Alameda County (2012–2014), California (2012–2014), & HP2020

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2014–2016 & California 
Department of Public Health: County Health Profiles 2016

Page 179 of 224

189



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

124

 LIFE EXPECTANCY AND MORTALITY5

African Americans have higher cancer 
mortality rates than other racial/
ethnic groups. African Americans 
are the only racial/ethnic group 
whose cancer mortality rate does 
not meet the HP2020 goal. 

Cancer mortality rates for both 
sexes have decreased over the past 
decade. Decreases have been more 
pronounced for women compared 
to men. Men continue to have higher 
cancer mortality rates than women. 

Deaths in Berkeley continued

0

30

60

90

120

150

180

210

240

270

300

330

2005-2007 2008-2010 2011-2013 2014-2016

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

White African American API Latino Total

UPDATED FIGURE Cancer Mortality Rates by Year of Death & 
Race/Ethnicity, 
Berkeley, 2005-2016 

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
Death Certificates 2005-2016

HP2020: 161.4

Figure 5.16  CANCER MORTALITY RATES BY YEAR OF DEATH &  
RACE/ETHNICITY  Berkeley, 2005–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2005–2016

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

2005-2007 2008-2010 2011-2013 2014-2016

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

Male Female Total

UPDATED FIGURE Cancer Mortality Rates by Year of Death & 
Gender, 
Berkeley, 2005-2016 

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
Death Certificates 2005-2016

Figure 5.17  CANCER MORTALITY RATES BY YEAR OF DEATH &  
GENDER  Berkeley, 2005–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2005–2016

Page 180 of 224

190



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

125

 LIFE EXPECTANCY AND MORTALITY 5

Cancer deaths differ between men 
and women. Lung cancer is the leading 
cause of cancer death for men, and 
breast cancer is the leading cause of 
death for women. Prostate cancer, 
once the second leading cause of 
cancer death for men, has been 
replaced by pancreatic cancer.

Lung cancer deaths among 
African Americans have decreased 
dramatically over the last decade. 
African Americans have the highest 
lung cancer mortality rates among 
all racial/ethnic groups, however the 
disparity has decreased. All racial/
ethnic groups now meet HP2020 
objectives for lung cancer deaths.

Deaths in Berkeley continued

Stomach Cancer 
Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma 

Ovarian Cancer 
Bladder Cancer 
Uterine Cancer 

Brain 
Multiple Myeloma  

Prostate 
Colon Cancer 
Breast Cancer 

Pancreatic Cancer 
Lung Cancer 

Cancer Site 

  

Male Female 

40                 20                 0                   20                   40 

UPDATED Leading Causes of Cancer Death by Gender 

Berkeley, 2014-2016 

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
Death Certificates 2014-2016 

Number of Deaths 

Figure 5.18  LEADING CAUSES OF CANCER DEATH BY GENDER  Berkeley, 2014–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2014–2016

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

2005-2007 2008-2010 2011-2013 2014-2016

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

White African American API Total

HP2020: 46

UPDATED FIGURE Lung Cancer Mortality Rates by Year of Death 
& Race/Ethnicity, 
Berkeley, 2005-2016 

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
Death Certificates 2005-2016

Figure 5.19  LUNG CANCER MORTALITY RATES BY YEAR OF DEATH &  
RACE/ETHNICITY  Berkeley, 2005–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2005–2016

Page 181 of 224

191



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

126

 LIFE EXPECTANCY AND MORTALITY5

In the 2013 Health Status Report, 
the lung cancer mortality rate was 
only slightly higher in men than 
in women. Three years later, rates 
have dramatically dropped among 
women but remained largely 
unchanged among men. Today, 
lung cancer mortality rates among 
women are 15 per 100,000, but 
among men are 27 per 100,000. 
However, both sexes meet the 
HP2020 goal for lung cancer deaths.

Pancreatic cancer is the second leading 
cause of cancer-related death in 
Berkeley for men, and the third leading 
cause for women. Pancreatic cancer 
death rates are on the rise in Berkeley. 
There was an increase in pancreatic 
cancer deaths in Berkeley in 2014–2016, 
compared to previous years. From 
2014–2016, in Alameda County & the 
state of California, the pancreatic 
cancer rates were lower than in the city 
of Berkeley. However, in 2008–2010, 
the pancreatic cancer death rates 
in Berkeley were only slightly higher 
than those of the state of California. 

Deaths in Berkeley continued

0

10

20

30

40

50

2005-2007 2008-2010 2011-2013 2014-2016

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

Male Female Total

UPDATED FIGURE 
L
 

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
Death Certificates 2005-2016

HP2020: 46

Figure 5.20  LUNG CANCER MORTALITY RATES BY YEAR OF DEATH & 
GENDER  Berkeley, 2005–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2005–2016

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

2005-2007 2008-2010 2011-2013 2014-2016 Alameda
County

California

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

LE
Pancreatic Cancer Mortality Rates
Berkeley (2005-2016), Alameda County (2012-2014), & 
C

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 
2005-2016 & California Department of Public Health: County Health Profiles 2016

Berkeley

Figure 5.21  PANCREATIC CANCER MORTALITY RATES  Berkeley (2005–2016), 
Alameda County (2012–2014), & California (2012–2014)

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2005–2016 & California 
Department of Public Health: County Health Profiles 2016

Page 182 of 224

192



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

127

 LIFE EXPECTANCY AND MORTALITY 5

Prostate cancer is the most commonly 
diagnosed cancer among men in 
California. Prostate cancer mortality 
rates have decreased in Berkeley over 
the past decade. Berkeley prostate 
cancer mortality rates are lower 
Alameda County and California rates 
and they meet the HP2020 goal.

In California, breast cancer is the most 
commonly diagnosed cancer among 
women, and the second leading cause 
of cancer deaths in women. Although 
female breast cancer mortality rates 
have dropped sharply over the past 
decade, significantly closing the gap 
between African Americans and 
other groups, there continues to be 
a disparity. African Americans are 
the only group for which we have 
not met the HP2020 goal for breast 
cancer deaths among women.

Deaths in Berkeley continued

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

2005-2007 2008-2010 2011-2013 2014-2016

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

White African American API Latino Total

UPDATED FIGURE 
Female Breast Cancer Mortality Rates by Year & Race/Ethnicity, 
Berkeley, 2005-2016 

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
Death Certificates 2005-2016

HP2020: 21

Figure 5.22  FEMALE BREAST CANCER MORTALITY RATES BY YEAR &  
RACE/ETHNICITY  Berkeley, 2005–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2005–2016

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

2005-2007 2008-2010 2011-2013 2014-2016 Alameda
County

California HP2020

A
ge

 A
dj

us
te

d 
R

at
e 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

UPDATED FIGURE Prostate Cancer Mortality Rates
Berkeley (2005-2016), Alameda County (2012-2014), 
California (2012-2014), & HP2020

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 
2005-2016 & California Department of Public Health: County Health Profiles 2016

Berkeley

Figure 5.23  PROSTATE CANCER MORTALITY RATES  Berkeley (2005–2016),  
Alameda County (2012–2014), California (2012–2014), & HP2020

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2005–2016 & California 
Department of Public Health: County Health Profiles 2016

Page 183 of 224

193



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

128

 LIFE EXPECTANCY AND MORTALITY5

Premature Deaths and Years of 
Potential Life Lost (YPLL)

YPLL is a measure of premature death. 
It is a way of measuring the difference 
between when deaths actually occur 
in a population and when they should 
be expected to occur. It involves 
estimating the average time a person 
would have lived had he or she not 
died prematurely. Deaths before the 
age of 75 are considered by the CDC to 
be premature and the years not lived 
are potential years of life lost. 

YPLL is important because it helps 
to quantify the social and economic 
losses that result from premature 
death. When a demographic group 
experiences disproportionate YPLL, we 
lose the benefit of full participation of 
that group in community life.

Deaths in younger people generate 
more YPLL. Causes of death that are 
more common in young people, such 
as injuries, falls, or drug overdose, 
have a large impact on total years 
of potential life lost. Prevention of 
early deaths benefits the individual 
and the community by increasing the 
individual’s opportunity to live a full 
and productive life. 

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30%

Alcoholic Liver Disease

Diabetes

Chronic Lower Respiratory Disease

Stroke

Chronic Liver Disease & Cirrhosis

Homicide

Suicide

Unintentional Injuries

Cardiovascular Disease

Cancer

Percent of all YPLL

N=10,615

UPDATED FIGURE Years of Potential Life Lost (YPLL) Before 

Age 75 by Cause of Death Berkeley, 2014-2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
Death Certificates 2014-2016

Figure 5.24  YEARS OF POTENTIAL LIFE LOST (YPLL) BEFORE AGE 75  
BY CAUSE OF DEATH  Berkeley, 2014–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2014–2016

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

White African American API Latino

P
e

rc
e

n
t 

o
f 

T
o

ta
l 

Y
P

L
L

 o
r 

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

YPLL Population

Years of Potential Life Lost (YPLL) by Race/Ethnicity 

Berkeley, 2014-2016 

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2014-2016

Figure 5.25  YEARS OF POTENTIAL LIFE LOST (YPLL) BY RACE/ETHNICITY   
Berkeley, 2014–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2014–2016

Page 184 of 224

194



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

129

 LIFE EXPECTANCY AND MORTALITY 5

Cancer is the leading cause of YPLL in 
Berkeley. This reflects the combined 
effects of cancer as the leading cause 
of death and an illness that commonly 
affects a broad age range. In contrast, 
heart disease is much more common 
in people of older age than among 
children or young adults. Unintentional 
injuries contribute almost as much 
YPLL as heart disease. Although 
injuries are not as common a cause of 
death as heart disease, injuries affect 
younger individuals. 

YPLL are not distributed evenly by 
race/ethnicity. African Americans 
make up 7% of Berkeley’s population 
but account for almost 30% of years of 
potential life lost. Other racial/ethnic 
groups in Berkeley contribute a smaller 
portion of the total YPLL than their 
representation in their population, 
indicating that their lives are not being 
disproportionately shortened.

Among the White population in 
Berkeley, cancer is the leading cause of 
YPLL, followed by suicide. 

Among the African American 
population in Berkeley, cancer is the 
leading cause of YPLL, followed by 
cardiovascular disease. In comparison 
to the White population in Berkeley, 
a significant cause of YPLL in African 
Americans is homicide. 

Premature Deaths and Years of Potential Life 
Lost (YPLL) continued

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30%

HIV/AIDS

Alcoholic Liver Disease

Stroke

Chronic Lower Respiratory Disease

Chronic Liver Disease & Cirrhosis

Perinatal Disesase

Unintentional Injuries

Cardiovascular Disease

Suicide

Cancer

Percent of all YPLL

N=5,603

Years of Potential Life Lost (YPLL) Before Age 75 by Cause of 

Death Among Whites, Berkeley, 2014-2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
Death Certificates 2014-2016

Figure 5.26  YEARS OF POTENTIAL LIFE LOST (YPLL) BEFORE AGE 75 BY CAUSE OF 
DEATH AMONG WHITES  Berkeley, 2014–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2014–2016

0% 5% 10% 15% 20%

Suicide

HIV/AIDS

Chronic Lower Respiratory Disease

Stroke

Perinatal Disease

Diabetes Mellitus

Unintentional Injuries

Homicide

Cardiovascular Disease

Cancer

Percent of all YPLL

N=3,121

UPDATED FIGURE Years of Potential Life Lost (YPLL) Before 

Age 75 by Cause of Death Among African Americans, Berkeley, 

2014-2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; 
Death Certificates 2014-2016

Figure 5.27  YEARS OF POTENTIAL LIFE LOST (YPLL) BEFORE AGE 75 BY CAUSE OF 
DEATH AMONG AFRICAN AMERICANS  Berkeley, 2014–2016

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2014–2016

Page 185 of 224

195



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
18

130

 LIFE EXPECTANCY AND MORTALITY5

Opioid Overdose Related Deaths

Over the past two decades, as the 
prevalence of chronic pain and health 
care costs have exploded, an opioid 
epidemic with adverse consequences 
has escalated.

From 2016–2017 in Berkeley, there 
have been 7 deaths related to opioid 
overdose. Opioid mortality rates in 
Berkeley are higher than Alameda 
County but lower than California. 

References
1.	 J. LAST, A DICTIONARY OF EPIDEMIOLOGY (4TH 

EDITION), USA: Oxford University Press, 2001. 

2.	 J. McGinnis, “Actual causes of death in the United States,” 
JAMA, vol. 270, pp. 2207–2212, 1993. 

3.	 CDC Wide-ranging Online Data for Epidemiologic Research 
(WONDER), “CDC WONDER: Underlying Cause of Death 
1999–2015,” 2017. [Online]. Available: http://wonder.cdc.gov/ 
wonder/help/ucd.html. [Accessed 2017]. 

4.	 World Health Organization (WHO), “Social Determinants of 
Health: Key Concepts,” 2017. [Online]. Available: http://www. 
who.int/social_determinants/thecommission/finalreport/key_ 
concepts/en/index.html. [Accessed 2017]. 

5.	 CDC, “Heart Health Information: About Heart Disease,” 2015. 
[Online]. Available: https://www.cdc.gov/heartdisease/about.
htm. [Accessed 2017]. 

6.	 Alameda County Public Health Department, “The Health of 
Alameda County Cities and Places: A Report for the Hospital 
Council of Northern and Central California, 2010,” Oakland, 2017. 

7.	 American Cancer Society, California Department of Public 
Health, “California Cancer Facts and Figures 2017,” 2017. 
[Online]. Available: http://www.ccrcal.org/pdf/Reports/
ACS_2017_FF.pdf. [Accessed 2017]. 

8.	 Public Health Institute; California Breast Cancer Research 
Program, “California Breast Cancer Mapping Project: Identifying 
Areas of Concern in California,” 2012. [Online]. Available: http://
www.cehtp.org/download/cancer/breast-cancer-mapping-
report-final-full. [Accessed 2017]. 

9.	 US Department of Health and Human Services, “HealthyPeople.
gov: General Health Status,” 2011. [Online]. Available: http://
www.healthypeople.gov/2020/about/genhealthabout.
aspx#years. [Accessed 2017].

0

1

2

3

4

5

Berkeley Alameda CA

A
g

e
 A

d
ju

s
te

d
 R

a
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2016-2017; California Opioid 
Overdose Surveillance Dashboard 2017; Alameda County Public Health Department 2017

Opioid Overdose Mortality Rates, 2016-2017, Berkeley, Alameda 

County, CA

UPDATED 

FIGURE 5.28 

Figure 5.28  OPIOID OVERDOSE MORTALITY RATES   
2016–2017, Berkeley, Alameda County, CA

Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; Death Certificates 2016–2017; California 
Opioid Overdose Surveillance Dashboard 2017; Alameda County Public Health Department

Page 186 of 224

196



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
13

131

CONCLUSION

Essential Service Berkeley Examples

1.	 Monitor health status to identify and 
solve community health problems.

•	 Communicable Disease surveillance (including TB, STIs, HIV/AIDS)
•	 Registration of births and deaths (Vital Statistics) 

2.	 Diagnose and investigate health 
problems and health hazards in the 
community

•	 Communicable disease outbreaks
•	 Health inequities in cardiovascular disease, low birth weight, diabetes, and asthma

3.	 Inform, educate and empower people 
about health issues

•	 Berkeley High School Health Center and Berkeley Technology Academy Clinic
•	 School Linked Health Services

4.	 Mobilize community partnerships 
and action to identify and 
solve health problems

•	 Berkeley Healthcare Preparedness Coalition/Hub
•	 Comprehensive Perinatal Services Provider Roundtables  

5.	 Develop policies and plans that support 
individual and community health efforts

•	 Tobacco ordinances 
•	 Sugar Sweetened Beverage Tax and Healthy Berkeley Program

6.	Enforce laws and regulations that 
protect health and ensure safety

•	 Immunization requirements for school entry
•	 Public Health Emergency Preparedness Program

7.	 Link people to needed personal health 
services and assure the provision of 
health care when otherwise unavailable

•	 Nursing Targeted Case Management (TCM)
•	 Partnerships with LifeLong Medical Care and Alameda County Public Health

8.	 Assure a competent public and  
personal health care workforce

•	 YouthWorks and AmeriCorps Programs
•	 Training site for students interested in health (high school, college, graduate, and clinical) 

9.	Evaluate effectiveness, accessibility, 
and quality of personal and population-
based health services

•	 Member of the local Fetal and Infant Mortality Review Board 
•	 Participation in Alta Bates Hospital Infection Control Committee

10.	Research for new insights and innovative 
solutions to health problems

•	 Contribute our experience to the scientific literature and to professional and academic venues
•	 Evaluation of impact of Sugar Sweetened Beverage Tax 

HOW BERKELEY PROVIDES THE 10 ESSENTIAL SERVICES OF PUBLIC HEALTH
Berkeley’s Public Health Division is responsible for fulfilling the 10 Essential Services of Public Health as defined by the 
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). The examples below demonstrate how Berkeley’s public health activities 
address these essential services.  This is not a comprehensive account of Public Health activities.

CONCLUSION
This report presents a snapshot of the health of the Berkeley 
community. It describes how health changes over time, how 
we compare to our County, the State, and to the National 
Healthy People 2020 goals.  It also shows how groups within 
Berkeley compare with each other and geographically. 
Berkeley’s health is characterized by an overall excellent 
health status with striking health inequities. These patterns 
of health inequities are neither new nor unique to Berkeley 

nevertheless, they are unjust and unacceptable. The 
underlying causes and their solutions lie in the environments 
and neighborhoods in which people are born, grow, live, work, 
and age. Truly addressing the root causes of health inequities 
requires focused, consistent, comprehensive, and sustained 
effort on many fronts. Through strategic collaboration, a 
unified vision, and broad community engagement we can 
achieve our mission of optimal health and wellness for all. 

Page 187 of 224

197



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
13

132

LOOKING AHEAD

Despite The City of Berkeley Health Status Report 2018 is 
the groundwork from which the Public Health Division, the 
Department of Health, Housing and Community Services, 
the City, and the Berkeley community will identify priorities, 
develop a strategic plan, and implement tailored interventions 
to improve community health. This path to better health is not 
one we can take alone. It is the charge of the entire community 
to create a healthy Berkeley. As a community member, you 

make choices that impact not only your own personal health, 
but the health of your families and neighbors. Community 
leaders in our City government, community based organizations, 
faith institutions, and local businesses, in addition to providers 
and residents all have a role to play in creating a healthier 
community. Collectively, we can achieve a better quality of life 
for all who live in Berkeley. We look forward to working with you.

TECHNICAL NOTES

DATA SOURCES 

Population and Demographics

•	 The Decennial Census: the Census is a total count of the 
population and the main source for population demographics 
and characteristics. It is conducted every ten years by the U.S 
Census Bureau.

•	 The American Community Survey: The American Com-
munity Survey (ACS) is an ongoing survey of a sample of the 
US population addressing characteristics such as age, sex, 
race, family, income, education. The survey data is used for 
distribution of federal and state funds in addition to helping 
communities plan investments and services.

•	 Alameda Countywide Homeless Count and Survey Report: 
Alameda County conducts a research study, a point-in-time 
survey, every two years to count how many people are home-
less in the county and several key characteristics of those who 
are not housed.

•	 The California Employment Development Department 
(EDD): The source of estimates of employment and unem-
ployment rates for this report. This data is produced for the 
nation, the state, and for selected local areas. 

K-12 Students in the Berkeley Unified School District (BUSD)

•	 Demographic information: The demographics of K-12 
students enrolled in the Berkeley Unified School District was 
reported by the Berkeley Unified School District (BUSD) to 
the California Department of Education.

•	 California Healthy Kids Survey (CHKS): The California 
Healthy Kids Survey is the source of data for youth behav-
iors measured in students enrolled in 5th, 7th, 9th, and 11th 
grades in the Berkeley Unified School District. The survey was 
developed under a contract from the California Department 
of Education by WestEd and Duerr Evaluation resources. 
Comparison data is available for California (California Student 
Survey) and the United States (Youth Behavioral Risk Survey).

Physical Fitness

•	 Physical Fitness: FITNESSGRAM Healthy Fitness Zone 
(HFZ) Charts: Standards established by The Cooper Institute 
in association with the California Department of Education 
that represent levels of fitness, organized by gender and age. 
This chart offers some degree of protection against diseases 
resulting from sedentary living.

CONCLUSION Page 188 of 224

198



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
13

133

TECHNICAL NOTES

DATA SOURCES continued

Birth & Death Certificates 

•	 Public Health Division Vital Statistics Office: The Public 
Health Division Vital Statistics Office of Berkeley is a unit 
within the city’s Public Health Division responsible for 
registration and maintenance of birth and death certificates.

oo Birth certificates record characteristics of the parents (e.g., 
maternal age), pregnancy (e.g. duration of pregnancy and 
prenatal care visits), and birth outcomes (weight of the 
newborn).

oo Death certificates provide demographics of the decedent, 
the cause of death, and census tract of residence.

Communicable Diseases

•	 California Department of Public Health, STD Control 
Branch: Case reports are submitted to local health juris-
dictions in the form of laboratory reports and Confidential 
Morbidity Reports (CMRs). The local health jurisdictions then 
submit the data to the California Department of Public Health 
(CDPH).

•	 Confidential Morbidity Reports: Mandated communicable 
disease reports submitted to the local health officer by phone, 
fax, or mail within specified time limits. These reports are 
received and compiled by the Berkeley Public Health Division. 
Information includes patient’s demographics, disease 
diagnosed, and laboratory tests.

•	 HIV/AIDS Registry: The statistics presented in the HIV and 
AIDS section were obtained using the Berkeley HIV/AIDS 
Case Registry. HIV/AIDS cases are reported to the Berkeley 
Public Health Division and then to the State Office of AIDS as 
part of the confidential HIV/AIDS Surveillance System.

Childhood Immunization

•	 California Department of Health Services Expanded 
Kindergarten Retrospective Survey: A primary source of 
information about childhood immunization coverage in 
California. This survey provides estimates of immunization 
coverage among kindergarten students.

Hospital Discharge (OSHPD)

•	 Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development 
(OSHPD): OSHPD is the leader in data collection and dis-
semination of California’s healthcare infrastructure in asso-
ciation with the State of California. Publications include data 
compilation on hospitalizations, patient discharge, emergency 
department visits, and hospital workforce. 

Adult Health Behaviors

•	 California Health Interview Survey (CHIS): The California 
Health Interview Survey is the largest state health survey in 
the nation. The survey provides both state-wide and coun-
ty-wide data on topics such as self-perceived health status, 
disability, chronic health conditions, cancer screening, health 
insurance, alcohol and tobacco use, mental health, diet, and 
physical activity.

Traffic Injuries

•	 Statewide Integrated Traffic Records System (SWITRS): 
The SWITRS is an annually updated database conducted 
by the California Highway Patrol in collaboration with 
CalTrans, the California Department of Transportation, and 
the California Department of Motor Vehicles. The database 
provides information on traffic collisions throughout California 
including demographics of the injured and many other aspects 
of the collision on both state and countywide levels.

Domestic Violence 

•	 State of California Department of Justice: The Berkeley Po-
lice Department collects data on domestic violence incidents 
reported to the police and then reported to the State of Cali-
fornia Department of Justice. The data collected from police 
reports includes both victim and aggressor demographics and 
their relationship (spouse, ex-spouse/ boyfriend/girlfriend, 
cohabitation). 

Cancer Incidence 

•	 Cancer Prevention Institute of California (CPIC): The 
Cancer Prevention Institute of California works across all 
communities to explore the causes of cancer by studying 
the genetic, environmental, and viral origins of cancers and 
monitoring cancer incidence diagnosed each year in the 
general population.

Page 189 of 224

199



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
13

134

KEY TERMS 

Adjustment Disorders: A psychological response, such as 
marked distress, to an identifiable stressor or stressors.

Age-Adjusted Rates: Rates for hospitalization and mortality 
were age-adjusted. Age-adjustment is a statistical technique 
that makes it possible to compare health outcomes of popula-
tions that have different age distributions. Hospitalization and 
death rates increase rapidly after age 60, so population groups 
that have proportionately more older persons will appear to 
have high rates compared to groups that have a smaller propor-
tion of older people. Once the rate is age adjusted, any differ-
ence seen cannot be attributed to age.

Ambulatory Care Sensitive Conditions (ACSC): ACSCs are 
conditions for which good outpatient care can potentially pre-
vent the need for hospitalization, or for which early intervention 
can prevent complications or more severe disease.

Anxiety Disorders: Disorders with prominent anxiety symp-
toms such as panic and/or phobias.

Body Mass Index (BMI): A number calculated from an individ-
ual’s weight and height. BMI does not measure body fat directly 
but correlates to direct measures.

Bipolar Disorders: Disorders characterized by marked mood 
swings, including periods of depressive symptoms and periods of 
elevated mood/mania.25

Civilian Population: All individuals who are at least 16 years of 
age, who are not institutionalized (in, for example, correctional, 
residential nursing, or mental health facilities) nor on active duty 
in the Armed Forces.

Coefficient of Variation (CV): The CV is a way to describe the 
variation of an estimate. Data with CV values of 30% and greater 
may be unreliable, and subsequently were not included in this 
report. As a result, some rates pertaining to certain ethnicities or 
genders may be missing from this report.28

Cultural Competence: A set of behaviors, attitudes, policies, 
and procedures that enable individuals to work effectively 
across cross-cultural and diverse linguistic situations.

Mortality Rate (Death Rate): Reflects the likelihood of death 
occurring at a given age. The rate is calculated by dividing the 
number of deaths in a specified time period by the population in 
the same period.

Disorders of Infancy, Childhood, or Adolescence: Psychologi-
cal disorders usually first diagnosed early in an individual’s life.

Disruptive Behaviors: Disorders characterized by rule-breaking, 
aggressive, and/or oppositional behavior by a child  
or adolescent.

Dropout Rate: By using dropout and enrollment counts from 
the same scholar year, the annual dropout rate is calculated by 
dividing the number of dropouts in grades nine through twelve 
by the total enrollment in those grades.

Educational attainment: A term referring the highest level 
of education that an individual has completed. Educational 
attainment is distinct from the level of schooling an individual is 
currently enrolled in.

Employed/Employment: Members of the civilian population 
who worked during the reference period week. In the American 
Community household survey for determining employment 
status, the reference period is generally the calendar week that 
includes the 12th of the month.

Federal Poverty Level (FPL): the indicator the U.S. government 
uses to determine who is eligible for federal subsidies and aid. 
The Department of Health and Human Services issues new 
poverty guidelines each January. In 2015, the FPL for a family of 
4 was an annual income of $24,250. 

Health Disparities: Differences in the incidence, prevalence, 
mortality, and burden of diseases and other adverse health con-
ditions that exist among specific population groups.

Health Inequity(s): Concerns those differences in population 
health that can be traced to unequal economic and social con-
ditions and are systemic and avoidable; thus being inherently 
unjust and unfair.

Healthy People 2020 (HP2020) is a national ten-year frame-
work for improving the health of all people in the United 
States.34 It identifies four overarching goals:

oo Attain high-quality, longer lives free of preventable disease, 
disability, injury, and premature death.

oo Achieve health equity, eliminate disparities, and improve 
the health of all groups.

oo Create social and physical environments that promote good 
health for all.

oo Promote quality of life, healthy development, and healthy 
behaviors across all life stages.

oo Homelessness: A state of residence which can be catego-
rized into one or more of the following: 

oo Hidden Homeless: A status which includes individuals in 
certain unstable or short-term housing situations which 
often lead to literal or chronic homelessness. These short-
term housing situations include living temporarily with a 
friend or relative, in a motel, or facing eviction within seven 
days.

TECHNICAL NOTES Page 190 of 224

200



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
13

135

TECHNICAL NOTES

oo Literal Homeless: A status which includes individuals who 
sleep in places not meant for human habitation, such as a 
car or the street, individuals residing in emergency shelters 
and transitional housing, and individuals who have been 
in places such as a hospital or jail for a short period after 
having been homeless.

oo Chronic Homeless: A status referring to adults who do not 
have children with them, have at least one disability, and 
have been homeless for a long time or frequently in the 
recent past.

oo Household: A household includes all the persons who 
occupy a housing unit. A housing unit is a house, an apart-
ment, a mobile home, a group of rooms, or a single room 
that is occupied.

oo Family household: A unit composed of a householder living 
with people related to him or her by birth, marriage (exclud-
ing same sex couples) or adoption.

oo Nonfamily household: A unit composed of a householder 
living alone or with nonrelatives only.

oo Householder: The person who owns or rents the home.

oo Single householder families: A family unit composed of an 
adult living with related children and without a spouse.

Income vs. Wealth: Income is the net monetary earnings of an 
individual or household. Wealth refers to the total accumulated 
amount of resources or assets an individual possesses.

Labor Force: The group made up of Americans who have jobs 
or are seeking a job, are 16 years of age or older, are not serving 
in the military, and are not institutionalized. In other words, all 
Americans who are eligible to work in the everyday U.S. econo-
my represent the labor force.

oo Not in the Labor Force: Members of the civilian population 
who are not classified as employed or unemployed. This 
category includes retired persons, students, those taking 
care of children or other family members, and others who 
are neither working nor seeking work.

Life Expectancy: The number of years that a newborn is ex-
pected to live based on current death rates. For this report, life 
expectancy was calculated using the abridged life table method 
using mortality rates in 19 age bands.

Linguistic Isolation: Since 2010 the U.S. Census term, “Lin-
guistic Isolation” has been replaced with the descriptive phrase: 
“Households in which no one 5 and over speaks English only 
or speaks a language other than English at home and speaks 
English very well.” In other words, all members of the household 
5 years old and over have at least some difficulty with English.

Low Birth-Weight Infants: Describes live births in which the 
newborn weighs less than 2,500 grams or 5.5 pounds. The low 
birth weight rate (or percentage) is the number of newborns 
weighing less than 2500 grams divided by the total number of 
live births in a specified time period.

Major Depression (Major Depressive Disorder): Chronic 
feelings of sadness and depression which are frequent enough 
to interfere with an individual’s daily life.

Mood Disorders: Mental disorders characterized by alternating 
periods of elevated and depressive moods.

Obese: Individuals who have a body mass index (BMI) of 30 or 
greater.

Overweight: Individuals who have a BMI between 25 and 
29.9.39

Post-traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD): An anxiety disorder 
in which individuals continue to experience feelings of anxiety, 
fear, or stress despite being in safe conditions. PTSD symptoms 
often follow exposure to an extreme traumatic stressor, such as 
threat of physical injury.

Poverty: Poverty status measures family income relative to 
family size using the poverty threshold developed by the U.S. 
Census Bureau. Families or individuals with income below their 
appropriate threshold are classified as below the poverty level. 
The thresholds vary by the number of adults and children in 
the family. The 2015 threshold for a family of 4 was an annual 
income of $24,250. The methodology was created in the 1960’s 
and reflects the assumption that the cost of food for a minimum 
but adequate diet accounted for one-third of family income.

Premature birth: A live birth with a gestation age of less than 37 
weeks.

Prescription drug reactions: “correct drug properly adminis-
tered in therapeutic or prophylactic dosage, as the cause of any 
adverse effect.”

Schizophrenia: Schizophrenia is a chronic, severe, and disabling 
brain disorder often involving visual and auditory hallucinations. 
Other common symptoms include distorted thought processes 
and paranoia.

Page 191 of 224

201



C
it

y 
of

 B
er

ke
le

y 
 H

EA
LT

H
 S

TA
T

U
S 

R
EP

O
R

T
 2

0
13

136

Social Determinants of Health (SDOH): The complex, inte-
grated, and overlapping social structures and economic systems 
that are responsible for most health inequities. These social 
structures and economic systems include the social environ-
ment, physical environment, health services, and structural and 
societal factors. Social determinants of health are shaped by the 
distribution of money, power, and resources throughout local 
communities, nations, and the world.

Socioeconomically disadvantaged: The California State Board 
of Education defines the “socioeconomically disadvantaged 
subgroup” as students who meet either of two criteria: Neither 
of the student’s parents has received a high school diploma 
or the student is eligible for the free or reduced-price lunch 
program, also known as the National School Lunch Program 
(NSLP).

Timely Initiation of Prenatal Care: Defined as one or more 
prenatal visits to a doctor occurring in the first trimester of the 
pregnancy.

TECHNICAL NOTES

KEY TERMS continued

Unemployed: Members of the civilian population who did not 
work during the week (including the 12th of the month) but who 
looked for work and were able and available for work.

Unemployment Rate: The number of unemployed individuals 
divided by the labor force. The rate is expressed as a percentage.

Unintentional Injuries: Injuries which are accidental or without 
personal intent, such as motor vehicle crashes or fires.

Years of Potential Life Lost (YPLL): The concept of years of 
potential life lost (YPLL) involves estimating the average time 
a person would have lived had he or she not died prematurely. 
This measure is used to help quantify social and economic loss 
due to premature death. For example, assuming an average 
lifespan of 75 years, an individual who dies at age 25 has died 
50 years earlier than expected (75-25=50). Those 50 years of 
potential life have been lost; the YPLL is 50 years. If the same in-
dividual had died at age 70, the YPLL would only be 5 (75-70=5)

Page 192 of 224

202



 
Office of the City Manager 
 

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099 
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager 

WORKSESSION 
July 17, 2018 

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager 
 
Submitted by:  Paul Buddenhagen, Director, Health, Housing & Community Services 

Subject: Berkeley Age Friendly Initiative 

SUMMARY 
At the request of City Council, the Health, Housing and Community Services 
Department is providing an overview and update on the Age Friendly Berkeley initiative. 
Helping Berkeley’s older adults remain in Berkeley and live long, healthy and fulfilled 
lives is the goal of the Age-Friendly Berkeley initiative. It’s a collaborative effort between 
the City of Berkeley, Lifelong Medical Care, the Center for Independent Living, and 
Ashby Village. This report provides information on the key findings from a community 
survey that was conducted in March and April 2018 to help plan the work. This report 
also provides highlights from informational interviews that were conducted with City staff 
from various Departments to identify projects that City Departments have completed, or 
are considering, that consider the needs of older adults as they age in Berkeley. 

The community survey and the informational interviews are strategies used to inform 
the development of the City of Berkeley Aging Friendly City Plan. This Plan will include 
recommended actions to achieve the goal of creating a livable community for all 
Berkeley residents, and will be submitted to the World Health Organization in November 
2018. This report provides Council with information to inform the discussion on better 
serving our seniors.  
 
The community survey gathered input from Berkeley community members age 50 and 
over. The purpose of the survey was to identify their priorities as they age in the 
Berkeley community. Survey results indicate that residents prioritize affordable senior 
housing, transportation services, and outdoor spaces that are walkable. 
 
CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS 
Many cities are experiencing rapid increases in the proportion of people aged 60 and 
over. In Berkeley, the population over age 65 is expected to nearly double from 12% in 
2010 to 21% in 2030.   
 
The World Health Organization (WHO) recognizes that older people are a resource for 
their families, communities and economies in supportive living environments. Older 

Page 193 of 224

203

mailto:manager@CityofBerkeley.infos
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager


Aging Services Division 
Health. Housing and Community Services Department WORKSESSION 
 July 17, 2018 
 

Page 2 

people in particular often require supportive and enabling living environments to 
compensate for physical and social changes associated with aging. Thus, in order to 
retain a vibrant and enriching population of older adults, cities must provide the 
structures and services to support their wellbeing and productivity. Making cities more 
age-friendly is a necessary and logical response to promote the wellbeing and 
contributions of older urban residents and keep cities thriving (Global Age-Friendly 
Cities: A Guide, WHO, 2007). 
 
The WHO has developed an active aging framework that outlines how cities can 
improve opportunities for health, participation and security in order to enhance quality of 
life for elders as they age. In an age-friendly city, policies, services, settings and 
structures support and enable people to age actively. Active and healthy aging depends 
on a variety of influences or determinants that surround individuals, families and 
nations. These determinants are reflected in the eight domain, or topic areas, identified 
by the AARP in previous research with older people on the characteristics of elderly-
friendly communities: 
 

1. Outdoor Spaces 
2. Transportation 
3. Housing  
4. Social Participation 
5. Respect & Social Inclusion 
6. Civic Participation & Employment 
7. Communication & Participation 
8. Community and Health Services 

 
Berkeley must complete an Aging Friendly Plan to be recognized by the WHO as an 
Age-Friendly City. To develop this Plan, public input was gathered from Berkeley 
community members through a community survey developed and implemented in 
partnership with AARP. The survey was distributed by mail to AARP members in 
Berkeley. Hard copies of the survey were also made available at the senior centers, 
libraries, and partner agencies such as churches and senior housing facilities. Funding 
for the development and analysis of the community survey was provided by a grant from 
the Pilgrimage Foundation.  

AGING SERVICES DIVISION 

The City of Berkeley’s Aging Services Division aims to promote a dignified and healthy 
quality of life for older adults by offering connections to community, services & 
resources through two vibrant senior centers (North Berkeley Senior Center and South 
Berkeley Senior Center) and a multi-resource center (West Berkeley Service Center). 
Our programs touch the lives of older adults each year by serving as a resource for 
recreation, group meals, health & wellness education and other supportive services for 
adults 55 and older. 

Page 194 of 224

204



Aging Services Division 
Health. Housing and Community Services Department WORKSESSION 
 July 17, 2018 
 

Page 3 

At our senior centers, staff provide local resources and provide individualized 
assistance to seniors and caregivers. Classes provided through the Berkeley Adult 
School, and other enrichment activities, are scheduled daily at the Centers. 
Lunchtime dining for senior center members is provided at a reasonable price (often 
free) at both senior centers; approximately 200 members are fed each day (over 40,000 
meals per year). 
 
Our Social Services staff provides consultation, referral, and case management for 
seniors in distress. Services include, but are not limited to, transportation, housing, food 
accessibility, access to healthcare, and legal assistance.  
 
The Division’s Meals on Wheels staff and volunteers provides approximately 60,000 
home-delivered, well balanced meals to homebound seniors, 60 years of age or 
older, in Berkeley, Albany and Emeryville.   
 
Berkeley senior centers provide transportation and access to recreational and 
educational activities in the community.  Our paratransit services assist Berkeley 
residents with disabilities, and those 70 years of age or older, by providing taxi scrip and 
van voucher programs that enhance access to things seniors need and want. In FY17, 
over 13,400 taxi rides were provided to taxi scrip users, and over 1,200 van vouchers 
were used. 
 
Finally, the Aging Services Division provides many opportunities for volunteers to 
support seniors, and thereby remain engaged in our community. Each year, hundreds of 
volunteers support the activities and services provided at the North and South Berkeley 
Senior Centers and help to deliver thousands of meals for the Meals on Wheels 
program. 

SURVEY RESULTS 
 
Respondent Characteristics 
A total of 1416 surveys from Berkeley adults age 50 and over were received and 
analyzed in April 2018. 30% of the respondents are between the ages of 50-64, 57% 
between ages 65-79, and 13% age 80 or more. 73% of those surveyed are female.  
 
Approximately 66% of the respondents indicated a post-college level of education. 

Page 195 of 224

205

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/WorkArea/linkit.aspx?LinkIdentifier=id&ItemID=3992&libID=4012


Aging Services Division 
Health. Housing and Community Services Department WORKSESSION 
 July 17, 2018 
 

Page 4 

 

 
Approximately 60% of the survey respondents reported an income of $60,000 or more 
in the previous year. 

 

 
A majority of the survey respondents indicated that they live in single family homes. 
One-third of the respondents indicated living in multi-unit housing complexes. 
 

K-12 with no 
diploma

1%

High School or 
GED
2%

Post-high 
school or voc 
training - no 

degree
4%

2-year college 
degree or 
vocational 
Certificate

6%
4-year college 

degree
21%

Post college 
studies and/or 

degree
66%

RESPONDENTS BY LEVEL OF EDUCATION

n=1402

0%
5%

10%
15%
20%
25%
30%
35%
40%
45%

Below
$12,000

$12,000 to
$16,000

$16,000 to
$24,000

$24,000 -
$32,000

$32,000 to
$60,000

$60,000 to
$90,000

$90,000 or
more

Income of Respondents n=1309

Page 196 of 224

206



Aging Services Division 
Health. Housing and Community Services Department WORKSESSION 
 July 17, 2018 
 

Page 5 

 

 
 
Key Survey Findings 
The community survey included various questions that address each domain. As 
mentioned previously, survey respondents highlighted concerns and priorities under the 
housing, transportation, and outdoor spaces domain areas. These findings are 
summarized below, by domain area: 
 
Housing 
The majority of the survey respondents in each income group indicated that Berkeley 
was an “Excellent” or “Good” city to age in. However, over 30% of respondents 
reporting an income of $32,000 or below in the previous year indicated that Berkeley is 
a “Not so good/poor” place to age. 
 

Senior Housing, 
2%

Multi-unit 
building, 29%

Cottage/Inlaw, 
2%

Shared, 1%

Single Family 
Home, 64%

No Regular 
Home, 2%

Other, 0%

Type of Housing Lived In n=1423

Page 197 of 224

207



Aging Services Division 
Health. Housing and Community Services Department WORKSESSION 
 July 17, 2018 
 

Page 6 

 
 
When asked about main reasons for their rating of Berkeley as a place to age, 
respondents indicated that they appreciated the availability of low-income and senior 
housing in the City. However, respondents also pointed out that the availability of such 
housing was low, and that housing and property tax costs are too high. These reasons, 
along with mentions of gentrification and homelessness, support respondents’ indication 
of Berkeley as a “Not so good/poor” place to age. 
 
It is important to note that those survey respondents in the $16,000-$32,000 income 
bracket rate Berkeley the lowest for aging. As income increases, the number of 
respondents indicating that Berkeley is an “Excellent/Good” place to age also increases. 
The chart above highlights the income disparities that exist in Berkeley; as mentioned in 
the Health Status Report, the environments and neighborhoods in which people live, 
work, learn, and raise their families impact their access to resources such as effective 
health care, and ultimately affect their overall quality of life.  
 
Additionally, survey respondents were asked about factors that would influence their 
decision to move out of Berkeley. Over 60% of respondents identified their need for 
housing to live independently, lowering the cost of living overall, and needing a less 
expensive home, as their top three influencing factors. 
  
Outdoor Spaces  
Word clouds were created to illustrate the most frequently mentioned positive reasons 
from those survey respondents who reported the City of Berkeley to be an "Excellent" or 
"Good" place to age (55% overall): 
 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Below $16,000 $16,000 to
$32,000

$32,000 to
$60,000

$60,000 to
$90,000

$90,000+

How Respondents Rate Berkeley as a Place to Age
by Income Group

Excellent/Good OK Not So Good/Poor n=1236p=.000

Page 198 of 224

208



Aging Services Division 
Health. Housing and Community Services Department WORKSESSION 
 July 17, 2018 
 

Page 7 

 
 
Word clouds were also created to illustrate the most frequently mentioned negative 
reasons from those survey respondents who reported the City of Berkeley to be a be 
"Not So Good" or "Poor"  place to age (11% overall): 
 

 
While respondents acknowledge that the City of Berkeley is an accessible community 
that is resource and activity-rich, they also identified affordable housing, transportation 
services, and safety as significant needs in the Berkeley community.  
 
Transportation 
Respondents were asked how they get around for things like shopping, visiting the 
doctor, running errands or socializing. While the majority drive themselves, a large 
percentage rely on walking, and half report using public transit. Fewer than 30% use a 
taxi or ride service, but they may not know about the transportation and paratransit 
services that the City, and other City partners, offer. 
 
Survey respondents were also asked about the importance of certain traffic resources: 
 

Page 199 of 224

209



Aging Services Division 
Health. Housing and Community Services Department WORKSESSION 
 July 17, 2018 
 

Page 8 

 
 
Transportation is a high priority for older adults with nearly all wanting more transit 
enhancements.  Approximately 100% state that the following are very important:  Public 
transportation stops are safe and well lit, public transportation is affordable, and special 
transportation for seniors. 
 
Key Interview Findings 
In addition to the community survey, a total of 18 informational interviews with City staff 
from 9 City Departments were conducted. Data on projects that have been completed 
and are currently being planned/pursued that address relevant older adult issues and 
concerns was collected. The following list summarizes these projects by domain area. 
 
Housing 
Projects/Elements currently in place 

• Senior and disabled home loan rehab program: long term, low interest loans to 
fix houses of low income seniors so they can age in place.  

• Short term rental application support/workshops through Finance Department 
• Housing Assistance is available through the Berkeley Housing Authority, Center 

for Independent Living, ECHO housing (fair house counseling), NID (housing 
counseling Agency focused on foreclosure counseling) and the Unity Council 
(foreclosure workshops) 

• 738 dedicated, affordable senior housing units in Berkeley, but with wait lists of 
6‐8 years  
 

Projects in process with Age Friendly Elements 
• Disability Commission and Planning Commission considering amendments to 

ADU’s - goals is to increase housing stock that is accessible. 
• Expansion of City Planning’s housing safety program with intent to proactively 

protect low-income housing stock. 
 

 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 120%

Public transp stops safe/well-lit
Affordable public transp

Special transp services for older adults, people w/…
Enforced speed limits

Audio/visual pedestrian crossings
Safe public parking

Affordable public parking
Driver's ed/refresher courses

Traffic Resources that are
Very Important or Somewhat Important for Seniors

n=1361-1423

Page 200 of 224

210



Aging Services Division 
Health. Housing and Community Services Department WORKSESSION 
 July 17, 2018 
 

Page 9 

Outdoor Spaces 
Projects/Elements currently in place 

• Recreational programs through the Parks & Rec department now offering more 
adult classes: painting, yoga, aquatics, Tai Chi, etc. 

• 52 Parks as well as trails and community gardens are available 
• Sidewalks, curb cuts, street lighting, benches, & traffic calming devices are well 

developed in most of the city 
• New developments & redevelopments, including businesses & housing 

developments, are required to build or remodel according to ADA standards 
 

Projects in process with Age Friendly Elements 
• Parks & Rec Department considering adding paid classes and programs 

targeting the older adult population 
• City Planning Department using “Crime Prevention through Environmental 

Design” to address safety issues, uncomfortable spaces, dark alleys, etc. 
• Measure T1 holding public hearings; goal to improve existing infrastructure and 

facilities  
 
Transportation 
Projects/Elements currently in place 

• Strategic Transportation Plan strives to enable equal access for Berkeley 
community members of any age, background, and ability to move throughout City 

• Paratransit, senior shuttle, and taxi scrip services available through City’s Aging 
Services Division 
 

Projects in process with Age Friendly Elements 
• Planning, Public Works Departments developing master pedestrian plan in 

commercial areas; safety, walkability, lighting, etc.  
• Planning, Public Works Departments reviewing sidewalks in poor condition, 

which have been an issue for people with disabilities and elders who are 
challenged by broken sidewalks  

• Aging Services transportation services to implement mobility management and 
travel training for seniors 
 

POSSIBLE FUTURE ACTION 
The recommendations listed below were developed by the Age Friendly Berkeley 
collaborative. These recommendations align with both the key findings from the 
community survey and the City staff informational interviews.  
 
Housing 

• Incorporate universal design into new building codes 
• Support efforts to overturn policy that allows people to raise the rent to market 

when someone in a rent-controlled space moves out  
• Create a publicly accessible, understandable database where seniors can see 

rental opportunities rather than the need to call each establishment individually 

Page 201 of 224

211



Aging Services Division 
Health. Housing and Community Services Department WORKSESSION 
 July 17, 2018 
 

Page 10 

• Allow & promote a mix of uses in buildings and neighborhoods through zoning 
codes and planning tools to provide access to necessary services (grocery 
stores, pharmacies, etc.) with multiple transportation options in neighborhoods 

• Work with additional personnel and leadership outside government agencies to 
help coordinate housing needs along a continuum, from shared housing to 
assisted living 

 
Outdoor Spaces 

• Include input from older adults while developing the master pedestrian plan for 
input about cleanliness, wayfinding, safety, walkability, etc. 

• Improve park bathrooms and facilities in general for the older population  
• Create safe routes to common destinations (e.g., community centers, libraries) 

 
Transportation 

• Advance the affordability, availability, reliability, frequency, and travel 
destinations for public transit 

• Allocate additional funding to improve transportation infrastructure (benches, 
shelters, traffic signals, and pavement on pedestrian sidewalks 

• Extend educational programs to help individuals learn about public transit options 
 
The City’s Aging Services Division remains committed to promoting quality services and 
resources to encourage active aging for Berkeley’s older adults. The Division is also 
committed to working with partners to create sustainable age-friendly elements in the 
Berkeley community that enable access to resources which support a full and healthy 
life for everyone. As our older adult population increases, it is important for the city to 
continue to focus on their needs, and provide accessible and affordable opportunities 
for them to participate actively in our community. 
 
BACKGROUND 
To become a member of the World Health Network, the City completed an application 
that demonstrated Berkeley’s commitment to older adults. Through the City’s dedicated 
services to older adults, its robust non-profit sector, and innovative planning, the City 
demonstrated Berkeley’s commitment to the older adult community and was accepted 
into the World Health Network in November 2016. 

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY 
There are no environmental sustainability impacts as part of this report. 

CONTACT PERSON 
Tanya Bustamante, Aging Services Manager, HHCS, (510) 981-5178 
 

Page 202 of 224

212



Age Friendly Initiative

Presented by Tanya Bustamante 

Department of Health, Housing & Community Services

July 17, 2018

Page 203 of 224

213



Age Friendly City

2

Page 204 of 224

214



Age Friendly Berkeley Initiative

SHIFTING DEMOGRAPHICS PARTNERS

In 2010, approximately

1 in 8

Berkeley residents were older 
adults

By 2030, more than

1 in 5

Berkeley residents will be older 
adults

3

Page 205 of 224

215



Older Adults in Berkeley

 4K  2K 0 2K 4K
50 to 54

55 to 59

60 to 64

65 to 69

70 to 74

75 to 79

80 to 84

85 and Over

Population Distribution by Age and Gender, Berkeley, 2011-2015

4
Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011-2015

MEN WOMEN

Page 206 of 224

216



Informing the Berkeley Age Friendly Plan

30%

57%

13%

Age

50 - 64 65-79 80+

73%
FEMALE

20%
EARN BELOW 
200% FPL

PROCESS PROFILE OF COMMUNITY RESPONDENTS

• Community Survey:
• Over 1,400 respondents 

(Berkeley adults age 50+)

• Informational Interviews:
• 18 City staff from 9 

Departments

5

Page 207 of 224

217



0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Below $32K $32K - $90K Above $90K

How Respondents Rate Berkeley as a Place to Age
by Income Group

Excellent/Good OK Not So Good/Poor

Berkeley Rating Varies by Income
Those earning below 
$32k were more than 
twice as likely to rate 
Berkeley poorly when 

compared to top 
income earners

6

Page 208 of 224

218



Benefits and Challenges to Aging In Place in 
Berkeley

Reasons Berkeley is Excellent/Good
Place to Age

Reasons Berkeley is Not So Good/Poor 
Place to Age

7

Page 209 of 224

219



Transportation is a High Priority for Older Adults

8

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Public transp stops safe/well-lit

Affordable public transp

Special transportation services

Traffic Resources that are
Very Important or Somewhat Important for Seniors

Page 210 of 224

220



City of Berkeley Projects that Support an Age 
Friendly City for All

HOUSING

• Senior and disabled home loan programs

• Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) policies

• Housing safety program thru Planning Department

OPEN 
SPACES

• Older adult programs thru Parks & Rec Department

• “Crime Prevention through Environmental Design”

• Older adults engaged thru Measure T1 

TRANSPORT.

• Master pedestrian plan in commercial areas

• City sidewalk assessment

• Mobility management and travel training for seniors

9

Page 211 of 224

221



Recommended Actions

• Seek older adult input while 
developing the master 
pedestrian plan

• Improve  park bathrooms 
and facilities

• Create safe routes to 
common destinations

O U T D O O R  S PA C E S

• Advance affordability, 
availability, and reliability of 
public transport

• Improve transportation 
infrastructure

• Extend educational 
programs on public transit 
options

T R A N S P O R TAT I O N

• Promote universal design & 
accessible neighborhoods

• Support policy efforts that 
preserve units rented below 
market rates

• Collaborate to develop 
continuum of  housing 
options

H O U S I N G

10

Page 212 of 224

222



Aging Services Division at a Glance

11

24.4 
FTE STAFF

190
VOLUNTEERS

170
VULNERABE SENIORS 

RECEIVE CASE MANAGEMENT

50,000
MEALS SERVED AT 

OUR SENIOR CENTERS

13,400
TAXI RIDES

60,000
MEALS DELIVERED TO 

HOMEBOUND SENIORS

1,140
SENIOR CENTER CLASSES 

DELIVERED 

120
SHOPPING EXCURSIONS 

ORGANIZED

1,270
VAN RIDES

Page 213 of 224

223



Questions?

12

Page 214 of 224

224



Additional Slides

13

Page 215 of 224

225



Older Adults in Berkeley

53%

35%

12%

Age Distribution for Adults 50+

50-64 65-79 80+

Gender Distribution for Adults 50+

Male Female

14

Page 216 of 224

226



Community Survey Respondent Profile

73%
FEMALE

66%
POST COLLEGE
EDUCATION

60%
EARN $60K+ 
ANNUALLY

15

Page 217 of 224

227



Transportation is a High Priority for Older Adults

0% 25% 50% 75% 100%

Public transp stops safe/well-lit

Affordable public transp

Special transp services for older adults, people w/ disabilities

Enforced speed limits

Audio/visual pedestrian crossings

Safe public parking

Affordable public parking

Driver's ed/refresher courses

Traffic Resources that are
Very Important or Somewhat Important for Seniors

16

Page 218 of 224

228



Berkeley Rating Varies by Income

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Below $16,000 $16,000 to $32,000 $32,000 to $60,000 $60,000 to $90,000 $90,000+

How Respondents Rate Berkeley as a Place to Age
by Income Group

Excellent/Good n=1236p=.000

Those earning below 
$32k were more than 
twice as likely to rate 
Berkeley poorly when 

compared to top 
income earners

17

Page 219 of 224

229



Berkeley Population by Age and Gender

 15K  10K  5K 0 5K 10K 15K

0 to 4
5 to 9

10 to 14
15 to 19
20 to 24
25 to 29
30 to 34
35 to 39
40 to 44
45 to 49
50 to 54
55 to 59
60 to 64
65 to 69
70 to 74
75 to 79
80 to 84

85 and Over

18
Source: City of Berkeley Public Health Division, Epidemiology & Vital Statistics; U.S. Census, ACS 2011-2015

Page 220 of 224

230



Older Adults in Berkeley

• Age distribution
• 55-59 5.4%

• 60-64 5.2%

• 65-74 8.2%

• 75-84 3.7%

• 85+ 1.8%

• Gender (65 and over)
• Male 41.8%

• Female 58.2%

19

Page 221 of 224

231



Aging Services Division
• Staffing & Volunteers

• 24 FTE staff

• 175-200 volunteers throughout the year

• 2 Senior Centers
• Daily classes, enrichment activities, shuttle transportation

• 97 classes per month

• 10-12 field and shopping trips per month

• 200 lunchtime meals served each day (over 50,000 meals per year)

• Paratransit services:
• FY17: over 13,400 taxi rides & over 1,270 van rides

• Social Services Unit
• Caseload of approximately 120

• Meals on Wheels
• Approximately 60,000 meals delivered per year 20

Page 222 of 224

232



City of Berkeley Projects that Support an Age 
Friendly City for All

HOUSIN
G

• Senior and disabled home loan programs

• Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) policies

• Housing safety program thru Planning Department

OPEN 
SPACES

• Older adult programs thru Parks & Rec Department

• “Crime Prevention through Environmental Design”

• Older adults engaged thru Measure T1 

TRANS.

• Master pedestrian plan in commercial areas

• City sidewalk assessment

• Mobility management and travel training for seniors

21

Page 223 of 224

233



Page 224 of 224

234



2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7170 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● E-Mail: 
RRobinson@cityofberkeley.info

CONSENT CALENDAR
March 26, 2019

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Councilmembers Rigel Robinson, Cheryl Davila, Ben Bartlett and Sophie 
Hahn

Subject: Ban Racial Discrimination on the Basis of Hairstyle

RECOMMENDATION
Ban racial discrimination on the basis of a person's natural hairstyle by either:

 Adopt a new Section of the Berkeley Municipal Code: Chapter 13.23 RACIAL 
DISCRIMINATION ON THE BASIS OF HAIRSTYLE IN EMPLOYMENT, 
HOUSING, AND PUBLIC ACCOMMODATIONS, prohibit grooming or 
appearance policies which target natural hair or hairstyles.

Or 

 Issue local legislative interpretation guidelines regarding both the illegality of 
disparate impact grooming or appearance policies under the Fair Employment 
and Housing Act, and the illegality of refusing public services on the basis of 
mutable characteristics under California Civil Code Section 51.

BACKGROUND
In February 2019, the New York City Commission on Human Rights (NYCCHR) issued 
new Legal Enforcement Guidance on Race Discrimination on the Basis of Hair, under 
the New York City Human Rights Law (NYCHRL). The City of Berkeley should follow in 
New York’s footsteps, and take similar action to expressly prohibit racially discriminatory 
hair styling requirements in the areas of employment, housing, school, and other areas 
of daily living. In doing so, the Council should consider a number of approaches.

In New York, the NYCCHR found the contemporary manifestation of racial bias to 
include discrimination based on characteristics and cultural practices associated with 
being African American, including prohibitions on natural hair. In the 2019 Enforcement 
Guide, NYCCHR states current anti-discrimination law should be interpreted to give 
people of color “the right to maintain natural hair, treated or untreated hairstyles such as 
locs, cornrows, twists, braids, Bantu knots, fades, Afros, and/or the right to keep hair in 
an uncut or untrimmed state.”

This falls under the range of human rights issues which The Berkeley Municipal Code 
(BMC) identifies as its mission to solve. As stated in BMC Section 1.22.010, “the City of 
Berkeley shall promote: (1) Higher standards of living, full employment, and conditions 

Page 1 of 6

235

arichardson
Typewritten Text
04



Ban Racial Discrimination on the Basis of Hairstyle CONSENT CALENDARMarch 26, 2019

Page 2

of economic and social progress and development; (2) Solutions of local economic, 
social, health and related problems; and regional cultural and educational cooperation; 
and (3) Universal respect for, and observance of human rights and fundamental 
freedoms for all without distinction as to race, sex, language or religion.”

In achieving these goals, the Council has multiple potential legislative routes to 
consider. Firstly, Berkeley could adopt BMC Chapter 13.23, a draft of which is attached. 
Chapter 13.23 would prohibit racial discrimination on the basis of hair or hair styling, 
and enumerate the rights of all persons to maintain natural, untreated hairstyles in all 
sectors of employment, housing, and public accommodations.

Modeling a different approach, the NYCCHR 2019 Enforcement Guide is written as a 
statutory interpretation document, under the NYCHRL. Similarly, the Council could issue 
local interpretation guidelines for two comparable California State laws: The 1959 Fair 
Employment Housing Act (FEHA) to cover discrimination in employment, and the 1959 
Unruh Civil Rights Act (Unruh Act) to cover discrimination in places of public 
accommodation.

One component of FEHA’s ban on discriminatory workplace practices covers disparate 
impact discrimination, which implicates rules that apply to all employees but have a 
disproportionate impact on members of a protected class. Any hair styling rule that 
permits members of some groups to wear their hair naturally, but requires others to use 
more extensive procedures, could be interpreted to be in violation of FEHA.

The Unruh Act, California Civil Code sections 51 through 52, states that a broad range 
of protected demographic categories “are entitled to the full and equal accommodations, 
advantages, facilities, privileges, or services in all business establishments of every kind 
whatsoever.” According to settled legal precedent, the Unruh Act is understood broadly 
to prohibit public businesses from refusing service based on arbitrary or appearance-
based characteristics. Thus, any denial of access to a place of public accommodation 
based on hairstyle is a clear violation of the Unruh Act.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
None.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
None.

CONTACT PERSON
Councilmember Rigel Robinson, (510) 981-7170
Mars Svec-Burdick, Intern to Councilmember Rigel Robinson

Attachments: 
1: Ordinance

Page 2 of 6

236



Ban Racial Discrimination on the Basis of Hairstyle CONSENT CALENDARMarch 26, 2019

Page 3

2: NYC Commission on Human Rights Legal Enforcement Guidance on Race 
Discrimination on the Basis of Hair 
https://www1.nyc.gov/assets/cchr/downloads/pdf/Hair-Guidance.pdf
3: Unruh Civil Rights Act, California Civil Code Section 51
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=CIV&secti
onNum=51
4: Fair Employment and Housing Act 
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayexpandedbranch.xhtml?tocCode=
GOV&division=3.&title=2.&part=2.8.&chapter=&article= 

Page 3 of 6

237

https://www1.nyc.gov/assets/cchr/downloads/pdf/Hair-Guidance.pdf
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=CIV&sectionNum=51
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=CIV&sectionNum=51
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayexpandedbranch.xhtml?tocCode=GOV&division=3.&title=2.&part=2.8.&chapter=&article
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayexpandedbranch.xhtml?tocCode=GOV&division=3.&title=2.&part=2.8.&chapter=&article


ORDINANCE NO.       -N.S.

ADOPT BERKELEY MUNICIPAL CODE CHAPTER 13.23 TO PROHIBIT RACIAL 
DISCRIMINATION ON THE BASIS OF HAIRSTYLE IN EMPLOYMENT, HOUSING, 

AND PUBLIC ACCOMMODATIONS

BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of Berkeley as follows:

Section 1. That Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 13.23 is added to read as follows:

Chapter 13.23 RACIAL DISCRIMINATION ON THE BASIS OF HAIRSTYLE IN 
EMPLOYMENT, HOUSING, AND PUBLIC ACCOMMODATIONS

Chapter 13.23.010 Purpose

The purpose of this Chapter is to protect public health, safety and welfare. It does this by 
seeking to eliminate all forms of racial discrimination within the City.

Chapter 13.23.020 Findings

The City Council of the City of Berkeley finds and determines as follows:

A) Discrimination against racial minorities in employment, housing, and public 
accommodations exists within the City. The council further finds that the existence of such 
discrimination poses a substantial threat to the economic and social welfare of a sizeable 
segment of the community, namely, racial minority groups.

B) Racially discriminatory grooming or appearance policies exist in places of 
employment, housing, and public accommodations within the City. These policies 
exacerbate inequality in the workplace and housing market.

C) The overall effect of grooming or appearance policies which target the natural hair 
styles of racial minority groups is to require a disproportionate outlay of monetary and 
time resources from members of these groups in order to participate in daily living. 

D) Discrimination through grooming and appearance policies falls most heavily on low 
income communities, but cuts across all racial, ethnic and economic levels.

Chapter 13.23.030 Definitions

As used in this chapter, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings 
ascribed to them in this subsection:

A) “Grooming or appearance policies” or “appearance policies” means any code of dress, 
grooming, or appearance, written or unwritten, under which an individual is in any way 
penalized for noncompliance.

Page 4 of 6

238



Page 2

B) “Natural hair” means all natural patterns of hair growth across all racial and ethnic 
groups, including treated or untreated hairstyles such as locs, cornrows, twists, braids, 
Bantu knots, fades, Afros, and/or the right to keep hair in an uncut or untrimmed state.

C) “Place of public accommodation” or “public accommodations” means providers, 
whether licensed or unlicensed, of goods, services, facilities, accommodations, 
advantages or privileges of any kind, and places, whether licensed or unlicensed, where 
goods, services, facilities, accommodations, advantages or privileges of any kind are 
extended, offered, sold, or otherwise made available. This unambiguously includes 
schools, due to the historical proliferation of racially discriminatory grooming and 
appearance policies in educational settings.

Chapter 13.23.040 Unlawful activities

It is unlawful for any employer, business owner, property owner, provider of public 
accommodation, or any agent or employee thereof to discriminate in the conditions or 
enforcement of a grooming or appearance policy. Such prohibited discrimination includes 
but is not limited to the following:

A) Publish, verbally state, or otherwise communicate an explicitly or implicitly mandatory 
appearance policy which includes any condition prohibiting natural hair, either textually or 
in practice;

B) Require, in order to access employment opportunities, housing accommodations, 
public accommodations, or the negotiation or carrying out thereof, individual adherence 
to a grooming or appearance policy which explicitly or implicity bans any natural hair style.

C) Refuse to enter into negotiations regarding hiring, employment, compensation, lease 
or rental of property, or otherwise withhold from any person any provision of public 
accommodations because of their natural hair style;

D) Represent to any person because of their natural hair style that employment 
opportunities, housing accommodations, or public accommodations are not available 
when such opportunities or accommodations are in fact available;

E) Include a clause or provision in any legal document or agreement that the employee, 
tenant, or recipient of public accommodations shall adhere to a grooming or appearance 
policy which compromises their ability to maintain a natural hair style;

F) Penalize an employee, tenant, or recipient of public accommodations for violating an 
appearance policy which unlawfully bans natural hair, in any manner including financial 
penalties, termination, withholding of wage increases, or denial of services, housing or 
access.

Page 5 of 6

239



Page 3

G) Enforce grooming or appearance policies inconsistently between members of different 
groups, to the effect of enacting unequal and discriminatory grooming standards.

Chapter 13.23.050 Enforcement

A) Any aggrieved person may enforce the provisions of this chapter by means of a civil 
action.

B) Any person who commits, or proposes to commit, an action in violation of this chapter 
may be enjoined therefrom by any court of competent jurisdiction.

C) Action for injunction under this subsection may be brought by any aggrieved person, 
by the city attorney, by the district attorney, or by any person or entity which will fairly and 
adequately represent the interests of the protected class.

Chapter 13.23.060 Liability for costs and damages

Any person who violates the provisions of this chapter shall be liable to each person 
injured by such violation for reasonable attorney’s fees and costs as determined by the 
court, plus damages equaling three times the amount of actual damages or a minimum 
of five hundred dollars.

Chapter 13.23.070 Criminal penalties

Any person who is found by a court of competent jurisdiction to be guilty of a willful 
violation of the provisions of this chapter shall be guilty of a misdemeanor as set forth in 
Chapter 1.20 of this code.

Chapter 13.23.080 Limitation on action.

Actions under this chapter must be filed within one year of the alleged discriminatory acts.

Section 3. Copies of this Ordinance shall be posted for two days prior to adoption in the 
display case located near the walkway in front of Council Chambers, 2134 Martin Luther 
King Jr. Way. Within 15 days of adoption, copies of this Ordinance shall be filed at each 
branch of the Berkeley Public Library and the title shall be published in a newspaper of 
general circulation.

Page 6 of 6

240



Ordinance No. 7,643-N.S. Page 1 of 1

ORDINANCE NO. 7,643-N.S.

STOPPING, STANDING OR PARKING RESTRICTED OR PROHIBITED ON CERTAIN 
STREETS; AMENDING BERKELEY MUNICIPAL CODE SECTION 14.40.120

BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of Berkeley as follows:

Section 1.  That Berkeley Municipal Code Section 14.40.120 is amended to read as 
follows:

14.40.120 No parking between two a.m. and five a.m.
A. It is unlawful for any person to park any oversize or heavy duty commercial vehicle on 
any street between the hours of two a.m. and five a.m. for a greater length of time than 
one hour.

B. For the purpose of this section, oversize or heavy duty commercial vehicle shall mean 
a single vehicle or combination of vehicles having more than two axles, a single vehicle 
or combination of vehicles 20 feet or more in length, or a single vehicle or combination of 
vehicles six feet six inches or more in width, and shall include, but shall not be limited to 
dump trucks, moving vans, tractors, pole or pipe dollies, recreational vehicles (RVs), 
campers.

Section 2. Copies of this Ordinance shall be posted for two days prior to adoption in the 
display case located near the walkway in front of the Maudelle Shirek Building, 2134 
Martin Luther King Jr. Way. Within 15 days of adoption, copies of this Ordinance shall be 
filed at each branch of the Berkeley Public Library and the title shall be published in a 
newspaper of general circulation.

At a regular meeting of the Council of the City of Berkeley held on February 28, 
2019, this Ordinance was passed to print and ordered published by posting by the 
following vote:

Ayes: Bartlett, Droste, Hahn, Kesarwani, Wengraf, and Arreguin.

Noes: Davila, Harrison and Robinson.

Absent: None.

Page 1 of 15

241

arichardson
Typewritten Text
05



Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

ACTION CALENDAR
February 28, 2019

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Paul Buddenhagen, Deputy City Manager

Subject: Referral Responses: Managing Recreational Vehicle (RV) Parking 

RECOMMENDATION
Review options provided by City staff in the report and take one of the following actions:

1. Refer the recommendations in Option A, amending existing codes to limit RVs 
parking in the City of Berkeley for extended periods of time and developing an 
online RV Permitting system, to the City Manager; and/or 

2. Adopt the recommendations provided in Option B below, prohibiting parking 
campers and RVs during certain hours and creating additional resources for 
people living in RVs, and adopt the first reading of two ordinances amending 
Berkeley Municipal Code (BMC) Chapter 12.76 and BMC Section 14.40.120 and 
refer any additional costs to the FY20-21 Budget process. 

SUMMARY  
The City of Berkeley is experiencing an increasing number of RVs parking for long 
periods of time, impacting public safety, health, and the parking needs for Berkeley 
residents and businesses. On September 25, 2018, City Council approved a 
recommendation to “Refer to the City Manager to look into how other cities use 
permitting to manage RV parking and suggest a permit process that Council can 
consider to enable RV parking but place some sensible limits.” Additionally, on 
December 11, 2018 the City Council approved a recommendation to “Refer to the City 
Manager to establish a recreational vehicle waste discharge facility on City property and 
equitable administrative fee program, including consideration of method of pump out, 
cost, locations, and capacity, and refer costs associated with the facility to the FY 
2020/21 Budget Process.”

In order to understand how other neighboring cities are responding to this regional 
challenge, City staff gathered information on other cities in the Bay Area (Oakland, San 
Francisco, Fairfield, Richmond, Albany, Emeryville, Alameda and Antioch) and their 
policies and laws regarding RV parking. The following table presents some findings.

Page 2 of 15

242

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.ci.berkeley.ca.us/manager


Referral Response: Managing RV Parking Via Permit Process ACTION CALENDAR
February 28, 2019

2

City Ban Against RV 
Parking

RV Permitting 
Process

Special Policies or 
Services

Oakland Yes No Yes 150 space RV 
lot coming

San Francisco Yes No Yes

Fairfield Yes No No

Richmond Yes No No

Albany Yes Yes/Residents No

Emeryville Yes No No

Alameda Yes No Yes/Hygiene bus

Antioch Yes No No

Currently, the City has few laws which can effectively address the persistent presence 
of RVs parking in the City of Berkeley, and no existing sanctioned pathway for RVs to 
affordably dispose of their effluent waste. In response to these needs, City staff have 
developed two possible options for Council consideration. 

Option A would entail amending existing codes to prohibit RVs parking in the City of 
Berkeley for extended periods of time and developing an online RV Permitting system 
that limits the total amount of time any RV or registered owner of an RV parks their 
vehicle on the City’s right-of-way or City-owned off-street parking lots in a calendar year.

Option B would revise existing codes to prohibit parking oversize vehicles, including 
campers and RVs, in the City of Berkeley from the hours of 2 a.m. to 5 a.m. on any 
public right-of-way, as well as update existing BMC 12.76 which prohibits sleeping in 
house cars, and provide alternate resources for those living in RVs.

Adopting either Option A or B would include increased services for RV dwellers to 
support the transition from living in vehicles to living inside dwellings. 

RV dump/pump station In considering the disposal of waste, staff explored installation 
of a City RV dump/pump station as well as contracting with a mobile pump contractor to 

Page 3 of 15

243



Referral Response: Managing RV Parking Via Permit Process ACTION CALENDAR
February 28, 2019

3

deliver and discharge the effluent waste to an existing nearby RV dump station. The 
City does have the capacity to absorb the additional waste into the existing sewer 
collection system. A consideration of the costs associated with each option is below, 
with the assumption of serving approximately 100 RVs per week. Regardless of the 
option selected, staff recommends that the implementation costs be recovered through 
the permitting process.

Option 1: City RV dump/pump station. While staff does not have a set estimate for the 
total cost of construction of a new RV dump/pump station, this option would require a 
feasibility study and a planning cost estimate, including long-term maintenance and 
operational costs, from a professional consultant. Staff also anticipates the need to 
pursue information from regulatory agencies, which may impact the overall cost of the 
station’s construction and maintenance. No specific location has been identified for this 
option at this time. Alternatively, staff has learned of a pump station option which could 
be installed for approximately $11,000, which would allow individuals to discharge 
directly into the City’s sewer system. While this option would result in minimal staffing 
costs, other issues to consider include liability, maintenance, and replacement costs.

Option 2: Contract to deliver and discharge waste. Staff are gathering estimates for this 
type of service. Staff believe, however, this may be the lowest cost option because 
there is no need for new infrastructure and no additional cost for long term 
maintenance. Under this option, the mobile effluent waste contractor would visit a 
designated location and collect the waste from the RVs onsite, then could either dispose 
of the waste directly into the City’s sewer collection system, or could haul the waste to 
an off-site location for disposal. 

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
Adopting Option B would require some additional as yet undetermined staffing costs to 
enforce the amendments to the BMC. Providing additional outreach and flexible funding 
for either option would cost up to approximately $362,000 annually; this would include 
one outreach person and flexible funds in the amount of $3,000 each for 100 vehicle 
dwellers. Council could choose to reallocate existing homeless outreach staff and/or 
reduce the flexible funds to lower the overall cost.

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
This report responds to a referral that originally appeared on the agenda of the
September 25, 2018 Council meeting and was sponsored by Councilmembers Maio, 
Hahn, and Mayor Arreguin. At that meeting, the City Council approved a 
recommendation to “Refer to the City Manager to look into how other cities use 
permitting to manage RV parking and suggest a permit process that Council can 
consider to enable RV parking but place some sensible limits.” 

Page 4 of 15

244



Referral Response: Managing RV Parking Via Permit Process ACTION CALENDAR
February 28, 2019

4

Additionally, this report responds to a referral from the December 11, 2018 Council 
meeting which was sponsored by Councilmembers Harrison and Davila. At that meeting 
the City Council approved a recommendation to “Refer to the City Manager to establish 
a recreational vehicle waste discharge facility on City property and equitable 
administrative fee program, including consideration of method of pump out, cost, 
locations, and capacity, and refer costs associated with the facility to the FY 2020/21 
Budget Process.”

Currently, depending on the size, Recreational Vehicles (RVs) can park for three days 
at a time anywhere there is room and move continuously throughout the City. In 
practice, RVs often comply with the 72-hour rule by moving a very short distance – 
sometimes as little as three feet, to the opposite side of the street or around a corner – 
which results in the vehicles essentially occupying the same general area indefinitely. 

The increase in the number of RVs parking in the City of Berkeley, and the subsequent 
impacts, may be quantified in multiple ways. In December 2018, Berkeley Police staff 
conducted a thorough citywide count of Recreational Vehicles on the City right-of-way. 
They counted 193 RVs, campers, converted busses, and vehicles that have been set up 
and/or designed for human habitation within the City’s borders. Of that number, over 
100 were located west of San Pablo Avenue. These figures are consistent with a similar 
assessment which was conducted in November 2018.

Community residents contacted the City more than 1,500 times with requests to 
address the presence of and/or impacts from extended RV parking in 2018. These 
requests come via Berkeley Police Dispatch, the City’s BPD Direct Parking line, 311 
service requests, and through emails directly to staff and council. 

The types of issues raised through these calls for service include the loss of residential 
and customer parking for commercial businesses, and the illegal dumping of trash, 
debris, and human waste onto City streets, sidewalks, and waterways. The City has 1.5 
FTE in Berkeley Police, and 0.85 FTE in Neighborhood Services that respond to these 
calls for service, as well as other similar service calls that are not RV generated.

One of the issues that is most often raised with regards to extended RV Parking is the 
alleged discharge of human waste in inappropriate locations. Runoff from the City’s 
storm sewer system is periodically tested as part of regional testing efforts, but not at a 
scale that would be able to quantify the environmental impacts under discussion. The 
Regional Water Board, however, has received reports of alleged dumping of human 
waste, and as a result City staff have been mandated to investigate all complaints. 
Warnings have been issued, but no citations have been issued to date. Any verified 
discharge of human waste into the storm sewer system would be considered a violation 
of the City’s Municipal Code (BMC 17.20); if left unaddressed, the City could be at risk 
of violating its National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Municipal 

Page 5 of 15

245



Referral Response: Managing RV Parking Via Permit Process ACTION CALENDAR
February 28, 2019

5

Regional Permit, which would lead to enforcement actions by the Regional Water 
Board.

Currently, the City provides 25 portable toilets and nine hand washing stations at 
strategic locations throughout the City to help with this issue. There are also extended 
hours for the City’s 181 permanent public restroom facilities. 

BACKGROUND
City staff gathered information on neighboring Cities in the Bay Area, in order to explore 
existing practices and to explore options the City of Berkeley may have in addressing 
the ongoing RV parking issues in our City. 

Staff in the City Manager’s Office, City Attorney’s Office, and Public Works and Police 
Departments have collaborated to produce the proposed options. Option A includes 
amendments to Berkeley Municipal Code sections 12.76 and 14.40.120 (Attachments 1 
and 2) that incorporate the principal points and purposes of the September 25, 2018 
referral, and an RV permit process. Option B retains the amendments to Berkeley 
Municipal Code as noted in Attachments 3 and 4. Both options include the potential to 
provide outreach to people living in RVs to provide them with information and resources 
to establish a more stable living situation. 

Option A

Option A includes amending existing codes to clarify the prohibition against RVs parking 
in the City of Berkeley for extended periods of time and creating an online RV Permitting 
system that limits the total amount of time any RV or registered owner of an RV parks 
their vehicle on the City’s right-of-way in a calendar year.

 Existing and Possible Municipal Code Considerations: Currently, the City has 
multiple Municipal and Vehicular Code sections which support some form of 
enforcement for RV Parking, or could be amended to do so.

Applicable statutes and laws regulating the parking of RVs on City streets 
include California Vehicle Code § 22651(k), and BMC 14.36.050, which makes 
it unlawful to park or leave standing a vehicle on “any public street in the City for 
seventy-two or more consecutive hours.” This section is typically enforced 
based on complaints, and motorists are provided a warning before a vehicle is 
cited and/or towed. 

BMC 12.76, which prohibits the use of “any house car or camper for human 
habitation within the City,” has not been enforced since June 2014, when the 
United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit issued an opinion 
invalidating an ordinance that prohibited parking a vehicle being used as “living 
quarters” on Los Angeles streets. The Court held the Los Angeles ordinance 
was unconstitutionally vague because it failed to provide “fair notice” of what 

Page 6 of 15

246



Referral Response: Managing RV Parking Via Permit Process ACTION CALENDAR
February 28, 2019

6

was being prohibited. Berkeley’s “house car” ordinance does not currently 
define “human habitation” with any specificity, although it could be amended to 
do so.  Attachment 3 includes proposed language which would change the 
existing ordinance.

BMC 14.40.120 makes it unlawful to park any “heavy duty commercial vehicle 
on any street between the hours of two a.m. and five a.m.” for more than an 
hour. “Heavy duty commercial vehicle” is defined as a single vehicle or 
combination of vehicles that (1) has more than two axles, or (2) is 20 feet or 
longer, or (3) is wider than 6 feet, 6 inches. Examples in the ordinance “include, 
but shall not be limited to dump trucks, moving vans, tractors, pole or pipe 
dollies.” This section could be amended to clarify that it applies to oversized 
vehicles used for activities other than commercial purposes, including RVs. 
Attachment 4 includes proposed language which would make this clarification.

 

 Proposed RV Permit System: In response to the increase in extended RV 
parking throughout the City, City staff propose implementation of a permit 
system, modeled after the City’s existing RPP visitor pass program, which grants 
a permit to a licensed vehicle, or a registered owner, a maximum of 14 days per 
calendar year to park an RV on the City right-of-way, streets, and off-street City-
owned parking lots.

The online permit system would be accessible to the general public through 
Berkeley Public Libraries’ free access to computers and the internet, through the 
City of Berkeley’s Customer Service Counter, or through a City webpage.

Individual permits would be issued to a licensed vehicle and/or a registered 
owner. The permit would also specify an area or street for which the permit would 
be valid. The permit would also hold the permit holder accountable for the cost of 
removing any trash and debris left behind, following the conclusion of the 
permitted time period.

Anticipated costs for the RV permitting system include the cost to acquire and 
run the online permit platform, administration costs and the impact on existing 
staff to enforce the policy.

Option A provides all RV owners the ability to legally park on the City’s right-of-way for a 
short time period, and supports residents and businesses who are negatively impacted 
by vehicular living for long periods of time. 

Option B 

Option B would revise existing codes and provide outreach to people living in RVs to 
provide them with information and resources to establish a more stable living situation.

Page 7 of 15

247



Referral Response: Managing RV Parking Via Permit Process ACTION CALENDAR
February 28, 2019

7

 Amendments to Existing Municipal Code: As outlined in Option A, the City would 
revise the BMC 14.40.120 (Attachment 1) to clarify that RVs are included in the 
prohibition of parking for oversized vehicles from 2 – 5 a.m., as well as update 
the language to BMC 12.76 as proposed in the revised ordinance (Attachment 2) 
regarding the use of house cars for human habitation. Without the inclusion of an 
RV permitting process, this would lead to a ban of RVs parking on Berkeley city 
streets.

 Provide Alternate Resources and/or Locations outside of Berkeley: City staff has 
learned of a multi-city collaborative effort, led by the City of Union City and 
involving the cities of Fremont, Hayward, San Leandro, and Alameda, to leverage 
use of state Homeless Emergency Assistance Program (HEAP) funding to 
establish safe parking sites which would be open to other cities. The goal for this 
effort is to avoid duplicating efforts (e.g. every city start a safe parking program) 
and to have complimentary programs that hopefully fill gaps (e.g. RV parking) 
since the issue is a regional one, with individuals often moving between cities in 
the Bay Area. Partnership in this program would be a substantial financial 
investment, and would likely require use of some Measure P or HEAP funding, 
allocated to the City to address the homeless crisis. Additionally, staff could 
explore partnering with the City of Oakland on RV safe parking.

By prohibiting RVs on the City’s streets, Option B would clearly address the ongoing 
negative issues associated with the continued presence of RVs parking for extended 
periods of time in the City. Staff shortages and high workloads could compromise a 
robust enforcement strategy associated with Option B. 

Both options

Provide Outreach to people living in RVs: The City could expand outreach efforts to 
encourage people living in RVs to take advantage of any available shelter resources 
and, if resources are available, provide flexible funding to help people resolve their 
homeless situation. This could include housing problem solving and/or housing 
assistance. This approach would require additional resources for staffing and flexible 
funds. Providing additional outreach and flexible funding would cost up to approximately 
$362,000 annually; this would include one outreach person and flexible funds in the 
amount of $3,000 each for 100 vehicle dwellers.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
Environmental sustainability is a core value of the City of Berkeley and informs all City 
operations. Implementation of a City pump station to collect effluent waste would have 
the clear benefit of reducing the possibility of human waste entering the storm drain 
system and consequently the Bay. This is consistent with the goals and requirements 
set forth in the City’s NPDES Municipal Regional Permit. Alternatively, prohibiting the 
use of public right-of-way for RV parking throughout the City of Berkeley would 

Page 8 of 15

248



Referral Response: Managing RV Parking Via Permit Process ACTION CALENDAR
February 28, 2019

8

accomplish a similar goal, as it reduces the likelihood of human waste entering the 
storm drain system.

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
The approaches proposed by City staff includes the amendment of existing codes to 
prohibit RVs parking in the City of Berkeley for extended periods of time; and an online 
RV Permitting system that limits the total amount of time any RV or registered owner of 
an RV parks their vehicle on the City’s right-of-way, streets, and off-street parking lots in 
a calendar year. These are coupled with increased services in an effort to increase the 
transition to more stable living for people living in RVs.

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
City Staff considered the option of developing a sanctioned parking location within the 
City borders. However, there is insufficient space within the City to accommodate such 
a program. Additionally, there are several liability and logistical concerns which are 
raised by the City assuming responsibility for such a sanctioned environment.

One additional option would be to continue current City practices regarding RV parking, 
which includes enforcement of existing vehicle code as well as BMC 14.36, which 
restricts parking of any vehicle for longer than 72 hours on the public right-of-way. 

If this option was preferred, and council desired, staff could come back with pump out 
costs, locations and timeline. In considering the disposal of waste, staff explored 
installation of a City RV dump/pump station as well as contracting with a mobile pump 
contractor to deliver and discharge the effluent waste to an existing nearby RV dump 
station. The City does have the capacity to absorb the additional waste into the existing 
sewer collection system. A consideration of the costs associate with each option is 
below, with the assumption of serving approximately 100 RVs per week. Regardless of 
the option selected, staff recommends that the implementation costs be recovered 
through the permitting process.

Option 1: City RV dump/pump station. While staff does not have a set estimate for the 
total cost of construction of a new RV dump/pump station, this option would require a 
feasibility study and a planning cost estimate, including long-term maintenance and 
operational costs, from a professional consultant. Staff also anticipates the need to 
pursue information from regulatory agencies, which may impact the overall cost of the 
station’s construction and maintenance. No specific location has been identified for this 
option at this time. Alternatively, staff has learned of a pump station option which could 
be installed for approximately $11,000, which would allow individuals to discharge 
directly into the City’s sewer system. While this option would result in minimal staffing 
costs, other issues to consider include liability, maintenance, and replacement costs.

Option 2: Contract to deliver and discharge waste. Staff are gathering estimates for this 
type of service. Staff believe, however, this may be the lowest cost option because 

Page 9 of 15

249



Referral Response: Managing RV Parking Via Permit Process ACTION CALENDAR
February 28, 2019

9

there is no need for new infrastructure and no additional cost for long term 
maintenance. Under this option, the mobile effluent waste contractor would visit a 
designated location and collect the waste from the RVs onsite, then could either dispose 
of the waste directly into the City’s sewer collection system, or could haul the waste to 
an off-site location for disposal. 

CONTACT PERSON
Kristen Lee, Interim Assistant to the City Manager, 981-7017

Attachments:
1. Proposed revisions to BMC 14.40.120
2. Proposed revisions to BMC 12.76 

3. Referral Report from September 25, 2018
4. Referral Report from December 11, 2018

Page 10 of 15

250



ORDINANCE NO.       -N.S.

STOPPING, STANDING OR PARKING RESTRICTED OR PROHIBITED ON CERTAIN 
STREETS; AMENDING BERKELEY MUNICIPAL CODE SECTION 14.40.120

BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of Berkeley as follows:

Section 1.  That Berkeley Municipal Code Section 14.40.120 is amended to read as 
follows:

14.40.120 No parking between two a.m. and five a.m.
A. It is unlawful for any person to park any oversize or heavy duty commercial vehicle on 
any street between the hours of two a.m. and five a.m. for a greater length of time than 
one hour.

B. For the purpose of this section, oversize or heavy duty commercial vehicle shall mean 
a single vehicle or combination of vehicles having more than two axles, a single vehicle 
or combination of vehicles 20 feet or more in length, or a single vehicle or combination of 
vehicles six feet six inches or more in width, and shall include, but shall not be limited to 
dump trucks, moving vans, tractors, pole or pipe dollies, recreational vehicles (RVs), 
campers.

Section 2. Copies of this Ordinance shall be posted for two days prior to adoption in the 
display case located near the walkway in front of the Maudelle Shirek Building, 2134 
Martin Luther King Jr. Way. Within 15 days of adoption, copies of this Ordinance shall be 
filed at each branch of the Berkeley Public Library and the title shall be published in a 
newspaper of general circulation.

Page 11 of 15

251



ORDINANCE NO.       -N.S.

HOUSE CARS; AMENDING BERKELEY MUNICIPAL CODE CHAPTER 12.76 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of Berkeley as follows:

Section 1.  That Berkeley Municipal Code Section 12.76.010 is amended to read as 
follows:

12.76.010 Definitions.
A. "Camper" means a structure designed to be mounted upon or attached to a motor 
vehicle, in order and to provide facilities for human habitation or camping purposes.
B. "House car" means a motor vehicle originally designed or permanently or temporarily 
altered and equipped for human habitation, or to which a camper has been permanently 
or temporarily attached. A house car need not contain any plumbing or cooking facilities.

Section 2.  That Berkeley Municipal Code Section 12.76.020 is amended to read as 
follows:

12.76.020 Use for human habitation prohibited – Exception.
A. No person shall use or occupy or permit the use or occupancy of any house car or 
camper for human habitation within the City, provided that not more than one house car 
may be placed, kept and maintained in the rear of any single-family or duplex residential 
building and used for sleeping purposes only for not more than three successive nights 
in any 90-day period. Such house car shall not be placed closer than five feet to any 
property line or closer than ten feet to any building, and the sanitary and cooking facilities 
therein shall not be used.
B. For purposes of this Chapter, “human habitation” means residing in or using any 
camper or house car for living accommodation, lodging, or sleeping purposes, as 
exemplified by remaining for prolonged or repeated periods of time not associated with 
ordinary use for transportation purposes, with one’s possessions (including, but not 
limited to, clothing, sleeping bags, bed rolls, blankets, sheets, or other sleeping 
implements, luggage, cooking and eating utensils, cookware, food or beverages or 
toiletries). These activities constitute human habitation when it reasonably appears, in 
light of all of the circumstances, that a person is using a house car or camper as a living, 
lodging, or sleeping accommodation regardless of his or her intent, or the nature of any 
other activities in which he or she might also be engaged.

Section 3. Copies of this Ordinance shall be posted for two days prior to adoption in the 
display case located near the walkway in front of the Maudelle Shirek Building, 2134 
Martin Luther King Jr. Way. Within 15 days of adoption, copies of this Ordinance shall be 
filed at each branch of the Berkeley Public Library and the title shall be published in a 
newspaper of general circulation.

Page 12 of 15

252



                                                                                                          ACTION CALENDAR  
September 25, 2018

lmaio@cityofberkeley.info · 510.981.7110 · cityofberkeley.info/lindamaio

TO: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

FROM: Councilmembers Maio, Hahn, and Mayor Arreguin

SUBJECT: Managing RV Parking Via Permit Process

RECOMMENDATION
Refer to the City Manager to look into how other cities use permitting to manage RV parking and suggest 
a permit process that Council can consider to enable RV parking but place some sensible limits. 

BACKGROUND
The flatlands in Berkeley have become home to an increasing number of RVs parking for very long periods 
of time. District 1 residents, schools, and business have been reporting increasing numbers and also 
problems associated with long term parking. These concerns include taking up parking that is needed for 
residents and businesses. The most problematic of issues is public safety and health. Berkeley has no 
pump-out facilities and therefore reports of using garbage cans and storm drains for disposing of personal 
waste have come to our attention.

This Item asks the City Manager to look into what other cities have done to place reasonable limits on 
RVs. Here is a link to what Antioch as in place: http://www.antiochca.gov/police/rv-permit. This item 
requests consideration of a 2-week permit.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
Positive impact on storm drain systems.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
Staff time for education and enforcement.

CONTACT
Office of Councilmember Linda Maio, District 1
510.981.7110 | lmaio@cityofberkeley.info | cityofberkeley.info/lindamaio
Office of Councilmember Kate Harrison, District 4
510.981.7140 | kharrison@cityofberkeley.info | cityofberkeley.info/councildistrict4
Office of Councilmember Sophie Hahn, District 5
510.981.7150 | shahn@cityofberkeley.info | cityofberkeley.info/district5
Office of Mayor Jesse Arreguin

Page 1 of 1Page 13 of 15

253

http://www.antiochca.gov/police/rv-permit
arichardson
Typewritten Text
30



Kate Harrison
Councilmember District 4

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7140 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-6903
E-Mail: KHarrison@cityofberkeley.info

CONSENT CALENDAR
December 11, 2018

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Councilmembers Harrison and Davila

Subject: Referral to City Manager to establish Recreational Vehicle Waste Discharge 
Facility on City Property and Referral to FY 2020/21 Budget Process 

RECOMMENDATION
1. Refer to the City Manager to establish a recreational vehicle waste discharge 

facility on City property and equitable administrative fee program, and 

2. Refer costs associated with the facility to the FY 2020/21 Budget Process.

BACKGROUND
A limited number of RV waste discharge facilities exist across the Bay Area; no such 
public facility is currently available in Berkeley. The nearest public facility appears to be 
miles away in San Leandro. The ability to discharge human waste into municipal sewers 
protects public health and meets a basic human need. It is in the interest of the City to 
prevent the improper discharge of untreated waste into the environment and to provide 
equitable and convenient access to municipal services.

The City’s Parks, Recreation & Waterfront Department reported in June of 2018 that 
some 200 vehicle dwellers, including visitors, parked overnight in the Berkeley Marina. 
Vehicle dwellers also park in streets throughout Berkeley. Vehicles provide them with 
critical respite from the elements but vehicle dwellers lack basic sanitary services.

The Council established an informal Council-staff task force in June of 2018 to explore 
the feasibility of establishing a sanctioned vehicle dweller park with restrooms and 
potentially a discharge facility. The task force is making progress, but the long-term 
nature of the exploration process leaves RV dwellers without critical services. The City 
can reasonably establish a waste discharge facility on City property in the short term, 
while pursuing a comprehensive RV park over the long term. 

Consultations with officials managing waste discharge facilities at the Central Marin 
Sanitation Agency and with the Contra Costa County Fairgrounds indicate that the cost 
of constructing a discharge facility would be relativity inexpensive as fees can be 
established to cover the cost. Both facilities consist of a sewer drain and RV tank 
connection equipment, as well as a clean water hose for cleaning. Central Marin 
reported that their facility cost $150,000 and was completed ten years ago, which, 

Page 1 of 2Page 14 of 15

254

rthomsen
Typewritten Text
24



Referral to City Manager to establish Recreational Vehicle Waste Discharge Facility 
on City Property and Referral to FY 2020/21 Budget Process

CONSENT CALENDAR
December 11, 2018

Page 2

adjusted for inflation, is approximately $176,000. Both Marin and Contra Costa charge 
$10 for each use of the facility, report very low management costs, and serve an 
average of 10 users per month.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
Costs associated with building the facility, approximatively $150,000 – $200,000, offset 
by fees, and staff time to collect fees. On average, an RV occupied by two people 
needs to discharge waste every week. Thus for every 50 RVs, 2,400 discharges 
annually could be expected, generating $36,000 with a $15 per use fee. Under this 
scenario, costs would be recouped in approximately 5 years and a small percentage of 
the fee could go towards subsidizing service for very low-income vehicle dwellers. 

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
Reduces public health hazards, as well as environmental pollutants entering our 
waterways due to poor sanitation and/or a lack of sanitation services. Reduces travel 
time and resulting emissions. 

CONTACT PERSON
Councilmember Kate Harrison, Council District 4, (510) 981-7140

Page 2 of 2Page 15 of 15

255



256



 Councilmember Ben Bartlett 
City of Berkeley, District 3

2180 Milvia Street, 5th Floor

Berkeley, CA 94704

PHONE 510-981-7130 

EMAIL: bbartlett@cityofberkeley.info

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981- ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-
E-Mail:  

CONSENT CALENDAR
April 23, 2019

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Councilmembers Ben Bartlett, Kate Harrison & Cheryl Davila

Subject: Air Quality Monitoring Program

RECOMMENDATION: 
Referral to the Public Health Department to establish an advanced air quality monitoring 
program in Berkeley to provide data about how air quality in the city varies over time 
and between neighborhoods. To better implement this program, the City should form 
partnerships with technology companies, environmental research groups, and 
healthcare providers.

CURRENT SITUATION
Berkeley has had a history of poor air quality, with causes ranging from smoke caused 
by regional wildfires to air pollution emitted by high amounts of vehicular traffic 
throughout the Bay Area. While this is harmful to all Berkeley residents in general, it is 
particularly harmful to those with respiratory issues and without adequate healthcare. By 
upgrading air quality monitoring in Berkeley, the City can provide more accurate reports 
to its residents and identify which areas of Berkeley contain the highest levels of air 
pollutants and address these issues accordingly. The program will also have the benefit 
of identifying poor air quality areas that coincide with low-income neighborhoods. Since 
these particular neighborhoods are less likely to have access to affordable and 
necessary medical services, they will be at much higher risk of health issues caused by 
air pollutants. Therefore, this program, in conjunction with the Health Innovation Zone, 
will not only benefit the general population but also serve to provide better, more 
equitable healthcare to underserved and low-income neighborhoods in Berkeley. 

BACKGROUND:
Currently, Berkeley’s primary air monitoring station is located in the Berkeley Aquatic 
Park area. This single station provides daily Air Quality Index (AQI) measurements as 
well as ozone and fine particulate matter (PM2.5) levels1. The station can provide only a 
single aggregate estimate for the entire city of Berkeley once every hour. However, it is 
unable to provide any measurements for different areas of the city which may 
experience disparate levels of air pollution due to Berkeley’s varied geography and the 

1 http://www.baaqmd.gov/about-air-quality/current-air-quality/air-monitoring-
data?DataViewFormat=daily&DataView=aqi&ParameterId=316 

Page 1 of 3

257

mailto:bbartlett@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.baaqmd.gov/about-air-quality/current-air-quality/air-monitoring-data?DataViewFormat=daily&DataView=aqi&ParameterId=316
http://www.baaqmd.gov/about-air-quality/current-air-quality/air-monitoring-data?DataViewFormat=daily&DataView=aqi&ParameterId=316
arichardson
Typewritten Text
06



Air Quality Monitoring Program CALENDAR

Page 2

natural formation of inversion layers in the Bay Area.2 These factors, along with the 
layout of the city, tend to place wealthier neighborhoods at higher elevations (such as 
on tops of hills) and low-income neighborhoods at lower elevations, with air pollutants 
possibly accumulating at ground level.3 Neighborhoods near high-traffic roadways are 
also believed to have higher levels of air pollution due to vehicle emissions.4 While all 
people are harmed by the effects of air pollution, those who consistently live in areas 
with poorer air quality are at a higher risk of developing long-term respiratory and other 
health-related issues. If these areas also happen to be low-income neighborhoods, then 
residents here may have more difficulty affording access to the healthcare necessary to 
treat or prevent the adverse health effects of air pollution.

In order to determine how different the levels of air pollution are between high-elevation 
and low-elevation neighborhoods as well as high-traffic and low-traffic areas, the City of 
Berkeley should upgrade its air monitoring network by installing sensors in different 
neighborhoods throughout the city. These smaller, less expensive sensors will 
complement the Berkeley Aquatic Park station by enhancing it with highly localized data 
that may reveal the differences in air quality in separate parts of Berkeley. Should these 
disparities exist, the City of Berkeley will be better equipped and informed to address 
these and other health-related issues.

REVIEW OF EXISTING PLANS, PROGRAMS, POLICIES, AND LAWS 
Currently, The Bay Area Air Quality Management District maintains an air quality 
monitoring network consisting of over 30 stations distributed among the nine Bay Area 
counties. This network measures concentrations of pollutants for which health-based 
ambient air quality standards have been set by the U.S. Environmental Protection 
Agency and the California Air Resources Board. The network also measures 
concentrations of various pollutants designated as Toxic Air Contaminants by the state 
of California.5 However, only one of these stations is located within Berkeley. Thus, to 
upgrade the quality of air monitoring within the city, a network of sensors should be 
installed throughout the city. 

ACTIONS/ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED
This program is modeled after the Breathe London project.

OUTREACH OVERVIEW AND RESULTS

2 http://static.lawrencehallofscience.org/scienceview/scienceview.berkeley.edu/html/view/plume.php 
3 https://www.berkeleyside.com/2013/01/04/a-map-details-berkeleys-gulf-between-rich-and-poor 
4 https://cen.acs.org/environment/pollution/London-starts-worlds-largest-air/97/web/2019/02 
5 http://www.baaqmd.gov/about-air-quality/air-quality-measurement/ambient-air-monitoring-network 

Page 2 of 3

258

http://static.lawrencehallofscience.org/scienceview/scienceview.berkeley.edu/html/view/plume.php
https://www.berkeleyside.com/2013/01/04/a-map-details-berkeleys-gulf-between-rich-and-poor
https://cen.acs.org/environment/pollution/London-starts-worlds-largest-air/97/web/2019/02
http://www.baaqmd.gov/about-air-quality/air-quality-measurement/ambient-air-monitoring-network


Air Quality Monitoring Program CALENDAR

Page 3

This legislation is designed to make it possible for the City of Berkeley to form 
partnerships with organizations such as technology companies, environmental groups, 
and healthcare groups to better implement this program. Recommendations were also 
received from former Councilmember Gordon Wozniak.

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
Currently, Berkeley’s single air monitoring station is located in the Berkeley Aquatic 
Park area, which provides daily measurements of air pollutant levels for the entire city 
once every hour. However, it is unable to provide any measurements for different areas 
of the city which may experience disparate levels of air pollution due to Berkeley’s 
varied geography and the natural formation of inversion layers in the Bay Area. In order 
to determine how different the levels of air pollution are between high-elevation and low-
elevation neighborhoods as well as high-traffic and low-traffic areas, the City of 
Berkeley should upgrade its air monitoring network by installing sensors in different 
neighborhoods throughout the city. By identifying poor air quality areas that coincide 
with low-income neighborhoods, the City can address health-related issues caused by 
air pollution more easily. 

IMPLEMENTATION, ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 
The program will be financed by the City of Berkeley with support from possible 
partnerships with interested organizations.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
Staff time and costs associated with purchasing, installing, and maintaining equipment.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
This program will provide better measurements of air quality and help identify and 
address environmental issues related to air pollution.

OUTCOMES AND EVALUATION
It is expected that the City of Berkeley and Public Health Department will partner with 
other organizations to create an effective and cost-efficient program to upgrade 
Berkeley’s air quality monitoring system.

CONTACT PERSON
Councilmember Ben Bartlett 510-981-7130
Brian Gan brianjgan@gmail.com

Page 3 of 3

259



260



Councilmember Ben Bartlett
City of Berkeley, District 3
2180 Milvia Street, 5th Floor
Berkeley, CA 94704
PHONE 510-981-7130
EMAIL: bbartlett@cityofberkeley.info

ACTION CALENDAR
April 23, 2019

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council
From: Councilmember Ben Bartlett
Subject: Creation of Vehicle Dwellers Governance Body

RECOMMENDATION
Refer to City Manager for policy language to create a Governance Body for permitted 
vehicle dwellers in Berkeley.  This proposal is meant to engender purpose and 
responsibility among participants. Accordingly, the Governance Body should be self-
governing, self-organizing, and self-funding. Governance body will uphold the following 
conditions:

1. All residents must be registered with Berkeley’s Coordinated Entry Program.
2. At all times, vehicles must be registered and fully operable. 
3. No illegal substances, weapons, violence, or disruptive behavior will be tolerated 

either on site or in the immediate neighborhood. 
4. Vehicle repairs are not to be performed on-site.
5. No property will be stored outside the vehicle, excluding items  exceeding 6 feet in 

length, and one propane BBQ grill. Personal and immediate areas must remain trash 
free. 

6. A noise curfew will be instituted in agreement with the neighbors. 
7. A council including area neighbors and RV dwellers will be established. Participation 

is mandatory. 
8. All residents are expected to pay monthly rent of no more than $200 per month.

The Governance Body will convene weekly at a set time, and act as the final decision 
making body and conflict resolution forum.  All residents, whether in attendance or not, 
agree to comply with the Body’s decisions.  

Matters related specifically to drugs, weapons, violence, and/or criminal activity will result in 
immediate termination of residents’ tenancy.   Such matters may be taken up at the 
discretion of the Governance Body which may uphold, modify, or set aside termination.

In cases of conflict among residents,  the following procedures will take place:

Page 1 of 3

261

mailto:bbartlett@cityofberkeley.info
arichardson
Typewritten Text
07



1. A complaint is filed by a resident to the Governance Body.  The complaint will be 
heard at the Governance Body meeting.

2. The Governance Body investigates the complaint and makes a determination.  If 
the determination is that the complaint is legitimate, a notice of cease and desist 
is issued.  The recipient of the cease and desist letter will have 72 hours to 
comply or leave.

3. If the recipient received a cease and desist letter, they may appeal the decision 
to the Governance Body.  The Governance Body will have the ability to meet 
outside its normal weekly meeting schedule in case of an appeal.  

4. If the appeal is upheld, no further action will be taken and the recipient of the 
cease and desist letter can stay in the community.  If the appeal is rejected, the 
recipient of the cease and desist letter has 24 hours to comply or leave.  
Governance Body decisions can only be appealed once.

CURRENT SITUATION

Berkeley has an estimated 200 RVs parking in areas in West Berkeley for long periods 
of time.  This has caused local businesses and residents to report health and safety 
complaints to the City.  Berkeley City Council has expressed a desire to find a long-term 
solution which grants RV owners stability and a ladder to being healthy and housed 
while ensuring the safety and quality of life for neighbors and prosperity of Berkeley’s 
businesses.

BACKGROUND
As the housing crisis continues, many California residents have transitioned to living in 
RVs as a cost-saving effort.  Berkeley Police Department have counted roughly 200 
RVs throughout the city.  In April of 2018, Berkeley Police Department distributed 
warning notices to about 20 RVs parked in the parking lot of DoubleTree Hotel after 
receiving safety complaints from Marina visitors. In July 2018, Berkeley gave them a 
week’s notice to move  relocate.  Several dozen RVs moved to West Berkeley, 
particularly the area near Eighth and Harrison streets, lining several blocks.  

In September 2018, City Council directed city staff to look into options for managing RV 
parking.  On March 26, 2019 City Council approved a ban on RVs parking from 2-5 AM, 
with enforcement suspended until a 14-day permitting system and a three-month permit 
system for persons with disabilities, families with children, students, and persons with 
existing connections to Berkeley is in place.  Council also directed staff to seek out plots 
of available land in unincorporated Alameda and Contra Costa Counties, neighboring 
cities, the Berkeley Unified School District, private lots, and churches that would allow 
RVs to park for longer periods of time with the condition that RV owners be engaged in 
city homelessness services and attempt to procure housing.  Council voted to approve 
these elements with the acknowledgement that it would follow up with a more long-term 
solution to the issue of RV parking.  

REVIEW OF EXISTING PLANS, PROGRAMS, POLICIES, LAWS

Page 2 of 3

262



Berkeley will begin enforcing a ban on unpermitted parking from 2-5 AM.   With a 
request to the City Manager to create a permitting program as described above.  This 
Item seeks to add to that permitting program.

ACTIONS/ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED
On September 25, 2018, City Council approved a recommendation to “Refer to the City 
Manager to look into how other cities use permitting to manage RV parking and suggest 
a permit process that Council can consider to enable RV parking but place some 
sensible limits.” Additionally, on December 11, 2018 the City Council approved a 
recommendation to “Refer to the City Manager to establish a recreational vehicle waste 
discharge facility on City property and equitable administrative fee program, including 
consideration of method of pump out, cost, locations, and capacity, and refer costs 
associated with the facility to the FY 2020/21 Budget Process.” In order to understand 
how other neighboring cities are responding to this regional challenge, City staff 
gathered information on other cities in the Bay Area (Oakland, San Francisco, Fairfield, 
Richmond, Albany, Emeryville, Alameda and Antioch) and their policies and laws 
regarding RV parking. Findings include:
Only Oakland and Alameda have special RV policies.  Oakland is building a designated 
slot for RVs, and Alameda runs a hygiene bus to provide RV dwellers with services.  

IMPLEMENTATION, ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT To be determined.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION  No further impacts to the General Fund. 
The administration of the Safe Parking Community 

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
Providing longer-term solutions for vehicle dwellers in Berkeley discourages moving 
fossil fuel-burning vessels such as RVs, thereby positively impacting the environment.  
Greater stability for RV-dwellers could also reduce garbage and other waste by giving 
these individuals a more predictable lifestyle, enabling them to consume goods more 
efficiently and leading to less waste.

OUTCOMES AND EVALUATION To be determined.

CONTACT PERSON
Councilmember Ben Bartlett: 510-981-7130
Matthew Napoli 510-981-7131

Page 3 of 3

263



264


	2019-05-13 Agenda - Health
	2019-05-13 Item 01 Minutes
	2019-05-13 Item 02 Brown Act Overview
	2019-05-13 Item 03 Discussion of staff reports HHCS
	2019-05-13 Item 04 Ban Racial Discrimination
	2019-05-13 Item 05 Referral Responses  Managing Recreational Vehicle
	2019-05-13 Item 06 Air Quality Monitoring Program
	2019-05-13 Item 07 Creation of Vehicle Dwellers Governance Body



